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November 23, 2020

BY CERTIFIED FIRST CLASS MAIL
URGENT CORRESPONDENCE

Regarding: United States v. Brennerman, Appeal Docket No. 18-3546(L); 19-0497(Con)
United States v. The Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc., et. al., Appeal Docket.No. 18-1033(L); 18-1618(Con)

Dear Judge Livingston:

l, Defendant - Appellant Raheem J. Brennerman ("Brennerman") respectfully suBmit this correspondence in respect of the
erroneous disposition at the above referenced appeals particularly the misrepresentations of material facts, evidence and
record. | am currently incarcerated at LSCI-Allenwood arising from the criminal cases from which the above referenced appeals
arose.

I have also taken the liberty to underline the relevant sections within the appended copy of Summary Order Mandate as
well as included copies of the record (trial testimony from the various Government witnesses) which contradicts the
representation presented by panel Court in the disposition ("Summary Order") to the above referenced appeals.

| am writing to you in the first instance, out of an abundance of respect for the Court, to bring your attention to the
misrepresentation of material facts, evidence and record to allow panel Court to correct the misrepresentation of material facts,
evidence and record.

1.) Within 1. Sufficiency of the Evidence:

The panel Court stated in relevant part "......Contrary to Brennerman's assertions, hov@éver, the record did establish that he
defrauded Morgan Stanley, an FDIC-insured institution, as part of his broader scheme by, among other things, inducing it to
issue him a credit card based....... "

The record at 1:17-cr-337 (RJS), Trial Tr. 384-385; 409; 387-388 and at 1:17-cr-337 ’(RJS); Dkt. No. 167 (which Judge Sullivan
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ignored) clearly demonstrate that Morgan Stanley & Company, LLC, the parent company for all Morgan Stanley subsidiaries
and divisions is not FDIC-insured. The record also demonstrates that Brennerman opened his wealth management account at -
Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC which is not FDIC-insured and that a non-Morgan Stanley subsidiary/division issued him a
credit card which was closed with zero balance. The record also demonstrates that Kevin Bonebrake whom Brennerman had a
single telephone call with to discuss financing about oil asset worked at the Institutional-Securities division of Morgan Stanley
which is not FDIC-insured. The record demonstrates that Morgan Stanley operates through various subsidiaries and divisions.

The record at 1:17-cr-337 (RJS), Trial Tr. 1057-1061 demonstrates that the FDIC certificates presented by Government at trial,
GX530 - FDIC certificate for Morgan Stanley Private Bank; GX531 - FDIC certificate for Citibank; GX532 - FDIC certificate for
Morgan Stanley National Bank NA; and GX533 - FDIC certificate for JP Morgan Chase do not cover the subsidiaries/division at
Morgan Stanley that Brennerman interacted with. The record demonstrates that Brennerman interacted with Morgan Stanley
Smith Barney, LLC (see 1:17-cr-337 (RJS), Dkt. No. 167) where he opened his wealth ranagement account and Brennerman
had a single telephone call about oil field financing with Kevin Bonebrake who worked’at the Institutional Securities division of
Morgan Stanley (see 1:17-cr-337 (RJS), Trial Tr. 384-385; 387-388; 409). The record also demonstrates testimony from Barry
Gonzalez, FDIC commissioner that the FDIC certificate for one subsidiary does not ¢over another subsidiary or the parent
company because each subsidiary/division will.require its own FDIC certificate. Barry Gonzalez testimony demonstrated that
Government failed to prove that either Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC or Morgan Stanley Institutional Securities division are

FDIC-insured.

The disposition by the panel Court made material misrepresentation with the facts because it generalized Morgan Stanley as a
single entity while ignoring the record and testimony of Government witnesses which demonstrate that Morgan Stanley &
Company, LLC, the parent company is not FDIC-insured; That Morgan Stanley operates through various subsidiaries / divisions
which are separate entities; That the FDIC certificate of one subsidiary / division does’hot cover another subsidiary / division or
the parent company as each entity (subsidiary / division) will require its own FDIC cte?'tlf icate; finally, that Brennerman did not

interact with any FDIC-insured Morgan Stanley entity (subsidiary/division).

2.) Within IV. Testimony of Julian Madgett:

The panel Court stated in relevant part "....... Brennerman's argument claiming constitiitional violations as a result of Madgett's
testimony is without merit. The government's discovery and disclosure obligations extend only to information and documents in
the government's possession. United States v. Avellino, 136 F.3d 249, 255 (2d Cird! 1998) (explaining that the Brady obligation
applies only to evidence "that is known to the prosecutor"). The government rnsrsts‘ every document it received from ICBC
was turned over to Brennerman and that it is not aware of the personal notes referé ed by Brennerman. Therefore, the

government has not violated its disclosure obligation....... "

The record at 1:17-cr-337 (RJS), Trial Tr. 551-554 clearly demonstrate that Government sole witness from ICBC (London) pic,
Julian Madgett testified on behalf of the Government in open Court that evidence exists that document the basis for the bank
approving the bridge loan transaction including representation or alleged misrepresentation which the bank relied upon.in
approving the bridge loan finance. Further that the Government never requested, obtained or reviewed the evidence and thus
never provided it to the defense. The record demonstrates that Government were presented in Court when Julian Madgett
testified thus became aware of the evidence because A.U.S.A. Roos objected to a_questlon asked by defense counsel.

The record demonstrates that Brennerman made request to the Court at 1: 17—cr-337 ,?RJS) Dkt. No. 71 for the evidence, which
the Government never obtained or reviewed, for his defense given the importance and pertinence of the evidence to the theory
of the defense, however the Government failed to learn of the evidence thus violated‘its Brady obligations.

The disposition by panel Court made material-misrepresentation that Government was unaware of the evidence which
Brennerman required to present a complete defense because panel Court rgnored the record which clearly demonstrates that
Government was present in Court when their witness testified that evidence whichd ﬁg”ument the basis for the bank approving
the bridge loan exists with the bank and that the Government never requested or obt'a ed the evidence and thus never
provided it to the defendant for his defense. :

3.) Within IV. Testimony of Julian Madgett:

The panel Court stated in relevant part "......The only indication that such documen‘ts are extant comes from Brennerman's bare
assertions..... :

"

The record at 1:17-cr-337 (RJS), Trial Tr. 551-554 demonstrate- that Government sole witness, Julian Madgett testified as to the
existence of the evidence (documents) which the Government never requested or obtained. The record at 1:17-cr-337 (RJS),
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Trial Tr. 617 demonstrates that trial judge (Judge Richard J. Sullivan) acknowledged that the witness had testified to the
existence of the evidence (documents) with the bank’s file in London, United Kingdom. The record demonstrates that upon
Brennerman learning of the existence of evidence (ICBC underwriting file) which documents the basis for the bank approving
the bridge loan finance including the representation of alleged misrepresentation w he bank relied upon to approve the
bridge loan finance, further that the Government never requested, obtained or revi the evidence, Brennerman immediately
made request to the Court at 1:17-cr-337 (RJS), Dkt. No. 71 for the evidence so he use it to present a complete defense
and confront witnesses (Julian Madgett) against him but was denied by the Court (Jdl ge Richard J. Sullivan)

The disposition by the panel Court made material misrepresentation as to the existe‘nce of the evidence (documents) which
Brennerman required to present a complete défense. The panel Courtiignored the argument that Brennerman was deprived of
the ability to present a complete defense and the ability to confront witnesses against him. Madgett was allowed to testify as to
the content of the evidence (documents) to satisfy the issue. of "materiality” (an essential element of the charged crime) while
Brennerman was deprived of the ability to use the evidence (documents) to confront hlm in violation of his Sixth Amendment

rights.

4.) The above is in addition to the panel Court ignoring the Circuit Court holding abo non parties in "OSRecovery, Inc., v. One
Groupe Int'l, Inc., 462 F.3d 87, 90 (2d Cir. 2006)" where the Circuit Court stated di ctly to Judge Lewis A. Kaplan that the Court
abused its dlscretlon and could not hold non-party in contempt solely for the purposé o”f dlscovery In 2016, Judge Kaplan
ignored the law to hold Brennerman, a non-party in the underlying civil case at 15- cv-0070 (LAK) in contempt then persuaded
the Government to pursue him criminally. The Government ignored the law in "OSRecovery to pursue Brennerman for criminal
contempt of court and during trial at 17-cr-155 (LAK), Judge Kaplan permitted the Go vernment to present the civil contempt
erroneously adjudged against Brennerman to the jury causing significant prejudice.to im. Durmg appeal at 18-1033(L), the
panel Court in its disposition ignored prior Circuit Court law with respect to holdmgg '

The above is respectfully submitted in an endeavor to allow panel Court corre{c ts erroneous disposition and
misrepresentation of material facts, evidence and record, particularly given that the'formal request for panel reheanng /
rehearing enbanc was denied. | am writing to you Pro Se as one of the panel Court judges recently granted permission for my

counsel to withdraw from continuing to represent me. i

Dated: November 23, 2020

White Deer, PA 17887-1000
: RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

Is/ Raheem J . Brennerman

FFERSON BRENNERMAN
Defendant‘ ”Appellant

Cc: REDACTED

Below is a summary of the various excerpts from the criminal case record referenced,"‘ bove and appended to this
correspondence. :

Mandate including Summary Order by panel Court ie appended as "Exhibit 1"
Criminal case, 17-cr-337 (RJS), Trial Transcnpt 384-385; 387-388; 409 are append 4 ,"as "Exnipit 2"
Criminal case, 17-cr-337 (RJS), Docket No. 167 is appended as "Exhibit 3"

Criminal case, 17-cr-337 (RJS), Trial Transcript 1057-1061 are appended as "Exhipit 4"

Criminal case, 17-cr-337 (RJS), Trial Transcript 551-554; 617 are appended as "Exhibit 5"

Criminal case, 17-cr-337 (RJS), Docket No. 71 is appended as "Exhibit 6"
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FROM: 54001048

TO: )

SUBJECT: EXHIBIT 1

DATE: 11/08/2020 03:35:05 PM .
XXXXXXXXXX

EXHIBIT 1

RXXXXXXXXX
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'18-3546(L) )
United States v. Raheem Brennerman

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

SUMMARY ORDER

RULINGS BY SUMMARY ORDER DO NOT HAVE PRECEDENTIAL EFFECT.
CITATION TO A SUMMARY ORDER FILED ON OR AFTER JANUARY 1, 2067, IS
PERMITTED AND IS GOVERNED BY FEDERAL RULE OF APPELLATE
PROCEDURE 32.1 AND THIS COURT’S LOCAL RULE 32.1.1. WHEN CITING A
SUMMARY ORDER IN A DOCUMENT FILED WITH THIS COURT, A PARTY MUST
CITE EITHER THE FEDERAL APPENDIX OR AN ELECTRONIC DATABASE (WITH
THE NOTATION “SUMMARY ORDER”). A PARTY CITING A SUMMARY ORDER
MUST SERVE A COPY OF IT ON ANY PARTY NOT REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL.

At a stated Term of the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, held at the
Thurgood Marshall United States Courthouse, 40 Foley Square, in the City of New York on the

9 day of June, two thousand twenty. “

Present: ROSEMARY S. POOLER,
REENA RAGGI,
WILLIAM J. NARDINI,
Circuit Judges.

-UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee,
V. 18-3546, 19-497

RAHEEM BRENNERMAN,
AKA JEFERSON R. BRENNERMAN,
AKA AYODEIJI SOETAN,

Defendant-Appeliand.

Appearing for Appellant: John C. Meringolo, Meringolo & Associates, P.C., Brooklyn, N.Y.

Appearing for Appellee: Danielle R. Sassoon, Assistant United States Attorney (Nicholas
Roos, Robert B. Sobelman, Matthew Podolsky, Assistant United
States Attorneys, on the brief), for Geoffrey S. Berman, United




Case 18-3546, Document 211, 01/05/2021, 3006027, Page8 of 52

08/26/2020 C(mas

States Attorney for the Southern District of New York, New York,
NY. ' ' ‘

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (Sulhvan
).

ON CONSIDERATION WHEREOQOF, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED,
AND DECREED that the judgment be and it hereby is AFFIRMED.

Defendant-Appellant Raheem Brennerman appeals from the February 12, 2019,
amended judgment of conviction entered in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York (Sullivan, J.), sentencing him principally to 144 months’ imprisonment, 3
years’ supervised release, forfeiture in the amount of $4,400,000, and restitution in the amount of
$5,264,176.19. Following a jury trial, Brennerman was convicted of one count of conspiracy to
commit bank and wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349; one count of bank fraud, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1344 and 2; one count of wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343
and 2; and one count of visa fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1546(a). We assume the parties’
familiarity with the underlying facts, procedural history, and specification of issues for review.

On appeal, Brennerman argues: (1) there was insufficient evidence to convict him on the
consptracy count, the substantive bank fraud count, and the substantive wire fraud count; (2) the
government made an impermissible constructive amendment to the indictment; (3) the search
warrant for Brennerman’s Las Vegas apartment was unlawful; (4) the admission of the testimony
of Julian Madgett violated Brennerman’s constitutional rights; (5) the district court erred by
applying a two-offense level enhancement for obstruction of justice, pursuant to U.S.S.G.

§ 3C1.1; and (6) the district court incorrectly determined the restitution amount.

L Sufficiency of the Evidence

A defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence bears a “heavy burden,” Unifed
States v. Gaskin, 364 F.3d 438, 459 (2d Cir. 2004), as the standard of review is “exceedingly
deferential,” United States v. Hassan, 578 F.3d 108, 126 (2d Cir. 2008). Ultimately, “the task of
choosing among competing, permissible inferences is for the [jury], not for the rcv1ewmg court.”
United Staies v. McDeImotl 245 F.3d 133, 137 (2d Cir. 2001).

Brennerman argues there was insufficient evidence to convict him of a conspiracy. le
argues the jury could not have adduced the existence of an agreement because the record does
not contain a single response from Peter Aderinwale, the purported co-conspirator with whom
Brennerman corresponded over email. His argument is both factually and legally flawed. First,
the record did contain two responsive emails from Aderinwale concerning draft emails to be sent
to ICBC as part of the scheme. Sccond, a response from an alleged co-conspirator following
conspiratorial communication is not legally necessary to establish the existence of a conspiracy.
We agree with the government that a reasonable jury could infer the requisite intent from emails
in which Brennerman solicited Aderinwale’s input on aspects of the fraud scheme and from
Brennerman’s transfer of substantial scheme proceeds {0 Aderinwale. These facts would have
supported the inference that Aderinwale was a co-conspirator, even in the absence of any email
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response from Aderinwale. The jury would have been entitled to infer that Aderinwale’s
responses had been conveyed over the phone or in person. “This is so because a conspiracy by its
very nature is a secretive operation, and it is a rare case where all aspects of a conspiracy can be
laid bare in court with the precision of a surgeon’s scalpel.” United States v. Pitre, 960 F.2d
1112, 1121 (2d Cir. 1992) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Thus, viewing the
evidence in the light most favorable to the government, we find there was sufficient evidence
from which the jury could have reasonably inferred the existence of a conspiracy.

Brennerman also argues that there was insufficient cvidence that he intended to defraud
an institution insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC™) as required for
bank fraud, because most of the evidence offered at trial showed that he targeted the Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China’s London branch (“ICBC”), which is not FDIC-insured.
Contrary to Brennerman’s assertions, however, the record did establish that he defrauded.
Morgan Stanley, an FDIC-insured institution, as part of his broader scheme by, among other.
things, inducing it to issue him a credit card based on false representations about his citizenship,
assets, and the nature and worth of his company. Indeed, the government argued just this theory
on summation, asserting that Brennerman was guilty of bank fraud because “he engaged in a
scheme to defraud Morgan Stanley” through lies told to a Morgan Stanley employee, which were
“all part of an attempt to defraud an FDIC-insured institution.” App’x at 1709-10. Defense
counsel in summation also emphasized that Morgan Stanley was the sole FDIC-insured
institution involved. And the district court instructed the jury on the proper elements of bank
fraud, including the FDIC-insured institution element. Brennerman’s challenge, therefore, is
foreclosed by “the law’s general assumption that juries follow the instructions they are given,”
which applied here would indicate that the jury properly accounted for the evidence related to
Morgan Stanley when convicting Brennerman of the bank fraud count. United States v. Agrawal,

726 F.3d 235, 258 (2d Cir. 2013).

As to the wire fraud count, Brennerman argues there was insufficient evidence to
establish a domestic violation of the statute. “{Wlire fraud involves sufficient domestic conduct
when (1) the defendant used domestic mail or wires in furtherance of a scheme to defraud, and
(2) the use of the mail or wires was a core component of the scheme to defraud.” Bascuiidn v.
Elsaca, 927 F.3d 108, 122 (2d Cir. 2019). We conclude that the evidence here was sufficient.
The record at trial established that Brennerman used domestic wires to caity out the fraudulent
scheme. Indeed, he concedes that he used telephone lines and email in the United States to make

. fraudulent representations in furtherance of the scheme. In addition, the account to which ICBC
wired the loan money was a Citibank account within the United States, and Brennerman
subsequently moved that money to domestic accounts. This is precisely the kind of use of -
domestic wires that we have held sufficient under the wire fraud statute. See, e.g., United States

v. Kim, 246 F.3d 186, 190 (2d Cir. 2001).
II. Constructive Amendment
An impermissible constructive amendment occurs only when the government’s proof and

the trial court’s jury instructions “modify essential elements of the offense charged to the point
that there is a substantial likelihood that the defendant may have been convicted of an offense
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other than the one charged by the grand jury.” United States v. Vebelzzmas, 76 F.3d 1283 1290
(2d Cir. 1996) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). -

Brennerman contends that the government constructively amended counts one and two of
the indictment by proving a fraud against Morgan Stanley at trial—while the indictment,
especially the speaking part, focuses on the fraud against ICBC. We disagree. 1t is clear from the
indictment that the scheme against ICBC was merely one target of Brennerman’s alleged fraud.
The indictment alleged that Brennerman’s scheme in fact targeted “several financial institutions
around the world, including in the United States.” App’x at 39. It also specifically alleged that
Brennerman defrauded an FDIC-insured financial institution. The indictment did not limit the
proof only to Brennerman’s scheme against ICBC. While the indictment discusses ICBC activity
at length, it makes clear that those allegations are illustrations, asserting that “[bleginning in or
about January 2013, [Brennerman] made similar [false] representations to other financial
institutions in an effort to induce those institutions fo provide financing to Blacksands Pacific
and Blacksands Alpha.” App’x at 42. At trial, the government offered evidence that Morgan
Stanley was one of those “other financial institutions.” See App’x at 608-09 (testimony of
Morgan Stanley’s Kevin Bonebrake about a January 2013 telephone call with Brennerman
discussing financing to develop oil asset). Thus, there was not a “a substantial likelihood that the
defendant may have been convicted of an offense other than the one charged by the grand jury.”
Vebeliunas, 76 F.3d at 1290.

(11N Search Warrant

Brennerman challenges the lawfulness of the search. warrant of his Las Vegas apartment.
Even assuming, for the sake of argument only, that the search warrant was unlawful, we
conclude that the good faith exception to the Fourth Amendment’s exclusionary rule would
apply. We therefore need not address the propriety of the search warrant. The district court found
that the law enforcement agents who executed the warrant reasonably relied on its terms in good
. faith, and Brennerman has not challenged this finding. Where, as here, evidence is obtained by
police officers executing the search “in objectively reasonable reliance™ on a warrant,
the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies. United States v. Falso, 544 F.3d 110,
125 (2d Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

IV.  Testimony of Julian Madgett

Brennerman argues that Julian Madgett’s testimony at trial violated due process and his
Sixth Amendment rights to confrontation and compulsory process because he was unable to
obtain certain exculpatory personal notes from Madgeit, and the government would not turn the
notes over or otherwise retrieve them from ICBC.

The government has an obligation under the Due Process Clause to make a timely
disclosure of any exculpatory or impeaching evidence that is material and in its possession. See
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); see also Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972).
Additionally, the Jencks Act provides that, “[a}fter a witness called by the United States has
testified on direct examination, the court shall, on motion of the defendant, order the United
States to produce any statement . . . of the witness in the possession of the United States which
relates to the subject matter as to which the witness has testified.” 18 U.S.C. § 3500(b).
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' Brennerman’s argument clainming constitutio@l_mviolations as a result of Madgett’s
testimony is without merit. The government’s discovery and disclosure obligations extend only..
to information and documents in the government’s possession.. {.[nzjed States v, Avelling, 136
F.3d 249, 255 (2d Cir. 1998) (c.‘.xmlalnlmT th'lt the Brady obligation applies only to evidence “that
is known to the prosecutor”). The government insists that every document it received from ICBC
was turned over to Brennerman and that it is not aware of the per rsonal notes 1efe1 enced by
,ﬁmnermgmn,;[hercforc,jhe goy,emmqg@w as not violated its disclosure obhgatiog Nor was the
government under any obligation under the Jencks Act to collect materials about Madgett that
were not in the government’s possession. See United States v. Bermudez, 526 F.2d 89, 100 n.9

(2d Cir. 1975).

Even if the documents exist and are material and favorable, Brennerman never sought a
subpoena pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 17, never made a timely request for a
deposition under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 15, and never asked the district court to
issue letters rogatory pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1781 to obtain documentary evidence or secure
testimony from the United Kingdom where ICBC maintains its records, The only indication that
such documents are extant comes from Br ennerman’s bare assett;ons

V. “Sentence

At sentencing, the court applied a two-offense level enhancement for obstruction of
justice, pursuant to U.8.S.G. § 3C1.1, a finding that relied on, as an alternative basis,
Brennerman’s false representations in his bail applications to the court. Brennerman argues that
those misrepresentations cannot support an obstruction of justice enhancement because the
misstatements “were at most minimally connected to the offense conduct in this case and did not
obstruct the prosecution in any meaningful way.” Appellant’s Br. at 54. However, this argument
has already been rejected by our Court in United States v. Mafanya, 24 F.3d 412, 415 (2d Cir.
1994) (“Appellant’s false statement to a judicial officer (the magistrate judge) was an attempt to
obstruct justice. Therefore, the district court properly Applied the [Section 3C1.1] enhancement .

..”). Accordingly, the district court did not err in applying the enhancement.

VL. Restitution

The Mandatory Victims Restitution Act of 1996 (“MVRA™) provides that “[i|n each
order of festitution, the court shall order restitution to each victim in the full amount of each
victim’s losses as determined by the court and without consideration of the economic
circumstances of the defendant.” 18 U.S.C. § 3664(f)(1)(A). “[Alt sentencing, the government
bears the preponderance burden of proving actual loss supporting a restitution order.” Unrited
States v. Rutigiiano, 887 F.3d 98, 109 (2d Cir. 2018). “[W]e review a district court’s order of
restitution under the MVRA for abuse of discretion.” United States v. Zangari, 677 F.3d 86, 91

(2d Cir. 2012).

Brennerman argues that the district court improperly imposed restitution in the full
amount of the $5 million ICBC loan even though Brennerman had already made a payment of
$446,466.13. But the testimony at trial established that ICBC released approximately $4.4
million to Brennerman and the rest was used to finance loan servicing fees. The $446,466.13



Case 18-3546, Document 211,

Y N et et E Y
5SS SN SRR RS T I B & RN AV

CETRNRE L LERY

01/05/2021, 3006027, Pagel?2 of 52

3 T i P I
Bl SRR AL FEK IR

08/26/2020

paid to ICBC by Brennerman was an interest-only payment that did not reduce the $5 million
principal owed. Therefore, ICBC’s loss of $5 million as a result of the fraud was supported, and
Brennerman points to nothing that undermines the district court’s finding.

We have considered the remainder of Brennerman’s arguments and find them to be
without merit. Accordingly, the judgment of the district court hereby is AFFIRMED.

FOR THE COURT:
Catherine O’Hagan Wolfe, Clerk

SECOND
] CQT 4

A True Copy
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Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 94 Filed 12/13/17 Page 34 of 263 384
HBTKBREZ Bonebrake - Cross

Q0. 1Is that thé same title you had or position you had While
you were ét Morgan'Stanléy?
A; My title -- my specific job title at Morgan Stanley varied
as I was promoted from vice president, to director, to managing
director, and I worked within what they called the
institutional securities division. My current title is
managing director at Lazard within what they call the financial
advisory division, but I'm doing substantially the same job,
except I'm more solely focused on-mergers and acquisitions now
and not so much on financings, if that makes sense.
Q. Staying with Morgan Stanley, you.mentioned that Morgan
Stanley has two business lines?
A. Broadly, if you look at their financials, that's how they
characterize it, yes.
0. And can you just explain, to the extent you underétand,
what you mean by "business lines"?
A. Certainly. So, Mdrgan Stanley has a private wealth
management business, which is one of the aforementioned two
business lines. That business is composed of individuals who
somewhat confusingly are also called financial adyisors, who
work with high net worth individuals to help them manage their
money.

And then the other business line that I was referring
to, which I was a part Qf, is called the institutional
securities division. And withiﬁ that divisionlis housed what

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 94 Filed 12/13/17 Page 35 of 263 385
HBTKBRE2 Bonebrake - Cross ‘

is the traditional investment banking activities, which is
capital markéts, underwritiﬁg, so think abéut initial pubiic
offerings, helping companies with that. Mergers and
acquisitions, when two companies merge, and then aside from
that, there's sales and trading, which is basically making
markets in various securities around the world, and also asset
management.

0. You said business lines, but they're really separate
entities; is that correct?

A. They're all a part of the Morgan Stanley & Company "LLC,
which is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, but we report
up through different superiors.

Q. You say "part of." Are they the same company? Are they a
separate entity?

A. They're wholly-owned subsidiaries of Morgan Stanley &
Company LLC. |

Q. And you called it, I believe;'wealth management. Is it
also referred to as the private bank?

A. I don't believe I have the expertise to ;nswer that.

Q. I understand.

A. I could speculate, but...

Q. So you're not really familiar with anything that's handled

\

on the wealth management side, other than sometimes you have

clients referred?

A. TI've never worked on the wealth management side,.so I don't

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805=-0300 '
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Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 94 Filed 12/13/17 Page 37 of 263 387
HBTKBREZ2 . Bonebrake - Cross

" BY MR. STEINWASCHER:

Q. Dia you have specific recollectién as to your
conversations —— specific details of your conversations with
Mr. Brennerman prior to looking at the documents when meeting
with the government?‘
A. I had recollections of conversations with Mr. Brennerman
that were enhanced by looking at the documents. I did recall
the conversations before seeing the documents, but the
documents were very helpful.
Q. So, it's safe to say that for'some specific details, your
memory was refreshed by the documénts and not something that
you jusé remembered indepepdently prior? o
A. That's a broad statement. I'm not sure I could agree or
disagree with that, but...
Q. That's fine. That's fine.

| On the topic of financing, you said that for these
types of deals, the ones that you have handled primarily, and
specifically the one involving Mr. Brennerman, Morgan Stanley
would not provide the money that it would seek financing from
outside investors; is that correct?
A. They would not typically provide the money. There are some
cases where Morgan Stanley —-- let me rephrase that. I can only
speak for my particular division. So, Morgan Stanléy is a
$700 billion company operating across the gldbe with over
50,000 employees. So my particular division would typically

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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HBTKBREZ2 Bonebrake — Cross

/

not be providing the financing directly, but we might backstop
an offering where we commit thaﬁ if we can't find third-party
investors to purchase these securities, then we would provide
the money. But that was not the majority of the cases.

Q. And in the particular case of the proposal from

Mr. Brennerman, I believe you said that it was something that
you understood he was looking for Morgan Stanley to find
financing from investors for?

A. My recollection was that it was unclear. We didn't get

very far in our discussions. And then, after reviewing the

.emails, I think it's still unclear.

Q. You mentioned several times, I believe, a distinction
between dealing with pﬁblic éompanies and private companies?
A. Yes.

Q. At one point I believe you said your knowledge of Ehe
number of private companies that are involved in this type of
business that you do, the oil and gas business, you're é little
less certain of the specific number because the information is
not publicly available; is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. So, for a private company like Blacksands Pacific, it
wouldn't be unusual that you hadn't heard of them, given that
they're a private company, ana you're not familiar with every
single private company out there?

A. Tt would be unusual that a company —- that I had not heard

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 94 Filed 12/13/17 Page 59 of 263 409
HBTSbre3 Bonebrake - recross

BY MS. SASSOON:
Q.' Jusﬁ to clarify, turning back to Exhibit 1—61, page 6, is
it clear to you one way or the other from looking at this
e-mail whether this is an asset-based lending proposal?
A. TIt's not clear to me, it would be speculation.
0. Looking at page 7, going back to the part in blue with the
aste;isk, can you read that, pleése?
A. 50 percent working interest owned by Black Sands Pacific
Alpha Blue, LLC.

MS. SASSOON: . No further questions.

THE COURT: Okay. Any recross?

MR. STEINWASCHER: Very briefly, your Honor.
RECROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR. STEINWASCHER:
Q. Can we go back to that same -exhibit, same page?

Very briefly, Mr. Bonebrake. Did this proposal
provide you -- I say proposal, overview summary proposal, did
it provide you with really any information on which Morgan
Stanley could make a decision about financing?
A. To get to the point of actually, quote, making a decision
on financing, there would have been a lot more work and
information needed than this. Again, this was very preliminary
stage of our conversation.

MR. STEINWASCHER: Thank you.

THE COURT: Okay. You can step down. Thanks very

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300

658
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FROM: 54001048 -

T

SUBJECT: Re: LEGAL CORRESPONDENCE -06.20.18
DATE: 08/20/2018 02:25:42 PM

- Raheem J. Breninerman (54001-048)
Metropolitan Detention Center
P O Box 329002
Brooklyn, New York 11232

X

Honorable Judge Richard J. Sullivan
United Sfates District Judge

United States District Court
Thurgood Marshall U.S. Courthouse
40 Foley Square

New Yark, New York 10007
, June 20, 2018

Re: United States v. Raheem J, Brehnerman
Case No: 1:17-¢cr-337 (RIS}

Dear Judge Sullivan

Defendant Pro Se, Raheem Brennerman ("Brennerman®) submits additional evidence to bolster his arguments, which -
are succinctly highlighted in correspondences dated June 10, 2018 (see 17-cr-337 {RJS), dkt. no. 164}, the June 11, 2018 and

June 17, 2018 correspondences.

Brennerman submits, Government Exhibit 1-57, e-mail correspondence between Mr. Scett Stout and Brennerman,
which highlights the e-mail signature of Scoft Stout and the Beverly Hills, California address of Morgan Stanley Smith Bamey
LLC {not Morgan Stanley Private Bank}); Government Exhibit 1-567A, the account opening form, which highlights “Morgan
Stanley Smith Bamey (not Morgan Stanley Private Bank)" at the top right corner of the form; Govermment Exhibit 1-73, e-mail
hetween Scott Stout and Brennerman, which highlights Brennerman’s alleged fraud - the perks which he became entitled to,
however more important, page fwo of the e-mail correspondence highlights within the "Important Notice to Recipient” in refevant
parts that "The sender of this e-mail is an employee of Morgan Stanley Smith Bamey LLC (*Morgan Stanley"); Government
Exhibit 529, the Morgan Stanley account statement, which highlights Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC (not Morgan Stanley
Private Bank) at the bottom left comer of the bank statement cover page. Additionally Brennerman submits the profile of Mr.
Scott Stout which highlights that Mr. Scott Stout worked at Morgan Stanley Wealth Management between May 2011 and
November 2014, as well the announcement on September 25, 2012 by Morgan Stanley Smith Bamey LLC sfating In relevant
parts that "Morgan Stanley Smith Barney is now Morgan Stantey Wealth Management.

These evidence are important to highlight that Brennerman interacted with Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC which is
indisputably not FDIC insured and thus the essential element necessary to convict for bank fraud in violation of 18 United
States Code Section 1344(1) and its related conspiracy - conspiracy to commit bank fraud In violation of 18 United States Code
Section 1349 cannot be satisfied and Brennerman's relief for judgment of acquittal, pursuant to Rule 29 of the Federal Rules of
Criminal Pracedure should be granted, and that Government falled to conduct the necessary diligenice or investigation prior fo

indicting and prosecuting Brennerman.

Brennerman highlights the following as to the wire fraud charge and its related conspiracy. Brennerman was charged in
two criminal cases - criminal contempt of court in case no. 17-cr-156 (LAK), before Hon, Judge Lewis A. Kaplan and the related
fraud case in case ho. 17-cr-337 {RJS), before Hon. Richard J. Sullivan, both stemming from the underlying civil case, case no.
15 cv 70 (LAK) captioned - ICBC {London) PLC v. The Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc before Hon. Judge Lewis A. Kaplan.
Because the trial in the case before Judge Kaplan was scheduled ahead of that before this court, Brennerman sought to obtain
the relevant ICBC London lending and underwriting flle which is probative as to materiality an essential element of the charged
crime of wire fraud and ifs related conspiracy. Because Brennerman's request to both the government and directly to ICBC
(London) PLC had been denied, Brennerman sought o compel for the relevant flles through U.S District Court (8.D.N.Y), since
the criminal cases stemiming from the ICBC {London} PLC transaction were being prosecuted at the U.S District Court
(S.D.N.Y), however Brennerman's request fo U.S District Court {S.D.N.Y) was denied (see 17-cr-155 {LAK), dkt. no. 76).
Deprived of the relevant files necessary fo cross-examine any government witness as fo substance or credibility, Brennerman
moved in his motion-in-limine and reply to Government’s motion-In-limine, prior to trial of the related fraud charge, for U.S
District Court (S.D.N.Y) fo exclude the testimony of any witness from ICBC {L.ondon), because such testimony will be highly
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prejudicial and unfalr to Brennerman as government will simply be allowed to present any withess, who will be able to say -
anything without corroboration and without Brennerman having the opportunity to cross-examine him as fo substance or
credibility, as Brennerman would not have been able to review the relevant fending and underwriting files. Moreover, he will be
unable to assert his good faith defense, thus viclafing Brennerman’s constitutional rights to a fair trial.

Even after trial, Brennerman has presented evidence fo highlight that Mr. Robert Clarke {(not Mr. Julian Madgett) was
responsible for the relevant transaction at ICBC {London) PLC as evidenced through his affidavit in the underlying civil case at
16 cv 70 (LAK). (See copy of Robert Clarke affidavit af, {17-cr-337 (RJS), dkt. no. 164, exhibit 2). Additionally Brennerman
submitted evidence - Government Exhibit 1-19 and 1-22 which highlights that Blacksands had already incurred and disbursed
$6.45 miflion in satisfying the finance conditions of ICBC {London) PL.C and that the bridge finance was agreed to replace part
of those funds which Blacksands already disbursed, further that Brennerman informed hoth Mr. Bo Jiang and Mr. Julian
Madgett at ICBC (London} PLC and ICBC {London) PLC agreed fo the use of the bridge finance. {See 17-cr-337 (RJS), dkt. no.
164, exhibit 2}. Among others, Brennerman submitted newly discovered evidence (see 17-cr-337 {RJS), dkt. no. 164, exhibit 3)
- the 2017 ICBC (London) PLC financial and company disclosure which was made publicly available on June 8, 2018, after trial.
The disclosure highlights that there was no fraud. Because ICBC {London) PLC, the alleged victim of the wire fraud and related
conspiracy has made no disclosure, representation or announcement that the transaction involving Blacksands Pacific was
fraudulent or that it became a victim of fraud due fo the transaction with Blacksands, Nobmthstanding, that ICBC {London) PLC,
a financlal institution and publicly traded company in United Kingdom (England and Wales) is mandated by regulationsfo =~
disclose publicly, if it became a victim of fraud or became involved with fraudulent fransaction. This is particularly significant,
where Government never reviewed, adduced or presented the relevant ICBC London lending and underwriting files, and
because Brennerman was deprived from engaging in any meaningful cross-examination of the sole witness presented by
Government from ICBC (L.endon) PLC as to credibility and substance. In addition to the fact that, the sole witness - Mr. Julian
Madgett, is not a member of the credit committee responsible for approving the transaction at ICBC {London) PLC.

Thus, Brennerman submits, arguing that since Govemment ostensibly argued {although erroneously) that Scoit Stout
worked at Morgan Stanley Private Bank (instead of Morgan Stanley Smith Barney) in their opposition fo his Rule 29 and 33
motion. (See 17-cr-337 (RJS), dkt. no. 149), now highlighted as an etroneous proffer by Government given the overwhelming
evidence which were all avallable to Government. Government's credibility is questionable; further that, because Brennerman
was deprived of the relevant ICBC London fending and underwriting file prior to trial and even Government concedes that it had
not reviewed the files; additionally, because Robert Clarke and not Julian Madgett is/was responsible for the relevant
transaction at {CBC {London) PLC as highlighted through his affidavit; additionally, because Brennerman suffered for ineffective
assistance of counsel due fo the conflict of interest issue, with his trial counsel; additionally, because Brennerman submitted
and highlighted newly discovered evidence - the 2017 financial and company disclosure, by 1CBC {London) PLC, which was
fited and made public on June 6, 2018. Brennerman respectiully requests and pleads for the Court {o resolve the faclual dispute
as fo the relevant ICBC London trensaction with Blacksands Pacific, as it pertains fo this case, by reviewing the relevant ICBC
London lending and underwriting files, especially in light of the newly discovered evidence which demonstrates that, ICBC
{London} PLC, the alleged victim has not disclosed or represented that the transaction with Blacksands was fraudulent or that it
became a victim of fraud through the transaction with Blacksands, which it would have had to disclose by regulation if any fraud

accitrred.

The above presents significant issues, because Brennerman suffered prejudicial spillover on other counts of the
charged crime, due to Govermnment's erroneous argument and presentment to the court and jury at trial. In addition,
Brennerman suffered prejudice due to the conflict of interest issue with his trial counsel. Evidence submitted to date, supports,
Brennerman's pleading for a new trial, pursuant to Rule 33 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure,

Brennenman submits the above and the appended evidence in addition to his submissions at {dkt. no. 164}, his June 11,
2018 and June 17, 2018 comrespondences, and awaits the Couwrt’s decision

Dated: June 20, 2018

New York City, New York ’
' : RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

fsf Rahieem J. Brennerman
Defendant Pro Se
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from: BRENNERMAN, R. J @The Executive Office
Tor - Stout; Scott :

Ce: BRENNERMAN R, J@Executive Office
Subject: Re: Morgan Stanley (Wealth Management)
Datet Tuesday, January 8, 2013 9:09:49 AM
Attachments: Morgan Stanley (Client Profile).odf
Importance: High

Dear Scott,

As discussed, attached is the completed forms, as advised the account will be in the
corporate name however you wanted me to also complete a form with personal
information. As discussed, 1 will require Debit Card and AMEX card with the

account.

Please let know what are the next steps.

Best Regards

From:

Sent: Monday, December 10, 2012 1:10 PM
To: H

Subject: RE: 2013 Preparation

Hi R4,

Just a reminder to get those forms to me so | can get everything in order prior to our lunch on
Friday. '

Thanks,
Scott

Seott Stowut
F.A. - Wealth Management

MorganStanley
Direct: 310 205 4912

9665 Wilshire Bivd., 6% Floor
Beverly Hills, CA 90212
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G665 Wikshire Bovlovand £ 1
Suite 6} Beverly Hills, CA 902112 Mon g&an‘%{?iﬁf) ,
Kinoty provide ali personal information. SmithBarney
For auditional owners, please completa & 2* profife.

l'j 1 ™ ion 3 A 3 I ‘t
Full Name _ BAHEGY FHEw ,gféiwt’t&“{\?ﬂ"-?ﬁ}‘\a‘
Address A4S %};{}ff{ Pewug, 2 ft

City l\fﬁ’u YoRK State Aind \xﬁf{/\’: Zip Code _ [’Of{,ﬁfg' '
Home Fhane Businesg
coll__TH £31 &93¢ Fax AIG BG1 JUST

ss# or Tax 10 IINGGEEE US Citizen{y> N _
Marital Status -Simii'!f #of Dependentsﬁﬁi_ Date of Birth C)‘{}QJ ! %
E-maif Address _ YEmeancs meen @ Hle Koot £t e Lo

Telephone access Prompts Mother’s Maiden Name

City of Birth_ ____or 1%School Attended_£¥ViGHT
Employer B eate Baegid (Wskarion
Nature of Business __L/Jt § éns ‘Occupation @ff.féi (s Saind

oy o - \ —
Est. Annual Compensation $ 72064 {ff;‘S{r Seuyd) Employed Since _AUA 0
Primary Source of Income-Check all that apply

Annual Saiary_f_ luvestmems,_?f-:__ Refirement Assefs____ Amount §
Est, Total Annual Income (all sources)
Est. Liquid Net Worth $ 4om ___Est. Tolal Net Worth §

Tax Bracket {percentile)

Investment Objectives: (Please rank 1 through 4, in order of priotity)
Growth X Current income :75 . Tax Deferral zf' Uquidity___g__%__

investing Since (year) Stocks_11__Bonds 11 __Commodities Ci__options 02
Risk Talerance (check one} Aggressive ___ Moderate X _conservative ___

Speculation Yes S
Primary Financial Need: {eircle one}
(Wealth Accumulation, Major Purchase Healthcare Edugation
Estate Planning Retirement Charity income
Outside Investments: Firms Used:
Equities$ _____ Fixed income § Cash$____ Altinvestments__.

TimeHovlzon _____ LiquidtyNeeds

Are you or anyone in your househoki a major share holdgr in a publicly traded campany? Y@)

Ara you an executive of a publicly traded company? Y ) .
Do you or anyone in your imimediate family work for a brokerage house? Y (I
Is anyon,e; in your irnmediate family eraployed by GitiGroup? Y {§¥;

R sln

Please sign and date above

In order lo open your account we are required 10 obtain this information. Thank you for
; assisting us,
THIS INFORMATION WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL 02/2012
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9GAS Wilshin: Bawlovant 1 {1
Sutite o6 Roverly Hith, CA M2 M{)r{}angi.& “tey
Kindly provide ail personal information. SmithBarney
For additionst owners, please camplote a 2* profile.

Full Name _sJeaitsen 1 By el
Address 2760 fhurkn  Hheies ke, Spatt Seb

oy LA Vil State _NFYADA Zip Code 116
Home Phone . Business i
celt_1H69 L4%0 Fax

SS# orTax ID ' US Citizen(Y) N

Marital Status__ A4 #of Dependents Date of Birth

E-maif Address _. |

Telephone a_ccesé Prompis Mother's Malden Name____

City of Birth_ or 1 School Attended_ WG

Employer

Nature of Business __INVESTMENTS Occupation

Est. Annuaf Gompensation $ EmployedSince -

Primary Source of Income-Check all that apply
Annual Safary_____Invesimonts____ Relirement Assets____ Amount $_
Est. Total Annual Income (all sources) -
Est. Liquid Net Worth § ____Esl. Total Net Worth §
Tax Bracket (percentlile) |

Investment Objectives: (Please rank 1 through 4, in order of priority)
Growih _ ! Current lncome _‘2«“__ Tax Deferral 3 Liquidﬁy,ﬁ_,_w,
Investing Since {vear) Stocks 17 _Bonds _11_Commodities Ol __Optiens_

oL

i - aon

Risk Tolerance {chack one} Aggressive ____ Moderate X_Conservative ___

Speculation Yes No

Pritnary Financial Need: {circle one)

\'ggilgg Accumulation Major Purchase Healthcare Education
Eslate Planning ) Retirement Charity Income

Outside Invesiments: Firms Used: .

Equities § Fixed Income § CashS_ ... All Investments

Time Horlzon _ . Liquicity Needs _

Are you or anyone in your household a major share holder in a publicly traded company? Y N
Are you an executive of a publicly traded company? ¥ N '
Do you or anyone In your immediate family work for a brokerage house? ¥ N
is anyone in geur immediate family employed by CitiGroup? Y N
E g St

Y .
3 E ) v: o
A f{Q HSh )
Please sign and date above '

" ln order to open your acoount we are required fo obtain this information. Thank yous for
assisting us.
TRIS INFORMATION WiLL. REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL 02/2012
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From: BRENNERMAN, R. I @The Executive Office
Toi . Stout, Scott

Cet i Sevarter, Mona

Subject: Re: Platinum AMEX

Date: Wednasday, January 9, 2013 7:24:39 PM

Importance: High

DearMona,

Are you able to call me on my cellphone 917 699 6430 regarding the email below

Best Regards

From: Stout, Scott
Sent: Wednesday, January 09, 2913 4: 45 PM

ﬁe:zazis:u.mqna
Subject. Platinum AMEX

R,

Please give Mona a call to set up your Platinum AMEX card. 310 205 4751.

As a Morgan Stanley perk, if you spend $100k annually we deposit $500 into your account to cover
your annual fee {$450).

Other MS/Platinum Perks Include:
- First Class Lounge Access
- $200 annually in airline fee credits {checking bags, etc)
- No foreign transaction fees
- Premium upgrades for car rentals
- Conclerge
- 20% Travel Bonus

Scott Stout

F.A. - Wealth Management
MorganStanley
Direct: 310 206 4912

9666 Wilshire Blvd., 6™ Floor
Bevecly Hills, CA 90212

Important Nelice to Recipients:
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Please do nol use e-mail o reguest, authorize or effect the purchase or sale of any security or
commodity. Unfortunately, we cannot execute such instructions provided in e-mail. Thank you.

The sender of this £-mailis an emplovee of Morgan Sianley Smith Barney 1LLC ("Morgan Stanley®). l you
have received this communication in arror, please destroy all elecironic and paper copies and notify the
sandnr immediately, Evroneous fransmission is ool infended lo waive confidentiality or privilege. Margan
Sianley reserves the rght, lo the exient permilled under applicable law, io monitor electronic
communications. This message s subject 1o terms  available at the following link:
hitp:iwwnee argansianiey. comfdisclaimers/mseshemail. himl, I you cannol access this link, please notify
us by reply message and we will send the conlents o you. By messaging with Morgan Staniey you

consent {o the foragoing.
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CLIENT STATEMENT] Forthe Perfos January 31, 2013

RAHEEM JEFFERSON BRENNERMAN
245 PARK AVENUE

39 FLOOR

NEW YORK NY 10167-4000

Your Branch

$665 WILSHIRE BLVD ST 600
BEVERLY HILLS, CA90212
Telephions: 310-285-280¢

AR Phones 800-458-9838

Fax 310-285-2686

Client Interaction Canter

800-865-3328
24l-loursg Day, 7 Days aWeek

Access your accounts online
www.morganstantey. comlontine

Morgan Slaniay Smitfy Bamnsy LLC, Member SIFC

Morgan Stanley

TOTAL VALUE LAST PERICEs of 1213112} ]

NET CREDITS/DEBITS 240,000.00
CHANGE [N VALUE 0.88
TOTAL VALUE OF YOURCCOUNTes of 131113 $200,600.88

{Total Values insiuds accrued Interash)

YourfinahciatAdvisor
Scotl Stowut

197 - 012515054 -1 - 0
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A Board Position for You - These companles need board members. Click hera to be matched with them. Ad -~
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Brand yourself.
Properly.
Shep Stickers HMOO
S cott StOlit « 3¢d -~ MedVector Clinical Trials Promnted
CEQ, Co-Founder at MedVector Clinical Trials ; A University of Arizona Q A Board Posiion for ¥ou
Et Segundo, California : {h— :'l::g:;;ng?:ée';‘:gg ,’,’:ﬂd @
] ff} See contact Info malched with them,

Google Dalz Studio (befa)

Sea Al Your Markeling Data in )
" Beautiful, Sharaabls Reports.

For Free.

Become & Soclat Worker i
Earn Your MSW QOniine from ;\
USC. N GRE Requlred.

Frsidadt axn cqﬁ 500+ connections

MedVector’s mission is to advance medicine‘by streamlining the clinicat trial industry. We provide
Pharmaceutical & 8Biotech companies, Contract Research Organizations (CRO) and research institutes a
global patient network, which enables them ta quickly identify clinical trial candidates, exponentially im...

Show more ~

Experience

CEO & Ca-Founder

mswase.  MedVector Clinical Trials
Jun 2017 ~ Present « 1yr 1 mo
Ef Sequndo, CA

MedVector's mission is to advance medicine by streamlining the clinfcal teial industsy. We provide
Pharmaceuticat & Blotech companies, Contract Research Organizations {CRO} and research
institutes a glabal patient network utifizing Telemedicine. This enables researchers to quickly
identify and connect to more dinfcat trial candidates, exponentially improving time to market.

Once suitable candidates have been identified, MedVector connects our research clients ta trial
participants utilizing a state of the art, HIPAA compliant, telemedicine network, allowing them to
virtually move patients to clinical trial site-locations from anywhere in the world,

Qur pracess allows clinicat tiial sites (locations) to captura marketshare, creates economies-of-scale
by removing redundancies in the current marketplace, creates revenue for haspitals not conducting
clinical trials, gives remote populations access te cutting edge medicine, and significantly expedites
the process of bringing fife saving, advanced medicine to market.

To tearn more visit: www.MedVectorTrials.com

% Financial Advisor

. Wells Fargo Private Bank.

Qck 2014 ~Apr 2018 « 3yrs 7 mos
Los Angeles, Califomia

Built a Wealth Management team within the Private Bank, incorporting Wealth Managers, Portfolio
Managers, Private Bankers and Financiat Advisors,

Financial Advisar
Morgan Stanley Wealth Management
Moy 2019 ~Nov 2014 + 3yrs 7 mos
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Morgan Stanley Smith Barmey is
Now Morgan Stanley VVealth
Management

Sep 25, 2012

Morgan Stanley's U.S. Wealth Management Business Has a
New Name Following Largest-Ever Integration in the Wealth
Management Industry

New York «

Margan Stanley (NYSE: MS) today announced that its U.S. wealth management business, Morgan
Stanley Smith Barney, has been renamed Morgan Staniey Wealth Management (MSWM).

Morgan Stanley Wealth Management is an industry leader, managing $1.7 trillion In client assets
through a network of 17,000 representatives in 74Q Jocations. Morgan Stanley on September 11
ennounced an agreemant with Citigroup to increass its majority ownership of MSWM such that’
Morgan Stanley will assume full control by June of 2015, subject to regulatery approvel. The
business was formed in 2002 as a joint venture between Morgan Stanley and Citi's Smith Barney.

"Today, as we move under ane name, we are culminating a three-year effort to integrate two
outstanding franchises,” said James German, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Margan
Stanley. “The Smith Barney name stood for investment excellencs for three-quarters of a century,
and Morgen Stanley Wealth Management will provide the first-class service thathas
distinguished Morgan Stanley as a firm for more than 75 years. Going forward, we rernain focused '
on baing the world’s premier wealth management group.”

Said Greg Fleming, President of Morgan Stanley Wealth Management, “Today, we are one
integrated business, with ons avaerarching mission: to earn the trust of our clients every day

—ovdesnt 16k . v £ FuFRnndd N0 A HLWEOGAST 47220 T e’

£, § 2 _ebamlans. Tk B v vamans

htbnnmefhrnrnse manrommmabanlne sancbenna.
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through superior advice and execution. Our name has changed to reflect our integration, but our
mission remeains the same: We are committed to helping our clients reach their financial goals.”

The broker-dealer designation for Morgan Stanley Wealth Management will remain “"Morgan
Stanley Smith Barney LLC"

Morgan Stanley Wealth Management, a global leader in wealth management, provides access to a
wide range of products and services to individuals, businesses and Institutions, including
brokerage and investment advisory services, financial and wealth planning, credit and lending,
cash management, annuities and insurance, retirement and trust services.

Mergan Stanley (NYSE: MS) is a leading global financial services firm providing a wide range of
investment banking, securities, investment management and wealth management services, The

Firre's employees serve clients worldwide including corporations, governments, institutions and
individuals from more than 1,200 offices in 43 countries. For further information about Morgan

Stanley, please visit www.morganstanley.com.
Medis Relations Contact:
Jeanmarie McFadden, 212.761.2433

Jim Wiggins, 814.225.6161

e b s bttt e v r h tanlav-smith-harnav.-is-now-moraan-stanlev-wealth-management_7a78aa1d-036a-41bf-9df7-1¢73387a°
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Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 98 Filed 12/13/17 Page 129 of 285 1057
HC48BRE4 Gonzalez - Cross
don't.

Q. If it had no dépository accéunts, would there‘be any reason
for it to need FDIC insurance?

A. I'm not certain.

Q. Does FDIC insurance cover anythihg else other than
depository accounts?

A. No.

Q. So if there is a company that has many different

sub-entities, some of those that hold dep031torv acctounts qﬂd

B

s0mEe 78 thosewthat don t; a flnanclal‘;nstltutlon N *bould éay,*

it's safe to say the FDIC would only offer insurance to those
portions of the company that handle depository accounts?

A. You kind of lost me. Can you repeat that?

Q. If there is a financial institution that has one division
that covers investments and another division that covers
depository accounts, would the FDIC insure the division that
covers investment banking?

A.. If it does not have a certificate of deposit insurance it
would not.

Q. If it had no depository accounts, there was no reason for
that institution to seek a certificate bf insurance?

A. I can't opine on what someone would want to do, in terms of
seeking insurance or not seeking insurance.

Q. Well, there would be nothing for the FDIC to insure in that
instance, is that correct?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 98 Filed 12/13/17 Page 130 of 285 1058
HC48BRE4 Gonzalez - Cross :

MR. SOBELMAN: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Move on.

MR. %TEINWASCHER: Can we go to Exhibit 529.

Can I ask thé government's indqlgence. I don't think
we have an electronic version of this. The same page that Mr.
Sobelman showed the witness, page 4.

Thank you. I appreciate that.

Q. Mr. Gohzalez, you looked at this witﬁ Mr. Sobelman é few
minutes ago, correct?

A. Yes.

0. I think he directed you to the kind of italicized text,
almost toward the bottom of the page under "cash deposits-and
money market fﬁnds," correct?

A. Yes.

Q. .Then he-put up on-theiscreen next to this stat@ﬁénﬁ”thé'two

il Dt S N

certificates. of. insurance from the FDIC that pertéin;ﬁo Morgan
Stanley Bank NA and Morgan Stanley Private Bank National
Association, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Morgan Stanley Bank NA and Morgan Stanley Private Bank
National Association, are those the same entity?
A. The same entity as what?

Q. As each other.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300

1307
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HC48BRE4 Gonzalez - Cross '

Q. OK. I am not sure it's reflected on this page, but maybe
on the first page of this exhibit.
You see at the bottom here, on the bottom left, there

is an italicized text that reads "Morgan Stanley Smith Barney

LLC"?

A. It's hard for me to see.
Q Do you see that text now?
A. \Yes.
Q

Are you aware if Morgan Stanlev Smith Barney LLC is insured .

e, t D i T

A. I'm not aware of that.

Q. Did you conduct any search to confirm that?

A. No.

0. The rest of this text, it has "member SIPC." Do you see
that?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you familiar with that acronym SIPC?
A. I'm not familiar with that acronym.

Q. Does that, as far as you know, pertain to the FDIC in any

Q. Does the FDIC insure banks outside of the United States?

A. No.

0. So if there is a bank located in London, in the United

Kingdom, that would not be covered by the FDIC?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300

1308
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Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 98 Filed 12/13/17 Page 132 of 285 1060
HC48BRE4 Gonzalez - Cross

A. Not without a certificate of deposit insurance.

Q. I just want to clear this up. Your answer to my previous
question was the FDIC does not insure banks outside of the
United States.

A. A foreign bank?

Q. Correct. |

A. No.

Q. So if there is a foreign bank located in London, even if it

held depository accounts, the FDIC could not insure it, is that

correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. I apologize for this.: I want to go back to one point.
Those two Morgan Stanley banks that we looked at,
those two entities that had certificates of insurance with the

FDIC, if an entity is a subsidiary of a parent in a financial

_.institution, does the fagt that the subsidiary is ¥FDIC insured..iy
Lt e e T . R A

also mean that the barenﬁ isvfﬁlc inSured?

A. Can you repeat that? I'm not sure I understand.

Q. Does FDIC insurance for a financial institution, which is a
subsidiary of another financial institution, so the FDIC has
issued a certifibate to that subsidiary, does that certificate
somehow also cover the parent corporation?

A. No.

Q. So the parent entity would need a separate certificate of

insurance?

SOUTHERN bISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300

1309
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A. Yes.

Q. The saﬁe thing for an affiliate within a company.or
affiliates between companies, each entity would require a
separate certificate of insurance in order to be FDIC insured?
A. That is correct.

MR. STEINWASCHER: We are just about approaching lunch
and I am done with this witness.

THE COURT: Any redirect?

MR. SOBELMAN: No, your Honor.

7 A

WhyQabﬁ“tfwé.bréaﬁ“fhéhf

T COURTY A “We will pick up |t

at 2.

Don't discuss the case and bring your books with you
into the jury room,,but don't take them outside of the jury
room. Have a good lunch.

All rise for the jury, please.

(Jury exits courtroom)

THE COURT: You can s?ep down. Thank you very much(

Mr. Gonzalez.

Have a seat. Let's taik about what we have left and
an ETA.

MR. ROOS: We have sixhwitnesses remaining, two of
them are on the longer side and the other ones are.about the
length that some of these shorter witﬁesses have been today.
And we also have three stipulations to read into the record at
some ?oint. We can do it right aftér lunch.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300

1310
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BY MR. WALLER:

Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 94 Filed 12/13/17 Page 201 of 263 551
: HBTSbre’7 Madgett - cross
é 1 _ (Jury present)
g é THE COURT: Okay. Have a seat. We will now begin the
? 3 cross—examination of Mr. Madgett by Mr. Waller.
w 4 CROSS EXAMINATION |
|

28
28

Q0. Good afternoon, Mr. Madgett.

A. Good afternoon.

Q. When did you say you started working for ICBC?

A. 2009.

Q. And you work for ICBC in London, correct?

A. Cgrrect.

0. And it is a subsidiary of a Chinese bank?

A. It is a subsidiary and a branch of a Chinese bank.
Q.‘ ICBC London is.not FDIC insured; is that correct? .
A. You a?e referring to the U.S. arrangement?

Q. That's correct.

A. No, it would not be because it's an operatidn in the U.K.

Q. When your credit committee makes a decision, a credit
decisibn whether or not to give a loan or not to give a loan,
what sort of documentétion does it produce? Does it produce a
memo that explains its reasons or analysis for giving a loan?
A. The credit committee will have a series of minutes which
reflects a discussion of thé\ca;e in credit committee and
records the decision of the credit committee.

Q. Did you ever produce the documents from that credit

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 94 Filed 12/13/17 Page 202 of 263 552
HBTS5bre7 Madgett - cross

committee, the ones you just'described, to the government?.
MR. ROOS: Objection.
THE COURT: You can answer.
A. To my knowledge, no. But I need to state perhaps it's
appropriate to say this: After the loan was defaulted, the
internal process of the bank means that the direct relationship
managers who were responsible for that dialogue step away and
the defaultedvloan is then passed to a different department.
So, I'm not fully aware of all aspects of what has happened to
the management of the léan after around April 2014.
Q. And when I say produced to the government, I meant to the
prosecutors here in this case. You understood that?
A. I understood that and to my knowledge, no, that has not
been the case.

Q. But ICBC did produce a lot of documents to the government,

correct?

A. All I can state is that the documents were provided to our
legal advisors and then our legal advisors have interacted with
the U.S. Attorney's office.

Q. Would it be fair to say that some documents that are in the

underwriting file for ICBC were produced to the document and

others were not?

A. Some documents will have been passed across. I do not know
whether or not all or some. I'm not in -- I don't have that
knowledge.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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HBTS5bre7 Madgett - cross

Q. Is there an underwriting file‘for a loan applicatiqn‘such
as the one we are dealing with in this case?

A. There would be a credit application document which is where
the case for making the loan has been summarized, and that is
the credit application document which then goes to credit

committee for approval or decline.

Q. Do you know if that -- well who would have prepared that
document?
A. I would have been one of the main authors of that document.

Q. Do you know if that document was produced to the
government?
A. I ao not and I wouldn't see great relevance in it, but I do
not know if it has gone to the government.
Q. Well, relevance is not really your determination, correct?
A. Correct, correct. Yes.
Q. So’you don't know if it was produced to the government and
it certainly wasn't produced to fhe defense, correct, by ICBC?

THE COURT: Well, do you know?

THE WITNESS: I don't know, but I'm assuming from your
question that it wasn't.

THE COURT: Well, don't assume.

THE WITNESS: Okay, sorry. My apologies.

THE COURT: The jury knows not to assume anything from
a question. So, you just answer as to what you know.

THE WITNESS: All right.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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HBTS5bre’7 Madgett - Ccross

- BY MR. WALLER:

Q. Was there an answer?

A. Could you repeat the question, please?

Q. Yes.

Do you know if that document that we were talking

about was ever produced?

THE COURT: He answered. He said I don't know.

THE WITNESS: I don't know.

THE COURT: And then he started'assuming things and
that's when I jumped in.

BY MR. WALLER:

0. So the answer is you don't know?

A. I don't know.

Q0. Now, you first met Mr. Brennerman in 2011, correct?
A. Yes. “

Q. Did you meet him in person for a meeting?

A. Yes.

Q. Jumeirah Carlton Tower Hotel, does that sound right?

A. On one occasion I met him in a hotel, yes.

Q. At that point when you ﬁet him I think you testified that
there were no firm deals that he was bringing to you at that
point? There were no dealsAthat he was bringing to you, he was
just making an introduction?

A. When the initial 1nteractlon between us started, yes.

Q. And, do you recall when the first deal was that he brought

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300 '
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HBUKBRE1

MS. FRITZ: Your Hoﬁor, your Honor, no. We have it
here, but ——‘ | | |

THE COURT: You haven't served it yet?

MS. FRITZ: We wanted to hear what your Honor said.

THE COURT: In any event, the witness has indicated he
doesn't possess the documents, so the documents are not with
him. He doesn't have them. According to his testimony,
they're in London with the bank's files that he turned over
once the deal went south. He certainly. said he didn't review
them in preparation for his testimony. He doesn't possess them
now.

So, to the extent the bank is subpoenaed with a Rule
17 subpoena, then that would be a different issue, but I don't
think serving Mr. -— who is the lawyer, Mr.?

MR. HESSLER: Hessler, your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes, Mr. Hessler. 1I'm sorry.

I don't think serving Mr. Hessler is adequate service
for purposes of the bank. |

MS. FBITZ: Let me explain why we did it that way,
because initially last night, we had an ICBC subpoena drafted,
and the reason that we did it this way is, again, I don't
necessarily agree with your Honor's definition of possession.
I do think that Julian Madgett, I think quite plainly, has
access to these documents. People very rarely walk around with
the documents that you're asking for from them, but they do

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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I H OMP SON ATLANTA CLEVELAKNID DAYTON WASTHRNGTON, D

I N E CINCINNATL COLUMBLS NEW YORK

November 29, 2017
Via ECF and Email

Hon. Richard J. Sullivan

Thurgood Marshall

United States Courthouse, Room 905
40 Foley Square

New York, NY 10007

Re: United States v. Raheem J. Brennerman; No. 17 Cr. 337 (RIS)

Dear Judge Sullivan,

We wriie to address the issue raised today with respect to the production of certain documents.
Specifically, we learned today thai that the notes of the Government’s witness, Julian Madgett,
pertaining to matters to which he testified, were not obtained by the Government, or provided to
the defense. For the reasons detailed below, it is our position that the materials should have been
produced pursuant to Fed. Rule Crim. P. 16 and the Jencks Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3500; in addition,
the defendant is serving a subpoena on counsel for this witness, Paul Hessler, for their
production and the production of other documents.

The Government has asserted that M. Madgett’s notes — made by the alleged victim and
pertaining to the precise subject matter at issue in this trial — are not in its actual “possession,”
and therefore it has no obligation to produce them. But possession is not so narrowly defined.
Courts have required the Government to disclose evidence material to the defense where the
Government “actually or constructively” possesses it. E.g., United States v. Joseph, 996 F.2d 36,
39 (3d Cir. 1993) (“The prosecution is obligated to produce certain evidence actually or
constructively in its possession or accessible to it.” (interal quotation marks omitted)); ¢f* Kyles
v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 437 (1995) (holding that, to satisfy Brady and Giglio, prosecutors have
“a duty to learn of any favorable evidence known to the others acting on the government’s behalf
in the case™). In particular, in United Siates v. Paternina-Vergara, the Second Circuit held that
the Government had an obligation to make good faith efforts to obtain Jencks Act statements
possessed by a third party that had cooperated extensively, and had a close relationship with, the
Government. 749 F.2d 993 (2d Cir. 1984). And in United States v. Stein, the court directed the
Government to produce documents in the actual possession of a third party, KPMG, because
KPMG had voluntarily agreed to do so in an deferred prosecution agreement. 488 F. Supp. 2d
350, 361 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (noting that the term “control” has been “broadly construed”); see also
United States v. Kilroy, 488 F. Supp. 2d 350, 362 (E.D. Wis. 1981) (“Since Standard Oil is
cooperating with the Government in the preparation of the case and is making available to the
Government for retention in the Government’s files any records which Standard Oil has and

- Maranda Fritz@ThompsonHine:.com Fax: 212.344.6101 Phone: 212.908.3966 : mf 4348-5339-0807.3

THOMPSON HINE 1 335 Madison Avenue www ThempsonHine.com
ATTORNEYS AT Law : 12th Flowr O 212.344.5680
New York, New York 10017-4611 F: 212.344.6101
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which the Government wants, however, it is not unreasonable to treat the records as being within
the Government’s control at least (o the exient of requiring the Government lo reques! the
records on the defendant’s behalf and to include them in iis files for the defendant’s review if
Standard Oil agrees io make them available o the Government.” (emphasis added)).”

Here, there can be no question that Mr. Madgett and his employer, ICBC (London) plc
(“ICBC™), are in a cooperative relationship with the Government. ICBC is the complainant and
alleged victim in this case. Moreover, counsel for ICBC confirmed in the recent criminal
contempt trial before Judge Kaplan that ICBC had voluntarily produced more than 5000 pages of
documents at the mere request of the Government. And Mr. Madgett is voluntarily appearing as
a Government witness. Given this close relationship, and one demonstrating extensive
cooperation between Mr. Madgeit, ICBC, and the Government, the Government had (and has) an
obligation to obtain and produce to Mr. Brennerman materials required by Rule 16 and the
Jencks Act. Yet, Mr. Madgett testified today that the Government never asked him for any

notes.

Mr. Brennerman therefore moves this Court to direct the Government to request, at a minimum,
Mr. Madgett’s notes that pertain to the subject matter of this case and his testimony. This is
especially necessary given the critical importance of such materials to this case and M.
Brennerman’s defense, as no documents have been produced to date that pertain to the critical
issue of ICBC’s decision-making process with respect to the loan it provided to Mr. Brennerman
—1i.e., the transaction at the very core of the Government’s case.

Additionally, since Mr. Brennerman has been unable to obtain any such materials, and in light of
Mr. Madgett’s testimony, we are issuing a subpoena directly to ICBC, through its counsel Mr.

Hessler, for these records and others.

We are prepared to address these issues at any time convenient to the Court.

! Courts have granted motions to dismiss an indictment where the Government fails to
satisfy its discovery and disclosure obligations, either on the basis of a due process violation or
under the court’s inherent supervisory powers, including where the Government belatedly
disclosed Jencks Act materials. E.g., United States v. Chapman, 524 F.3d 1073 (9th Cir. 2008).
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Respectfully,

s/ Maranda E. Fritz

Maranda E. Fritz

. Enclosures
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AO 89 (Rev. 08/09) Subpoena to Testify at a Hearing or Trial in a Criminal Case

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Southern District of New York

United States of America )
2
) Case No. 1:17-cr-0377-RJS
Raheem J. Brennerman )
Defendant )

SUBPOENA TO TESTIFY AT A HEARING OR TRIAL IN A CRIMINAL CASE

To: Julian Madgetii

YOU ARE COMMANDED to appear in the United States district court at the time, date, and place shown
below to testify in this criminal case. When you arrive, you must remain at the court untif the judge or a court officer

allows you to leave.
Place of Appearance: Southern District of New York Courtroom No.:
15C
500 Pearl Street d Time:
New York, New York Date and Time:  45/06/5017 9:30 arn

You must also bring with you the following documents, electronically stored information, or objects (blank if not
applicable):

Please see attached rider.

(SEAL)

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

The name, address, e-mail, and telephone number of the attorney representing (name of party) _Raheem J. Brennerman

, who requests this subpoena, are:

Maranda E. Fritz, Esq.

Brian D. Waller, Esqg.

Brian K. Steinwascher, Esq.
Thompson Hine LLP

335 Madison Avenue, 12th Floor
New York, New York 10017-4611

(212) 908-3966
Maranda.Fritz@ThompsonHine.com, Brian.Waller@ThompsonHine.com & Brian.Steinwascher@ThompsonHine.com
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AQ 89 (Rev. 08/09) Subpocna to Testify at a Hearing or Trial in a Criminal Case (Page 2)

Case No. 1:17-cr-0377-RJS

PROOF OF SERVICE

This subpoena for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

[ 1 served the subpoena by delivering a copy to the named person as follows:

ol (date) ;or

3 Ireturned the subpoena unexecuted because:

Unless the subpoena was issued on behalf of the United States, or one of its officers or agents, I have also
tendered to the witness fees for one day’s attendance, and the mileage allowed by law, in the amount of

$

My fees are § for travel and $ for services, for a total of § 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name ard title

Server’s address

Additional infermation regarding attempted service, etc:
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©12/09/2019 Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 71-1  Filed 11/29/17 Page 3 of 3

RIDER
(Subpoena to Julian Madgett)

Definitions and Instructions:
1. Please produce any documents responsive to this Subpoena by 12/6/2017 at 9:30 am.

2. Please produce requested records in electronic form (native format where necessary to
view the material in its full scope) in a manner that is OCR-searchable, and with all

available electronic metadata.

. The term “documents” includes writings, emails, text messages, drawings,
graphs, charts, calendar entries, photographs, audio or visual recordings, images, -
and other data or data compilations, and includes materials in both paper and
electronic form.

W

4. The term “ICBC” refers fo the Plaintiff in the civil litigation in the Southern District
of New York captioned ICBC (London) plc v. The Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc., 15
Cv. 70 (LAK) and includes its agents, representatives and counsel.

5. The term “Blacksands Pacific” includes The Blacksands Pacific Group Inc. and the
Blacksands Pacific Alpha Blue, LLC or any Blacksands Pacific entity and any of its
.subsidiaries and affiliates, and any officer, employee, volunteer, representative, or agent

of those entities.

6. The Subpoena calls for the production of documents from the period January 1, 2013 to
March 3, 2017.

7. Any documents withheld on grounds of privilege must be identified on a privilege log
with descriptions sufficient to identify their dates, authors, recipients, and general subject
matter.

Materials to be Produced:

1. All notes relating to meetings and communications with representatives of Blacksands
Pacific.

All documents relating to or reflecting the decision by the credit committee at ICBC to
issue a bridge loan to Blacksands Pacific including but not limited to the “credit paper”
and memorialization of the committee’s decision.

N
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

Thurgood Marshall U.S. Courthouse 40 Foley Square, New York, NY 10007 Telephone: 212-857-8500

MOTION INFORMATION STATEMENT

Docket Number(s): 18-3546(L); 19-497(Con) Caption [use short title]

Motion for: Motion to supplement the Motion-to- United States of America

Recall Mandate

Set forth below precise, complete statement of relief sought: "
Appellant respectfully submits Motion to supplement (with
appended Petition for Writ of Certiorari) the motion to recall mandate
18-3546(L) EFC No. 211, 212 and 19-497 in an endeavor to Raheem J. Brennerman
highlight pertinent in-depth information, issues and evidence to
the panel Court in their consideration of the Motion to Recall
mandate and the correction of erroneous disposition.
MOVING PARTY: Raheem J. Brennerman OPPOSING PARTY: United States of America
|:|P]aintiff @Defendant
_Appel]ant/Petitioner _DAppellee/Respondent
MOVING ATTORNEY: Raheem Brennerman Pro Se OPPOSING ATTORNEY: Robert Sobelman, Esq.
[name of attorney, with firm, address, phone number and e-mail]
Reg. No 54001-048 US Attorney's Office
LSCI Allenwood, PO Box 1000 One St Andrew Plaza

White Deer, PA 17887-1000 New York, NY 10007

Court- Judge/ Agency appealed from: _HON. Richard J. Sullivan

Please check appropriate boxes: FOR EMERGENCY MOTIONS, MOTIONS FOR STAYS AND

INJUCTIONS PENDING APPEAL:
Has movant notified_opposing counsel (required by Local Rule 27.1):

b ) Has this request for relief been made below? |:|Yes I:'NO
_Yes No (explain): Has this relief been previously sought in this court? Yes ‘|:|N0

Requested return date and explanation of emergency:

Opposing counsel’s position _on motion;

Unopposed DOpposedDon’t Know

Does opposing counsel intend to file a response:

Yes D}No Don’t Know

Is oral argument on motion requested? Yes _|:|No (requests for oral argument will not necessarily be granted)

Has argument date of appeal been set? |:| Yes No If yes, enter date:

Signature of Moving Attorney:

/s/ Raheem J. Brennerman Date: 01/15/2021 Service by: |__|CM/ECF Other [Attach proof of service]

Form T-1080 (rev.12-13)
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

CAPTION:

United States of America

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE*

Docket Number: 18-3546(L); 19-497(Con)

Raheem J. Brennerman

1, Raheem Brennerman , hereby certify under penalty of perjury that
(print name)
on January 15,2021 , I served a copy of _Motion to Supplement
(date)

(list all documents)
by (select all applicable)**

____Personal Delivery X United States Mail ___ Federal Express or other
Overnight Courier

__ Commercial Carrier ____E-Mail (on consent)

on the following parties:

Robert Sobelman, Esq. US Attorney's Office, One St. Andrew Plaza, New York, NY 10007

Name Address City State Zip Code
Nicolas Landsman-Roos US Attorney's Office, One St. Andrew Plaza, New York, NY 10007

Name Address City State Zip Code
Name Address City State Zip Code
Name Address City State Zip Code

*A party must serve a copy of each paper on the other parties, or their counsel, to the appeal or
proceeding. The Court will reject papers for filing if a certificate of service is not simultaneously
filed.

**If different methods of service have been used on different parties, please complete a separate
certificate of service for each party.

January 15, 2021 /s/Raheem Brennerman

Today’s Date Signature

Certificate of Service Form (Last Revised 12/2015)
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Appellee,

-Vs- Appeal Docket Nos. 18-3546 (L); 19-497 (con)
RAHEEM J. BRENNERMAN,

Defendant - Appellant,

MOTION TO SUPPLEMENT
MOTION-TO-RECALL MANDATE
WITH APPENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

RAHEEM J. BRENNERMAN, hereby affirms under penalty of perjury:
1. | am the Defendant - Appellant in this instant appeal.

2. I am a Pro Se Defendant-Appellant, in this matter. As such, | am familiar with the
facts and circumstances of this action.

3. | am the Defendant - Appellant for the appeals at United States v. Brennerman,
18-3546 (L); 19-497 (Con)

4. Pursuant to FRAP and the Court’s local rules, Defendant - Appellant Raheem
Brennerman respectfully submits the appended Petition for writ of certiorari and Appendix filed
at the Supreme Court of the United States at docket no. 20-6638 as supplemental information
with the Motion-To-Recall Mandate at 18-3546 (L), doc. nos. 211, 212 and at appeal docket no.
19-497 (Con).

The supplemental information - Petition for writ of certiorari and Appendix appended to
this Motion to Supplement will highlight the pertinent in-depth background, issues and
evidence to panel Court, in their consideration of the Motion-To-Recall mandate and the
correction of erroneous disposition.
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WHEREFORE, the Court should grant this motion to supplement the Motion-To-Recall
Mandate at 18-3546 (L), doc. nos. 211, 212 and at Appeal docket no. 19-497 (Con) with the
supplemental information (Petition for writ of certiorari and Appendix).

Dated: January 15, 2021
White Deer, Pa. 17887-1000
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

/s/ Raheem J. Brennerman
RAHEEM JEFFERSON BRENNERMAN
Defendant - Appellant

FCI Allenwood Low

P. 0. Box 1000

White Deer, Pa. 17887-1000
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%@18638»”

IN THE

SBupreme ourt of the Wnited States

OCTOBER TERM, 2020

"
ik
1

RAHEEM J EFFERSON BRENNERMAN,
Petitioner,
V. |
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Respondent,

On Petition for a Writ of Certiorari
To the United States Court of Appeals
for the Second Circuit

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Raheem dJ. Brennerman
FCI ALLENWOOD Low

P. O. Box 1000

White Deer, Pa. 17887-1000
Pro Se Petitioner

RECEIVED
DEC 16 2020

ICE OF THE CLERK

E
cSJLSPREME COURT, U.S,
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I QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the abuse of discretion standard imposed by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit is Constitutionally
impermissible - where trial Court which had an obligation to protect the
Constitutional rights of a criminal defendant deliberately deprivéd him of his
Constitutional rights and the United States Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit refused to correct the errors of trial Court.

2. Whether trial Court abused its obligation to protect the
Constitutional rights of a criminal defendant at trial - where trial Court
deliberately cauéed the deprivation of a criminal defendant's Constitutional

right in an endeavor to unjustly deprive him of liberty.

PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING

All parties appear in the caption of the case on the cover page.
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IV. PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF
APPEALSFOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT
Petitioner Raheem Jefferson Brennerman respectfully petitions this
Court for a writ of certiorari to review the judgment and order of the United

States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit entered on June 9, 2020. Mr.

Brennerman's motion for rehearing en banc was denied on July 31, 2020.

V. OPINION BELOW

On June 9, 2020, a panel of the Second Circuit affirmed Petitioner's
conviction. United States v. Brennerman, No. 18 3546, 818 F. App’x 1 (2d. Cir.
June 9, 2020) (19-497(Con)). Mr. Brennerman's motion for rehearing en banc
was denied by an Order of the Second Circuit datéd July 31, 2020. United
States v. Brennerman, No. 18 3546 Cr., EFC No. 195.

VI. JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals' judgment affirming Petitioner's conviction and
sentence was entered on Juﬁe 9, 2020. Mr. Brennerman's motion for
rehearing en banc was denied on July 31, 2020. See No. 18 3546, EFC No.
190; 195. Following a 150-day period for filing, including the ordinary 90-day
filing period plus the 60-day additional time provided By administrative order
relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, this Petition for Certiorari would have
expired on December 31, 2020. The petition is being filed postmark on or
before that date. Sup. Ct. R. 13(1); 13(3); 13(5); 29(2); 30(1). Petitioner

invokes this Court’s jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1).
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VII. CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY
PROVISIONS INVOLVED

Title 18, § 1344(1) provides:

(a) Whoever knowingly executes, or attempts to execute, a scheme
or artifice--

(1)  to defraud a federally chartered or insured financial
1nstitution, or

"(b) As used in this section, the term "federally chartered or insured
financial institution" means--

(1) a bank with deposits insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation;

(2)  aninstitution with accounts insured by the Federal
Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation;

3) a credit union with accounts insured by the National
Credit Union Administration Board;

(4)  a Federal home loan bank or a member, as defined in
section 2 of the Federal Home Loan Bank Act (12 U.S.C. § 1422), of
the Federal home loan bank system; or

(5) a bank, banking association, land bank, intermediate
credit bank, bank for cooperatives, production credit association,
land bank association, mortgage association, trust company,
savings bank, or other banking or financial institution organized or
operating under the laws of the United States.

The Fifth Amendment provides:

No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous
crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury, except
in cases arising in the land or naval forces, or in the Militia, when in
actual service in time of War or public danger; nor shall any person be
subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limbo,
nor shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against
himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due
process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use,
without just compensation.
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The Sixth Amendment provides:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a
speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the state and district
wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have
been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature
and cause of the accusation, to be confronted with the witnesses
against him, to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his
favor, and to have the assistance of counsel for his defense.
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VIII. STATEMENT OF CASE

This case presents a matter of significant public interest in
highlighting the unusual instance where the Courts, that have an obligation
to protect the Constitutional rights of a criminal defendant, veers from the
permissible to the impermissible with the Courts deliberately violating the
Constitutional rights of Petitioner. The attack on Petitioner Raheem J.
Brennerman is an attack on the rule of law,.civil rights and liberties affecting
everyone as well as the very fabric of United States' democracy. The United
States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit has a Constitutional obligation
to review de novo meaning for clear error. See United States v. Bershchansky,
755 F.3d 102, 108 (2d Cir. 2015) (internal citation and quotation marks
omitted) The Circuit Court exacerbated the Constitutional deprivation
already suffered by Petitioner by imposing a Constitutionally impermissible
abuse of discretion standard with its review.

Petitioner seeks review of this case for clarification on the obligations
of the Courts - United States Court of Appéals for the Second Circuit and the
United States District Court for the Southern District of New York
particularly where a criminal defendant’s right has been so abridged and
abrogated because of his race resulting in a fundamental miscarriage of

justice.
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The Fifth Amendmént of the United States Constitution states, "No
person shall be deprived......of life, liberty or property without the due process
of law." The due process right is enshrined in the bedrock of our democracy by.
imposing the equal protection of law doctrine. See Abdul-Akbar v. McKelvie,
239 F.3d 307, 316-17 (3d Cir. 2001) (eﬁ banc) (Although the Fifth Amendment
contains no Equal Protection Clause.....[t]he [Supreme] Court has construed
the Fifth Amendment to contain an Equal Protection Guarantee [;]....Fifth
Amendment Equal Protection claims are examined under the same principle
that apply to such claims under the Fourteenth Amendment) (internal
citations omitted).

The Court had previously promulgated that a criminal defendant has a
Sixth Amendment right to present a complete defense. See Crane v. Ky., 476
U.S. 683 (1986) (holding that "It is a federal law that a criminal defendant
has a Constitutional right to present a complete defense). The United States
Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit recently adopted such holding in
Scrimo while creating disparity with Petitioner. Scrimo v. Lee, 935 F.3d 103
(2d Cir. 2019). |

Review of this case is warranted as a matter of public interest to
emphasize conformity and uniformity with the law and Constitution among
lower Courts in ensuring adherence with their Constitutional obligations and
to avoid attack on the civil rights and liberties of criminal defendants because

of their race, sex or religion.
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BACKGROUND

The history of this mafter began in 2014 when ICBC (London) PLC
sued The Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc ("Blacksands") in New York Supreme
Court primarily alleging, inter alia that Blacksands had failed to repay
approximately $4.4 million dollars extended to Blacksands pursuant to a
Bridge Loan Agreement. Significantly, Petitioner Raheem J. Brennerman,
the CEO of Blacksands, was not named as a defendant in that action. (Notice
of Removal;.Cv. Cover Sheet, ICBC (London) PLC v. The Blacksands Pacific
Group, Inc., No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC No. 1-2).

Blacksands removed the case to the Southern District of New York and
the matter was assigned to Hon. Lewis A; Kaplan, under the caption ICBC
(London) PLC v. The Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc. (Notice of Removal, No.
15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC No. 1). Based on the loan documents, Judge Kaplan
granted ICBC London’s motion for summary judgment against Blacksands.
(Mem. Op., No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC No. 38).

ICBC London then served Blacksands with extremely broad post-
judgment discovery requests. Blacksands counsel, Latham & Watkins LLP
("Latham") interposed objections to those demands and filed a brief in
support of those objections. (See Def. Interrog., No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC No.
84 Ex. 2); (Mem.; Def.’s Decl., No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC Nos. 85, 86). The
Court /conducting no'analysis regarding the permissible scope of post-

judgment discovery of the actual breadth of plaintiff's demands, instead in
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conclusionary fashion declared that the objections were "baseless" and that
Blacksands "shall comply fully." (See Order, No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC No.
87).

Subsequently, ICBC London moved for contempt and coercive
sanctions against Blacksands. (Order to Show Cause; P1.’s Decl.; Mem., No.
15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC Nos. 101, 102-103). On October 24, 2016, Judge Kaplan
granted ICBC London’s motion holding Blacksands in contempt and
1mposing coercive sanctions. (Order, No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC No. 108). Over
the course of the next two weeks, on November 4 and November 10, 2016, Mr.
Brennerman on behalf of Blacksands provided detailed discovery responses to
ICBC London, including approximately 400 pages of documents, in an effort
to comply with ICBC London's discovery requests. (See Pl.’s Decl., No. 15 Cv.
70 (LAK), EFC. No. 123, 9 9, 11-12). Mr. Brennerman also made continued
efforts withouf support from other shareholders and partners to settle the
matter with ICBC London, including meeting with ICBC London executives
in London and providing them with even more information about Blacksands
and its pending transaction, which were pertinent to Blacksands settlement
efforts. (See P1’s Decl., No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC No. 123, 99 45, 9, 11-12).

On December 7, 2016, ICBC London moved for civil contempt against
Mr. Brennerman personally, even though he was not a named defendant in
the matter and was not personaily named in any discovery orders. (Order;

Mem.; P1’s Decl., No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC Nos. 121-23). A contempt hearing
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was scheduled for December 13, 2016, less than a week later. (Corrected
Order, No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC No. 125). |

Mr. Brennerman, however, did not have counsel. In fact, Latham
repeatedly and consistently communicated to the Court, and to Mr.
Brennerman that they did not represent Mr. Brennerman personally. (See
e.g. Letter, No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC No. 124). Although Mr. Brennerman
was out of the country at the time he learned of the pending contempt
hearing against him, he immediately sought to retain counsel to represent
him in the contempt proceeding and wrote the Court requesting a reasonable
adjourmﬁent because he was currently outside the United States and needed
more time to retain counsel. (Email; Letter, No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC Nos.
127-28) (Judge Kaplan was previously a partner at Paul Weiss LLP which
represented Mr. Brennerman at the time thus the law firm could not appear
before Judge Kaplan hence why Mr. Brennerman had to retain another law
firm to represent him for the contempt proceedings). Judge Kaplan denied
Mr. Brennerman's request on December 12, 2016 (Order, No. 15 Cv. 70
(LAK), EFC No. 134), and found Mr. Brennerman personally in contempt on
December 13, 2016. (Orders, No. 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC Nos. 139-40). While
Mr. Brennerman had provided a substantial document production in
November, after Blacksands was found in contempt, the Court made no

mention of it and appeared not to have reviewed or considered that
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production in its determination that Mr. Brennerman was himself in
contempt. (Orders, 15 Cv. 70 (LAK), EFC. Nos. 139-40).

On December 13, 2016 when Judge Kaplan held Mr. Brennerman
personally in contempt, he [Judge Kaplan] ignored the law from the Second
Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals in OSRecovery, where the Appeals Court stated
directly to Judge Kaplan in relevant parts: ("[T]he District Court abused its
discretion by issuing a contempt order to a non-party for failing to respond to
discovery request propounded to him as a party without providing sufficient
legal authority or explanation for treating him as a party solely for the
purpose of discovery)) and héld Mr. Brennerman in contempt (even though
there were no court order[s] directed at him personally. No subpoena or
motion-to-compel were directed at him). OSRecovery, Inc., v. One Groupe
Int’l, Inc., 462 F.3d 87, 90 (2d Cir. 2006).

Judge Kaplan also ignored the federal rule to conduct extra-judicial
research into Mr. Brennerman by Googling him. (See Bail Hr.’g Tr., United
States v. Brennerman, No. 17 Cr.. 155 (LAK), EFC No. 12 Ex. 1 at 28). Then
following the erroneous contempt propounded against Mr. Brennerman,
Judge Kaplan referred him to the Manhattan federal prosecutors (United
States Attorney Office for the Southern District of New York "USAO, SDNY")
and persuaded the prosecutors to arrest Mr. Brennerman and prosecute him

criminally. (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 155 (LAK), EFC No. 12 Ex. 2).
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THE CRIMINAL REFERRAL, THE PETITION AND EX PARTE
CONFERENCE BETWEEN JUDGE KAPLAN AND THE GOVERNMENT

In late 2016 or early 2017, Judge Kaplan referred Blacksands and Mr.
Brennerman personally to the United States Attorney’s Office for criminal
prosecution.

Thereafter, on March 3, 2017, the government filed a Petition seeking
to initiaté criminal contempt proceedings against Blacksands and Mr.
Brennerman personally, including an Order to Show Cause for them to
appear in Court to answer the charges. On March 7, 2017, Judge‘Kaplan
summoned AUSAs Robert Benjamin Sobelman and Nicolas Tyler Landsman-
Roos to his robing room to advise that an arrest warrant should be issued for
Mr. Brennerman. (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 155 (LAK), EFC No. 12 Ex. 2).
The prosecution, consistent with Fed. R. Crim. P. 42, had prepared an Order
to Show Cause that would have directed Blacksands and Mr. Brennerman to
appear before the Court on a date in the future. The Court made clear,
however that it did not agree with the government's approach and advised
the prosecutors that the Court should issue an arrest warrant instead as to
Mr. Brennerman, stating his assumption that "the United States can't find
him." The prosecutors repeatedly expressed their view that execution of an
arrest warrant was not necessary under the circumstances. (See Trial Tr., No.
17 Cr. 155 (LAK), EFC No. 12 Ex. 2). The prosecutors advised, first, that Mr.
Brennerman had actually called them on Friday, March 3, 2017, the same

day that the Petition was filed to talk to them about that Petition. Id. The

10
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prosecutors informed Mr. Brennerman that he could not speak with him, and
Mr. Brennerman then provided his phone number so that "there may be a
way for the government to be in touch with him via that telephone number."
The prosecutors then proposed that the Order to Show Cause previously
prepared and filed by the government, could be entered to require Mr.
Brennerman to attend the conference and "should he not appear, [] a
summons or arrest warrant be issued to secure his appearance." Id.

The Court continued to press the issue of an arrest warrant, asking
'[wlhy shouldn’t I, given the history in this case issue a warrant?" (See Trial
Tr., No. 17 Cr. 155 (LAK), EFC No. 12 Ex. 2 At 5). The Prosecutors responded
with a number of reasons, stating:

Mr. Brennerman did try to contact the government on Friday, and we

don’t know that he has absconded or seeks to abscond. He's already

knowledgeable about the petition. His email address is included on the

ECF notification that went out when the petition was publicly filed.

He appears to have the resources to have fled had he intended to, and

the government thinks it's prudent to provide him an opportunity to

appear at the conference voluntarily.
Id. The prosecution went on to say that, even if the Court issued an arrest
warrant, "the government would likely provide Mr. Brennerman an
opportunity to surrender rather than dispatching law enforcement to
apprehend him without providing that opportunity." Id.

The Court pressed on, stating "I'm inclined to issue an arrest warrant"

and pushed back against the prospect that Mr. Brennerman should be

allowed to surrender: "Now, if the government is going to give him an

11
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opportunity to surrender; there's a substantial question as to whether I'm
wasting my time because I think the odds are not unreasonable that he will
abscond". Id. at 6.

Eventually the prosecutors deferred to the Court and confirmed that if
an arrest warrant was issued, they would discuss in their office how best to
proceed. Id. at 7. Thus, as of March 7, 2017, when the government entered
the robing room, there was no pending investigation of fraud as to Mr.
Brennerman with the prosecutors in the Southern District of New York, and
the government was prepared to proceed with a contempt proceeding by
Order to Show Cause and had no concern that Mr. Brennerman would seek to
abscond. |

Thus pursuant to the arrest warrant prepared and signed by Judge |
Kaplan, Mr. Brennerman was arrested on April 19, 2017 at his home in Las
Vegas. As of the date of the arrest warrant and because the Court had
declined to sign the order to show cause presented by the government, there
was no actual contempt charge pending égainst Mr. Brennerman. The Court
omitted Mr. Brennerman from the signed Order to Show Cause but then
failed to otherwise rule or grant the government's Petition as it related to
Mr. Breﬁnerman. There was, therefore, no proper basis for the arrest
warrant. The Court's decision to alter the warrant to reference the Petition
was inadequate to support the warrant. (The arrest warrant included an

option for a Probation Violation Petition; those instruments, unlike a Petition

12
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in a contempt proceeding, actually do charge an offense). (See Arrest
Warrant, No. 17 Cr. 155 (LAK), EFC No. 12 Ex. 3).

Mr. Brennerman's arrest on April 19, 2017 (when government seized
his electronic devices and documents (which was adduced as evidence (e-
mails between Mr. Brennerman (on behalf of Blacksands) and Madgett
(ICBC London) at trial of the contempt and fraud case (where the
government actually never obtained or reviewed any pertinent ICBC
transaction files from ICBC (London) plc) was in violation of both Mr.
Brennerman's Fourth and Fifth Amendment rights.

THE INDICTMENT AND ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE

On May 31, 2017, weeks after Mr. Brennerman was released on bail in
the criminal contempt of court case, he was re-arrested by the U.S.
Attorney's Office pursuant to an indictment alleging fraud in connection with
the transaction that was at issue in the underlying civil action, No. 15 Cv. 70
(LAK) between ICBC (London) PLC and The Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc
(even though the civil action had been ongoing for two and half years at that
point) Mr. Brennerman was charged with Conspiracy to commit bank and
wire fraud, bank fraud and wire fraud. Id. The case was assigned to Hon.
Richard J. Sullivan, under the caption, United States v. Brennerman, No. 17
Cr. 337 (RJS).

In August 2017, because Judge Kaplan had failed to sign the Order to

Show Cause as it related to Mr. Brennerman in the criminal contempt of

13
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court case at No. 17 Cr. 155 (LAK) (even though Mr. Brennerman had been
arrested at the behest of Judge Kaplan) he had revoked the bail granted to
Mr. Brennerman even without any violations of the bail conditions. The
government realizing their error filed a new two count Order to Show Cause
Petition formally charging Mr. Brennerman in the criminal contempt of court
case. (See Order to Show Cause, Brennerman No. 17 Cr. 155, EFC No. 59).
THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION

In August 2017, prior to trial for the criminal contempt of court case,
Mr. Brennerman sought to obtain the complete ICBC records (including the
underwriting file and negotiations between agents of Blacksands and ICBC
London) to demonstrate his innocence and to present a complete defense.
However Mr. Brennerman's request to the Manhattan federal prosecutors
was denied. The [Manhattan federal prosecutors] refused to obtain or review
the complete ICBC records including the underwriting files, arguing that
they were not obligated to colléct any additional evidence from ICBC London
beyond what the bank had selecti\;ely provided to them. Judge Kaplan also
denied Mr. Brennerman's request seeking to compel the complete ICBC
record. See 17-cr-155 (LAK), Dkt. No. 76

In November 2017, prior to trial for the fraud case, Mr. Brennerman
made request to Judge Sullivan in his motion-iﬁ-limine requesting that the
Court exclude the testimony of any witness from ICBC London because he

had been unable to obtain the complete ICBC records including the

14
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underwriting files, which he required to engage in cross-examination of the
witness and that the government will be able to elicit testimony from such
witness while he would be deprived of the ability to engage in any.meaningful
cross-examination of the witness as to substance and credibility on the issues.
Mr. Brennerman argued that his Constitutional rights including his right to
a fair trial will be deprived. Mr. Brennerman also argued that he would be
deprived of his ability to present a complete defense, thus depriving his Sixth
Amendment right. However Judge Sullivan denied his request. (See Mem. in
| Opp’n; Mot. in Lim.; Mem. In Supp., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), EFC Nos. 54, 58,
59).
THE TRIAL AND POST-TRIAL PROCEEDINGS
During trial, following testimony by government sole witness from

ICBC London, Julian Madgett that evidence (ICBC underwriting files)
existed with the bank’s file which document the basis for approving the
bridge finance including representations relied upon by the bank in |
approving the bridge finance and that the prosecution never requested or
obtained the ICBC underwriting files, thus never provided it to the defense.
(Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 551-554). Mr. Brennerman again filed
motion to compel for the evidence arguing that he required it to present a

complete defense (that the bank did not rely on any representation or alleged
misrepresentation in approving the bridge finance) and to confront witness

against him. (See Letter Mot., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), EFC No. 71). Judge

15



Case 18-3546, Document 217, 01/19/2021, 3016089, Page26 of 277

Sullivan denied Mr. Brennerman's request while acknowledging that
government's witness, Julian Madgett had testified that the evidence (ICBC
underwriting files) were with the bank’s file in London, U.K. (See Trial Tr.,
No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 617).

Government presented evidence - Government Exhibits GX1-57A;
GX1-73; GX529 to demonstrafe that Mr. Brennerman opened a wealth
~ management account at Morgan Stanley. (See Def.’s Letter, No. 17 Cr. 337
(RJS), EFC No. 167). The evidence presented clearly demonstrated that the
wealth management account was opened at Morgan Stanley Smith Barney,
LLC. Government witness, Kevin Bonebrake testified that he worked for the
Institutional Securities division of Morgan Stanley which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Morgan Stanley & Company LLC (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337
(RJS), at 384-385); That "this was very preliminary stage of our conversation"
(See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 409); That "Morgan Stanley would not
typically provide the money"; "_It would seek financing from outside
investors," and "my reéollection was that what the company wanted was
unclear. We didn’t get very far in our discussion." (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr.
337 (RJS), at 387-388). |

Government presentéd four FDIC certificates - Government Exhibit -
GX530 (FDIC certificate for Morgan Stanley Private Bank); GX531 (FDIC
certificate for Citibank); GX532 (FDIC Certificate for Morgan Stanley

National Bank NA); GX533 (FDIC certificate for JP Morgan Chase).

16
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Another Government witness, Barry Gonzalez, FDIC commissioner
testified "that the FDIC certificate of one subsidiary does not cover another
subsidiary or the parent cdmpany because each will require its own separate
FDIC certificate (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 1060-1061). Testified
that FDIC certificate only cover depository accounts and would not cover the
Institutional Securities division/subsidiary of Morgan Stanley (See Trial Tr.,
No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 1057); That there was no confirmation that Morgan
© Stanley Smith Barney, LLC was FDIC insured. (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337
(RJS), at 1059). His testimony demonstrated that neither ICBC (London)
PLC, Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC or Morgan Stanley Institutional
Securities division/subsidiary are FDIC insured. (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 -
(RJS), at 1059-1061).

.The trial commenced on November 26, 2017 and concluded on
December 6, 2017 with the jury returning a guilty verdict on all counts.

After trial, Mr. Brennerman again moved to compel for the ICBC
underwriting files to prepare his post-trial motions however Judge Sullivan
denied his requests. (See Orders, No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), EFC Nos. 153, 161,
187, 200, 235, 236, 240, 241). Judge Sullivan also ignored evidence which Mr.
Brennerman presented to the Court to demonstrate that there was a
statutory error with his conviction for bank fraud as it relates to his

interaction with non-FDIC subsidiaries of Morgan Stanley however Judge

17
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Sullivan ignored him and ultimately denied his post-trial motions. (See Def’s
Letter, No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), EFC No. 167).
' THE COURT OF APPEAL DECISION

The United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed
Mr. Brennerman's conviction and sentence in a Summary Order on June 9,
2020.

The Court misapprehended the record with respect tb the FDIC-
insured status of Morgan Stanley and overlooked Mr. Brennerman's
argument about the non FDIC insured personal wealth division (Morgan
Stanley Smith Barney, LLC) and the non-FDIC-insured Institutional
Securities division, generalizing that:

[TThe record did establish that he defrauded Morgan Stanley, an

FDIC-insured institution, as part of his broader scheme by,

among other things, inducing it to issue him a credit card based

on false representation about his citizenship, assets, and the

nature and worth of his company.

(Slip Op., United States v. Brennerman, No. 18 3546, EFC No. 183 at 3).
With respect to Mr. Brennerman's Constructive amendment
argument, the Circuit Court similarly misunderstood the crucial distinction
between the subsidiary divisions of Morgan Stanley, relying on the
Government's arguments at summation and finding that no constructive
amendment had occurred because:
It is clear from the indictment that the scheme against ICBC was

merely one target of Brennerman's alleged fraud........ At trial, the
government offered evidence that Morgan Stanley was one of those

18
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"other financial institutions." See App'x at 608-09 (testimony of
Morgan Stanley’s Kevin Bonebrake about a January 2013 telephone
call with Brennerman discussing financing to develop asset). Thus,
there was not a "a substantial likelihood that the defendant may have
been convicted of an offence other than that the one charged by the
grand jury." United States v. Vebeliunas, 76 F.3d at 1290.

(Slip Op., No. 18 3546, EFC No. 183 at 4).

With respect to the ICBC file, the_Circuit Court disagreed with Mr.
Brennerman on the first two points and did not issue a written opinion on the
third, writing that:

- The government's discovery and disclosure obligations
extend only to information and documents in the government's
possession. United States v. Avellino, 136 F.3d 249, 255 (2d Cir.
1998) (explaining that the Brady obligation applies only to
evidence "that is known to the prosecutor"). The government
insists that every document it received from ICBC was turned
over to Brennerman and that it is not aware of the personal
notes referenced by Brennerman. Therefore, the government has
not violated its disclosure obligations. Nor was the government
under any obligation under the Jencks Act to collect materials
about Madgett that were not in the government’s possession.
See United States v. Bermudez, 526 F.2d 89, 100 n.9 (2d Cir.
1975).

Even if the documents exist and are material and favorable,
Brennerman never sought a subpoena pursuant to Federal Rule
of Criminal Procedure 17....... The only indication that such

documents are extant comes from Brennerman's bare
assertions.

(Slip Op., No. 18 3546, EFC No. 183 at 4-5).

The panel denied a motion for rehearing by order dated July 31, 2020.

19
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IX. REASON FOR GRANTING CERTIORARI
ARGUMENT

This Petition presents an opportunity for the Court to clarify (a.)
whether the abuse of discretion standard imposed by United States Court of
Appeals for the Second Circuit is Constitutionally permissible - where the
Circuit Court refused to correct errors which substantively abridges and
abrogates the rights of criminal defendant which.are protected by the United
States Constitution and (b) where.trial Court deliberately deprived the
criminal defendant of his Constitutional rights thus violating his Fifth and
Sixth Amendment rights of the US Constitution.

This case will clarify the obligations of lower Courts as a matter of
public interest to emphasize conformity and uniformity with the law and
Constitution afnong lower Courts in ensuring adherence with their
Constitutional obligations and avoid attack on the civil rights and liberty of
criminal defendants because of their race, sex or religion.

I. THE SECOND CIRCUIT ERRED WHEN IT MISAPPREHENDED KEY
FACTS ABOUT WHICH MORGAN STANLEY SUBSIDIARY WAS FDIC
INSURED AND MISUNDERSTOOD WHY A CONSTRUCTIVE AMENDMENT OF
THE INDICTMENT OCCURRED.
A. THE FEDERAL BANK FRAUD STATUTE REQUIRES INTENT TO
DEFRAUD AN FDIC-INSURED INSTITUTION AND PETITIONER'S
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT WAS VIOLATED WHERE HIS CONVICTION FOR

BANK FRAUD AND BANK FRAUD CONSPIRACY IS ILLEGAL AND IN
VIOLATION OF THE BANK FRAUD STATUTE AND LAW.

20
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Title 18 United States Code § 1344 makes it a crime to "knowingly
execut[e], or attempl[t] to execute, a scheme or artifice - (1) to defraud a
financial institution; . . ." "The well established elements of the crime of bank
fraud are that the defendant (1) engaged in a course of conduct designed to
deceive a federally chartered or insured financial institution into releasing
property, and (2) possessed an intent to victimize the institution by exposing
it to actual or potential loss." United States v. Barrett, 178 F.3d 643, 647-48
(2d Cir. 1999); See also 18 U.S.C. § 20 (defining "financial institgtion”). "[A]
defendant cannot be convicted of violating § 1344(1) merely because he
intends to defraud an entity...that is not in fact covered by the statute."

United States v. Bouchard, 828 F.3d 116, 125 (2d Cir. 2016).
| Petitioner was convicted of bank fraud and bvank fraud conspiracy
based on an account he opened at Morgan Stanley Smith Barnet, LLC. (See
Def'’s Letter, No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), EFC No. 167) (highlighting Government
Exhibit - GX1-57A; GX1-73; GX529 - Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC
account opening form, correspondénce and account statement). The
government failed to confirm through government witness, Barry Gonzalez,
the FDIC commissioner that Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC was/is
FDIC insured. The Court also stated that Brennerman had a single telephone
call with Kevin Bonebrake (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 387 -388;
409) who worked at Morgan Stanley Institutional Securities division (See

Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 384-385) which is not FDIC insured.
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Although Petitioner's wealth ﬁanagemeht account at Morgan Stanley
Smith Barney, LLC was not a depository account, the funds were held by
Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC in a depository account at Morgan
Stanley Bank National Association. Any statements made by Petitioner to
Scott Stout, who worked at Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC would have
been insufficient to establish that Petitioner took any step toward defrauding
an FDIC-insured institution.

When Petitioner presented evidence to Judge Sullivan at No. 17 Cr.
337 (RJS), EFC. No. 167,. demonstrating that his account was held at Morgan
Stanley Smith Barney, LLC which is not FDIC insured and not at Morgan
Stanley Private Bank, the judge ignpred him. The judge also ignored the
testimony by Barry Gonzalez, FDIC commissioner which confirmed that
neither Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337
(RJS), at 1059) or Morgan Stanley Institutional Securities division (See Trial
Tr., 17-cr-337 (RJS), at 1057) are FDIC insured. Furthel; that the FDIC
certificate or one subsidiary/diviéion ldoes not cover other subsidiary/division
within Morgan Stanley because each subsidiary/division will require its own
FDIC certificate. (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 1060-1061). Thus
highlighting that the FDIC ce'rtificatés presented by the government at trial
for Morgan Stanley Private Bank (See Government Exhibit - GX530) and
Morgan Stanley National Bank NA (See Government Exhibit - GX532) does

not cover either Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC or Morgan Stanley
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Institutional Securities division which Petitioner interacted with and thus
Petitioner could not be convicted for bank fraud and bank fraud conspiracy
for interacting with institutions which are not FDIC insured.
Notwithstanding these evidence and confirmation, Judge Sullivan allowed
Petitioner to be wrongly convicted.
On appeal, the Second Circuit ignored Petitioner's argument while

~ stating that Petitioner defrauded Morgan Stanley, an FDIC insured
‘institution by receiving perks (even though Petitioner was not charged for
recelving perks) and for making a single telephone call to Kevin Bonebfake to
discuss about financing without acknowledging the testimony from Barry
Gonzalez which did not confirm that either Morgan Stanley Smith Barney,
LLC or Morgan Stanley Institutional Securities division are FDIC Insﬁred to
satisfy the essential element necessary to convict for bank fraud. That
Morgan Stanley has different subsidiaries and divisions, further than each
subsidiary/division will require its own FDIC certificate as the FDIC
certificate of one subsidiary/division does not cover the other
subsidiary/division.

B. CONSTRUCTIVE AMENDMENT OF AN INDICTMENT OCCURS

WHEN THE CHARGING TERMS ARE ALTERED AND PETITIONER'S

CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT WAS VIOLATED

Constructive amendment of an indictment "occurs when the charging

terms of the indictment are altered, either literally or in effect, by prosecutor

or court after the grand jury has last passed upon them." United States v.
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LaSpina, 299 F.3d 165, 181 (2d Cir. 2002) (citations omitted). "To prevail on a
constructive amendment claim, a defendant must demonstrate that the proof
at trial....so altered an essential element of the charge that, upon review, it is
uncertain whether the defendant was convicted of conduct that was the
subject of the grand jury's indictment." LaSpins, 299 F.3d at 181 (citations
omitted).

| Petitioner was indicted with "having made false representation to
_financial institutions in the course of seeking loans and other forms of
financing for purported business ventures" however during summation the
prosecution and again during appearance on November 19, 2018 (sentencing
hearing) the Court, each argued the theory of the bank fraud and bank fraud
conspiracy that the defendant became entitled to "perks" including fancy
credit card and preferential interest rate however the. defendant wés not
charged with obtaining perks. Moreover the fancy credit card Was not issued
by any Morgan Stanley subsidiary or division and_was closed with zero
balance. The account which the defendant opened at Morgan Stanley Smith
Barney, LL.C was only opened for three weeks and not long enough for him to
earn any perks. Most important, both Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC
where Petitioner opened his account and Morgan Stanley Institutional
Securities division where Kevin Bonebrake (whom he had a single telephone
call about financing) worked at are not FDIC insured, an essential element

necessary to convict for bank fraud and bank fraud conspiracy.
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On appeal, when the Petitioner highlighted the constructive
amendment issue, the Second Circuit refused to review the record on which
Petitioner was convicted (theory of bank fraud) and statement made by trial
court during appearance on November 19, 2018 (sentencing hearing) as to the
theory of the bank fraud which was argued by the government and trial judge
as receiving perks and as to his single telephone call to Kevin Bonebrake
about financing. The Court also stated that there was no constructive
amendment because the Petitioner spoke to KeQin Bonebrake who worked for
the Institutfonal Securities division of Morgan Stanley without
acknowledging the trial records which clearly demonstrated that the
Institutional Securities division of Morgan Stanley is not covered by any
FDIC certificate thus cannot satisfy the essential element to convict for bank
fraud and bank fraud conspiracy.

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DECISION OVERLOOKED THE FACT
‘THAT BRENNERMAN HAD MADE ATTEMPTS TO OBTAIN AND TO
COMPEL THE PRODUCTION OF THE COMPLETE ICBC FILE AND
ERRONEOUSLY ASSUMED THAT THE ONLY INDICATION OF THE
DOCUMENT S EXISTENCE CAME FROM BRENNERMAN'S BARE
ASSERTIONS.

Both during the related case in front of Judge Kaplan (United States v.
Brennerman, No. 17 Cr.155 (LAK)) and in the instant case from which this
petition arose (United States v. Brennerman, No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS)) in front of
Judge Sullivan, Petitioner moved for discovery of the full ICBC file related to

the bridge loan to Blacksands. Petitioner avers as confirmed by government

witness that the file would contain ICBC employee Julian Madgett's notes
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related to the credit paper, underwriting documents and credit decision to
approve the loan and would support Petitioner's theory of defense. (See Trial
Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 551-554). Both Judge Kaplan and Judge Sullivan
denied Petitioner's request for a subpoena td obtain these documents; Judge
Sullivan additionally declined to compel the Government to produce them at
trial even after government witness, Julian Madgett testified to its existence
in open Court. See., e.g., Mem. & Order, No. 17 Cr. 155 (LAK), EFC Nb. 76);
(Def.’s Letter Mot., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), EFC No. 71); (Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr.
337 (RJS), at 551-554); (Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 617).

For these reasons, the Second Circuit was mistaken that the record
contained no evidence that Petitioner had attempted to obtain the complete
ICBC files and the Court's assumption that the only indication that such
documents (ICBC file) are extant came from Petitioner's bare assertion was
erroneous.

1L THE SECOND CIRCUIT ERRED BECAUSE THE PANEL'S DECISION

CONFLICTS WITH SETTLED LAW ON THE SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS OF

A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT TO CROSS-EXAMINE THE WITNESSES AGAINST

HIM AND TO PRESENT A COMPLETE DEFENSE.,

The Due Process Clause requires the Government to make a timely
disclosure of any exculpatory or impeaching evidence that is material and in
its possession. See Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); Giglio v. United

States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). The Government is further obligated under

Kyles, to "learn of any favorable evidence known to the others acting on the
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-

government‘é behalf in the case, including the police." Kyles v. Whitley, 514
U.S. 419, 437 (1995).

In some circumstances, discovery may be obtained from abroad. In re
del Valle Ruiz, 939 F.3d 520, 533 (2d Cir. 2019) ("[A] district court is not
categorically barred from allowing discovery....of evidence located abroad....") -
(internal reference omitted). "[I]t is far preferable for a district court to
reconcile whatever misgivings it may have about the impact of its
participation in the fofeign litigation by issuing a closely tailored discovery

“order rather than by simply denying relief outright." Mees v. Buiter, 793 F.3d
291, 302 (2d Cir. 2015).

Petitioner was deprived of the ability to present a complete defense in
violation of his Sixth Amendment right as promulgated by the United States
Supreme Court in Crane v. Ky., where Petitioner requested for evidence
(ICBC underwriting files) at No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), EFC No. 71, following
testimony by government sole witness from ICBC London, Julian Madgett
(See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 551-554) that evidence (the ICBC
underwriting files) existed with the bank’s file which document the basis for
approving the bridge finance including representations relied upon by the
bank in approving the bridge finance. Crane v. Ky., 476 U.S. 683 (1986).

The prosecution never requested or obtained the ICBC underwriting
files, thus never provided it to the defense. When Brennerman requested for

the files so that he may use it in presenting a complete defense (that the bank
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did not rely on any representation or alleged misrepresentation in approving
the bridge finance) and confront Witness against him, trial judge (Judge
Richard J. Sullivan) denied his request while acknowledging that the
prosecution witness, Julian Madgett had testified that the evidence (ICBC

' underwriting files) existed with the bank's file in London, U.K. (See Trial Tr.,
No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS). at 617). The Judge's denial was in cvontrast with the
Second Circuit ruling in In re dei Valle Ruiz, which stated that District
Courts were not categorically barred from permitting evidence located
abroad. In re del Valle Ruiz, 939 F.3d 520 (2d Cir. 2019).

Moreover trial judge permitted government sole witness from ICBC
London, Julian Madgett to testify as to the content of the ICBC Underwriting
files (to satisfy the essential element of "MATERIALITY") while Petitioner
was deprived of the ability to engage in any meaningful cross-examination of
the witness depriving him a fair trial.

Under Kyles Government had an obligation to learn of any favorable
evidence known to the others acting on the Government behalf in the case,
thus when Government witness, Julian Madgett testified in open Court that
evidence (ICBC underwriting file) existed in the b.ank‘s file which document
the basis for approving the bridge finance including representation relied
upon by the bank in approving the bridge finance which Government never
requested or obtained. (Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), at 551-554).

Government had an obligation to collect the evidence after learning of its
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existence particularly where Petitioner made request to the Court (for among
others) that the Court compel Government to collect the evidence (ICBC
underwriting file). (Def.’s Letter Mot., No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS), EFC No. 71).
However Government's failure to collect or learn of the evidence violated its
Brady obligations. |

It follows that if Government never obtained or reviewed the pertinent
evidence (ICBC underwriting file) it [Government] failed to conduct any
independent investigation on the transaction at issue prior to indicting and
prosecuting Petitioner thus deliberately violating Petitioner's right to the
Due Process clause. The Court (Judge Richard J . Sullivan) exacerbated the
Constitutional violation when it refused to compel Government to satisfy its
Brady obligation, particularly following the testimony by Government
witness, Julian Madgett that pertinent evidence (ICBC underwriting file)
existed which Government never obtained or reviewed. Thus, the Court and
Government deliberately violated Petitioner's right to the Due Process
clause.

Courts have required the Government to disclose evidence material to
the defense where the Government "actually or constructively" possesses it.
E.g., United States v. Joseph, 996 F.2d 36, 39 (3d Cir. 1993) ("The prosecution
is obligated to produce certain evidence actually or constructively in its
possession or accessible to it." (internal quotation marks omitted)); cf. Kyles v.

Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 437 (1995) (holding that to satisfy Brady and Giglio
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prosecutors have "a duty to learn of any favorable evidence known to the
others acting on the Government's behalf in the case"). In particular in
Patemina-Vergara, the Second Circuit held that the Government had an
obligation to make good faith effort to obtain Jencks Act statements
possessed by a third party that had cooperated extensively and had close
working relationship with the Government, United States v. Patemina-
Vergara 749 F.2d 993 (2d Cir. 1984); see also United States v. Kilroy, 488 F.
Supp 2d 350, 362 (E.D. Wis. 1981) ("since Standard Oil is cooperating with
the Government in the preparation of the case and is making available to the
Government for retention in the Government's files any record which
Standard Oil has and which the Government wants, however, is not
unreasonable to treat the records as being within the Government's control
at least to the extent of requiring the Government to request the records on
the defendant’s behalf and to include them in its files for the defendant's
review if Standafd Oil agrees to make them available to the Government."
(emphasis added)). See also United States v. Chapman, 524 F.3d 1073 (9th
Cir. 2008).1

On appeal, the Second Circuit that recently made decision in Scerimo,
which stated that "It is a federal law that a criminal defendant has a

Constitutional right to present a complete defense" ignored Petitioner's

! Courts have granted motions to dismiss an indictment where the Government fails to satisfy its
discovery and disclosure obligation, either on the basis of a Due Process violation or under the Court's
inherent supervisory powers, including when the Government belatedly disclosed Jencks Act materials.
E.g., United States v. Chapman, 524 F.3d 1073 (9th Cir. 2008).
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argument that he was deprived of his Constitutional right to present a
complete defense. (Summ. Order, No. 18 3546(L), EFC No. 186); Scrimo v.
Lee, 935 F.3d 103 (2d Cir. 2019). The Second Circuit also made an erroneous
statement that "the only indicvation that the evidence is extant comes from
Brennerman's bare aissertion" Such statement was/is inaccurate and in
contrast with the trial records which clearly highlight government witness,
Julian Madgett, confirming that the evidence are extant and with the bank's
file in London, U.K. (See Trial Tr., No. 17 Cr. 337 RJIS), atl551-554); (Summ.
Order, No. 18 3546(1), EFC No. 186 at 5).

The danger of the Second Circuit's rule is amply demonstrated by the
consequences of erosion of public trust in the United States justice system
and other institutions. As the Fourth Circuit recently promulgated "what
gives people confidence in our justice system is not that we merely get things
right rather, it is that we live in a system that upholds the rule of law even
when it is inconvenient to do so". The lower courts - United States Court of
Appeals for the Second Circuit and United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York veered from the rule of law in this case.
Interests of comity - in addition to fairness and substantial justice as
embodied in the Due Process Clause and the U.S. Constitution - warrant

reversal of the Second Circuit's decision.
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X. CONCLUSION
The petition for certiorari should be granted.

Dated: White Deer, Pennsylvania
December 1, 2020

Respectfully submitted,
/s/ Raheem J. Brennerman

RAHEEM JEFFERSON BRENNERMAN
Reg. No. 54001-048

FCI Allenwood Low

White Deer, Pa. 17887-1000

Petitioner Pro Se
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18-3546(L)
United States v. Raheem Brennerman

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

SUMMARY ORDER

RULINGS BY SUMMARY ORDER DO NOT HAVE PRECEDENTIAL EFFECT.
CITATION TO A SUMMARY ORDER FILED ON OR AFTER JANUARY 1, 2007, IS
PERMITTED AND IS GOVERNED BY FEDERAL RULE OF APPELLATE
PROCEDURE 32.1 AND THIS COURT’S LOCAL RULE 32.1.1. WHEN CITING A
SUMMARY ORDER IN A DOCUMENT FILED WITH THIS COURT, A PARTY MUST
CITE EITHER THE FEDERAL APPENDIX OR AN ELECTRONIC DATABASE (WITH
THE NOTATION “SUMMARY ORDER”). A PARTY CITING A SUMMARY ORDER
MUST SERVE A COPY OF IT ON ANY PARTY NOT REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL.

At a stated Term of the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, held at the
Thurgood Marshall United States Courthouse, 40 Foley Square, in the City of New York on the
9™ day of June, two thousand twenty.

Present: ROSEMARY S. POOLER,
REENA RAGG]I,
WILLIAM J. NARDINI,
Circuit Judges.
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Appellee,
\Z 18-3546, 19-497
RAHEEM BRENNERMAN,

AKA JEFERSON R. BRENNERMAN,
AKA AYODEIJI SOETAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appearing for Appellant: John C. Meringolo, Meringolo & Associates, P.C., Brooklyn, N.Y.
Appearing for Appellee: Danielle R. Sassoon, Assistant United States Attorney (Nicholas

Roos, Robert B. Sobelman, Matthew Podolsky, Assistant United
States Attorneys, on the brief), for Geoffrey S. Berman, United
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- States Attorney for the Southern District of New York, New York,
N.Y.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (Sullivan,
J).

ON CONSIDERATION WHEREOF, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED,
AND DECREED that the judgment be and it hereby is AFFIRMED.

Defendant-Appellant Raheem Brennerman appeals from the F ebruary 12, 2019,
amended judgment of conviction entered in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York (Sullivan, J.), sentencing him principally to 144 months’ imprisonment, 3
years’ supervised release, forfeiture in the amount of $4,400,000, and restitution in the amount of
$5,264,176.19. Following a jury trial, Brennerman was convicted of one count of conspiracy to
commit bank and wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349; one count of bank fraud, in '
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1344 and 2; one count of wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343
and 2; and one count of visa fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1546(a). We assume the parties’
familiarity with the underlying facts, procedural history, and specification of issues for review.

On appeal, Brennerman argues: (1) there was insufficient evidence to convict him on the
conspiracy count, the substantive bank fraud count, and the substantive wire fraud count; (2) the
government made an impermissible constructive amendment to the indictment; (3) the search
warrant for Brennerman’s Las Vegas apartment was unlawful; (4) the admission of the testimony
of Julian Madgett violated Brennerman’s constitutional rights; (5) the district court erred by
applying a two-offense level enhancement for obstruction of justice, pursuant to U.S.S.G.

§ 3C1.1; and (6) the district court incorrectly determined the restitution amount.

L. Sufficiency of the Evidence

A defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence bears a “heavy burden,” United
States v. Gaskin, 364 F.3d 438, 459 (2d Cir. 2004), as the standard of review is “exceedingly
deferential,” United States v. Hassan, 578 F.3d 108, 126 (2d Cir. 2008). Ultimately, “the task of
choosing among competing, permissible inferences is for the [jury], not for the reviewing court.”
United States v. McDermott, 245 F.3d 133, 137 (2d Cir. 2001).

Brennerman argues there was insufficient evidence to convict him of a conspiracy. He
argues the jury could not have adduced the existence of an agreement because the record does
not contain a single response from Peter Aderinwale, the purported co-conspirator with whom
Brennerman corresponded over email. His argument is both factually and legally flawed. First,
the record did contain two responsive emails from Aderinwale concerning draft emails to be sent
to ICBC as part of the scheme. Second, a response from an alleged co-conspirator following
conspiratorial communication is not legally necessary to establish the existence of a conspiracy.
We agree with the government that a reasonable jury could infer the requisite intent from emails
in which Brennerman solicited Aderinwale’s input on aspects of the fraud scheme and from
Brennerman’s transfer of substantial scheme proceeds to Aderinwale. These facts would have
supported the inference that Aderinwale was a co-conspirator, even in the absence of any email
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response from Aderinwale. The jury would have been entitled to infer that Aderinwale’s
responses had been conveyed over the phone or in person. “This is so because a conspiracy by its
very nature is a secretive operation, and it is a rare case where all aspects of a conspiracy can be
laid bare in court with the precision of a surgeon’s scalpel.” United States v. Pitre, 960 F.2d
1112, 1121 (2d Cir. 1992) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Thus, viewing the
evidence in the light most favorable to the government, we find there was sufficient evidence
from which the jury could have reasonably inferred the existence of a conspiracy.

Brennerman also argues that there was insufficient evidence that he intended to defraud
an institution insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) as required for
bank fraud, because most of the evidence offered at trial showed that he targeted the Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China’s London branch (“ICBC”), which is not FDIC-insured.
Contrary to Brennerman’s assertions, however, the record did establish that he defrauded
Morgan Stanley, an FDIC-insured institution, as part of his broader scheme by, among other
things, inducing it to issue him a credit card based on false representations about his citizenship,
assets, and the nature and worth of his company. Indeed, the government argued just this theory
on summation, asserting that Brennerman was guilty of bank fraud because “he engaged in a
scheme to defraud Morgan Stanley” through lies told to a Morgan Stanley employee, which were
“all part of an attempt to defraud an FDIC-insured institution.” App’x at 1709-10. Defense
counsel in summation also emphasized that Morgan Stanley was the sole FDIC-insured
institution involved. And the district court instructed the jury on the proper elements of bank
fraud, including the FDIC-insured institution element. Brennerman’s challenge, therefore, is
foreclosed by “the law’s general assumption that juries follow the instructions they are given,”
which applied here would indicate that the jury properly accounted for the evidence related to
Morgan Stanley when convicting Brennerman of the bank fraud count. United States v. Agrawal,
726 F.3d 235, 258 (2d Cir. 2013).

As to the wire fraud count, Brennerman argues there was insufficient evidence to
establish a domestic violation of the statute. “[W]ire fraud involves sufficient domestic conduct
when (1) the defendant used domestic mail or wires in furtherance of a scheme to defraud, and
(2) the use of the mail or wires was a core component of the scheme to defraud.” Bascuiidn v.
Elsaca, 927 F.3d 108, 122 (2d Cir. 2019). We conclude that the evidence here was sufficient.
The record at trial established that Brennerman used domestic wires to carry out the fraudulent
scheme. Indeed, he concedes that he used telephone lines and email in the United States to make
fraudulent representations in furtherance of the scheme. In addition, the account to which ICBC
wired the loan money was a Citibank account within the United States, and Brennerman
subsequently moved that money to domestic accounts. This is precisely the kind of use of
domestic wires that we have held sufficient under the wire fraud statute. See, e. g., United States
v. Kim, 246 F.3d 186, 190 (2d Cir. 2001).

1L Constructive Amendment
An impermissible constructive amendment occurs only when the government’s proof and

the trial court’s jury instructions “modify essential elements of the offense charged to the point
that there is a substantial likelihood that the defendant may have been convicted of an offense

APPENDIX A 004a



Case 18-3546, Document 217, 01/19/2021, 3016089, Page52 of 277
Case 18-3546, Document 186-1, 06/09/2020, 2857278, Page4 of 6

other than the one charged by the grand jury.” United States v. Vebeliunas, 76 F.3d 1283, 1290
(2d Cir. 1996) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Brennerman contends that the government constructively amended counts one and two of
the indictment by proving a fraud against Morgan Stanley at trial—while the indictment,
especially the speaking part, focuses on the fraud against ICBC. We disagree. It is clear from the
indictment that the scheme against ICBC was merely one target of Brennerman’s alleged fraud.
The indictment alleged that Brennerman’s scheme in fact targeted “several financial institutions
around the world, including in the United States.” App’x at 39. It also specifically alleged that
Brennerman defrauded an FDIC-insured financial institution. The indictment did not limit the
proof only to Brennerman’s scheme against ICBC. While the indictment discusses ICBC activity
at length, it makes clear that those allegations are illustrations, asserting that “Ibleginning in or
about January 2013, [Brennerman] made similar [false] representations to other financial
institutions in an effort to induce those institutions to provide financing to Blacksands Pacific
and Blacksands Alpha.” App’x at 42. At trial, the government offered evidence that Morgan
Stanley was one of those “other financial institutions.” See App’x at 608-09 (testimony of
Morgan Stanley’s Kevin Bonebrake about a January 2013 telephone call with Brennerman
discussing financing to develop oil asset). Thus, there was not a “a substantial likelihood that the
defendant may have been convicted of an offense other than the one charged by the grand jury.”
Vebeliunas, 76 F.3d at 1290.

1I1. Search Warrant

Brennerman challenges the lawfulness of the search warrant of his Las Vegas apartment.
Even assuming, for the sake of argument only, that the search warrant was unlawful, we
conclude that the good faith exception to the Fourth Amendment’s exclusionary rule would
apply. We therefore need not address the propriety of the search warrant. The district court found
that the law enforcement agents who executed the warrant reasonably relied on its terms in good
faith, and Brennerman has not challenged this finding. Where, as here, evidence is obtained by
police officers executing the search “in objectively reasonable reliance” on a warrant,
the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies. United States v. Falso, 544 F.3d 110,
125 (2d Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

IV.  Testimony of Julian Madgett

Brennerman argues that Julian Madgett’s testimony at trial violated due process and his
Sixth Amendment rights to confrontation and compulsory process because he was unable to
obtain certain exculpatory personal notes from Madgett, and the government would not turn the
notes over or otherwise retrieve them from ICBC.

The government has an obligation under the Due Process Clause to make a timely
disclosure of any exculpatory or impeaching evidence that is material and in its possession. See
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); see also Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972).
Additionally, the Jencks Act provides that, “[a]fter a witness called by the United States has
testified on direct examination, the court shall, on motion of the defendant, order the United
States to produce any statement . . . of the witness in the possession of the United States which
relates to the subject matter as to which the witness has testified.” 18 U.S.C. § 3500(b).
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Brennerman’s argument claiming constitutional violations as a result of Madgett’s
testimony is without merit. The government’s discovery and disclosure obligations extend only
to information and documents in the government’s possession. United States v. Avellino, 136
F.3d 249, 255 (2d Cir. 1998) (explaining that the Brady obligation applies only to evidence “that
is known to the prosecutor”). The government insists that every document it received from ICBC
was turned over to Brennerman and that it is not aware of the personal notes referenced by
Brennerman. Therefore, the government has not violated its disclosure obligation. Nor was the
government under any obligation under the Jencks Act to collect materials about Madgett that
were not in the government’s possession. See United States v. Bermudez, 526 F.2d 89, 100 n.9
(2d Cir. 1975).

Even if the documents exist and are material and favorable, Brennerman never sought a
subpoena pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 17, never made a timely request for a
deposition under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 15, and never asked the district court to
issue letters rogatory pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1781 to obtain documentary evidence or secure
testimony from the United Kingdom where ICBC maintains its records. The only indication that
such documents are extant comes from Brennerman’s bare assertions.

V. Sentence

At sentencing, the court applied a two-offense level enhancement for obstruction of
justice, pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3C1.1, a finding that relied on, as an alternative basis,
Brennerman’s false representations in his bail applications to the court. Brennerman argues that
those misrepresentations cannot support an obstruction of justice enhancement because the
misstatements “were at most minimally connected to the offense conduct in this case and did not
obstruct the prosecution in any meaningful way.” Appellant’s Br. at 54. However, this argument
has already been rejected by our Court in United States v. Mafanya, 24 F.3d 412, 415 (2d Cir.
1994) (“Appellant’s false statement to a judicial officer (the magistrate judge) was an attempt to
obstruct justice. Therefore, the district court properly Applied the [Section 3C1.1] enhancement .
...”). Accordingly, the district court did not err in applying the enhancement.

VL Restitution

The Mandatory Victims Restitution Act of 1996 (“MVRA”) provides that “[i]n each
order of restitution, the court shall order restitution to each victim in the full amount of each
victim’s losses as determined by the court and without consideration of the economic
circumstances of the defendant.” 18 U.S.C. § 3664(f)(1)(A). “[A]t sentencing, the government
bears the preponderance burden of proving actual loss supporting a restitution order.” United
States v. Rutigliano, 887 F.3d 98, 109 (2d Cir. 2018). “[W]e review a district court’s order of
restitution under the MVRA for abuse of discretion.” United States v. Zangari, 677 F.3d 86, 91
(2d Cir. 2012).

Brennerman argues that the district court improperly imposed restitution in the full
amount of the $5 million ICBC loan even though Brennerman had already made a payment of
$446,466.13. But the testimony at trial established that ICBC released approximately $4.4
million to Brennerman and the rest was used to finance loan servicing fees. The $446,466.13
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paid to ICBC by Brennerman was an interest-only payment that did not reduce the $5 million
principal owed. Therefore, ICBC’s loss of $5 million as a result of the fraud was supported, and
Brennerman points to nothing that undermines the district court’s finding.

We have considered the remainder of Brennerman’s arguments and find them to be
without merit. Accordingly, the judgment of the district court hereby is AFFIRMED.

FOR THE COURT:
Catherine O’Hagan Wolfe, Clerk
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

Southetn District:of New York

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
V.

Raheem-Brenrierman

THE DEFENDANT:

't]"p!eadcd guilty to count(s)

JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE

Case Namber: 17-¢r-337
USM Number: 54001-048

Scott Tuman
Defendant's Attome, y

N i i Nt St b i

[Ipleaded nolo coritendere o count(s)

which was accepted by the court.

#1 was found guilty on.count(s) 1,2,:3, and 4

affera plea of not guilty,
The defendant is adjidicated guilty of these ‘offensis:

Title & Section Nature of Offense

18 U.S.C. § 1349
18 U.S.C. § 1344
18U.S.C.§1343 "

Bank Fraud
L wire Frau
The defendant is senfenced as provided:in pages 2 through
the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984; '
[ The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s)

£ Coun(s)

ey bt o it b et

.. IUis orderedithat the defendant must notify the Utited Statesattorndy: for this district within 30:.days ofany change of naine, residence,
ormatling address until-alf finies, restitut ion, costs, and special assessmients imposed by this) udgmentare fu
the defendant must notify the court and United States atforney of material changes ih economic circumstances.

APPENDIX B

- Conspiracy to commit bank fraud and wire fraud

3 is Duare dismissed on the motion of the United States.

Count

One

e
' '_3[1120'1-7 “

Two
Three.

.8 ofthisjudgient. The sentenceis imposed pursuantto

v s g i

s 1 AR S iy Ar o i e et a8

ly paid. 1 ordered to pay restifution,

11/19/2018

Date of Imposition of Judgment

“Name and Title of judge

~ K&

Richard J. Sulfivan, U.S.C.J., Sitting by Designation

Sigq@turc of '.l.ndg’c.“ o t -

11/19/2018

Date

00%a



Case 18-3546, Document 217, 01/19/2021, 3016089, Page57 of 277
. Case 1:17-¢r-00337- RJS Document 203 Filed 11/19/18 Page 2 of 8

A58 (Rév, i)ZfI.S) Iudgmc nting Criminal Case
o o7 Shettia

Judgment—-Page- 2 of

ADDITIONAL COUNTS OF CONVICTION

"hue& '5ecuon Nature of Offense. ' : Offense Ended Count
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__ Sheet' 2~ Imiprisonthent

Judgment—— Page. 3

DEFE ND/\N[’ - Raheem Brennerman
CASENUMBER: 17-cr-337

IMPRISONMENT

Thideferdant is f\m:cby committed twithe custody of the Federal Burcdu of Prisons toihe imprisoned for a total
ferm ol
144 months on Gounts One, Two, anid Three, and 120 months on Count Four, to run conecurrent with-each other and to run
consecutive 1o the two year sentefice iniposed by Judge Kaplan in 17-cr-155.

¥ The court makes the follovwing recommendations:to the Bureau of Prisons:

that Defendant be sentencéd to'a-facility in California.

¥ Thedefendant is-remanded 16 the-eustody ofithe Uhited States Maishal,

{3 The defendanishall surrender to the United States Marshal For this distriot:
m' i et et e o e et st smmns e e i:} am. D p.m 0“ e g e e s 40 s b A et AT ot ket et e
I} asnotified by ihe United Staids Marshal.

I The defendant shall-surrenderfor service 6f sentencé at the ingtitulibn Hesignated:hy the Buréau of Prisons?

0 before 2 p.m, on:

€} usnotified by the United States Marshal,

[T} asnotified by the Probation:or Preirial Services Office,

RETURN

{ have exceutedithis judgment as follows:

Defendant deliveréd on _ . 10 - e N

at . With-a certified copy of this judgnient,

UNITEDSTATES MARSHAL

By
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N

Sheel3 ~ Supmlsnd Rclcaae

e

DEFENDANT: Raheem Brennerman

CASE NUMBER:  17:cr:337

SUPERVISED RELEASE

Upon release: from imprisonntent; you will be-on supervised release for a tormeof ¢

3 years, to fun:concurrent-on all counts.

2R

MANDATORY CONDITIONS

Yot must.not cominit anothér fedéral, state or Tocal erime.

Yiou, must not unlawfutly possess a-controlled substance:
¥Fou must refrain frobiy any wnlawful use of'a wm‘rgncd bstanice. Youmustsubmil t0.0ne drugtest-within 15 days of relcase from
imiprisonment and.at Jeast two periodic drug tests thereafier, as determined

¥ the-court,
0 Theabove drugtestifig-condition is suspenied, ba_scd on'the court’s d__e_xcmmxf;xtim thatyou.
posé-a 1osy risk.of fulite sibstarice abise; reheck i appheadle)
You must make restifition inaccordance with 18 USC§§ 3‘.6_6’3'3n‘dl3663:i-_\._0'r‘aﬂy-_61!1(’-;"sﬁl_'a_itui'e’__a‘tlﬂ‘u)tiz'i}ig"a sentenice. of

réstitution. {c»‘ze kucwphmh!e}

You st couperate in-the collection of DNA as direcied by the:probation officer. teheck if upplicabliy

You must.comply with the. requirements ofithe Sex Offender Repistranon’ and Notification: Act (34 U:8.C.§ 20901, e Seg.) a8
directed by the probatien officer, the Birédu of Prisons; of dny. stategex offender régistration dgency in the ch:atmn whereyou
reside, work, are @.student; or were convicied ofa qualifying offense. (check if upplicable)

You mustparticipate inan approved program o7 domestic violende, fheck if applivable)

You must comply with the standard.conditfons that have been adopted. by thig-eourt as well as with anv oihet condnmm on the attached

page.
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E,hm IK e Supcr‘iii‘sz_id:'}{éléﬁs'c‘

'dn.nu s0. H you dr) not !m funmxm emplovmenl \}mr must-

\NT" Raheem Brepnerhan

SE NUMBER: 17-6r-337

S'_liANDAR_:n CONDXTI'ONS OF SUPERVISION

:standard condittons Of supervigion, These conditions are imposed
0 pcrvmon antd identify the mitimum tools'needed by probation
about»nnprovunems in"your-conduct and condition,

e yithin. 72 houss of your

‘rduzu Imm lmpmonm(,m unlms ﬂu. pmhauon ﬂfﬂcci’ mstmcts vou (o rcpoﬁ o J dxftézcm pmbancm office or within a different time
'fmm

COourt or: the pmban m‘f.‘ficcr.

You smust answer trathfully the questivns asked by your. pmbauon officer,

You must live af a place appmvm by the: pmbmwn officer. If’you pirm 10 dxangc wherc yuu hvc or anvthmg ahc)u! vour !u m;:
arrangenients (such as.the pceple you hvt wuh) YOu Must no J

the prabation officer in: adv‘{ ¢ i
hmna 01 bcwmm *IW' AR

hcurs pu wce )

bcwmmg aware - chang@
'Smu must nm-’ ommumnw { v 18 enudgt-d it erintinal « stivity. 1f you know someone has been

] xcr nm Lnomngl wmmummre"or interact with that person without first getting the permission of the

_' rccmum ui’ﬁcm yoi must nom‘y therprobation officer within 72 hours.

ave e device, or- -dangerous weapon (1, ¢, anyihing that was
the spccmc purpme nf‘causmg hodﬁy injury of-teath 16 another person sirch-as finchakug of tasers),
agency td'act as a mnﬁdenudl human source or informant without

ust nm mvn pos»cw br
dcs:gmd orwasmodified tor,.
You must noi au o ke anv-agresment witly o law enmrct‘ment
: ing toi of the court.
the pr abmmn officer detenines that you pose & risk w-another person {incliding an.organization}, the probation officer may
n*qu,re you to notify the person. about the risk-and yowmust comply with that instruclion. The probation officer may contact the
persan ahd confiim that yowhave notified the persor ;ab'out th
Yaou-must follow the instructions of the probation officer rclmed to Ihe conditions of supervision.

U.S. Probation Office Use Only

A LIS probation.
judgmoent containing these-condition

apeciﬁnd by the eourl snd has provided me with 4 written copy of this

officer Hias instructed. mc‘on {he conditions:
i see Overview of Pmba!lon and Supervised

Relc’(m’ Conditions, available au \\’ww._ %

Defendants Signature. e I : ate
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} Sheéct 38 < Supervised Release.

DEFENDANT: Raheem Brennerman o
CASE NUMBER:  17-¢1-337

ADDITIONAL SUPERVISED RELEASE TERMS

“You must submit your person, residence, place of busingss, vehicle, and any property-or electronic devices under your
coniro! to a-search on the basis that the. probation officerhas reasoniabie suspicion thét contraband or-evidence.of a
wviolation of the conditions -of your probation/supervised release may be found. The search must be conducted at a
reasonable time and in a reasonable manrier. Failure to.submit to a search may be grounds for revocation. You must
inform any other resndems that the premises may-be subject té search pursuant 16 this condition.

You shall not open any new lines of-credit, take out any mongages open any credit:.card accounts, or otherwise. assume
new debt without-the permission of the-United States Probation Office.. You.must. provide the probation ofﬁcer with access

to any requested f:ndnmal information.
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Sheet 5 - Criminal Monetary Penallies

_ » Judgment - Page 7 of 8
DEFENDANT: Raheem Brennerman
CASE NUMBER: 17-6r-337

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES

The defendant must pay the tfotal criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of paymenis on Sheet 6.

Assessment JVTA Assessment* Fine Restitution
TOTALS $ 400.00 3 $ $

¥l The determination of restitation is deferred until 2/ 18/20149 . An. Amended Judpment in ¢ Criminal Case (A0 245¢) will he entercd
afier such determination.

{2 The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to'the following payees in the amount listed below.

Wihe defendant makes a partist payment, cach payee shall receive an approximately }progor}i_uncd payment, unless specified otherwise in
the priority order or percentage payment column below, However, pursuant (o 181.5.C. § 3664(1), all nonfederal victims must be paid
betore the United States is paid.

Name of Pavee N , 5 - Total Loss** , Restitution Ordered Priority or Percentage
TOTALS $ ... Dboo $. e ... 000

L1 Restitution @moun ordered pursuant (o pled agreement S

VoThe defendant must pay inferest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before the
filieenth day afier the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(R. All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be subject
to penaltics for delinquency and default, pursuant {o 18 US.C. §.3612(g).

{1 The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that;
O the interest requircment is waived forthe [ fine [T restitunon.

(3 theinterest requirernent forthe [J fine OO restitwdon is modified as follows:

* Justice for Vietims of Trafficking Act of 2015, Pub, L. No, 114-23, o o )
** Findings for the tofal amount of Josses are required under Chapters 109A. 110, 110A, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed on or

atter September 13, 1994, but before April 23, 1996,
APPENDIX B 015a
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SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS

Having assessed the defendant’s-ability to pay, payment of the fofal criminal monetary penalties.is duc as follows:

A [ Lump som payiiditof' § . due dmmiediarely; balance die

1 notlater than _ ) . OF

0 maecordancewith [} G, ' [j D, r E,, or  [] Fbelow; or

B 1T Paymentio beguy immediately:{may be combined with (3, Ovor OF belows; of
aver a peripd of

 fe.g.. weekly, monthly; guarterly) instaliments of $.
s judgment; or:

10 cofrunénce (€.2..36 or 60-dirys) aﬂ:r“th?dvat[of i

I Payment in-equal
. (&g

. Tegs weekly, monthty; quarterfy)instalimenis off § -over-a period of

O Paymentinequal
: ¥ | .
_le.g., 30-0r60-davyy after iclease mpFisonment 1o a.

ey (G OIS OF Y
term of supervision; or

10 commente

[ Payment duringithe termeof supervised release will.commence within o {30 0 6 diysy afler release from
Tmprisonment, “The couit wifl set the payment plan-based on-an assessment of the defendant’s ability to pay at that time: or

P [ Specinl instructions vegarding the payiment oficiiiningl mohetary. Senaltics:
4 Sy ! garding the paymen! ] V-

Unless the conrt has expressly ordered otherwise, if thisjudgment imposes imprisonment, payiment o erii inal monetary penaliies ist
the period of imprisonment.” Afl criminal monetary penaliigs, excepl lhoscﬁ._pa}ﬂnent_s-:'l_nacfc- through the Féederal Bureaw of Prisons” 1
Financial Responsibility Program, are- made to-the tlerk of the court: ‘ i

isdueiduring
1e

n

Fhe:defendant shall recelve credit for all payments previously made loward any criminal monetary penaliies imposed.

{1 Joint and Several

Defendant and Co-Pefendam Names:and Case Numbers: fincliding defendun sember), Total Amount; Joint.and Several Amount,

aid corresponding payee, iff appropriate:

£1  Thedcféndant shall pay the cost of prosecution.
{3 The-defendant shall pay the following court cosi(s):.
Z} The defendant shall forfeit the defendant’s interest I the following propeity to the United Statés:

Defendant:shalf foreit $4,400,000 as substitute assets retiecting Defendant's proceeds from this offense:

Payments shall be applied in the following order::(1) assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interést; (4) fine prineipal, (5) fine
mterest. (6) community restitution, (7) IVT A assessment, (8) penalties. and (9) costs, including tost of prosceution and court costs,
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COUR
Southern District of New York

'UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V.

Raheem Brennerman

Date of Original Judgment: 1

Reason for Amendment:.

£ ‘Correction of Sentence o Remand (18.U.S.C

(- Reduction of Seritece for Changed Cir
.35(6%) '

[] Correction -ufSemen'c‘e-‘byfSe_z'x't_eh_é_ing’ Caart (Fed, K G, P. 35(0)).
L' conettion of Seinténizé for Clerical Mistike/{Fed. |

THE DEFENDANT: _
1[I pleaded guilty to count(s)

3K 1) and (2))
uristances (Fed. R. Crim.

dgnichi)

Gase Number: 17-cr-3
USM Nuraber; 54001-048
_ Scott Tuiman

ﬁcfeﬁdam’s._Aﬁeme)g'

I Moditication _oflSu‘p'er\»'i’sim.Cmdf'ﬁons_ {18.UiS.G.§§ 3563(c).or 35636

[:] Modification oi“'lmpo‘sc'd Term of fmprisonment for Extraordinary dnd
‘Compilling Reasons (18 U:S.C. § 3582(c))y

O '.vMo’dEﬁcatii)n‘"d'l"‘im_pﬂs'éd Fermof vlm;_v_ﬁ:smim‘m_ Tor Retroactivé Arniendment(sy
Ao.the Sentencing Guidefines (18.U$.C:'§ 3582(6X2)).

L3 pirsctMation to Disirict Court Pursuant [ WUSC. 52385 0
L1 18USC§3559(cuT) '

¥ Maditicaiion of Restituiion Order (18 US £ $3662)

0 pleaded nélo contendere fo-count(s)

which was dccepted by the court:;

o was foiind guiliy on count(s) 1,2, 8, and4

after a plea of not guilty,

the Sentencing Reform Act 6f 1984,

{1 The defendant has boen found not guilty on'count(sy

3 Count(s)

d as provided in pages 2 through

6/1/2017

8. ofthisjudgment. T e sentence is iniposid: pursuarit to

1tis ordered that the defendnt miis

of mailing address until-all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessmentsimposed by this judgment are i
¢d States attorney of material Changes m economic circumstarnices.

the defendant must notify the cotirt-and Unit

APPENDIX B

noti

[ [Jatedismissed.on the smotion of the United States.
rthe United States:Attorney for this-distr

ictwithin 30 df_alys of any change of name; residerice,
fully paid. If ordered to pay restitution,

11/19/2018
Dateof tmposition of Judermy

‘S_l;gnafurevo_ft Judge T
Richard J. Suliivan, U.5.C.dJ.

"Name and Title of judge

| 2/12/2019
Date '
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DEFENDANT: Raheein Brennerman
CASE NUMBER: 17-¢r-337

IMPRISONMENT

The defendant is hereby commitied 1o the ¢ustody of the Fedéral Bureau of Prisons tobe imprisoned for a
totalterm of

144 months on Counts Ong, Two and Three ‘and 120 months on Count Four, 1o run- concurrent with each other and to run
consecutive to the two year sentence imposed by Judge Kapfan in 17:cr-155

[?f “The court makes t‘hé_'ff‘()l’lowing recommendations’to the Bureau of Prisons:

that Defendant be sentenced to a facility in California.

M The defendant is remanded. to the custody of the United States Marshal,

o

The deferidant shall surrender fo. the United States Marshal for this district:.

O at ) O am. O pm  on

O -asnotified by the United States.Marshal,
{3 The defendant shall surender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureawof Priscns:

£1  before 2 p.ni. on

(3 asuotified by the United States Marshal.

0 asnotified by the Probation or Pretrial Servicés Office.

RETURN
Lhave executed this judgment as follows:
Defendant deliveredon. 7 . to
at e . _ with a certified copy of this judgment,
WUNITED.STATES MARSHAL 77
By .

CDEPUTY UNITED.STATES MARSHAL
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You must comply: with the standard conditions that have been adaopted by this court as well as with any other conditions on the attached
page..
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. - Sheet 3 - Supervised Reloust. ANOTE: Kdeatify Changes with: Asterisks (7))
' T ' Judgment—-Page. 4 of i
DEFENDANT: Raheem Brenngrman. '
CASENUMBER: 17-¢r-337
SUPERVISED RELEASE
Upon selease from imprisonment, you wiil be on supcrvised refease fora term of :
Byedrs, 1o run-concurrent on &l cotints,
MANDATORY CONDITIONS
i. 'Y.'ou niust-fiot Commit another foderal, stateor local crime:.
2. You must not unlawfully possess a controlled substance, '
3., Youmust refrain from any unlawful use of wcontrolled substance. You must subrit to one drug test-within 15 days.of release from
imprisomivent and at léast two periodic.drug tests thereafter, as delemlih’ed-b_y the court. _
{3 The above drugtesting condition is susperided, based on the court's determination that you pose a Jow risk‘of future
sc_xbsiance abuse. ¢heck if applicable)

4. & You must make restitution in accordance with 1§ 1:8.C, $§.3663 and 3661A ai any otliér statute authotizing a senfence of
restitution, {ehock if applicibic)

S ¥y ou-must-cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by theprobation officer. fheck ifapplicuble)

6. [ Youmustcomply with the requirements-of the Sex Offerider Registration aid Notification Act (42 U.8.C.¥ 16901, vf seq.) as
dirécted by. theprobation officer, the Bureau of Prisons, or any state sex offender registiation agency in the location where you

~ reside, work, are-a'student; ot were convicted of qualifying offense. gcheck if applizabie)
7. [ You mustparticipate in‘an approved program for domestic vialence. fbheck if applicabic)
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_Sheet 34— Supervised Refease.

-

Judf,’.mt:m»;}’age 5 ar 8
DEFENDANT: Raheem Brennerman
CASE NUMBER:  17:c1:337

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION

As part of your supervised felease, you iust comply with the following standard conditions of supervision. These conditions are imposed
because they establish the basic expectations for your behavior while on supefvision and idebiify the mininium tools needed by probation
officers fo keep informed. report to. the court about, and bring about improvenents in your conductand condition,

1. Youmust report to the probation office in the federal judicial district where you are authorized to reside within 72 hours of your
release from imprisonment, unless the probation officerinstructs you fo report to a different probation office or within a different
time frame.

Afier initially reporting to the probation office, you-will receive instructions from the court or the:probation officer about how and

when you must report to the probation officer, and you snust report to the probation officer as instnicted.

3. Youmust not knowingly leave the federal judicial district where you are authorized to reside without fivst getting permission from
the court or the:probation officer.

4. Youmustanswer truthfuily the questions asked by vour probation officer.

‘5. You must live at a-place approved by the probation officer. If you.plan-to change where.-you five or anything about your living
arrangements (such as the people you live with), you must riotify the probation officer at least 10 davs before the change. i notifying
the probation officer in advance is not possible due 10 unanticipated circumstances, you must notify the probation officer within 72
hours of becoming aware of a:change or expected change, »

6. You mustallow the probation officer to Vvisit you at-any time at your hotne or elsewheie, and you must permit the probation officer
to take any items prohibited by the conditions-of your supervision ‘that he or she observes in plain view.

7. Youmust work-full time (at loast 30 hours per week) at a lawful type of emiployment, unless the probation officer excuses you from
doing so. If you donot have full-time-employment you must try to find full-time employnient, unless the probation officer excuses
you from doing so. If you plan to change where you work or anythiig:about your work {such-as your position or your job
responsibilities), you. must notify. the probation officer at Jeast 10 days before the chanye. If notifying the-probation officer at least 10
days tn.advance is not possibleé due io unanticipated circumstances, you must notify.the probation officer within 72 hours of
becorming aware of i change ot éxpected change. '

8. Youmustnot communicate of interact with soméone vou know is éngaged in criminal activity. If you know someone has been
convicted of a felony, vou must sot knawingly cemmunicate or intstact with that person without first yetting ihe permission of the

_ probation officer, _ o o

9. Ifyouwarearrested or questioned by alaw enforcement officer, you must notify the probation: officer within 72 livurs,

10. You must notown, possess, ‘of have access to a firearm, ammunition, destructive-device, or dangerous wedpon (i.c., anything that
was designed, or was modified for, the specific puipose of causing bodily injury or death to ahother person such as nunchakus or
tasers). ‘

1. Youmust not act-or make any agreement wiih-a Taw enforcement agenty to'act s a-confidential human source or informant without

first getting the permission of the courd.

1f1he probation officer determines that yow pose a risk to.another person { including an orgauization), the probation officer may

require you 1o notify the person about the risk and you must comply with thatinsiruction. The probation officer may contaci the

~ person:and confinm that you havenotified the pérson about the risk.

13 Youmust follow the instrictions of the probation officér related td the conditions of supervision,

[

U.S. Probation Office Use Only
A'U.S. probation officerhas instructed me on the conditions specified by the coun’van_d‘hasprovided e with o written copy of this
Jjudgment containing these conditions. For further information regarding these conditions, see Overview of Probation and Supervised

Release Conditions, available at: WWAYUSCOUNS pov..

Defendant's Signatare _ . " e Date
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__Sheet 38 — Supervised Réléase INOT Exddentity Changes with Asierisks 1%))

o Indgment—Pape” 6. of 8.
DEFENDANT: Razheerm Brénnefrian
CASENUMBER: 17-¢r-337

ADDITIONAL SUPERVISED RELEASE TERMS

You must submit your person; residence; place-of business, vehicle; and any property or electroriic devices dnder your.
controf to-a searchon:the basis that the probation officet has reasonatile' suspicion that contraband of evidence of a
violation of the conditions of your probation/supervised release may be found, The search'must be conducted.at-a
feasonable timeand in a reasonable.manner: Failureto submitto-a search rhay be grounds for revocation. You must
inform -any ‘other residents that the premises may-be subject to search pursuant to.this condition.

You shall not open-any new lines q}f:_crgd__it,jtakg_ou,t,iany,-mprigage& open any credit card accounts, or otherwise assume
new debt without the permission: of the United States Probation'Office’. Yo;;"muSt':'p'rd\'/'ia_e”therprobation officer with access

to any requested financialinformation;

APPENDIX B : 022a
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Sheet.5— Crimingl Monctary. Peualtics’ - (NOTE; {denilify Changes:wit

'Jgdéir‘v?cqt—"f’agcz_ A

DEI ENDANT: Halieem Biennermian.
CASE NUMBER; 17-¢r-337

CR]MINAL MONETARY PENALTIES.

l he defendant must-pay the followmg fotal criminal: monemry pcnalheﬂ ander-the:schedule-of paymx.ms on Shicet { 6

Assessment , 4\’TA.A§ sessinent®. Fine : Restitu 'b'xi'
TOTALS $ 40000, -8 , s 8 526417619

D The determination.of restitution: is deferrcd wtl, A4 A‘m’t’;’ndcﬁjﬂ(‘f,gﬁ:_eﬂI-'m-(llCfi’;‘l’lﬂ-‘i}_?’dfCiiSﬁ'(:AO 245G) will be
eritéied after such detemnination. : T ' '

¥ The defendant shall make:restitution ‘(inciudingacmmnuuity ?rc‘:,s'(i_tutiqn).jq the ("Bl‘l‘piiiirg‘g;p‘ay@gs‘ in;:;bc'amqumji.ﬁﬁté&‘ below:

"appro\lmate)y Sropotioned ayinient, unfess § §P
pursuart. to 181 go “366: 8)

' Resntuhon Orden ed

TOTALS - % 526447649 5

"1 Restitution amoun ordered pursuant to'plea agreement. | §

~

| Tﬁc‘défcndam must pay iiixe‘re-s i ‘ét’tﬁutib‘n‘ a'n-d"a i‘me of*mﬁf’e than

N .
0 The court determmed that:the- defendam does’ ndt ha\re thc ab:hty to payintefest, and iris. orderéd that:
O thednterest requitement is waived for [ ﬁn,e‘ [ restitiation,

3. thigifiterest requirément-forthe £ fine - [ resiitution is.modified:as follows:

* Jusucc, for Victims . ofTrafﬂckm§ Act of 2015 Pub, L. No 114:22.
* Findings {or the fotal:amount ofJosses are; re%mred -under Clnpler\ T09A;.
afier Seplember 13, 1994, “but before April 23 199

3

10, 1104, and 113A of Title 1§ for offenses.committedion or:

v

APPENDIXB 023

).-all: nonfedera‘l victims miust be: paid“

s e e S s




Case 18-3546, Document 217, 01/19/2021, 3016089, Page71 of 277
AQ2sC Rev.17) AGRSELbh A 00337cRIS Document 223 Filed 02/12/19 Page 8 of 8

__Sheet 6 Scheduleof Paymienty , , (NOTE: Jdentity Changes witl Asterichs ()

Judgment-—~Page. 8. of T 8

DEFENDANT: Raheem Brennerman
CASE NUMBER: 17-¢r-337

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS

Having assessed the defeiidant’s ability {6 pay, payment of the fotal criminal monetary penalties shall be-due as follows:
A [ Lump sunt payiiient.of'§ et o e due immediately, balance due

{3 notlater than -OF

0O dnaccordancewith [ €, [ VD, DN _.;E‘,.,t)rf [ -Fbelow:or

[ Paymient io bc‘:g.in:imme'di_a‘t'cly_'(_niay'be’comb'imd'w_i-r'h Oc¢ oo {3 ¥Fhelow): or

€ [ Paymestinequal (e.g., weekly, nionthly; quarterly) installments of § overa petiod of
(e.g,; months.oryears), t commence e, (€380, B0 OF 60 day$).after the datc of this judgment; or

[E———— S

D (3 Paynientin equal e, (€585 Weekly, monthly, quarterly) instatlments of '$ e overa period.of
.. {e.g.. months or years), tocommence s &g, 30 OF 60:days).after release from imprisonmerit to.d
Supervision; or

E.  Paymentduring the term of sipervised release will commence within 30 .. {eg., 30 or 60 days) afier release from
imprisonment: The court will set {he payment plan based on an assessment of the defendints ability:to pay at that timez or

F 3 -Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties:

£ crimimal monetary penalties is-due
ough the Federal Bureau of Prisons’

Unless the count has expressly ordered otherwise, if thiis judgment imposes imprisonment, payme
during the period-of imprisonment. All criminal monetary penalties; excepl those payments iade’

Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk of the court.

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties ingposed.

L1 Jointand Several

Defendant and_Co-Daféﬂdgm‘Nam‘e.{: a'n_d Case Numbeis fincluding defendunt smumbery, Total: Amount, Joint and-Several Amount,
and corresponding ‘payee, if appropriate. o '

[ The defendant shail pay-the:cost of prosecution. _ ¥
LI The defendant shall pay-the following court cost(s):

@ The deféndant shall forfeit the defendant’s interestin the foHowinig property.to the United States:

e e i

Defendant shall forfeit $4 /400,000 as substitute assets reflecting Deferidant's ‘proceeds from this offense,

PESREES

ent, (2) restitution principal, ( 3) restitution interest, (4) fine. principal, (5) fine

) 1) asses tion prin
penalties, and (9) costs, mehuding cost:of prosecution and conrt-costs,

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) asse
-mierest, {6) community restitution, (7) JVTA assessment; (8)

APPENDIX B 024a
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PETITION FOR REHEARING EN BANC AND FOR RECONSIDERATION
OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

John C. Meringolo
Meringolo & Associates, P.C.
375 Greenwich St., F1. 7
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(212) 397-7900
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant Raheem J. Brennerman respectfully submits this petition for reconsideration

| pursuant to Fed.R.App.P. 40(a)(2) and for rehearing en banc pursuant to Fed.R.App.P. 35(b).
The decision of the panel on which rehearing en banc and reconsideration is requested, United
States v. Brennerman, 18-3546-cr (2d Cir. Jun. 9, 2020) (Summary Order), is attached hereto as
Exhibit A.

The panel should reconsider its decision because the panel misapprehended key facts in
Petitioner’s argument concerning the FDIC-insured status of Morgan Stanley’s subsidiary
entities. The indictment charged that Brennerman had “made false representations to financial
institutions in the course of seeking loans and other forrﬁs of financing for purported business
ventures.” A39' (Indictment at 94). But the conduct that this Court found sufficient to satisfy the
FDIC-insured element of the offense—Brennerman’s having obtained “perks” from Morgan
Stanley’s personal wealth division in the form of lower interest rates and access to credit cards—
was not business-related. Moreover, Brennerman’s personal wealth management account was
opened at Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC, which is a brokerage business and is not FDIC-
insured, as it does not directly accept deposits. A1305.2 Similarly, the investment division of
Morgan Stanley, which is a wholly owned sﬁbsidiary of the parent company and is the entity at
which Brennerman’s fraudulent representations were directed, is not FDIC insured. |

Therefore, there was no conduct directed at an FDIC-insured institution that was

sufficient to satisfy every element of the statute of conviction and the Court should reconsider its

! Citations beginning with “A” refer to the pagination of the Appendix submitted concurrently
with Appellant’s Opening Brief on September 6, 2019.

? Brennerman additionally refers the Court to the Government’s trial exhibits GX1-57A, GX1-73,
and GX529, the third page of which indicates that Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC held
client funds in a number of FDIC-insured affiliates.

APPENDIX C 02%a
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decision. For the same reason, because Brennerman was convicted of fraud related to his
personal account, not to his investment scheme, the Court should reconsider and should conclude
that a constructive amendment of the indictment occurred.

In addition, the Court should reconsider its decision concerning the complete ICBC file,
the Government’s obligation to procure it, and Brennerman’s constitutional ri ght to present a
complete defense insofar as the decision was premised on the assumption that Brennerman had
taken no steps to obtain the file and that his bare assertion provided the only indication of the
file’s existence. The file’s existence was confirmed by the testimony of .Julian Madgett. A866;
A800-803. Brennerman attempted to serve subpoenas and asked the district court to compel
production both before and during the trial.

The Court should rehear this case en banc because the panel’s decision denying
Brennerman’s appeal is contrary to law insofar as the panel neglected this Court’s holding in In
re del Valle Ruiz, 939 F.3d 520 (2d Cir. 2019) (district courts are not categorically barred from
allowing discovery of evidence located abroad) and the Supreme Court’s instruction that a
criminal defendant has a constitutional right to present a complete defense. See Scrimo v. Lee,
935 F.3d 103 (2d Cir.2019) (citing Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683 (1986)).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Brennerman incorporates by reference the statement of facts and legal argument in his
opening brief on appeal (Dkt. #127) and his reply brief (Dkt. #158) and limits the discussion
herein to those facts necessary to the determination of this petition.

This case érose out of a search of .Brennerman"s Las Vegas, Nevada residence on April
18, 2017, following the issuance of an arrest warrant by Judge Lewis A. Kaplan for Brennerman

after the initiation of a petition pursuant to Fed.R.Crim.P. 42 to hold Brennerman in criminal

APPENDIX C 030a
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contempt of court. The search led to a four-count indictment in this case, which alleged inter alia
that Breﬁnerman’s company, The Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc., and its subsidiaries were shell
companies and that Brennerman had sought financing from international banking institutions
including the Industrial Commercial Bank of China in London (“ICBC”) and the investment
division of Morgan Stanley for no legitimate purpose. See, generally, Opening Brief (“Op.Br.”)
at 3-4 and citations therein. |

The case was tried to a jury in November and December 2017. On December 6, 2017,
Brennerman was convicted on all counts. See genérally United States v. Brennerman, 17-CR-337
(RJS), Indictment (A38-49); Alv925.

1. FDIC Insurance: Insufficiency of the Evidence and Constructive
Amendment of the Indictment.

Count One of the Indictment describes the scheme in which Brennerman engaged in
order to obtain the $20,000,000 bridge loan from ICBC (“Bank-1"). A38-43 (Ind. §91-9). Count
Two, which incorporates the speaking allegations in Count One, charges that Brennerman “made
false representations to financial institutions in the course of obtaining or aﬁempting to obtain
loans for purported business ventures.” A45 (Ind. 14). -

At trial, the Government failed to prove that Brennerman’s conduct with respect to ICBC
satisfied every element of the chafge. With respect to Morgan Stanley, the Government proved
only that Brennerman made false representations in the course of opening a depository
account—rnof that his faise representations had led to any sericus negotiations for a business loan
from Morgan Stanley’s investnient bank.

ICBC London is a subsidiary .and a branch of a Chinese bank. It is not FDIC insured.

A800; A1308-09. Brennerman avers that his wealth management relationship with Scott Stout

APPENDIX C _ 031a
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and wealth management account was with Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC?, a Morgan
Stanley subsidiary whose FDIC insurance status commissioner Barry Gonzalez had not
confirmed in anticipation of frial. See A1308; A1305.

Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC did not hold Brennerman's funds directly, as it is not
a depository subsidiary; instead, Brennerman’s personal funds were held with another subsidiary
within Morgan Stanley, Morgan Stanley Bank National Association, which is FDIC insured.
Al1300-01. Brennerman avers that the credit card, which was not issued by any Morgan Stanley
subsidiary, was never used and was closed with zero balance. A1300-01. Brennerman had no
personal relationship with individuals at Morgan Stanley Bank National Association, nor did he
make any statements to any individual or have any interaction with that entity that could have
been construed as fraudulent.

The Morgan Stanley institutional securities division, with which Brennerman sought to
negotiate further financing in his discussions with Kevin Bonebrake, was also not FDIC-insured.
A1298-1310. Only depository accounts are FDIC-insured. A1306. The insurance of one
subsidiary institution would not apply to its parent corporation. A1308-10.

Yet, when, at the conclusion of the Government’s case, the defense moved to dismiss
under Rule 29 (A1743), the Government argued, and the district court agreed, that Brennerman’s
conduct directed at Morgan Stanley fell within the ambit of the Indictment’s statutory allegations
and satisfied the statutory elements of bank fraud through execution of:

a scheme to defraud Morgan Stanley by targeting Scott Stout, giving him 200,000,

promises $10 million, and then lying about the supposed 45 million he had in

assets and what his business was about, and through this fraud on Morgan

Stanley and Scott Stout, Mr. Brennerman got access to special perks other people
couldn't get, like lower rates, and fancy credit cards, and also the opportunity and

3 Brennerman additionally respectfully directs the Court to the Government’s trial exhibits GX1-
57A, GX529, and GX1-73; and to United States v. Brennerman, 17-Cr-337 (RJ, S) at Dkt. #167.
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access to people like -- opportunity to meet and access to do business with people
like Kevin Bonebrake.

A1742-43. See also A1709-10; A1712.

In his pro se Rule 29 and 33 motions, Brennerman asked the district court to vacate his
conviction because the FDIC-insured element had not been satisfied as alleged in the Indictment.
A1932; A1941-43. The district court declined, reasoning again that the “perks” obtained from
Morgan Stanley had been sufficient to bring his conduct within the ambit of 18 U.S.C. § 1344(1).
A2020-21. Similarly, the district court relied on these same “perks” to calculate the applicable
loss for sentencing purposes. A2035—36.

On appeal, Brennerman argued, as is relevant here, that because he had taken no
substantial step with regard to the bank fraud conspiracy or substantive bank fraud toward an -
FDIC-insured institution, the evidence on those counts was insufficient to convict. Further, .:
because the indictment alleged that he had sought to defraud banks including ICBC to obtain
money for his business fraud, the Government’s reliance on his personal conduct related to the =
personal wealth management division of Morgan Stanley (Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC);
another non-FDIC-insured entity, had constructively amended the indictment leading to
Brennerman’s conviction for an offense with which he had not been charged. Op.Br. Argument
Point III. | |

This Court upheld Brennerman’s conviction and sentence in a Summary Order on June 9,
2020. The Court misapprehended the record with respect to the FDIC-insured status of Morgan
Stanley and overlboked Brennerman’s argument about the non FDIC-insured personal wealth
division (Morgan Staﬁley Smith Barney, LLC) and the non-FDIC-insured investment division,
generalizing that:

[T]he record did establish that he defrauded Morgan Stanley, an FDIC-insured
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institution, as part of his broader scheme by, among other things, inducing it to
issue him a credit card based on false representations about his citizenship, assets,
and the nature and worth of his company.

United States v. Brennerman, 18-3645, Slip Op. (Jun. 9, 2020) at 3.

With respect to Brennerman’s constructive amendment argument, the Court similarly
misunderstood the crucial distinction Between the subsidiary divisions of Morgan Stanley,
relying on the Government’s arguments at summation and finding that no constructive
amendment had occurred because:

It is clear from the indictment that the scheme against ICBC was merely one
target of Brennerman’s alleged fraud. . . . At trial, the government offered
evidence that Morgan Stanley was one of those “other financial institutions.” See
App’x at 608-09 (testimony of Morgan Stanley’s Kevin Bonebrake about a
January 2013 telephone call with Brennerman discussing financing to develop oil
asset). Thus, there was not a “a substantial likelihood that the defendant may have
been convicted of an offense other than the one charged by the grand jury.”
Vebeliunas, 76 F.3d at 1290.

Id. Slip Op. at 4.

1I. Failure to Obtain the ICBC File and Consequent Violation of
Brennerman’s Sixth Amendment Rights.

During the trial preparation, the defense became aware that certain files from ICBC
including the complete ﬁle of Julian Madgett, who had prepared the paperwork for the
$20,000,000 bridge loan and submiﬁed it to ICBC’s credit bommittee, wefe missing. A763;
A802. Included in the credit committee documentation would have been a credit application
document summarizing the case for making the loan. A802. These documents were not provided
to the Government or made available to Brennerman for use at trial. A800-801.

In his motions in limine, Brennerman moved to preclude testimony of any individual
affiliated with ICBC concerning the financing of the Cat Canyon asset on the ground that,

because ICBC, through the Government, had not produced the complete file of discoverable
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materials concerning the negotiations, pérmitting any ICBC representative to testify concerning
the negotiations would deny Brennerman his Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses |
against him. Dkt. #59; A242-44. The district court denied the motion. Dkt. # 69 at 25.

Both during the related case in front .of Judge Kaplan (United States v. Brennerman, 17-
CR-155 (LAK)) and in the case at bar, Brennerman moved for discovery of the full ICBC file
related to the bridge loan to Blacksands. Brennerman averred that the file would contain
Madgett’s notes related to the credit paper and credit decision to approve the loan and would
support Brennerman’s theory of defense. Both Judge Kaplan and Judge Sullivan denied
Brennerman’s requests for a subpoena to obtain these documents; Judge Sullivan additionally
declined to compel the Goverpment to produce them at trial. See, e.g., 17-CR-755 at Dkt.#76;
17-CR-337 at Dkt #71 (letter motion); A866; A800-803; A867-68; A868-69.

On appeal, Brennerman argued three points with respect to the ICBC file: First, that
because the Government had been aware of the file’s existence, the Government’s failure to
procure the file violated its obligatioﬁs under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and its
progeny; second, that because Brennerman had been forced to cross-examine Madgett without
the benefit of the full file, his Sixth Amendment right to cross-examine the witness against him
had been violated; and third, that his Sixth Amendment right to present a complete defense had
been violated because he was denied the opportunity to present documents to the jury that would
have supported his defense.

The Court disagreed with Brennerman on the first two points and did not issue a written
opinion on the third, writing that,

The government’s discovery and disclosure obligations extend only to

information and documents in the government’s possession. United States v.

Avellino, 136 F.3d 249, 255 (2d Cir. 1998) (explaining that the Brady obligation
applies only to evidence “that is known to the prosecutor”). The government
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insists that every document it received from ICBC was turned over to Brennerman
and that it is not aware of the personal notes referenced by Brennerman. Therefore,
the government has not violated its disclosure obligation. Nor was the government
under any obligation under the Jencks Act to collect materials about Madgett that
were not in the government’s possession. See United States v. Bermudez, 526 F.2d
89, 100 n.9 (2d Cir. 1975).

Even if the documents exist and are material and favorable, Brennerman never

sought a subpoena pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 17 . . . . The
only indication that such documents are extant comes from Brennerman’s bare
assertions.

United States v. Brennerman, 18-3645, Slip Op. at 4-5.

Brennerman now brings this petition for reconsideration as to the Court’s conclusions
concerning his convictioné on counts one and two and the adequacy of the evidence of FDIC
insurance presented in the Government’s case-in-chief and as to the Court’s statement that he
never sought a Rule 17 subpoena for the complete ICBC file and further that the only indication
that such documents (ICBC file) are extant comes from Brennerman's bare assertion and for
rehearing en banc as to the Court’s denial of his Sixth Amendment and Confrontation Clause

argument and the exclusion from consideration of his complete defense argument.

-REASONS FOR GRANTING RECONSIDERATION AND REHEARING EN BANC

I. This Court Should Reconsider Its Denial of Brennerman’s Appeal
Because The Court’s Decision Misapprehended Key Facts.

-Fed.R.App.P. 40(a)(2) permits motions for reconsideration where the deciding court has

overlooked points of law or fact.
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A. The Court’s Decision Misapprehended Key Facts About Which Morgan
Stanley Subsidiary Was FDIC Insured and Misunderstood Why A
Constructive Amendment of the Indictment Occurred.

1. Applicable Law

a. Federal Bank Fraud Requires Intent to Defraud an FDIC-Insured
Institution,

Title 18 United States Code section 1344 makes it a crime to “knowingly execut[e], or
attempt{t] to execute, a scheme or artifice—(1) fo defraud a financial institution; . . .” “The well
established elements of the crime of bank fraud are that the defendant (1) engaged in a course of
conduct designed to deceive a federally chartered or insured financial institution into releasing
property; and (2) possessed an intent to victimize the institution by exposing it to actual or
potential loss.” United States v. Barrett, 178 F.3d 643, 647-48 (2d Cir.1999); see also 18 U.S.C.
§20 (defining “financial institution™). “[A] defendant cannot be convicted of violating §1344(1)
merely because he intends to defraud an entity . . . that is not in fact covered by the statute.”
United States v. Bouchard, 828 F.3d 116, 125 (2d Cir.2016).

b. Constructive Amendment of An Indictment Occurs When the
Charging Terms Are Altered.

Constructive amendment of an indictment “ ‘occurs when the charging terms of the
indictment are altered, either literally or in effect, by prosecutor or court after the grand jury has
last passed upon them.” ” United States v. LaSpina, 299 F.3d 165, 181 (2d Cir.2002) (citations
omitted). “To prevail on a constructive amendment claim, a defendant must demonstrate that . . .
the proof at trial . . . so altered an essential element of the charge that, upon review, it is
uncertain whether the defendant was convicted of conduct that was the subject of the grand

jury’s indictment.” LaSpina, 299 F.3d at 181 (citations omitted).
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2. Discussion

The theory on which the Government and, in turn, the district court and this Court relied
to uphold Brennerman’s conviction was that he had obtained certain benefits or “perks” from
Morgan Stanley’s personal wealth management division through misrepresentations. See, e.g.,
A1709-10; A1742-43; Slip Op. at 3. But this theory fails on two independent, yet related,
grounds.

First, Brennerman’s personal wealth management account at Morgan Stanley Smith
Barney, LLC, was not a depository account; the funds were held in a depository account at
Morgan Stanley Bank National Association. See generally A1298-1310. Any statements made
by Brennerman to Scott Stout, who worked at Morgan Stanley Smith Bamey, LLC (A959,
A962) would have been insufficient to establish that Brennerman took any step toward
defrauding an FDIC-insured institution. Further, the Morgan Stanley investment division, with
which Brennerman sought to negotiate financing in his discussions with Kevin Bonebrake, was
not FDIC-insured. A1298-1310. Therefore, there was no evidence at trial that Brennerman had
taken any substantial step toward defrauding any FDIC-insured entity. See A1880-81 (ury
charge); A1881-82 (same).

Second, because the indictment cﬁarged Brennerman with having “made false
representations to ﬁnanciél institutions in the course of seeking loans and otﬁer forms of
financing for purported business ventures” (A39 (Indictment at 94)), but Brennerman was
convicted based on conduct directed at Morgan Stanley Smith Barney, LLC—the personél
wealth management division, about which there was no evidence of FDIC insurance, a
constructive amendmen_t of the indictment occurred.

There is no question that Morgan Stanley Bank National Association, which held

10
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Brennerman’s personal funds, is FDIC-insured. But neither Scott Stout nor Kevin Bonebrake—
the individuals with whom Brennerman interacted for the initiation of a personal wealth
management account and concerning possible financing of Blacksands’ ventures, respectively,
worked at Morgan Stanley Bank National Association. Nor, because that institution was merely
the repository for Brennerman’s personal wealth, could he have taken any actions sufficient to
satisfy the language of the indictment directed at it insofar as the ﬁnancing of his Blacksands
ventures were concerned. See A45 (Ind. at §14).
Therefore, there evidence failed to satisfy every element of the statute of conviction. The
- Court should reconsider its decision on this point. And because Brennerman was convicted of
fraud related to his personal ancount, not to his investment/fundraising scheme as charged, the
Court should reconsider and should conclude that a constructive amendment of the indictment - =
occurred.
B. The Court’s Decision Overlooked the Fact that Brennerman Had Made
Attempts to Obtain and to Compel the Production of the Complete ICBC

File and Erroneously Assumed that the Only Indication of the Documents’
Existence Came From Brennerman’s Bare Assertions.

-Both during the related case in front of Judge Kaplan (United States v. Brennerman, 17-
CR-155 (LAK)) and in the case at bar, Brennerman moved for discovery of the full ICBC file
related to the bridge loan to Blacksands. Brennerman posited that the file would contain ICBC
employee iIulian Madgett’s notes related to the credit paper and credit decision to approve the
loan and would support Brennerman’s theory of defense. Both Judge Kaplan and Judge Sullivan
denied Brennerman’s requests for a subpoena to obtain these documents; Judge Sullivan
additionally declined to compel the Government to produce them at trial. See, e.g., 17-CR-755 at

Dkt.#76; 17-CR-337 at Dkf.#7l; A866; A867—68; AB68-69.

' 11
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For these reasons, fhe Court was mistaken that the record contained no eQidence that
Brennerman had attempted to obtain the complete ICBC file and the Court’s assumption that the
only indication that such documents (ICBC file) are extant came from Brennerman's bare
assertion was erroneous. The Court should reconsider its decision on this point.

IL. The Ccurt Should Grant Rehearing En Banc Because the Panel’s

Decision Conflicts With Settled Law On the Sixth Amendment Rights

of A Criminal Defendant to Cross-Examine the Witnesses Against
Him and to Present A Complete Defense.

Under Fed.R.App.P. 35(b)(1)(A), a petition for rehearing en banc is proper when the
Circuit Court panel decision “conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court or of
the court to which the petition is addressed . . . and consideration by the full court is therefore
necessary to secure and maintain uniformity of the court’s decisions.”

A. Applicable Law

The Due Process Clause requires the Government to make a timely disclosure of any
exculpatory or impeaching evidence that is material and in its possession. See Brady v. Maryland,
373 U.S. 83 (1963); Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). The Government is further
obligated under Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 437 (1995) to “learn of any favorable evidence
known to the others acting on the government’s behalf in the case, including the police.”

In some circumstances, discovery may be obtained from abroad. In re del Valle Ruiz, 939
F.3d 520, 533 (2d Cir.2019) (“[A] district court is not categorically barred from allowing
discovery . . . of evidence located abroad. . . .”) (intcmal reference omitted). “[1]t is far preferable
for a district court to reconcile whatever misgivings. 1t may have about the impact of its
participation in the foreign litigation by issuing a closely tailored. discovery order rather than by

simply denying relief outright.”” Mees v. Buiter, 793 F.3d 291, 302 (2d Cir.2015).
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B. Discussion

Brennerman argued to the jury that he had negotiated in good faith with ICBC, that he
had provided accurate information about Blacksands and its holdings, and that he had intended to
repay the bridge loan. See, e.g., A1773-74. But he was precluded from putting all of the
evidence necessary to establish his good faith defense before the jury because he did not possess,
and the Government did not obtain and disclose, the entire file from ICBC that would,
Brennerman posits, have contained the compete credit application and information submitted by
Brennerman and evaluated by Madgett in connection with Madgett’s preparation of the credit
application for the bridge loan. See Crane v. Kentucky, 4’176 U.S. 683, 690 (1986) (“[T]he
Constitution guarantees criminal defendants a meaningful opportunity to present a complete
defense.”); Scrimo, 935 F.3d at 113-14; United States v. Mulde;’, 147 F.3d 703, 707 (8th
Cir.1998). Because the information and reasoning behind ICBC’s decision to grant Brennerman
the bridge loan was of paramount importance, the additional evidence in the file might have been
sufficient to create a reasonable doubt in the mind of the jury. See Scrimo, 935 F.3d at 120
(citations omitted).

Further, because the district court permitted Madgett to testify as to the contents of those
documents that ICBC had (selectively, Brennerman argues) provided to the Government and to
be cross-examined on those docﬁments, which were removed from the context of the complete
ICBC credit apblication file, Madgett’s testimony misled the jury and unfairly prejudiced
Brennerman. See A242-44. |

It was constitutional error to permit Madgett to testify, given that he could not be fully

cross-examined. Brennerman was deprived of his Sixth Amendment confrontation right and of
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his right to present a complete defense. This deprivation had a substantial and injurious effect
and influence in determining the jury's verdict.

The panel’s decision to the contrary conflicts with this Court’s decisions in Scrimo and In
re del Valle Ruiz, and the Court should rehear the case en banc accordingly.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, Brennerman’s petition should be granted and this Court should reconsider its

decision and rehear his case en banc.

Dated: New York, NY s/ John Meringolo
June 23, 2020 John Meringolo, Esq.
" Meringolo & Associates, P.C.
375 Greenwich St., F1. 7
New York, NY 10013
(212) 941-2077 '
john@meringololaw.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant
Raheem Brennerman
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18-3546(L)
United States v. Raheem Brennerman

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

SUMMARY ORDER

RULINGS BY SUMMARY ORDER DO NOT HAVE PRECEDENTIAL EFFECT.
CITATION TO A SUMMARY ORDER FILED ON OR AFTER JANUARY 1, 2007,1S
PERMITTED AND IS GOVERNED BY FEDERAL RULE OF APPELLATE
PROCEDURE 32.1 AND THIS COURT’S LOCAL RULE 32.1.1. WHEN CITING A
SUMMARY ORDER IN A DOCUMENT FILED WITH THIS COURT, A PARTY MUST
CITE EITHER THE FEDERAL APPENDIX OR AN ELECTRONIC DATABASE (WITH
THE NOTATION “SUMMARY ORDER?”). A PARTY CITING A SUMMARY ORDER
MUST SERVE A COPY OF IT ON ANY PARTY NOT REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL.

At a stated Term of the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, held at the
Thurgood Marshall United States Courthouse, 40 Foley Square, in the City of New York on the
9" day of June, two thousand twenty. :

Present: ROSEMARY S. POOLER,
REENA RAGGI,
WILLIAM J. NARDINI,
Circuit Judges.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee, :
V. o , _ 18-3546, 19-497

RAHEEM BRENNERMAN,
AKA JEFERSON R. BRENNERMAN, -
AKA AYODEII SOETAN,

Défendant—Appellant.

Ai)pearing for Appellant: John C. Meringolo, Meringolo & Associates, P.C., Brooklyn, N.Y.
Appearing for Appellee: Danielle R. Sassoon, Assistant United States Attorney (Nicholas

Roos, Robert B. Sobelman, Matthew Podolsky, Assistant United
States Attorneys, on the brief), for Geoffrey S. Berman, United
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States Attorney for the Southern District of New York, New York
NY.

3

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (Sullivan,
J).

ON CONSIDERATION WHEREOF, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED,
AND DECREED that the judgment be and it hereby is AFFIRMED.

Defendant-Appellant Raheem Brennerman appeals from the February 12, 2019,
amended judgment of conviction entered in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York (Sullivan, J.), sentencing him principally to 144 months’ imprisonment, 3
years’ supervised release, forfeiture in the amount of $4,400,000, and restitution in the amount of
$5,264,176.19. Following a jury trial, Brennerman was convicted of one count of conspiracy to
commit bank and wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349; one count of bank fraud, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1344 and 2; one count of wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343
and 2; and one count of visa fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1546(a). We assume the parties’
famlharlty with the underlying facts, procedural history, and specification of issues for review.

On appeal, Brennerman argues: (1) there was insufficient evidence to convict him on the
conspiracy count, the substantive bank fraud count, and the substantive wire fraud count; (2) the
government made an impermissible constructive amendment to the indictment; (3) the search
warrant for Brennerman’s Las Vegas apartment was unlawful; (4) the admission of the testimony
of Julian Madgett violated Brennerman’s constitutional rights; (5) the district court erred by
applying a two-offense level enhancement for obstruction of justice, pursuant to U.S.S.G.

§ 3C1.1; and (6) the district court incorrectly determined the restitution amount.

L Sufficiency of the Evidence

A defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence bears a “heavy burden,” United
States v. Gaskin, 364 F.3d 438, 459 (2d Cir. 2004), as the standard of review is “exceedingly
deferential,” United States v. Hassan, 578 F.3d 108, 126 (2d Cir. 2008). Ultimately, “the task of
choosing among competing, permissible inferences is for the [jury], not for the reviewing court.”
United States v. McDermott, 245 F.3d 133, 137 (2d Cir. 2001).

Brennerman argues there was insufficient evidence to convict him of a conspiracy. He
argues the jury could not have adduced the existence of an agreement because the record does
not contain a single response from Peter Aderinwale, the purported co-conspirator with whom
Brennerman corresponded over email. His argument is both factually and legally flawed. First,
the record did contain two responsive emails from Aderinwale concerning draft emails to be sent
to ICBC as part of the scheme. Second, a response from an alleged co-conspirator following
conspiratorial communication is not legally necessary to establish the existence of a conspiracy.
We agree with the government that a reasonable jury could infer the requisite intent from emails
in which Brennerman solicited Aderinwale’s input on aspects of the fraud scheme and from
Brennerman’s transfer of substantial scheme proceeds to Aderinwale. These facts would have
supported the inference that Aderinwale was a co-conspirator, even in the absence of any email
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response from Aderinwale. The jury would have been entitled to infer that Aderinwale’s
responses had been conveyed over the phone or in person. “This is so because a conspiracy by its
very nature is a secretive operation, and it is a rare case where all aspects of a conspiracy can be
laid bare in court with the precision of a surgeon’s scalpel.” United States v. Pitre, 960 F.2d
1112, 1121 (2d Cir. 1992) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Thus, viewing the
evidence in the light most favorable to the government, we find there was sufficient evidence
from which the jury could have reasonably inferred the existence of a conspiracy.

Brennerman also argues that there was insufficient evidence that he intended to defraud
an institution insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) as required for
bank fraud, because most of the evidence offered at trial showed that he targeted the Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China’s London branch (“ICBC”), which is not FDIC-insured.
Contrary to Brennerman’s assertions, however, the record did establish that he defrauded
Morgan Stanley, an FDIC-insured institution, as part of his broader scheme by, among other
things, inducing it to issue him a credit card based on false representations about his citizenship,
assets, and the nature and worth of his company. Indeed, the government argued just this theory
on summation, asserting that Brennerman was guilty of bank fraud because “he engaged in a
scheme to defraud Morgan Stanley” through lies told to a Morgan Stanley employee, which were
“all part of an attempt to defraud an FDIC-insured institution.” App’x at 1709-10. Defense
counsel in summation also emphasized that Morgan Stanley was the sole FDIC-insured
institution involved. And the district court instructed the jury on the proper elements of bank
fraud, including the FDIC-insured institution element. Brennerman’s challenge, therefore, is
foreclosed by “the law’s general assumption that juries follow the instructions they are given,”
which applied here would indicate that the jury properly accounted for the evidence related to
Morgan Stanley when convicting Brennerman of the bank fraud count. United States v. Agrawal,
726 F.3d 235, 258 (2d Cir. 2013).

As to the wire fraud count, Brennerman argues there was insufficient evidence to
establish a domestic violation of the statute. “[W]ire fraud involves sufficient domestic conduct
when (1) the defendant used domestic mail or wires in furtherance of a scheme to defraud, and
(2) the use of the mail or wires was a core component of the scheme to defraud.” Bascusidn v.
Elsaca, 927 F.3d 108, 122 (2d Cir. 2019). We conclude that the evidence here was sufficient.
The record at trial established that Brennerman used domestic wires to carry out the fraudulent
scheme. Indeed, he concedes that he used telephone lines and email in the United States to make
fraudulent representations in furtherance of the scheme. In addition, the account to which ICBC
wired the loan money was a Citibank account within the United States, and Brennerman
subsequently moved that money to domestic accounts. This is precisely the kind of use of
domestic wires that we have held sufficient under the wire fraud statute. See, e.g., United States
v. Kim, 246 F.3d 186, 190 (2d Cir. 2001).

II. Constructive Amendment
An impermissible constructive amendment occurs only when the government’s proof and

the trial court’s jury instructions “modify essential elements of the offense charged to the point
that there is a substantial likelihood that the defendant may have been convicted of an offense
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other than the one charged by the grand jury.” United States v. Vebeliunas, 76 F.3d 1283, 1290
(2d Cir. 1996) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Brennerman contends that the government constructively amended counts one and two of
the indictment by proving a fraud against Morgan Stanley at trial—while the indictment,
especially the speaking part, focuses on the fraud against ICBC. We disagree. It is clear from the
indictment that the scheme against ICBC was merely one target of Brennerman’s alleged fraud.
The indictment alleged that Brennerman’s scheme in fact targeted “several financial institutions
around the world, including in the United States.” App’x at 39. It also specifically alleged that
Brennerman defrauded an FDIC-insured financial institution. The indictment did not limit the
proof only to Brennerman’s scheme against ICBC. While the indictment discusses ICBC activity
at length, it makes clear that those allegations are illustrations, asserting that “[bleginning in or
about January 2013, [Brennerman] made similar [false] representations to other financial
institutions in an effort to induce those institutions to provide financing to Blacksands Pacific
and Blacksands Alpha.” App’x at 42. At trial, the government offered evidence that Morgan
Stanley was one of those “other financial institutions.” See App’x at 608-09 (testimony of
Morgan Stanley’s Kevin Bonebrake about a January 2013 telephone call with Brennerman
discussing financing to develop oil asset). Thus, there was not a “a substantial likelihood that the
defendant may have been convicted of an offense other than the one charged by the grand jury.”
Vebeliunas, 76 F.3d at 1290.

111. Search Warrant

Brennerman challenges the lawfulness of the search warrant of his Las Vegas apartment.
Even assuming, for the sake of argument only, that the search warrant was unlawful, we
conclude that the good faith exception to the Fourth Amendment’s exclusionary rule would
apply. We therefore need not address the propriety of the search warrant. The district court found
that the law enforcement agents who executed the warrant reasonably relied on its terms in good
faith, and Brennerman has not challenged this finding. Where, as here, evidence is obtained by
police officers executing the search “in objectively reasonable reliance” on a warrant,
the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies. United States v. Falso, 544 F.3d 110,
125 (2d Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

'IV.  Testimony of Julian Madgett

Brennerman argues that Julian Madgett’s testimony at trial violated due process and his
Sixth Amendment rights to confrontation and compulsory process because he was unable to
obtain certain exculpatory personal notes from Madgett, and the government would not turn the
notes over or otherwise retrieve them from ICBC.

The government has an obligation under the Due Process Clause to make a timely
disclosure of any exculpatory or impeaching evidence that is material and in its possession. See
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); see also Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972).
Additionally, the Jencks Act provides that, “[a]fter a witness called by the United States has
testified on direct examination, the court shall, on motion of the defendant, order the United
States to produce any statement . . . of the witness in the possession of the United States which
relates to the subject matter as to which the witness has testified.” 18 U.S.C. § 3500(b).
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Brennerman’s argument claiming constitutional violations as a result of Madgett’s
testimony is without merit. The government’s discovery and disclosure obligations extend only
to information and documents in the government’s possession. United States v. Avellino, 136
F.3d 249, 255 (2d Cir. 1998) (explaining that the Brady obligation applies only to evidence “that
1s known to the prosecutor”). The government insists that every document it received from ICBC
was turned over to Brennerman and that it is not aware of the personal notes referenced by
Brennerman. Therefore, the government has not violated its disclosure obligation. Nor was the
government under any obligation under the Jencks Act to collect materials about M adgett that
were not in the government’s possession. See United States v. Bermudez, 526 F.2d 89,100 n.9
(2d Cir. 1975).

Even if the documents exist and are material and favorable, Brennerman never sought a
subpoena pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 17, never made a timely request for a
deposition under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 15, and never asked the district court to
issue letters rogatory pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1781 to obtain documentary evidence or secure
testimony from the United Kingdom where ICBC maintains its records. The only indication that
such documents are extant comes from Brennerman’s bare assertions.

V. Sentence

At sentencing, the court applied a two-offense level enhancement for obstruction of
justice, pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3C1.1, a finding that relied on, as an alternative basis,
Brennerman’s false representations in his bail applications to the court. Brennerman argues that
those misrepresentations cannot support an obstruction of justice enhancement because the
misstatements “were at most minimally connected to the offense conduct in this case and did not
obstruct the prosecution in any meaningful way.” Appellant’s Br. at 54. However, this argument
has already been rejected by our Court in United States v. Mafanya, 24 F.3d 412, 415 (2d Cir.
1994) (“Appellant’s false statement to a judicial officer (the magistrate judge) was an attempt to
obstruct justice. Therefore, the district court properly Applied the [Section 3C1.1] enhancement .
...”). Accordingly, the district court did not err in applying the enhancement.

VI. Restitution

The Mandatory Victims Restitution Act of 1996 (“MVRA”) provides that “[i]n each
order of restitution, the court shall order restitution to each victim in the full amount of each
victim’s losses as determined by the court and without consideration of the economic
circumstances of the defendant.” 18 U.S.C. § 3664(f)(1)(A). “[A]t sentencing, the government
bears the preponderance burden of proving actual loss supporting a restitution order.” United
States v. Rutigliano, 887 F.3d 98, 109 (2d Cir. 2018). “[W]e review a district court’s order of
restitution under the MVRA for abuse of discretion.” United States v. Zangari, 677 F.3d 86, 91
(2d Cir. 2012).

Brennerman argues that the district court improperly imposed restitution in the full
amount of the $5 million ICBC loan even though Brennerman had already made a payment of
$446,466.13. But the testimony at trial established that ICBC released approximately $4.4
million to Brennerman and the rest was used to finance loan servicing fees. The $446,466.13
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paid to ICBC by Brennerman was an interest-only payment that did not reduce the $5 million
principal owed. Therefore, ICBC’s loss of $5 million as a result of the fraud was supported, and
Brennerman points to nothing that undermines the district court’s finding.

We have considered the remainder of Brennerman’s arguments and find them to be
without merit. Accordingly, the judgment of the district court hereby is AFFIRMED.

FOR THE COURT:
Catherine O’Hagan Wolfe, Clerk
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE
SECOND CIRCUIT

At a stated term of the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, held at the
Thurgood Marshall United States Courthouse, 40 Foley Square, in the City of New York, on the
31% day of July, two thousand twenty.

United States of America,

Appellee,
v ORDER
Raheem Brennerman, AKA Jeferson R. Brennerman, Docket Nos: 18-3546 (Lead)
AKA Ayodeji Soetan, A 19-497 (Con)

Defendant - Appellant.

Appellant, Raheem Brennerman, filed a petition for panel rehearing, or, in the alternative,
for rehearing en banc. The panel that determined the appeal has considered the request for panel
rehearing, and the active members of the Court have considered the request for rehearing en banc.

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the petition is denied.

FOR THE COURT:
Catherine O'Hagan Wolfe, Clerk
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT .
- SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
-against- _ s o 17-cr-0155 (LAK)
RAHEEM BRENNERMAN, et ano., | USDC SDNY
Defendants. i‘ DOCUMENT
........................................... . | ELECTRONICALLY FILED
; DOC #:
- | , .
N - I DATE FILED:__ 9/ / 2017
MEMORANDUM AND ORDER . ?

LEWIS A, KAPLAN, District .Iudga :

Ddendauts move {or an order compelling ICBC (1 .ondon) ple (*ICBC™) to respond
to a trial sub poena dated August 22, 2017. The subpoena purports to be returnable on ‘Suptcmmr 7.
2017. The trial is to begin on September 6, 2017, 1ICBC opposes the motion ona number of grounds,
At present, however, it suffices to address only one.

: Defendants have not filed any conventional proof of service of the subpoena on ICBC.
Rather, their moving declaration relates only that (1) defendants” counsel had a number of
communications with Paul Hessler, Esq., who represents [CBC in the civil case in which (1) the orders
‘{hat defendants.are accused of violating contumaciously were entered and (ii) the government filed
the petition to hold defendants in criminal contempt, and (2) Mr. Hessler took the position that the

- ¢ivil case and this prosecution are separate cascs, that ICBC is not a party in this criminal case, and
that he is not authetized to accept service of a subpoenain this case. Defendants’ declaration attaches
as Exhibit B an email chain that mduaw; that defendants’ counsel provided a copy of the subpoena
to Mr. Hessler '

In opposing defendants’ motion, ICBC argues that it has not been, and could not be,

" served in this action. [ts argument in essence rests on the proposition that this criminal contempt
“proceeding and the eivil case in which ICBC is a plaintiff-judgment creditor (and in which
Mr. Hessler appears on its behalf) are entirely separate. Defendants, however, contend that service
on Mr. Hessler (assuming that emailing him a copy of the subpoena constituted service) was valid
bccaus{,, in view of this Court’s previous orders, this prosecution is part of the underlying civil case.

These opposing arguments in other circumstances might raise interesting questions in
' hg,iu of Um fact thal cumma} contempt proceedings occupy a unique position in our jurisprudence:

“A contempt pmcceciingis'sui generiy. 1tis coiminal in its nature, in that the party is
charged with doing something forbidden, and, if found guilty, is punished. Yetitmay
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[

be resorted to in eivii as well as criminal actions, and also independently of any civil
or criminal action.” Besseite v. W.B. C nnkey( 0., 194 .S, 324, 326 (1504),

But it is unnecessary for present-purposes to pro'bc the precisa boundaries here.

_ The fact that. Mr. Hessler is counsel to [CBC in the civil case would not make the
purported service on him (even if that purported service were sufficient, which it was not) effective
as to 1CBC regardless of the view taken of the fact that this proseculion was initiated by a petition
filed by the government in the civil case. Mr. Hessler is not the witness whose attendance. and the
production of whose documents, the subpoena seeks to compel, Even a party to a civil case who is
represented by counsel must be served personally with a subpoena. Service on a party’s lawyer is not
sufficient, Harrisonv. Prather, 404 F.2d 267, 273 (5th Cir. 1968) (service of subpoena on lawyer for
party insufficient); Cadlerook Joint Venture, L.P. v. Addon Fruits & Vegetables, Inc., No. 09-cv-2507
{(RRM), 2010 WL, 2346283, at *3 (E.DN.Y. Apr. 21, 2010) (“service . . . on plaintiff's counsel, as
opposed to personal service on plaintiff, .. . improper’ ’) {citing Harr zmn), Aristocrat Leisure Lid. v.
Deutsche Bank Trust Co. Ams., 262 F.R.D. 293, 304 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (“Unlike service of most
litigation papers, service on an individual's lawyer will not suffice.”); I re Smith, 126 F.R.D. 461,
462 (E.DNY. 1969 (“service of subpoena on plaintiff’s counsel, as opposed to personal service on
plaintift, . . . improper™) (citing Harrison), 9A CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT, £T AL., FLDERAL PRACTICE
AND PROCEDURE: CIvIL § 2454 (3d ed. 2017 update) (same); se¢ Khachikian v. BASF Corp., No. 91-
ev-0573 (NPM), 1994 WL 86702, at *1 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 4, 1994). The relevant language of the
criminal rule is substantially idertical.! And defendants’ application would be denied even if one
were 1o pass over that rather obvious point.

Rule 17(d) of the Rules of Criminal Procedure provides for service of subpocnas in
criminal cases. It states inrelevant part: “A marshal, a deputy marshal, or any nonparty who is at least
18 years old may serve a subpoena. The server must deliver a copy of the subpoena to the witness
and must tender to the witness on¢ day’s witness-attendance fee and the legal mileage allowance.”
Rule 17(e) governs the permissible place of service, and clause (2) pzcwldus that “[i}f the witness is
in a foreign country, 28 U.S.C. § 1783 governs the subpoena’s service.” Rule 45 of the Federal Rules
of Civil Procedure, which provides for the service of subpoenas in civil cases, is to exactly the same
effect, as Rule 45(b)(3) is substantively identical to Criminal Rule 17(e}(2). Thus, regardless of
whether this criminal contempt proceeding is to be treated-—{for purposes of service of subpoenas—as
part of the underfying civil case or as a separate criminal case. the bottom line is that the availability
and service of a subpoenaona w:tuz,ss omslde the United States is controlled by Section 1783 of the
Judicial C ode.

‘ v - Section 1783(a) authorizes a district court to issue a subpocna to “anational or resident
of the United States who is in a foreign country.” Section 1783(b) goes on to provide in relevant pari:

Fed. R. Critm. P. 17 provides that “[t}he scrver must deliver a copy of the subpoena to the
witness.” Fad, R. Civ. P. 45(!}) (n pmwdu; that “{s]crving a subpoena requm,s delivering
a copy to the named person.”
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“Service of the subpoena and any order to show cause, rule, judgment, or decree
authorized by this section . . . shall be effected in accordance with the provisions of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure relating to service of process on a person in a
foreign country. The person serving the subpoena shall tender to the person to whom
the subpoena is addressed his estimated necessary travel and attendance expenses, the
amount of which shall be determined by the court and stated in the order directing the
issuance of the subpoena.” '

I this case, defendants did not seek, and this Court did not issue. an order authorizing
the issuance of this mbpocna 2 Nor would the Court authorize its issuance nunc pro func because it
is undis putud that ICBC is *a foreign bank located approximately 3,500 miles from the courthouse.”
DI 69. 1t is not “a national of the United States who is in a foreign country.” Accordingly,
Section §783(a) does not authorize issuance of a subpoena to it. See Aristocrat Leisure, 262 F R.D.
at 305; United Siares v. Korolkov, 870 F. Supp. 60, 65 (S.D.N.Y. 1994) (citing Fed. R. Crim. P.
17(e)(2),28 U.S.C. § 1783, and Umfea’S/am.s v, Joht?pw’/ 739[ 2d 702,709 {”d Cir. 1984)); accord
WRIGHT, supra, § 2462.

For the f()rui()ing reasons, defendants’ motion to compel ICBC {D1 59} to respond o
the subpoena dated August 22, 201 7 is denied in all lespectﬁ

SO ORDERED.

Dated: September 1, 2017

/s/- Lewis A, Kaplan

- Lewis A Kap!zm
Umted States Dzsirici ?udgp

Lok

The Clerk of Court ordinarily provides to counsel, on request, signed and sealed subpoena
forms with counsel feft to fill in the name of the witness and perhaps the date and time of
the required appearance. The Court assumes that is unobjectionable where the witness
subpoenaed is in the United Statés. Section 1783(b), however, reters explicitly to an “order
dirceting the issuance of the subpoena.” Thus, the issuance of a t} 1783 subpoena is
appropriate only upow a judicial order.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case. No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS)

V- ECF Case

RAHEEM J. BRENNERMAN,

Defendant.

DEFENDANT’S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN RESPONSE TO
GOVERNMENT’S MOTION IN LIMINE

Maranda E. Fritz
Brian D. Waller
Brian K. Steinwascher
Thompson Hine LLP
335 Madison Avenue, 12th Floor
New York, New York 10017
Telephone: (212) 344-5680

Counsel for Defendant Raheem Brennerman

4846-6455-4324
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This memorandum is submitted in response to the Government’s motion i limine
seeking pretrial rulings on the admissibility of certain evidence.

The Government puts forth inconsistent juétiﬁcations for what evidence should and
should not be admitted, essentially arguing that any evidence that supports the allegations of the
Indictment is admissible and any evidence supporting Mr. Brennerman’s defense is inadmissible.
But one aspect of the Government’s motion is consistent throughout: the Government contends
that Mr. Brennerman’s criminal conduct was “completed” when he provided financial
- institutions with allegedly misleading information in connecﬁon with obtaining financing for the
Cat Canyon oil field transaction.

Speciﬁcally, according to the Governm‘ent’s'own théory of the case, the Court need not
admit evidence pertaining to anything that took place after Mr. Brennerman’s alleged
misrepresentations to obtain financing: “[Mr. Bfennerman’s] crimes weré complete, before he
obtained any funds on the basis of his fraud, when he deprived his victims of the accurate
information they nééded to properly assess the risk of lending the defendant money.” Gov’t
Mot. at 21 (emphasis added). According td the'Governmen't, it is irrelevént whether Mr.
Brennerman (i) éctually obféined thé ﬁnahcing he requested (e. g, it is‘irrelevan-t that ICBC
(London) plc (“ICBC (London)”) oniy agreéd to provide a bfidge loan, .but not to finance the
transacﬁon ‘itself; and that Morgan Stanley was not asked to provide financing in any form); or
(1) intended to pay back the loan he received from ICBC (London). | |

Given the Governmeﬁt’s positibn, the Court should not delve Iintd whether post-conduct
evidence is admissible on other grounds, sﬁch as for res gestae purposes or under F.R.E. 404(b).
The Government has conveniently constructed a limited framework for the crimes alleged in the

Indictment. Mr. Brennerman’s alleged scheme to defraud — supporting the bank and wire fraud

-1
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counts and the

overarching conspiracy count — turns entirely on Mr. Brennerman’s alleged

misrepresentations to ICBC (London) (and to a lesser extent, Morgan Stanley) in order to obtain

financing for the Cat Canyon oil field transaction.

In any event, even under a more expansive view of the alleged criminal conduct, the

Government fails to present any convincing basis for the admission or exclusion of the evidence

identified in its motion:

APPENDIX F

The Government’s attembt to introduce evidence relating to the civil litigation
and contempt proceeding against Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc. (“Blacksands”),
is utterly irrelevant to the criminal charges against Mr. Brennerman personally.
Further, it would create an entire trial-within-a-trial, and the Government
effectively would be re-litigating a separate, civil case — with its lower standard of
proof — in an attempt to show tangential issues such as Mr. Brennerman’s
supposed consciousness of criminal guilt. Such evidence is also impermissibly
prejudicial to Mr. Brennerman.

The Government’s position that none of the actions taken by ICBC (London) with
respect to granting the bridge loan are relevant is cdntrary to its above argument,
i.e., that the bank’s actions are necessary to show Mr. Brennerman’s state of
mind. Moreover, the Government ignores that such evidence is necessary and
admissible on the issue éf materiality, and that excluding evidence concerning the
actions or inactions of ICBC (London) would be patently unfair to Mr.
Brennerman because he would bé incapable of effectively cross-examining the

bank’s witnesses at trial.

062a
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. The Government also inconsistently argues that Mr. Brennerman’s state of mind —
mncluding whether he believed he had furnished all material information to the
bank, was using the loan proceeds appropriately, aﬂd planned to pay them back —
is inadmissible, despite arguing that other post-loan conduct is relevant to show
his state of mind in other situations. But if some of Mr. Brennerman’s actions are
relevant to showing his state of mind with respect to his guilt, his other actions
that evidence his state of mind are also admissible. Alternatively, none of Mr.
Brennerman’s post-loan conduct should be admitted.

o . The Government creates a strawman by asserting that Mr. Brennerman should be
precluded from calling any attention to the Government’s investigation (or lack
thereof) in this case because i;[ ihvites Jury nullification. Yet Mr. Brennerman has <t
never suggestéd, let alone argued, that he intends to seek nullification. And courts . -
consistently recognize that a defendant ié pérmitted to point out to the jury the
absence of evideﬁce subporting the Government’s charges, which is precisely
what Mr. Brennerrﬁan seeks to do with respect to the Go§emmént’s lack of an
.invesfigation agaiﬁst him or Blacksands. o

The Government’s motion ié Both misplaced and mefitless, and the Court should decline

to rule in the Government’s favor on aﬁy of ‘thes‘e issues.
ARGUMENT

I.  THE ONLY RELEVANT, ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE PERTAINS TO MR.
BRENNERMAN’S REPRESENTATIONS TO THE ALLEGED VICTIM BANKS

The Government has confirmed that ICBC (London) and Md_rgan Stanley are the only

financial institutions that Mr. Brennerman allegedly defrauded — and that ICBC (London) is the
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only one from which he oi)tained money. And the Government now clearly has circumscribed
the scope of the fraudulent scheme allegedly perpetrated by Mr. Brennerman:

By intentibnally' depfivjing his victims [ICBC (London) aﬁd Mdrgan Stanléy] of

material information, Brennerman intentionally harmed lenders and potential

lenders. His crimes were complete, before he obtained any funds on the basis of

his fraud, when he deprived his victims of the accurate information they needed to

properly assess the risk of lending the defendant money.

Gov’t Mot. at 21 (efnphasis added). In other words, according to the Government, the conduct
relevant to the crimes charged in the Indictment ended with Mr. Brennerman’s representations to
ICBC (London) and Morgan Stanley. Nothing that occurred after those representations —
ipcluding how Mr. Brennerman purportedly used the bridge loan proceeds from ICBC (London),
his failure to repay the loan, or any subseqﬁent litigation or related proceedings between
Blacksands and ICBC (London) ~1is negesséry to prove the elements of the crimes charged in the
Indictment.

Thus, according to the Government’s own argument, this Court need not admit any such
evidence. The Government’s entire case turns on the veracity and materiality of Mr.
Brennerman’s representations to these financial institutions, and whether he had the requisite
intent to defraud them at that time. Any conduct that followed these fepresentations 1s simply
irrelevant to the crirﬁes charged and. thus not admissible under F.R.E. 401. F of this reasdn, the
Government should not be permitted to admit any evidenc.e. pertaining to the sﬁbsequent, civil
lawsuit filed bvaCBC (London) and the related civil contempt proceeding because it is neither
direct evidence of the representations Mr. Brennerman made to the bank nor otherwise |

admissible under F.R.E. 404(b) because it fails to show Mr. Brennerman’s state of mind, intent,

or consciousness of guilt with respect to those previously made representations. Nor is such
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evidence necessary to “complete the story at trial” since, according to the Government, the
“story” ends with Mr. Brennerman’s representations to ICBC (London) and Morgan Stanley.!

IL THE GOVERNMENT’S ARGUMENTS FOR THE ADMISSIBILITY OR
EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN EVIDENCE ARE UNSUPPORTED BY LAW

A. There Is No Basis to Admit Evidence of Blacksands’ Failure to Comply With
Court Orders

Despite deiineating a narrow framework for the conduct relevant to the crimes charged in
the Indictment, the Government asserts that the failure of Mr. Brennerman’s company,
Blacksands, to comply with court orders in a civi/ litigation and related civil contempt
proceeding are evidence of his consciousness of criminal guilt.

As a threshold matter, the Government cites not a single case in support of such a
proposition. And the cases the Government does rely upon do not even deal with the
admissibility of evidence, but rather with post-trial motions regarding the sufficiency of evid.ence '
— an analytically distinct cbnc_ept that has no bearing on whether the Federal Rules of Evidence
permit the admission of the specific type of evidence identiﬁed by the Government.2 Moreover,
these cases deal with conduct specifically targeted at concealing ill-gotten gains, tyi)ically
through money laundering. See, e.‘g,, United States v. Silver, 117 F. Supp. 3d 461, 473 (SD.N.Y.
2015) (money-laundering), cited by Gév’t Mot. at 8. This type of conduct is utterly dissimilar to
Blacksands’ failure to comply with court orders to produce documents — which, as the

Government is aware, occurred for myriad reasons including issues with Blacksands’ legal

I Similarly, the Government should not be permitted to introduce any emails or other
communications made by Mr. Brennerman or anyone else at Blacksands that occurred
subsequent to the representations made to the two financial institutions identified by the
Government.

2 See Gov’t Mot. at 8 (citing United States v. Rosen, 716 F.3d 691, 701 (2d Cir. 2013) (resolving
post-trial motion directed to sufficiency of evidence); United States v. Zichetello, 208 F.3d 72,
105 (2d Cir. 2000) (same)). ‘
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representation. It would require not just one but several inferential leaps to equate Blacksands’
failure to abide by court orders, related to post-judgment discovery issues under the more lenient
civil burden of proof, to the egregious attempts to conceal funds through money laundering in the
cases relied upon by the Government. Thus, even assuming that the evidence of Blacksands’
failure to comply with court orders in a civil proceeding is arguably relevant to establishing
consciousness of criminal guilt — which it is not — such evidence is certainly more prejudicial
than probative and should be excluded under F.R.E. 403.

Nor 1s evidence of Blacksands’ conduct in a subsequent éivil litigation necessary to
“complete the story” of Mr. Brennerman’s alleged crimes. As already noted supra, the “story”
the Government intends to present is that the alleged criminal conduct was completed at the
point of Mr. Brennerman’s representations to ihe financial institutions to obtain financing. -
Blacksands’ noﬁ—compliance with court orders 1n a subsequent ci{Ii] matter does nothing to help’
tell the story of Mr. Brennerman;s representations to those banks.: Either Mr. Brennerman’s
representations were false, :material, and made with the intent to.de.fraud at the time they were 3
made or they were not - Blaéksand35 subsequent conduct is irrele\‘/ant -to esfablishing those facts.

-F inally, in addition to all tﬁese evidentiary inﬁrmities associated with evidence of
Blacksands’ cond;lct in the subseque;nt civil .litigation, introducing such evidence would
effectively give rise to a tfial-within-a—tﬁal. The Government would attempt td portray
Blacksandé’ and Mr. Brennérrnan;s conduct>in tﬁ:é éi\‘/il litigation. as evidenc.ev of criminal intent,
despitevthé differing standards of proof. Aha Mr. Bre;lnennén .wo;uld'-be forced to pfésent a
defense not only to the criminal charges against him But also to the allegatidﬁs in the civil action
and the basis for tile civil éontémpt proceeding. The Court would need to rﬁake evidentiary

rulings on those issues as welvl, which would likely entail additional 1irﬁiting or ciarifying
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mstructions to the jury. For this additional reaeon, to avoid any unnecessary complication —
which pertains to evidence that has only the smallest, if any, probatlve value — the Court should
deny the Government’s motion to introduce evidence related to the ClVll litigation or civil
contempt proceeding. |

B. The Governmen.t Should Only Be Permitted to Introduce Properly

Authenticated Emails of Blacksands’ Employees or Agents Relevant to
Representations to the Financial Institutions

The Government seeks to introduce emails from Blacksands’ email accounts that were
sent to various “victims,” apparently in furtherance of the alleged scheme to defraud. In line
with the Government defining the alleged crimes as being completed at the point Mr.
Brennerman made representations to the financial institutions in order to obtain funds, any
emails not probative of or concerning that conduct should be excluded. %
Furthermore, the Government seeks to introduce these emails as statements of Mr. e
Brennerman himself as either ““made by the party in an individual or representative capacity.’”
Gov’t Mot. at 12 (quoting F.R.E. 801(d)(2)(A)). But the Government then asserts that these 4
email accounts were “fictitious,” and that the Government cannot supply witnesses to 3
authenticate who authored these emails. The Court should therefore exclude any emails tﬁat are
not authored by Mr. Bfennerman that the Government cannot authenticate otherwise. See F.R.E.
901.
C. Mr.> Brennerman Should Be Able fo Introduce Evidence Both With Respect

to His Interactions with the Financial Institutions and His Intent With
Respect to the Loan

The Government seeks to exclude any evidence that would support a defense to the
charges in the Indictment, including the preclusion of evidence pertaining to ICBC (London)’s
interaction with Mr. Brennerman and its decision to extend him a bridge loan, as well as any

evidence demonstrating Mr. Brennerman’s intent, or lack thereof, to defraud. The Government’s
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position is both unsupported by the law it relies on and, more importantly, would severely
hamper Mr. Brennerman’s ability to put forth any meaningful and constitutionally adequate
defense.

The Government’s basis for excluding evidence of ICBC (London)’s internal
deliberations and decision-making with respect to extending financing to Mr. Brennerman is that
it supposedly amounts to nothing more than a “blame the victim” defense, which the
Government contends is impermissible. But the Government ignores the fact that this evidence
from ICBC (London) is critical to other contested issues in this case — including materiality and
Mr. Brennerman’s state of mind. Indeed, the Government acknowledges that the state of mind
and/or knowledge of both Mr. Brennerman and his alleged victims is an important consideration -
justifying the admission of other evidence. See, e.g., Gov’t Mot. at 10 (contending that failure to 3.
disclose documents relevant to showing Mr. Brennerman’s state of mind); id. at 21 (noting
importance of determining what infdrmation financial institutions received from Mr.
Brennerman “to properly assess the risk of lending [him] money”).

Equally, if not more, important is that the Government intends to call at least one witness
from ICBC (London) and Morgan Stanley to testify at trial. See Gov’t Witness List; see also
Gov’t Mot. at 10-11 (noting that the Government intends to call “a witness from ICBC who is
expected to testify at trial regardless of the Court’s ruling on” the issue of the subsequent ICBC
(London) civil litigation). Thué, it appears the Government intends to examine witnesses from
the fméncial institutions Wit_h respect to their dealings witH Mr. Brenﬁerman, but does not want
the defense to be able tb introduce any evidence that would demonstrate that the representations
Mr. Brennerman made to eitﬁer ICBC (London) or Morgan Stanley were accurafe or immaterial

or done without any intent to defraud.
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It would be contrary to settled law, let alone a defendant’s constitutional rights, to
preclude Mr. Brennerman from offering or attempting to adduce evidence that would negate any
attempt to defraud or would demonstrate his good faith. Appellate courts routinely grant a
defendant wide latitude in réising such a defense in fraud cases, and find that trial court’s abuse
their discretion when excluding evidence, however minimally probative, that would demonstrate
the defendant’s intent. For example, faced with a situation in which the trial court in a bank
fraud case excluded a piece of evidence probative of the defendant’s intent — “Exhibit C,” which
was a financial statement in the defendant’s file reflecting the defendant’s representations to a
bank — the Eighth Circuit held that:

[T]he district court abused its discretion in excluding Exhibit C. We agree that

- Exhibit C, which was in the bank’s possession and contained in the defendant’s

lending file, was relevant to the requisite element of intent to defraud. Exhibit C

was also probative of the defendant’s good faith defense. Good faith constitutes a

complete affirmative defense to a charge of fraudulent intent. Moreover, Exhibit

C was not unfairly prejudicial to the government. During its case in chief, the

government offered three financial statements prepared by outside sources.

Although Exhibit C can be construed as internally inconsistent, [the defendant]

should have been allowed an opportunity to explain the inconsistencies to the

Jury. Because [the defendant’s] intent to defraud was a material issue at trial, we

conclude that the district court’s exclusion of Exhibit C constituted reversible

error, and we remand for a new trial.

United States v. Mulder, 147 F.3d 703, 707 (8th Cir..1998) (emphasis added); see also United
States v. Certified Envil: Servs., 753 F.3d 72, 90 (2d Cir. 2014) (“While evidentiary rulings are
reviewed for abuse of discretion, the question of the defendants’ intent and good faith was a
contested issue in this case, and the definition of relevance under F RE 401 is very broad. On

review, we find that the district court abused its discretion in finding that the proffered evidence

[relating to the defendant’s intent] was temporally irrelevant.”).3

3 Similarly, in the context of approving jury instructions relating to intent and good faith, the
Second Circuit has approved the followmg language:
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Evidence of the conduct by ICBC (London) and Morgan Stanley also is necessary to
establish materiality. Materiality is an objective standard, but one that still must be analyzed in
the context of the transactions at issue. See Um’ted States v. Weaver, 860 F.3d 90, 94 (2d Cir.
2017) (““[M]ateriality looks to the .effect on the likely or actual behavior of the recipient of the

29

alleged misrepresentation.’”) (citation omitted; emphasis added); United States v. Corsey, 723
F.3d 366, 373-74 (2d Cir. 2013) (assessing materiality and nature of alleged fraudulent
misrepresentation based on testimony from the victim, and explaining that “the initial
misrepresentation remains material; a reasonable jury could find that a promise of five billion
dollars in collateral could persuade Re, his colleagues, and reasonable lenders to make a three-
billion-dollar loan™). Thus, the Government is incorrect when it asserts that the actions ICBC
(London) or Morgan Stanley undertook following Mr. Brennerman’s representations are
irrelevant; to the contrary, that evidence is necessary to prove or disprove an essential element of
the bank and wire fraud charges, i.e., whether those representations were material.

Therefore, not only is the evidence the Government seeks to exclude relevant and
admissible, excluding it runs counter to well-established law and would violate Mr.
Brennerman’s constitutional right to assert a meaningful defense at trial. As the Second Circuit

has stated, it “is rarely proper to cut off completely a probative inquiry that bears on a feasible

defense.” United States v. Harvey, 547 F.2d 720, 723 (2d Cir. 1976); see also United States v.

Because an essential element of the crime charged is an intent to defraud, it
follows that good faith on the part of the defendant is a complete defense to this
charge. Each of the defendants contends that she had a good faith belief in the
program and that she believed that what she told investors was true.... However/]
misleading or deceptive a plan may be, it is not fraudulent if it was devised or
carried out in good faith.

United States v. Dupre, 462 F.3d 131, 139 (2d Cir. 2006) (emphasis added); see also United
States v. Pascarella, 84 F.3d 61, 70-71 (2d Cir. 1996) (approving jury instructions that defendant
should not be convicted of bank fraud if defendant actually believed checks were not stolen).

10
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Foster, 982 F.2d 551, 555 (D.C. Cir. 1993) (Ginsburg, J.) (“If the evidence is crucial, the judge
would abuse his discretion in excluding it.”’) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted;
emphasis in original). The Government’s motion should be denied as to this request as well.

D. Mr. Brennerman Should Be Permitted to Address Whether the Government
Obtained and Presented Evidence Sufficient to Convict

The Government confusingly raises a strawman by arguing that Mr. Brennerman should
not be permitted to argue for jury nullification based on the Government’s investigative efforts or
techniques. At no point has Mr. Brennerman suggested, let alone argued, that he will pursue a
jury nullification strategy; nor would he. Thus, the Government’s argument in this regard is
misplaced.

In any event, the defense should be permitted to address the Government’s investigation,
and the evidence produced therefrom and introduced at trial, to argue whether or not the
Government has met its burden of establishing every element of the crimes charged in the
Indictment beyond a reasonable doubt —'including commenting on whether the Government
failed to introduce specific evidence — Which.has long been recognized as an appropriate form of
argument by the defense. See, e.g., United States v. Preldakaj, 456 F. App’x 56, 60 (2d Cir.
2012) (noting with approval fhe district court’s instmétion “that reasonable doubt may arise out
of the evideﬁce or the lack of evidence in the case™) (intemal quotatioh marks and citation
omitted), decision reached on appeal by, remanded by, 489 F. App’x 507 (2d Cir. 2012); see
also United States v. Hojﬁnan, 964 F.2d 21, 26 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (“It is permissible for a defense
attorney to point out to the jury that no ﬁngefprint e\./idence has'been intfoduced and fo argue
that the absence of such evidence weakens the Government’s case . . . .”); United States v.

Latimer, 511 F.2d 498, 502-03 (10th Cir. 1975) (same but with respect fo survéillance tapes).

11
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Government’s motion should be denied in its entirety.

Dated: New York, New York
November 9, 2017
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INTRODUCTION

The Government respectfully submits these motions in limine seeking the following

pretrial rulings with respect to the upcoming trial of defendant Raheem J. Brennerman:

1.

Evidence of the defendant’s failure to comply with court orders and withholding of
documents and information relating to his finances and the finances of The Blacksands
Pacific Group, Inc. (“Blacksands”) from ICBC (London) plc (“ICBC”), one of the victim
banks, is admissible. '

Emails -purportedly sent by employees of Blacksands, the defendant’s company, are
admissible as the defendant’s own statements or as statements of his employees and agents.

Defense arguments that the victim banks failed to conduct sufficient diligence, were
negligent, or otherwise acted unreasonably in relying on the defendant’s

misrepresentations are improper.

Defense arguments that the defendant lacked intent to defraud because he intended to repay
fraudulently-obtained proceeds are improper.

Defense arguments relating to the Government’s initiation of investigations related to the
defendant, charging decisions, and reasons for charging the defendant are Improper.

BACKGROUND!

Brennerman is charged in a four-count indictment with conspiracy to commit bank and

wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349 (Count One); bank fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C.

§ 1344 (Count Two); wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Count Three); and visa fraud,

in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1546(a) (Count Four).

! The Government currently plans to offer in its case-in-chief evidence relating to the following
events and materials, without prejudice to its ability to offer additional proof at trial and
irrespective of whether in /imine rulings are currently being sought with respect to evidence,
information, and materials described in this submission.
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At trial, the evidence will show that as part of the multi-year schemes to defraud charged
in Counts One, Two, and Three, Brennerman lied to banks and other potential investors in
connection with efforts to obtain large loans for himself and Blacksands, the purported oil and gas
company he controlled. The defendant sought to entice potential lenders and investors through
misrepresentations relating to, among other things, his background and experience, the assets and
operations of Blacksands and related entities, intended uses of loan and investment proceeds, and,
in particular, the status of negotiations relating to the acquisition of the Cat Canyon oil field in
Santa Barbara, California.

On the basis of these and other falsehoods, Brennerman asked ICBC for $600 million to
acquire the oil field, and made similar requests to Morgan Stanley and others. For instance,
Brennerman made misrepresentations about: Blacksands’s daily oil production (he claimed it
produced 17,500 barrels per day in 2012); its proved and prospective oil reserves (he claimed it
had 156.62 million in proved reserves); its revenue and operating expeﬁses (he said “net income
revenues” were $87,337,000 in 2012); the existence and value of its assets (he claimed to have
assets in, among other places, the Gulf of Mexico, North Dakota, and California); the existence of
its offices and empldyeés (he sent emails from employees that did not exist); its planned use of
loan and investment money (Brennerman said it would be used for the Cat Canyon project); and
even about Brennerman’s background and education (he falsely claimed he was a native New
Yorker and a graduate of Columbia University). In late 2013, to secure a $20 mﬂlioﬁ Bridge loan
from ICBC, Brennerman fal.sely répresented that Blacksands had an agreement to acquire the Cat
Canyoh oilfield, and signedva loan agreement requiring that the proceeds of the loan be used for

the oilfield acduisition.
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The representations made by Brennerman to ICBC and other financial institutions were
false. The evidence will show that Blacksands did not have any oil production or assets in the
United Stétes. Blacksands never owned the particular oil fields that Brennerman told investors
were the company’s assets. Bank récbrds and Brennerman’s own internal ledgers show that the
company did not have the multi-million dollar annual income he claimed. Rather, almost all
Brennerman’s income constituted loan proceeds procured by fraud, and even those tainted funds
did not amount to nearly the revenue source that he described to potential victims. Brennerman
also went to great lengths to make Blacksands appear to be more than the empty shell it was.
Brennerman invented fake employees by the names of “Mike Kelly,” “Michael Sloanes,” and
“Annisa Rodriguez.” H¢ created email accounts for th.eée fake employees, wrote emails in their
names, and subscribed their nalﬁeé to docu;ments. He misappropriated the names, resumes, and
credentials of other people who worked in the oil industry, and misrepresented them as employees
of Blacksands in materials he sent to potenti'al victims, vBlacksands paid the company Regus to
use mailing addresses in New York, Los Angeles, ahd Texas, and a telephone answering service
to disguise the fact that Brennerman was operating his purported oil company, which he falsely
maintained had global feach and far-flung assets on multiple contiﬁénts, from his apartment in Las
Vegas, Nevada. Blacksénds’s acquisition of the Cat Canyon oil ficld was never imminent or close
to being realiéed, as Brennerman had told the victim 'lbanks. Instead, the evidence at trial will show
that the seller of the oil ﬁeid, ERG, did not take Brenhermaﬁ seriously and suspécted he did not
have the funds to buy the ol ﬁeld.' The evideﬁce will also .show that once Brennermaﬁ got the $20
million bridge loan from ICBC, he worked with his éo-conspirator in the United Kingdom, Peter

Aderinwale, to obscure the source and intended purpose of the loan by moving the funds through
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multiple bank accounts and ultimately used them on personal expenses like hotel, airfare, clothing,
wine, and expensive watches.

While Brenhermém’s approach succeeded with ICBC, he did not fare as well with Morgan
Stanley. In or about January 2013, Brennerman communicated with Scott Stout, a financial analyst
in Morgan Stanley’s wealth rhanagement department, about opening an account. Brennerman
identified himself as an oil and gas executive at Blacksands, estimated his net worth at $45 million,
and told Stout that in 2012, Blacksands had revenues of approximately $643 million and earnings
of approximately $189 million. Brennerman then broached the possibility of Morgan Stanley
providing financing for Blacksands, and for the Cat Canyon deal in particular. Throughout 2013,
Brennerman engaged with various employees of Morgan Stanley about obtaining financing for the
Cat Canyon deal. In the process, he misrepresented his own background, the scope of Blacksands’s
assets and business, and the state of his efforts to acquire Cat Canyon. Brennerman, however,
resisted Morgan Stanley’s due diligence réquests, and Morgan Stanley raised concerns to
Brennerman about its inability to find any information about Blacksands or the people who
purportedly worked there, Brennermaﬁ’s lack of external contacts, and his failure to provide
financial statements. Ultimately, Morgan Stanley did not provide financing to Brennerman or
Blacksands.

In addition to écheming to defraud financial institutions, Brennerman made similar
misrepresentations about his business to United States immigration authérities in connection with
his 2012 application for an L1 rﬁulti-national executive non-immigrant visa, as charged in Count
Four. Specifically, Brennerman’s visa applicétion claimed that Brennerman was a senior

executive for Blacksands, which he described, in substance, as a company with extensive business
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operations and assets in the United States and abroad. The visa application included a letter from
Aderinwale setting forth some of these fraudulent statements. Brennerman’s application also
contained false statements about his name and his national origin (he is from Nigeria, not the
United Kingdom, as he claimed on his visa application), and omitted the fact that he had previously
applied for a visa to the United States (from Nigeria). Specifically, in 2000 he was issued a B1/B2
visitor’s visa under the name Ayodeji Soetan, which listed his place of birth as Nigeria. Once
Brennerman procured this fraudulently-obtained L1 visa in 2012, he used it to, among other things,
obtain a Social Security card and a New York identification in Manhattan in December 2012. In
2013, Brennerman applied for an EB1 mu]ti-national executive immigrant visa, and in a 2014
interview related to that application, he made a series of similar false statements about his
background and his business. In 2015, Brennerman applied to extend his L1 visa and made
misrepresentations similar to those in his prior applications.

The defendant was arrested on April 19, 2017 in connection with a criminal contempt case
before Judge Lewis A. Kaplan. During a recordéd post-arrest statement, excerbts of which the
Government will offer at trial, the defendant admitted that Blacksands had—at most—{five
employees whom he struggled to identify, and made a series of false exculpatory statements
relating to the fraudulent schemes.? The defendant was arrested on this Indictment on May 31,

2017.

2 See United States v. Anderson, 747 F.3d 51, 60 (2d Cir. 2014) (observing that, along with
other evidence, “acts that exhibit ‘a consciousness of guilt, such as false exculpatory statements,’
may also tend to prove knowledge and intent of a conspiracy’s purpose” (citation omitted) (quoting
United States v. Gordon, 987 F.2d 902, 907 (2d Cir. 1993)). On the other hand, the defendant may
not introduce his own prior self-serving statements. See, e.g., United States v. Marin, 669 F.2d 73,
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DISCUSSION
I. Evidence of Brennerman’s and Blacksands’s Withholding of Financial Information from

ICBC in Violation of Court Orders is Admissible as Direct Proof of Fraud or,
Alternatively, Under Rule 404(b)

The Government moves to intro.ducé as direct proéf of the defendant’s fraudulent schemes,
or in the altemaﬁve pursuant to Rule 404(b), evidence of the defendant’s non-corhpliance with
court orders in the lawsuit ICBC (London) plc v. Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc., 15 Civ. 70
(LAK). In summary, the Government intends to offer evidence that:

* ICBC commenced a lawsuit to recover loan proceeds and related fees owed by Blacksands,
the defendant’s company;

® A judgment in the amount of approximately $5 million with interest and costs was entered
against the defendant’s company; and

e In the course of post-judgment discovery—in order to conceal the fraud Brennerman *had
perpetrated against ICBC—the defendant, through Blacksands, refused to comply with
(and at times lied in response to) Judge Kaplan’s discovery orders to turn over documents
and information relating to Blacksands’s assets.
A. Relevant Facts -
On December 8, 2014, ICBC commenced a lawsuit against Blacksands to recover
$5 million plus interest and attorneys’ fees, resulting from Blacksands’s failure to repay a loan that
the defendant obtained in connection with the fraudulent schemes charged in Counts One, Two,

and Three. Judge Kaplan granted ICBC’s motion for summary judgment on its claim, and the

Clerk of the Court entered judgment in favor of ICBC and agéinst Blacksands.

84 (2d Cir. 1982) (“When the defendant seeks to introduce his own prior statement for the truth of
the matter asserted, it is hearsay, and it is not admissible.”).
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ICBC served post-judgment discovery requests in an effort to locate assets that could have
satisfied the judgment. The defendant stonewalled ICBC and ICBC moved to compel discovery
responses. On August 22, 2016, Judge Kaplan granted ICBC’s motion and directed Blacksands to
comply fully with the outstanding discovery requests within fourteen days of the order.
Blacksands failed to comply with the order. On September 27, 2016, Judge Kaplan entered a
second order finding that Blacksands had not complied with the first order, and directing

‘Blacksands to pay the judgment or comply fully with the discovery requests by October 3, 2016.

Blacksands did not comply with Judge Kaplan’s order, and ICBC moved to hold
Blacksands in civil contempt. In October 2016, Judge Kaplan granted the motion and imposed
coercive sanctions. | On November 4 and 11, 2016, the defendant sﬁbmitted partial discovery
responses that claimed, among other things, that Blacksands was no longer operating and therefore
could not produce documents. The defendant also provided ICBC with a collection of documents
that were not responsive to the requests for information about Blacksands’s finances, including
draft commercial leases and incorporation documents.

On December 7, 2016, ICBC moved to hold Brennerman in civil contempt and to impose
coercive sanctions on him personally. Judge Kaplan held Brennerman in civil contempt, and to
date, neither Brennerrﬁan nor Blacksands has complied with the discovery orders, or paid the

judgment or sanction awards.?

3 On September 12, 2017, the defendant was convicted of criminal contempt in a separate
case pending before Judge Kaplan, United States v. Brennerman, 17 Cr. 155 (LAK). The
Government does not intend to introduce evidence of that conviction in its case-in-chief,
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B. Applicable Law

A defendant’s efforts to conceal his conduct is admissible as direct proof of the defendant’s
consciousness of guilt. See, e.g., United States v. Rosen, 716 F.3d 691, 702 (2d Cir. 2013)
(defendant’s “failure to disclose . . . consulting agreements evidenced either (1) a deliberate
attempt to conceal a éorrupt relatidnship ... or (2) consciousness of guilt”), abrogation recognized
on other grounds by United States v. Silver, 864 F.3d 102 (2d Cir. 201 7), cert. pet. filed, Dkt. No.
17-562 (Oc.:t. 13, 2017); United States v. Zichettello, 208 F.3d 72, 105 (2d Cir. 2000) (defendant’s
“strong intentions to conceal the scheme” was “evidenc[e] [of] consciousness of guilt”); United
States v. Deutsch, 451 F.2d 98, 118 (2d Cir. 1971) (“[T]he use of nominee names evidenced a
desire to conceal the transaction, from which the jury could infer consciousness of guilt.”).

Courts have specifically recogl;ized that efforts to conceal ill-gotten gains may be offered
as difect proof that the defendant was conscious of his guilt. United States v. Silver, 117 F. Supp.
3d 461, 473 (S..D.N.Y. 2015) (“Evidence that Silver went to lengths to conceal his allegedly ill-

gotten gains is . . . evidence of Silver’s consciousness of guilt regarding his allegedly fraudulent

and extortionate activities.”), vacated on other grounds by 864 F.3d 102 (2d Cir. 2017); see also - *

United States v. Schultz, 333 F.3d 393, 416 (2& Cir. 2003) (reasdning that “effort to conceal
property” can “indicate[] a consciousness that [defendant’s] éctions were .illegal in some way”’),
Evidence of criminal activity that is not chargeci in the iﬁdictrﬁent is ﬁof considered “other
crimes.” evidence under Rule 404(b) “if it arose voubt‘ of the same tr;ﬁsaction or serie§ of transactions
as the charged offenée, if it is inéxfricably intertwined with t};é evidence regérding the chafged
offense, or. ifit ié necesé'afy to éorﬁplefe the s‘t‘ory‘of the crime on trial.” ..United States v. Carboni,

204 F.3d 39, 44 (2d Cir. 2000). Under Rule 404(b), evidence of an uncharged crime may be
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admissible, amdng other reasons, to prove a defendant’s knowledge. Fed. R. Evid. 404(b).
Typically, evidence of other bad acts is not unduly prejudicial under Federal Rule of Evidence 403
when the other bad acts “did not involve conduct any more sensational or disturbing than the
crimes with which [the defendant] was charged."’ United States v. Roldan-Zapata, 916 F.2d 795,
804 (2d Cir. 1990).

C. Discussion

Evidence concerning the defendant’s refusal‘ to provide information relating to
Blacksands’s assets and the related noncompliaﬁce with Judge Kaplan’s orders is admissible as
direct evidence of the defendant’s intent and consciousness of guilt. In the alternative, this proof
is admissible pursuant to Rule 404(b) because it is prdbative of thé defendant’s intent, knowledge,
and absence of mistake or accident, with r'espe'ct to Counts One, Two, and Three.

The documents and infonnation withheld by the defendant would have i)rovided evidence
to ICBC that numerous representations made in the course of his relationship with ICBC were
false and that he had used portions of the ICBC loan proceeds to fund his lavish lifestyle rather
than anything related to the Cat Canyon deal. Had the defendant believed that his representations
were accurate and that his disposition of the funds was'proper, there wouid be no incentive for him
to Withhol-d those documents and risk conterhpt proceedings.b Courts hé?e admitted similar
evidence of a defendant’s efforts to conceal his conduct as direct proof of the defendant’s
consciousness of guilt. See, e.g., Silver, 117 F. Supp. 3d at 473.

This evidence>also is admissible as direct prdof because it is “necessary to complete the
story of the crime on trial.” United States v. Towne, 870 F.2d 880, 886 (2d Cir. 1989). It is well

established that “evidence that adds context and dimension to the government’s proof” is relevant,
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even if it does not “directly establish[] an element of the érime.” United States v. Gonzalez, 110
F.3d 936, 941 (2d Cir. 1997); see also Carboni, 204 F.3d at 44. Here, the litigation between the
defendant and ICBC, and the defendant’s subsequent withholding of financial information and
noncompliance with court ordefs, arose from the fraudulent schemes at issue. The litigation was
a direct result of thé defendant’s failure to repay the loan, the court orders followed a judgment in
ICBC’s favor, and the defendant deliberately concealed responsive documents and information—
which would have revealed the fraud perpetrated on ICBC—from ICBC after ICBC sought to
satisfy the judgment.

In the alternative, this evidence is admissible pursuant to Rule 404(b) as, among other

things, proof of the defendant’s intent, knowledge, and absence of mistake—he refused to produce

the responsive documents and information concerning Blacksands’s assets because he knew it "

would risk disclosing his fraudulent scheme. Cf. United States v. Black, No. 13 Cr. 316 (DLI),
2014 WL 5783067, at *4 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 5, 2014) (“[E]vidence of the defendant’s failure to report
significant sums of money in his tax filings is admissible under Rule 404(b) as evidence of the-
defendant’s knowledge that the money was pfoceeds of illegal activity.”).

This evidence and testimony carries a low risk of unfair prejudice because failing to
produce documents pursuant to a court order and being held in civil contempt are no more
sensational or disturbing than the allegations relating to ICBC—that the defendant committed wire
fraud and engaged in a conspiracy to do the same. See Roldan-Zapata, 916 F.2d at 804. And in
order to offer this evidence, tﬁe Government currently intends to call only one additional witness

beyond those who will testify regarding other aspects of the Government’s case-in-chief (such as
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a witness from ICBC who is expected to testify at trial regardless of the Court’s ruling on this
issue). Accordingly, Rule 403 does not serve as a bar to the admissibility of this evidence.

II. Emails from Blacksands’s “Employees” Are Admissible as the Defendant’s Own
Statements or, Alternatively, as Statements of the Defendant’s Employees and Agents

The Government seeks to offer email communications from Brennerman and purported
Blacksands employees to the victims of Brennerman’s fraud and others sent during the period of
the charged conspiracy. The Government will prove that many of these supposed employees were
not real people, or not employees of Blacksands, but rather inventions of Brennerman, used to lend
a patina of legitimacy to his fraudulent business. These communications should be admitted under
Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2).

A. Relevant Facts

The Government’s proof at trial will consist, in part, of the defendant’s own statements—
including excerpts from tlie defendant’s post-arrest statement, prison bcalls, Blacksands-related
corporate presentation materials, text messages, and emails. The Government intends to show that
the defendant communicated‘by email to victims not only through il Blacksands email addréss
bearing his name (rbrennerman@biacksandspaciﬁc.com) and in emails bearing his electronic
signature, but also ‘thro(ugh the email accounts of supposed Blacksands er.nployeesi. These
additional individuals included: (1”) Annisa Rodrigiiez, “Senior Iéxecixtive Assistant” for
Brennerman, at arodiiguez@blacksandspaciﬁc.com; (2) Michael Sloanes, “General Counsel” for
Blacksands, at msloaiies@blacksandspaciﬁc.com; and (3) Michael Kelly, “Senior Vice President
of Acquisi’iions” in the Business Operations Group of Blacksands, at

mkelly@blacksandspacific.com. The Government anticipates that a number of witnesses at trial,
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mcluding Julian Madgett of ICBC, will authenticate evidence th;l'[ includes emails from purported
Blacksands employees sent by or on behalf of the defendant in furtherance of the conspiracy.

The Government intends to demonstrate that Brennerman controlled these email accounts
and the communications issuing from them. Specifically, the evidence will show, among other
things, that: (1) these email accounts were logged into from Brennerman’s personal computer;
(2) the telephone numbers that allegedly belonged to these employees were numbers for
Brennerman’s phones; (3) Brennerman never emailed these employees directly; and
(4) Brennerman préposed to Aderinwale that he send emails on behalf of these purported
individuals. Additionally, the Government expects that the testimony will establish that none of
the victims who met with Brennerman about doing business with Blacksands ever met Rodriguez,
Sloanes, or Kelly in person. Mike Dean, a former Blacksands employee, is also expected to testify
that he never met any of these supposed work colleagues.

B. Discussion

The Government will establish by a preponderance of the evidence that Brennerman
controlled the Blacksands email accounts, and the emails from those accounts are therefore
admissible nonhearsay because the statements are “offered againét an opposing party” and were
“made by the party in an individual or representative capacity,” i.e. by Brennerman himself. Fed.
R. Evid. 801(d)(2)(A). Brennerman’s use of these fictitious employees with various titles created
the false impression that Brennerman had an assistanf, executive team, and legal staff at
Blacksands, and was part of a larger effort to mislead victims of his fraud regarding matters that
were material to their lending and investment decisions, such as the scale and legitimacy of

Blacksands.
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Even if Annisa Rodriguez, Michael Sloanes, or Michael Kelly were Blacksands
employees—and the Government will establish that they were not—these individuals’ statements
would still be admissible under Rule 801(d)(2). In particular, the email communications from all
three individuals are admissible, in the alternative, as statements offered against Brennerman that
were “made by a person whom the party authorized to make a statement on the subject” and “made
by the party’s agent or employee on a matter within the scope of that relationship and while it
existed.” Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2)(C), 801(d)(2)(D).

During the time period of the communications, Rodriguez, Kelly, and Sloanes were held
out as employees of Blacksands, and can therefore be considered employees and agents of
Brennerman, the CEO of the purported coinpany, for purposes of Rule 801(d)(2). See, e.g., United
States v. Vilar, 729 F.3d 62, 87 (2d Cir. 2013). Communications purportedly from these
individuals to potential business partners, sent in their capacity as Blacksands employees in the
service of obtaining loans or investments, were within the scope of the employment and agency
relationship between them and Brennerman. For example, emails that the Government intends to
introduce that were sent from Rodriguez typically included carbon copies to
rbrennerman@blacksandspacific.com, and included the following signature block, or some
substantially similar variation: |

Ms. A Rodriguez

Senior Executive Assistant

On Behalf of Mr. Brennerman
Thus, many of the emails from the Rodriguez account indicated that tﬁey were sent “On Behalf
of” Brennerman, by his purported “Senior Executive Assistant,” and that Brennerman was copied

on the meséages. These communications support the inference that to the extent Brennerman did
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not himself send the emails, an agent or employee of Blacksands sent them with his authorization.
The communications from Sloanes and Kelly support similar inferences, and all of these emails
are admissible, if not pursuant to Rule 801(d)(2)(A), then under Rules 801(d)(2)(C) and
801(d)(2)(D).
IIL. The Court Should Preclude the Defendant from Raising a Blame-the-Victim Defense

The federal fraud statutes, including bank and wire fraud, do not require the Government
to prove reliance on a defendant’s conduct as an element of the offense. The defense should
therefore be precluded from sﬁggesting during the trial—whether in jury addresses or witness
examinations—that the victims of Brennerman’s fraud are to blame, either because they failed to
conduct sufficient diligeﬂce, We}e ﬁegligent, or otherwise acted unreasonably 1n relying on the
defendant’s misrepreséntations. | |

A. Applicable Law | ,

Under Federal Rule of Evidence 402, “[i]rrelevant evidence is not admissible” at trial, Fed.
R. Evid. 402, and under Rule 403, a court Ir{ay eXclude even relevant evidence “if its probative
value is substantially outweighed by a danger of oﬁe or mbre of the following: unfair prejudice;
confusing the issues, misleadiﬁg the jﬁry, wéstihg time, or needlessly presenting cumulative
evidence.” Fed. R. Evid.. 403; see also United States v. Miller, 626 F.3d 682, 689 (2d Cir. 2010).

The 4essenti.al elements of \-Vire ffaud—as chérged in Count-Three and in one of the objects
of the Count Cnebonspiracy——afe: (1) a scheme to defraud; (2) money or prgperty as the object
of the scﬁémé, and (3) use of wires to further the scheme. United States v. Binday, 804 F.3d 558,

569 (2d Cir. 2015). The elements of bank fraud—as charged in Count Two and the other object
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of the Count One conspiracy—are principally the same, but the intended victim must be a financial
institution insured by the FDIC. See 18 U.S.C. § 1344.

To “prove the existence of a scheme to defraud, the government must also prove that the
misrepresentations were material, and that the defendant acted with fraudulent intent.” United
States v. Weaver, 860 F.3d 90, 94 (2d Cir. 2017) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).
A “statement is material if the misinformation or omission would naturally tend to lead or is
capable of leading a reasonable [person] to change [his] conduct.” Id. In other words, materiality
is an objective standard, and actual reliance is not an element of criminal fraud. Neder v. United
States, 527 U.S. 1, 24-25 (1999). In United States v. Thomas, the Second Circuit rejected as a
matter of law the proposition that a victim’s “vigilance (or lack thereof) was relevant.” 377 F.3d
232, 241, 243 (2d Cir. 2004). This proposition was reaffirmed more recently in United States v.
Weaver, where the Circuit observed that the “unreasonableness of a fraud victim in relying (or not)
on a misrepresentation does not bear on a defendant’s criminal intent in designing the fraudulent
scheme, whereas the materiality of the false statement does.” Weaver, 860 F.3d at 95. Just as
“justifiable reliance” is not an element of criminal fraud, neither does the Government need to
prove damages, because the fraud statutes criminalize the “scheme” rather than the completed
fraud. Id; see also United States v. Rybicki, 287 F.3d 257, 262 (2d Cir. 2062), on reh’g en banc,
354 F.3d 124 (2d Cir. 2003) (“[T]he only significance in a fraud case of proof of actual harm
befalling the victim as a result of the scheme is that it may serve as circumstantial evidence from
which a jury could infer the defendant’s intent to cause harm.”). It is eﬁough to show that the
defendant “contemplated some actual harm or injury to [the] victims.” Weaver, 860 F.3d at 95

(quoting United States v. Greenberg, 835 F.3d 295, 306 (2d Cir. 2016) (emphasis in original)).
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The pertinent statutes therefore focus on the defendant’s statements and intent, not on the state of
mind of his victims.
B. Discussion
Second Circuit authority, including‘but not limited to Weaver and Thomas, establishes that
it is irrelevant under Rules 401 and 402, and unduly confusing under Rule 403, for the defense to
suggest to the jury that Brennerman is innocent because victims of his fraud were unreasonable in
their reliance on his misrepresentations or could héve been more diligent in their dealings with
him, his co-conspirators, and Blacksands. E.g., United States v. Amico, 486 E.3d 764, 780 (2d Cir.
2007) (“The majority of circuits to address the issue have rejected thié -defense, holding that a

victim’s lack of sophistication is not relevant to the intent element of . . . wire fraud” (citations

omitted)). In this case, as well as the related criminal case before Judge Kaplan, defense counsel -

has repeatedly brought up diligence performed by ICBC as a mitigating consideration relative to
the defendant’s intent and actions.* Put simply, any such argument at trial would be contrary to

law.

4 See June 1, 2017 Tr. 24:21-25:2, United States v. Brennerman, 17 Cr. 337 (RJS) (“The claim
is broad but then it very quickly focuses on ICBC. But the allegation that it’s making is,
essentially, nonsensical. What it says is Mr. Brennerman made certain allegations about his assets
or resources or wherewithal and thereby got a loan, ignoring the year-long diligence process that
went into this transaction and it goes into any transaction like this.”); id. at 9:8-10 (“What I would
expect to see in this case is a whole ton of material that reflects the ICBC due diligence that went
on for literally a year I think back in 2013.”); see also Trial Tr. 39:20-40:4, United States v.
Brennerman, 17 Cr. 155 (LAK) (“Mr. Brennerman is providing not just a little information to the
bank but what would literally fill a truck, information to the bank, not surprisingly, because they
were talking about and he got preliminary approval for a $600 million loan from ICBC. Now, you
don’t get to that point unless you have been vetted every which way but Sunday. . . . So that’s the
backdrop. They had gone through almost two full years of discussions. He’s been vetted to a fare
thee well. They got approvals with respect to larger financing for his oil and gas projects™); id. at
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As part of the defendant’s scheme, he attempted to defraud multiple financial institutions.
In some instances he was successful (e.g., ICBC), and in others, the targeted victim detected
enough red flags. to ultimately decline Brennerman’s business_(e.g., Morgan Stan]ey); In each
case, Brennerman acted with fraudulent intent and made material misrepresentations and
omissions relating to, among other things, his background and experience, Blacksands’s oil
production, assets, revenue, and scale of business, and his intended uses of loan and investment
proceeds. The diligence and sophistication of those Brennerman targeted during this scheme to
defraud are not appropriate considerations at trial. E.g., United States v. Thomas, 377 F.3d at 243
(“We refuse to accept the notion that the legality of a defendant’s conduct would depend on his
fortuitous choice of a gullible victim.” (internal qﬁdtation rharks omitted)).’ Indeed, in proving a
scheme to defraud, the Government is “not required to shdw that the intended victim was actually
defrauded.” United States v. Wallach, 935 F.2d 445, 461 (2d Cir. 1991) (internal citations

omitted). Defense counsel should therefore be prevented from blaming the victims—whether

594:12 (“ICBC had the banking information with respect to Blacksands.”); id. at 609:23-25
(“There was also a whole another issue that you heard some things about and that had to do with
documents that had already been produced provided I should say by Blacksands . . . .”); id. at
612:2-15 (“So I was talking about the fact that you have evidence received that ICBC had received
information years earlier in 2013 in connection with the loan . . . . Mr. Hessler also told you that
earlier this year in response to a request from the government he provided to the government
roughly 5,000 or more pages of information that had been possessed by ICBC relating to the
Blacksands transaction.”). :

5 Although some cases discuss an “ordinary prudence standard” relating to the scheme-to-
defraud element, “[t]he ordinary prudence standard . . . focuses on the violator, not the victim,”
and “is not a shield which a defendant may use to avoid a conviction for a deliberately fraudulent
scheme.” Thomas, 377 F.3d at 243.
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through argument or evidence elicited through direct testimony or cross examination—because
such evidence is irrelevant and would violate Rule 403.

IV. The Court Should Preclude the Defendant from Arguing That He Lacked Intent To
Defraud Because He Intended To Repay Fraudulently-Obtained Loans

The defense should also be precluded from arguing that he planned to repay his victims—
and thus, for example, lécked fraudulent intent—but was prevented from doing so for reasons
beyond his control (including the crash of the oil markets and the conduct of the victims after the
loan was executed).

A. Relevant Facts

Brennerman has suggested previously that he intended to repay the loan from ICBC, but
* was prevented from doing so for reasons beyond his control. For example, in his post-arrest -
statement on April 19, 2017, »Brennerman -blamed the economy, contending that his business
suffered, and he was unable to repay his loans, because the price of oil unexpectedly fell in 2014.
As another example, in his filings before Judge Kaplan in ICBC’s civil lawsuit against Blacksands
for repayment of the loan, Brennerman argued that hé would have closed the deal to purchase the
Cat Canyon oilfield if not for ICBC’s conduct. Specifically, in Blapksands’s opposition to ICBC’s
motion for summary judgment, the defendant claimed that ICBC’s conduct “materially irﬁpeded
Blacksands’s ability to close on its acquisition of the California oil field” because ICBC breached
its promise to provide a $20 million revolving credit facility following issuance of the bridge loan.
(Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment, ICBC (London) plic v.
Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc., 15 Civ. 70 (LAK), Dkt.‘ 14 at 8.) According to the deféndant, that

breached promise, and Blacksands’s resulting failure to finance the Cat Canyon deal, led ERG to
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seek out another buyer.

Brennerman’s contentions are belied by the evidence. The ICBC transaction was not
completed because the seller of the Cat Canyon oil field had a deal to sell itself to another company,
and because Blacksands never paid back the bridge loan, among other reasons. Once Brennerman
obtained funds from financial institutions as a result of his fraudulent scheme, he moved them
through multiple bank accounts and then spent a majority of the fraudulent proceeds on personal
expenses. The ICBC loan agreement, for example, specified that the $5 million ICBC bridge loan
was to be used for the Cat Canyon transaction, but Brennerman instead used that money to pay,
among other things, for the:lease of his Las Vegas apartment, first-class flights from the United
S.tates to Europe, pri\fate car services, room service, designer clothing, jewelry, and spa treatments.
ICBC sued Blacksands civilly to recover its unpaid loan and obtained a judgment in its favor.
When Judge Kaplan later ordered Brennerman to disclose information regarding financials relating
to himself and Blaéksands, Brennerman refused to cbmply and exposed himself to ci\}il’ (and later
criminal) contempf penaltiés rather than reveal to ICBC and the Court what he had done with
ICBC’s loan.

B. Applicablé Law

To prové bank and wiré f.raud,v and conspifécy to com;nit the éémé, the Government must
establish, among other things, tﬁat the defehdanf intended fo harm the victims :ofl’ his scheme. See,
e.g., United States v. Stavroulakfs, 952 F.2d 686, 694 (24 Cir. 1992) (bank fraud); United States v.
DiNome, 86 F.3d 277, 283 (2d Cir. 1996) (wire fraud). The property interests protected by the
fraud statutes are not limited to funds and physicai assets, but ihclude the victims’ “right to control”

their property. See id. at 283-84. A defendant acts with intent to harm his victim when he takes
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steps 1n an effort to “deny the victim the right to control its assets by depriving it of information
necessary to make discretionary economic decisions.” United States v. Rossomando, 144 F.3d
197, 201 n.5 (2d Cir. 1998); seé also Wallach, 935 F .2d at 462 (hol&ing that “inaécurate reporting
of information that could impact on economic deéisions can provide the basis” for a fraud
prosecution (emphasis ad(ied)). |

When a “defendant deliberately supplies false information to obtain a bank loan but plans
to pay back the loan and therefore believes that no harm will ‘ultimately’ accrue to the bank,” he
has committed fraud, even if it was his “good-faith intention to pay back the loan.” Rossomando,
144 F.3d at 201; accord United States v. Finazzo, 682 F. App’x 6, 9 (2d Cir. 2017) (summary
order). Such a belief or intention, even if genuine, is “no defense” because, regardless, the
defendant “intended to inflict a genuine harm upon the bank—i.e., to deprive the bank of the ability
to determine . . . for itself on the basis of accurate information whether, and at what price, to extend
credit to the defendant.” Rossomando, 144 F.3d at 201. In United States v. Karro, 257 F.3d 112,
118 (2d Cir. 2001), the Second Circuit reiterated that it is “irrelevant whether the borrower
intended in good faith to repay the loan,” where there is proof of the “intentional withholding of
information from a lender which lowers the value of the transaction due to the lender’s lack of
information pertinent to the accurate assessment 6f the risk it faces and the propriety of extending
credit to that particular individual.”

C. Discussion |

The Government will establish at trial that thé defendant intended to haﬁn his victims by

lying to them in an effort to induce .investment and loan decisions on the basis of his

misrepresentations and omissions. See United States v. Chacko, 169 F.3d 140, 148 (2d Cir. 1999)
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(“When it is clear that a scheme, viewed broadly, is necessarily going to injure, it can be presumed
that the schemer had the requisite intent to defraud.”). By intentionally depriving his victims of
material information, Brennerman intentionally harmed lenders and potential lenders. His crimes
were complete, before he obtained any funds on the basis of his fraud, when he deprived his victims
of the accurate information they needed to properly assess the risk of lending the defendant money.

As part of the litany of excuses the defendant has already offered to justify his brazen
misconduct, he has claimed that he planned to repay the loans, after putting the funds to proper
use, but was prevented from doing by forces beyond his control. Specifically, he has tried to take
cover in the fall in oil prices in 2014, and also blamed ICBC for the collapse of the Cat Canyon
deal on that theory that the transaction would have come to fruition if ICBC had only issued a
multi-million dollar revolving credit facility in addition to the $5 million ICBC provided as part
of a bridge loan. Even if the jury were to credit any such farfetched claims by Brennerman, his
contentions ére irrelevant. He can take no refuge in the decline of oil prices under the
circumstances of this case. Cf. In re Sadia, S.A. Sec. Litig., 269 F.R.D. 298,317 (SD.N.Y. 2010)
(rejecting, in securities fraud class action, the defense of “don’t blame me, blame the financial
crisis”). And because intent to repay fraudulently obtained funds is irrelevant to a determination
of the defendant’s guilt, and is ‘likely to confuse the jury, the defendant should be precluded from
presenting evidence of such intent;—or related evidence about the economy or the victim’s post-

lending conduct—ﬁnder Federal Rules of Evidence 401, 402, and 403.%

8 The Government also reserves the right to seck what has been described as the “ good-faith
defense’ instruction” from Instruction 44-5 of Modern Federal Jury Instructions, which was
endorsed by the Second Circuit in Rossomando, 144 F.3d at 201. The pattern instruction states, in
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V. The Court Should Preclude the Defendant from Making Arguments About the
Government’s Charging Decisions and Motives

Based on the defendant’s pretrial motions, it appears the defense may try to inappropriately
invite nullification by arguing, for example, that this prosecution was (1) improperly initiated at
the behest of Judge Kaplan when he referred the contempt-related aspects of the lawsuit between
ICBC and Blacksands to this Office, and (ii) inadequately investigated by personnel at this Office,
without adequate assistance erm external law enforcement, resulting in a so-called rush to
judgment. See, e.g., United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 8 (1985) (“Just as the conduct of
prosecutors is circumscribed, the interests of society in the preservation of courtroom control by
the judges are no more to be frustrated:through unchecked improprieties by defenders.” (internal
quotation marks omitted)); United States v. Ti homas, 116 F.3d 606 614 (2d Cir. 1997) (“We
categorically reJect the idea that in a soc1ety cornmrtted to the rule of law jury nulllﬁcatxon is
desirable or that courts may perrnit it to occur when it is within their aﬁthority to prevent.”).

In pretrial motions, the defense as‘se‘rted that the case was ;‘ne\ter investigated by these
prosecutors or by the Federal] Bureau of Investlgatlon and so was never properly vetted or
scrutinized,” and that the “matter was referred . . . by Judge Kaplan” who commumcated at high
volume that [he] wanted the matter to be handled more aggresswely ? (Dkt 32 at 2.) Moreover,

accordlng to the defense in response to Judge Kaplan s urging, the Government “humedly decided

pertinent part: “If the defendant participated in the scheme for the purpose of causing some
financial or property loss to another, then no amount of honest belief on the part of the. defendant
that the scheme would (e.g., ultimately make a profit for the 1nvestors) will excuse fraudulent
actions or false representations by him.” Sand et al., Modern Federal Jury Instructions, Instr. 44-
5.
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to adopt the completely unsubstantiated and unpersuasive claims of supposed fraud that had been
leveled by the plaintiff in the civil case.” (Dkt. 32 at 2.)” These arguments, sounding in the
doctrine of “outrageous government conduct,” are to be “directed to the court rather than the jury.”
United States v. Regan, 103 F.3d 1072, 1082 (2d Cir. 1997). Accordingly, the defense should be
precluded at trial from making such claims, or introducing any evidence in support of them.

It is well-established that the Government’s motives for and conduct during the prosecution
of a defendant are irrelevant to guilt or innocence and therefore cannot be presented to the Jury.
See United States v. Regan, 103 F.3d 1072,V 1081 (2d Cir. 1997) (affirming decision precluding
. “‘evidence at trial that the grand jury investigation was illegitimate”); United States v. Rosado, 728
F.2d 89, 93 (2d Cir. 1984) (finding that defendant’s trial arguments involving, inter alia,
“invit[ation of] nullification by questioning the Government’s motives in subpoenaing appellants
and prosecuting them for conteinpt” functioned as a defense “ploy for turning the trial away from
a detefmination of whether the elements of the offense charged had been proved beyond a
reasonable doubt into a wide-ranging inquiry into matters far beyondv the scope of legitimate issues
in a criminal trial”). The same is true of the Government’s techniques in investigating and
prosecuting crimes. United States v. Saldarriaga, 204 F.3d 50, 53 (2d Cir. 2000) (“The jury
correctly was instructed that the government haé no duty to employ in the course of a single

investigation all of the many weapons at its disposal, and that the failure to utilize some particular

7 See also Trial Tr. 44:17-20, United States v. Brennerman, 17 Cr. 155 (LAK) (“You’re also
going to see soon after that that Judge Kaplan states in open court that he intends to refer this
matter to the U.S. Attorney’s Office for prosecution, criminal prosecution, based on the failure to
produce documents.”).
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technique or techniques does not tend to show that a defendant is not guilty of the crime with
which he has been charged.”). The defendant remains free to impugn the weight and/or the quality
of the proof that the Government actually adduces at trial to the extent that it bears on guilt or
innocence, but he may not put the motivations or conduct of prosecutors or law enforcement agents
in issue in order to invite the jury to acquit based on alleged governmental misconduct.

Nor should the defendant be permitted to suggest in any way that he is being selectively
prosecuted or singled out, whether by referral from Judge Kaplan or otherwise. “The issue to be
determined is whether [the defendant] committed the crimes charged; not whether others may have
committed uncharged crimes.” United States v. White, No. 02 Cr. 1111 (KTD), 2003 WL 721567,
at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 28, 2003). Selective prosecution is not a defense on the merits to the criminal
charge itself, but one based on “defects in the institution of the prosecution,” Fed. R. Crim. P.
12(b)(1). Such claims must therefore be asserted before trial, not during it. United States v. Sun
Myung Moon, 718 F.2d 1210, 1229 (2d Cir. 1983); United States v. Taylor, 562 F.2d 1345, 1356
(2d Cir. 1977). Accordingly, the defense should be precluded from making these types of

arguments at trial.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should grant the Government’s in limine motions.

Dated: New York, New York
November 2, 2017.
Respectfully submitted,

JOON H. KIM
Acting United States Attorney
Southern District of New York

By: /s/ _Danielle R. Sassoon

Danielle R. Sassoon

Nicolas Roos

Robert Sobelman

Emil J. Bove III

Assistant United States Attorneys

Cc: Defense Counsel -
(Via ECF)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case. No. 17 Cr. 337 (RIS)

V. ECF Case

RAHEEM J. BRENNERMAN,

Defendant.

NOTICE OF DEFENDANT RAHEEM J. BRENNERMAN’S
MOTION IN LIMINE

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, upon the accompanying Memorandum of Law in Support
of Defendant’s Motion In Limine; and all prior pleadings and proceedings had herein, Defendant
Raheem J. Brennerman (“Defendant”), will move this Court, before the Honorable Richard J.
Sullivan, United States District Judge, at the Daniel Patrick Moynihan United States Courthouse,
40 Foley Square, New York, New York 10007, on Monday, November 20, 2017 at 1:00 p.m., for
an Order (i) granting Defendant’s Motion In Limine seeking pretrial rulings on the admissibility
of certain evidence; and (ii) for such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and

proper.
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PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that any opposition to Defendant’s Motion In
Limine is due on November 15, 2017 pursuant to an Order dated August 3, 2017 [Dkt. 24].

Dated: New York, New York
November 13, 2017

Respectfully submitted,

/s/Brian D. Waller

Maranda Fritz (MF 8060)

Brian D. Waller (BW 7163)

Brian K. Steinwascher (BS 1469)
THOMPSON HINE LLP

335 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10017

(212) 344-5680

maranda. fritz@thompsonhine.com
brian. waller@thompsonhine.com

Counsel for Defendant Raheem Brennerman

TO: Nicolas Roos
Damelle R. Sassoon
Robert Sobelman -
Emil J. Bove 111
Assistant United States Attorneys
Of Counsel
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case. No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS)

V. ECF Case

RAHEEM J. BRENNERMAN,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT CF
DEFENDANT’S MOTION IN LIMINE

IHOMPSON

Maranda E. Fritz
~ Brian D. Waller
Brian K. Steinwascher
. Thompson Hine LLP
335 Madison Avenue, 12th Floor
New York, New York 10017
Telephone: (212) 344-5680

Counsel for Defendant Raheem Brennerman

4845-8702-6516
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

ARGUMENT
I. THE

BRENNERMAN’S REPRESENTATIONS TO THE ALLEGED VICTIM BANKS....

A. The Court Should Exclude Any Testimony From ICBC(London) Witnesses
Concerning the Cat Canyon Financing or Bridge Loan Because It Would Be
Patently Unfair to Defendant to Admit It ...............oco.oooviveeeooeoeeeeo
B.  The Court Should Preclude the Testimony of Melanie Stauffer and Any
Associated Evidence Pertaining to Representations that Do Not Have Any
Relation to the Cat Canyon Oil Field Acquisition or Related Bridge Loan..........
C.  The Court Should Exclude Any Evidence Pertaining to Mr. Brennerman’s
Use of the Bridge Loan Funds and Should Limit the Government to '
Accurately Portraying the Terms of the Bridge Loan...........ccocooevvevevevveveero
D.  The Court Should Exclude Any Evidence Pertaining to Morgan Stanley
Because Mr. Brennerman’s Conduct In That Regard Cannot Be Said to
Constitute Criminal Conduct and It Is Not Probative Of Any Other Issue ...........
CONCLUSION ...ttt ettt ee e es e et
i
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This memorandum is submitted in support of Defendant Raheem Brennerman’s motion
in limine seeking pretrial rulings on thé admissibility of certain evidence.

In its own motion in limine (“Gov’t Mot.”), the Government set forth its case: “[Mr.
Brennerman’s] crimes were complete, before he obtained any funds on the basis of his fraud,
when he deprived his victims of the accurate information they needed to properly assess the risk
of lending the defendant money.” Gov’t Mot. at 21 (empbhasis added). Thus, according to the
Government’s own representation, and as explaihed in Mr. Brennerman’s response to the
- Government’s motion, the Court need not admit any evidence pertaining to acts that took place
after Mr. Brennerman’s alleged misrepresehtations to obtain financing for the Cat Canyon oil
field transaction. |

In light of thé Govemmént’s characterization of the charges against Mr. Brennerman, and
under general principles of evidenbe, Mr. Brennerman seeks the foiloWing in limihe rulings:

. The exclusion of t‘estimony from any ICBC(Londoh) Witness that pertains to the
decisions: (i) hot to extend financing to Mr. Brennerman for the Cat Canyon oil
ﬁelci transabtion, or (ii) to extend Mr. Brennérmén a bridge loan as he attempted
to secﬁré such financing. This inciudes téstimony that re]étés to ICBC(London)’s
intemal decision—making and underwriting processes. Mr. Brennerman has
repeafedly éought, but has been denied, documents l'éléted to thése issues. It
\;vould be patently unfair to permit the Government to illicit testimony from
ICBC(London) witnesses on these topics when the defense has no meaningful
ability to cross-examine the Wifnesses or éésess their credibility. Exclusion of this

testimony is the only way to adequately protect Mr. Brennerman’s constitutional
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right to a fair trial. This is particularly so where the witnesses lack personal
knowledge of ICBC(London)’s interactions with Mr. Brennerman.

. The exclusion of testimony by Melanie Stauffer and any related evidence that
pertains to alleged interactions with Mr. Brennerman that are both temporally and
substantively separate from the alleged crimes charged in the Indictment, as they
have been limited by this Court’s prior rulings and the Government’s own
representations.

. The exclusion of any evidence, including testimony, pertaining to the use (or
alleged misuse) by Mr. Brennerman of the bridge loan funds received from
ICBC(London). Such evidence is not relevant to establishing whether Mr.
Brennerman made materiél false representations to ICBC(London) with an intent
to defraud. Mr. Brennerman’s use of funds — which the Government has yet to
establish as inconsistent with the terms of the bridge loan! — occurred well after
his representations to the bank and do not establish any of the elements of the
crimes charged in the Indictment.

. The exclusidn of all evidence pertaining to Morgan Stanley, including testimony.
The Government has hot, and will not, be able to show that any of Mr.
Brennerman’s interactions with Morgan Stanley rose to the levél of criminal
conduct; at most, his dealings with Morgan Stanley can be categorized as an

“incomplete attempt” to commit bank fraud. Nor would any such evidence be

! It also appears that the Government continues to cling to the erroneous idea that the bridge loan
funds were meant to be used directly to finance the acquisition of the Cat Canyon oil field. See
Gov’t Mot. at 19 (“The ICBC loan agreement, for example, specified that the $5 million ICBC
bridge loan was to be used for the Cat Canyon transaction . . . .”). Mr. Brennerman also seeks a
ruling precluding the Government from incorrectly portraying the terms of the bridge loan
agreement at trial.
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admissible under Rule 404(b) as it would not be probative of any elements of the
crimes charged in the Indictment.
For the reasons set out below, the Court should grant Mr. Brennerman’s motion and
exclude these categories of evidence at trial.

ARGUMENT

L THE ONLY RELEVANT, ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE PERTAINS TO MR.
BRENNERMAN’S REPRESENTATIONS TO THE ALLEGED VICTIM BANKS

As noted above and in Mr. Brennerman’s response to the Government’s motion in' limine,
the Government has represented that ICBC(London) and Morgan Stanley are the only financial
institutions that Mr. Brennerman allegedly defrauded — and that ICBC(London) is the only one
from which he obtained money. And the Government now clearly has circumscribed t1‘1e scope 't
of the fraudulent scheme allegedly perpetrated by Mr. Brennerman: “By intentionally depriving &
his victims [ICBC(London) and Morgan Stanley] of material information, Brennerman
intentionally harmed lenders and potential lenders. His crimes were complete, before he 43
obtained any funds on the basis of his fraud, when he deprived his victims of the accurate ol
information they needed to proper'ly' as$e§.§ the risk of lending the defendant money.” G(;v’t Mot.
at 21 (emphasis a{dded). Thus, ‘the Governmeﬁt ﬁas made clear that the conduct relevant to the
crimes charged in thé Indictment éhded with Mr. Brennerman’s representations to
ICBC(London) and Morgan Staﬁley. Nothiﬁg that occurred after thovse‘r'e‘presentations 18
ﬁecessary to prove the eléments of the crimes charged in the Indictment. | |

A. The Court Should Exclude Any'Testimorvly From ICBC(London) Withesses ‘

Concerning the Cat Canyon Financing or Bridge Loan Because It Would Be
Patently Unfair to Defendant to Admit It

Mr. Brennerman has repeatedly sought discovery of documents or other materials internal

to ICBC(London) doéumehting its decision-making and/or underwriting processes with respect
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to its decision not to extend_ﬁnancing for the Cat Canyon oil field acquisition and/or its decision
to provide Blacksands with a bridge loan to assist it in securing such financing. All of Mr.
Brennerman’s requests — whether. made to the Government or ICBC(London) directly — have
been denied. Nor have s_uch materiais been disclosed by the Government otherwise. Thus, on
the eve of trial, Mr. Brennerman has had no opportunity to review any documents pertaining to
ICBC (London)’s internal processes respecting the Cat Canyon financing or bridge loan, which
are the transactions at the core of the Government’s theory in this case.

At the same time, both trre Government’s recently disciosed witness list and in limine
motion make clear that the Government intends to call at least one, if not several, witnesses from
ICBC(London) to testify in some regard about the Cat Canyon financing and bridge loan. See
Gov’t Witness.List; see aZso Gov’t Mot. at 10-11 (noting Government will call ICBC witness to
testify at trial regardless of the Court’s rulings on its in limine motion). Moreover, in order to
prove that Mr. Brennerman’s representations were material, the Government will be required to
elicit testimony from the ICBC(London) wirness(es) regarding the information the bank received
from Mr. Brennerman and lrow this factored rntd lthe bank’s decision not to extend financing to
Blacksands for the Cat Canyon oil field acquisition but, instead, to provide him with a bridge
loan facility. See United States v. Weaver, 860 F.3d 90,94 (2d Cir. 2017) (“[M]ateriality looks
to the effect on the likely or acrual behavior of the recipient of t}re alleged mrsrepresentation.”).

In other words, aé it currently stands, the Government will introduce testimony and
evidence that pertéin to an element ‘common to each of the fraud charges in the Indictmenr. But
the defense will be prevented from engaging in any effective crosé-examination on thesevissues,
whether as to substance or credibility, because Mr. Brennerman has had no opportunity to review

ICBC(London)’s complete records. This would be patently unfair to Mr. Brennerman and would
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deprive him of his constitutional right to a fair trial. Cf. United States v. Mulder, 147 F.3d 703,
707 (8th Cir. 1998) (holding it reversible error for trial court in bank fraud case to exclude from
evidence document in bank’s files relevant to establishing defendant’s intent and good faith
defense).

The only proper solution at this juncture is to preclude any ICBC(London) witness from
testifying at trial on these issues — e.g., the nature of the bank’s lending and underwriting
processes, generally and with respect to its dealings with Blacksands.2 This is particularly true
for the witnesses the Government has identified to date, who do not appear to have had any
direct involvement in the decision not to extend financing to Blacksands for the Cat Cahyon oil
field acquisition but instead to provide a bridge loan to assist Blacksands in securing the
necessary financing. Otherwise, Mr. Brennerman would be severely and unfairly prejudiced in
his ability to mount a meaningful and constitutionally appropriate defense. “[W]ell established
rules of evidence permit trial judges to exclude evidence if its probative value is outweighed by
certain other factors such as unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or potential to mislead the
jury.” Holmes v. . Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 326, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (20006)
(citing Fed. R. Evid. 403).

B. The Court Should Preclude the Testimony of Melanie Stauffer and Any

Associated Evidence Pertaining to Representations that Do Not Have Any
Relation to the Cat Canyon Oil Field Acquisition or Related Bridge Loan

The Government has included on its witness list an individual named Melanie Stauffer.
As the Court will recall, the Government previously relied on this individual and her interactions
with Mr. Brennerman in its opposition to Mr. Brennerman’s application for reconsideration of

the terms of his pre-trial detention and bail. See Dkt. No. 13 (referring to Ms. Stauffer as

2 The same applies to any witness the Government intends to call from Morgan Stanley.
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“Victim-1”). In particular, the Government argued in that submission, and in hearings before the
Court, that Ms. Stauffer was the victim of a fraud allegedly perpetrated on her by Mr.
Brennerman in connection with an investment into a piece of reél estate locatéd in Brooklyn,
New York. These alleged fepresentations occurred in 2017, after Mr. Brennerman’s arrest in
connection with the Indictment. These representations are both temporally and substantively
distinct from the allegations supporting the crimes charged in the Indictment, particularly in light
of how the Government repeatedly has characterfzed this case as ipvolving representations that
Mzr. Brennerman made to iCBC(London) and Morgan Stanley in connection with the acquisition
of the Cat Canyon oil field in 2013.

Thus, Ms. Stauffer’s testimony is wholly irrelevant to establiéhing any elements of the
crimes charged in the Indictmeht; nor is it necessary for contéxfuai purposes. Similarly, her an
testimony, and any related evidence, is not admi.ssible under Federal Rulé of Evidence 404(b)
because it is too distinct from conduct relevant to conduct alleged .in the Indictment and, in any
event, would be more prejudicial than prbbativg. The Court should therefore preclude the
Government from offering Ms. Stéuffef as a witness at trial and éhould exclude any evidence
related to Mr. Brennefman’s infé;action:s witﬁ her..

C - The ‘Cburt. Should Exclude Any E\;idehée‘Pertaining to Mr. _B‘rennevrman’s

Use of the Bridge Loan Funds and Should Limit the Government to
Accurately Portraying the Terms of the Bridge Loan

The Gévérﬁmenf 'ha‘s made clear that it iﬁtendé to inffoduéé eVid‘ence. shO\;&}ing that Mr.
Brennerman ailégedly misused the ICBC(London) bridge loan funds by spending them on
himself and ndt on financing the aéquiéition of the Cat Canyoﬁ oil field. S‘eve,v e. g., Gov’t Mot‘. at
19 (“Once Brenne@an obtained ﬁlnds frdm financial institutions [sic] as a reéult of his

fraudulent scheme, he . .. then spent a majority of the fraudulent proceeds on personal

| ‘ 6
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expenses.”). The Government’s proffered eviden‘cebis impermissible for at least two reasons and
should be excluded from trial:

First, given thé Government’s assertion thlat‘ tﬁe Mr. Brennerman’s “crimes were
complete, beforerhe obtained any funds on the basis of his fraud, when he deprived his victims of
the accurate information the needed,” (Gov’t Mot. at 21), ii necessafily follows that Mr.
Brennerman’s use of the funds he did obtain is wholly irrelevant to proving the crimes charged in
the Indictment. Thus, the Government has acknowledged that there is no probative value to how
Mr. Brennerman used. the funds, and any such evidence should therefore be excluded from trial.

Second, the Government inconsistently, and often erroneously, characterizes Mr.
Brennerman’s use of funds as improper. For example, the Government ambiguously argues that
Mr. Brennerman uéed the funds on “personal expenses,” such as on the lease of his Las Vegas
apartment (which the Govemmeni acknowledges was from where Mr. Bfennerman primarily
operated Blacksands). The Gévemment then confusingly contends that the bridge loan funds —
i.e., funds that are meant to “bridge” a specified time period and become due at the expiration of
that period3 ~ were somehow meant to be used only to finance the acquisition of the Cat Canyon
oil field. The Government fails to explain how a short-térm loan, for an amount far less than the
contemplated acquisition price of the target asset, can be used as financing for that asset. To the
extent the Government seeks to raise such an argurhent at trial, tile Court should preclude it as

lacking foundation.

3 See, e.g., “Bridge Loan,” Investopedia.com,
http://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/bridgeloan.asp (“A bridge loan is a short-term loan used
until a person or company secures permanent financing or removes an existing obligation™).
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D. The Court Should Exclude Any Evidence Pertaining to Morgan Stanley
Because Mr. Brennerman’s Conduct In That Regard Cannot Be Said to
Constitute Criminal Conduct and It Is Not Probative Of Any Other Issue

The Government plans to introduce testimony from Morgan Stanley witnesses, as well as
related documentary evidence. See generally Gov’t Witness List; Gov’t Exhibit List. Although
the Government’s position on why Mr. Brennerman’s interactions with Morgan Stanley support
the crimes charged in the Indictment has shifted over time,# it is now clear that evidence of Mr..
Brennerman’s conduct respecting Morgan Stanley does not support any of the charged criminal
offenses. Thus, the evidence should be precluded under Federal Rules of Evidence 401 and 402.
Nor is such evidence admissible under Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b) because it carries little
to no probative value and admitting it under that basis would be overly prejudicial. See Fed. R.
Evid. 403.

Under any of the G'ovemment"s various, and constantly shifting, fheon'es, Mr.,
Brennerman’s dealings with Morgan Stanley in 2013 do not amount to any actionable criminal
conduct. The nebulous allegations that Mr. Brennerman “met with” Morgan Stanley employees -
about “opening an account,” or that he Wanted to “utiliz[e] Morgan Stanley’s investment banking
services to facilitate” the Cat Canyon oil field transaction, or even that he “broached the
possibility of Morgan Stanley providing financing for Blacksands” for that transaction are
wholly insufficient to establish any of the elements of baﬁk fraud.

Indeed, the facts, as proffered by the Government and demonstrated by fhe evidence, do

not even show that Mr. Brennerman atfempted to commit bank fraud — i.e., that he took a

4 Compare Dkt. 33-2, 9 15 (Ellard Aff. in Support of Search Warrant) (“Brennerman contacted
Morgan Stanley about utilizing Morgan Stanley s investment banking services to facilitate the
sale of an oil exploration business . . . .) with Gov’t Mot. at 4 (“Brennerman then broached the
possibility of Morgan Stanley providing financing for Blacksands, and for the Cat Canyon deal
in particular.”).
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“substantial step” designed to defraud the bank. See United States v. Martinez, 775 F.2d 31,35
(2d Cir. 1985). “A substantial step must.be something more than mere preparation . . . . United
States v. Manley, 632 F.2d 978, 987 (2d Cir. 1980). “Whether conduct represents a substantial
step towards the fulfillment of a criminal design is a determination so dependent on the particular
factual context of each case that, of necessity, there can be no litmus test to guide the reviewing
courts.” Id. at 988. “But it is clear that a substantial step is not identical to an overt act; i is
something more and takes into consideration not only what has been done, but what remains to
be done before the crime can be comm.itted.” United States v. Plotitsa, No. 00 CR 393 (KTD),
2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18860, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 19, 2001) (citing Manley, 632 F.2d at 987)
(emphasis added); see also United States v. F arhane 634 F 3d 127, 148 (2d Cir. 201 D
(“[Ilmportant to a substantial- step assessment is an understandmg of the underlylng conduct
proscribed by the ¢ crime being attempted.”); Unifed States v. Ivic, 700 F.2d 51, 66 (2d Cir. 1983)
(Friendly, J.) (obserying that substantial step requirement serves to ensure that person is
convicted for attempt only when actions manifest “firm disposition” to commit charged crime).
Here, none of the conduct relied on by the Govemment in relation to Mr. Brennerman’s
deahngs with Morgan Stanley in 2013 Acan be characterlzed as a “substantial step” towards
defraudmg the bank. The Government’s sole basrs at trial, in support of its case that M.
Brennerman defrauded Morgan Stanley appears to rely on two emails that Morgan Stanley
received from China International Capital Corporation (Hong Kong) Limited (“CFICC”) — another
Chinese bank — for\yarding along proposals l'rorrl .Mr. Brennerman and Blacksands. See GX 406
& 407. In other words, the Government apparently does not intend to offer any evidence that
Mr; Brennerrnan made any representations to Mo;;gan Stanley with respect to the Cat Canyon oil

field transaetion, but instead focuses on representations he made to a foreign bank. Thus, the
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Government itself concedes that Mr. Brennerman neither defrauded nor attempted to defraud
Morgan Stanley.>

Because Mr. Brennerman’s conduct in this regard does not rise to the level of a criminal
offense, the Government should be precluded from offering any evidence related to Morgan
Stanley at trial, including the teétimony of its witnesses. Similarly, the Government should not
be permitted to introduce this evidence under Rule 404(b): Mr. Brennerman’s conduct was not
criminal and therefore it would not be relevant to any of the pérmitted bases for admission under
that rule, and, in any event, its prejudicial effect vastly outweighs aﬂy probative value.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Brennerman’s motion should be granted in its entirety.

Dated: New York, New York
November 9, 2017
Respectfully submitted,

/s/Brian D. Waller

Maranda Fritz (MF 8060)

Brian D. Waller (BW 7163)

Brian K. Steinwascher (BS 1469)

THOMPSON HINE LLP

335 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10017

(212) 344-5680

maranda.fritz@thompsonhine.com
. brian. waller@thompsonhine.com

Counsel for Defendant Raheem Brennerman

> Even putting aside that the Government has no evidence for the theory that is, arguably, most
favorable to the it — that Mr. Brennerman sought to obtain financing from Morgan Stanley — the
Government still goes through lengths to disclaim that Mr. Brennerman made direct
representations to Morgan Stanley to obtain financing. Instead, the Government caveats its own
theory of Mr. Brennerman’s conduct by describing him as “broach[ing] the possibility” of
obtaining financing from Morgan Stanley — conduct that hardly can be described as a
“substantial step” toward defrauding the bank.

: 10
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IHOMPSON ATIANTA __CIEVEAND  DAYION  WASHINGTON, D.C.
HIN E CINCINNATT COLUMBUS NEW YORK

November 29, 2017
Via ECF and Email

Hon. Richard J. Sullivan

Thurgood Marshall _
United States Courthouse, Room 905
40 Foley Square ‘

New York, NY 10007

Re: United States v. Raheem J. Brennerman; No. 17 Cr. 337 (RJS)
Dear Judge Sullivan,

We write to address the issue raised today with respect to the production of certain documents.
Specifically, we learned today that that the notes of the Government’s witness, Julian Madgett,
pertaining to matters to which he testified, were not obtained by the Government, or provided to
the defense. For the reasons detailed below, it is our position that the materials should have been
produced pursuant to Fed. Rule Crim. P. 16 and the Jencks Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3500; in addition,
the defendant is serving a subpoena on counsel for this witness, Paul Hessler, for their
production and the production of other documents.

The Government has asserted that Mr. Madgett’s notes — made by the alleged victim and
pertaining to the precise subject matter at issue in this trial — are not in its actual “possession,”
and therefore it has no obligation to produce them. But possession is not so narrowly defined.
Courts have required the Government to disclose evidence material to the defense where the
Government “actually or constructively” possesses it. E.g., United States v. Joseph, 996 F.2d 36,
39 (3d Cir. 1993) (“The prosecution is obligated to produce certain evidence actually or
constructively in its possession or accessible to it.” (internal quotation marks omitted)); cf. Kyles
v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 437 (1995) (holding that, to satisfy Brady and Giglio, prosecutors have
“a duty to learn of any favorable evidence known to the others acting on the government’s behalf
in the case”). In particular, in United States v. Paternina-Vergara, the Second Circuit held that
the Government had an obligation to make good faith efforts to obtain Jencks Act statements
possessed by a third party that had cooperated extensively, and had a close relationship with, the
Government. 749 F.2d 993 (2d Cir. 1984). And in United States v. Stein, the court directed the
Government to produce documents in the actual possession of a third party, KPMG, because
KPMG had voluntarily agreed to do so in an deferred prosecution agreement. 488 F. Supp. 2d
350,361 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (noting that the term “control” has been “broadly construed”); see also
United States v. Kilroy, 488 F. Supp. 2d 350, 362 (E.D. Wis. 1981) (“Since Standard Oil is
cooperating with the Government in the preparation of the case and is making available to the
Government for retention in the Government’s files any records which Standard Oil has and

Maranda Fritz@ThompsonHine.com Fax: 212.344.6101 Phone: 212.908.3966 ) ) mf 4848-8339-0807.3
THOMPSON HINE t1p 335 Madison Avenue ~wwiw. ThompsonHine.com
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 12th Floor O 212,344.5680

New York, New York 10017-4611 (F: 212.344.6101
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which the Government wants, however, it is not unreasonable to treat the records as being within
the Government’s control at least to the extent of requiring the Government to request the
records on the defendant’s behalf and to include them in its files for the defendant’s review if
Standard Oil agrees to make them available to the Government.” (emphasis added)).!

Here, there can be no question that Mr. Madgett and his employer, ICBC (London) plc
(“ICBC”), are in a cooperative relationship with the Government. ICBC is the complainant and
alleged victim in this case. Moreover, counsel for ICBC confirmed in the recent criminal
contempt trial before Judge Kaplan that ICBC had voluntarily produced more than 5000 pages of
documents at the mere request of the Government. And Mr. Madgett is voluntarily appearing as
a Government witness. Given this close relationship, and one demonstrating extensive
cooperation between Mr. Madgett, ICBC, and the Government, the Government had (and has) an
obligation to obtain and produce to Mr. Brennerman materials required by Rule 16 and the
Jencks Act. Yet, Mr. Madgett testified today that the Government never asked him for any
notes.

Mr. Brennerman therefore moves this Court to direct the Government to request, at a minimum,
Mr. Madgett’s notes that pertain to the subject matter of this case and his testimony. This is
especially necessary given the critical importance of such materials to this case and Mr.
Brennerman’s defense, as no documents have been produced to date that Jpertain to the critical
issue of ICBC’s decision-making process with respect to the loan it provided to Mr. Brennerman
—1.€., the transaction at the very core of the Government’s case. '

Additionally, since Mr. Brennerman has been unable to obtain any such materials, and in light of
Mr. Madgett’s testimony, we are issuing a subpoena directly to ICBC, through its counsel Mr.
Hessler, for these records and others.

We are prepared to address these issues at any time convenient to the Court.

! Courts have granted motions to dismiss an indictment where the Government fails to
satisfy its discovery and disclosure obligations, either on the basis of a due process violation or
under the court’s inherent supervisory powers, including where the Government belatedly
disclosed Jencks Act materials. E.g., United States v. Chapman, 524 F.3d 1073 (Sth Cir. 2008).
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Respectfully,

s/ Maranda E. Fritz

Maranda E. Fritz

Enclosures
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AO 89 (Rev. 08/09) Subpoena to Testify at a Hearing or Trial in a Criminal Case

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of New York

United States of America
V.

Case No. 1:17-cr-0377-RJS
Raheem J. Brennerman

Defendant

N Nl N N N

SUBPOENA TO TESTIFY AT A HEARING OR TRIAL IN A CRIMINAL CASE

To: Julian Madgett

YOU ARE COMMANDED to appear in the United States district court at the time, date, and place shown
below to testify in this criminal case. When you arrive, you must remain at the court until the judge or a court officer
allows you to leave.

Place of Appearance: Southern District of New York Courtroom No.:
15C
500 Pearl Street ——
New York, New York Date and Time: 4151069017 9:30 am )

You must also bring with you the following documents, electronically stored information, or objects (blank if ot
applicable):

Please see attached rider.

(SEAL)

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

The name, address, e-mail, and telephone number of the attorney representing (name of partyy _ Raheem J. Brennerman

, who requests this subpoena, are:

Maranda E. Fritz, Esq.

Brian D. Waller, Esq.

Brian K. Steinwascher, Esq.

Thompson Hine LLP

335 Madison Avenue, 12th Floor

New York, New York 10017-4611

(212) 908-3966

Maran%aplf)%'liger]gpsonHine.com, Brian.Waller@ThoTBignHine.com & Brian,Steinwascher@ThompsonHine.com
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AO 89 (Rev. 08/09) Subpoena to Testify at a Hearing or Trial in a Criminal Case (Page -

Case No. 1:17-cr-0377-RJS

PROOF OF SERVICE

This subpoena for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

03 Tserved the subpoena by delivering a copy to the named person as follows:

on (date) ;or

0 Ireturned the subpoena unexecuted because:

.- Unless the subpoena was issued on behalf of the United States, or one of its officers or agents, | have also
tendered to the witness fees for one day’s attendance, and the mileage allowed by law, in the amount of

$

My fees are $ : for travel and §  for services, for a total of § 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

.- .APPENDIXF 122a
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RIDER
(Subpoena to Julian Madgett)

Definitions and Instructions:

1.

2.

Please produce any documents responsive to this Subpoena by 12/6/2017 at 9:30 am.

Please produce requested records in electronic form (native format where necessary to
view the material in its full scope) in a manner that is OCR-searchable, and with all
available electronic metadata.

. The term “documents” includes writings, emails, text messages, drawings
3 3 3 2
"graphs, charts, calendar entries, photographs, audio or visual recordings, images,

and other data or data compilations, and includes materials in both paper and
electronic form.

The term “ICBC” refers to the Plaintiff in the civil litigation in the Southern District
of New York captioned ICBC (London) plc v. The Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc., 15
Cv. 70 (LAK) and includes its agents, representatives and counsel.

The term “Blacksands Pacific” includes The Blacksands Pacific Group Inc. and the
Blacksands Pacific Alpha Blue, LLC or any Blacksands Pacific entity and any of its
subsidiaries and affiliates, and any officer, employee, volunteer, representative, or agent
of those entities.

. The Subpoena calls for the production of documents from the period January 1, 2013 to

March 3, 2017.

- Any documents withheld on grounds of privilege must be identified on a privilege log

with descriptions sufficient to identify their dates, authors, recipients, and general subject
matter.

Materials to be Produced:

1.

All notes relating to meetings and communications with representatives of Blacksands
Pacific.

All documents relating to or reflecting the decision by the credit committee at ICBC to
issue a bridge loan to Blacksands Pacific including but not limited to the “credit paper”
and memorialization of the committee’s decision.
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AO 89 (Rev. 08/09) Subpoena to Testify at a Hearing or Trial in a Criminal Case

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of New York'

United States of America
V.

Case No. 1:17-¢cr-0377-RJS
Raheem J. Brennerman

R N N

Defendant

SUBPOENA TO TESTIFY AT A HEARING OR TRIAL IN A CRIMINAL CASE

To: Julian Madgett

YOU ARE COMMANDED to appear in the United States district court at the time, date, and place shown
below to testify in this criminal case. When you arrive, you must remain at the court until the judge or a court officer
allows you to leave.

Place of Appearance: Southern District of New York Courtroom No.:
15C
500 Pearl Street I Time:
New York, New York Date and Time: 4 5/56/2017 9:30 am

You must also bring with you the following documents, electronically stored information, or objects (blank if not
applicable):

Please see attached rider.

(SEAL)

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

. Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

The name, address, e-mail, and telephone number of the attorney representing (name of party) ~ Raheem J. Brennerman

, who requests this subpoena, are:

Maranda E. Fritz, Esq. -

Brian D. Waller, Esq.

Brian K. Steinwascher, Esq.

Thompson Hine LLP .

335 Madison Avenue, 12th Floor

New York, New York 10017-4611

(212) 908-3966

Marangﬁ)lf)%'liggrﬁpsonmne.com, Brian.WaIIer@ThngﬁgnHine.com & Brian.Steinwascher@ThompsonHine.com
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AO 89 (Rev. 08/09) Subpoena to Testify at a Hearing or Trial in a Criminal Case (Page2)

Case No. 1:17-cr-0377-RJS
PROOF OF SERVICE

This subpoena for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

O I served the subpoena by delivering a copy to the named person as follows:

on (date) s or

(3 Ireturned the subpoena unexecuted because:

Unless the subpoena was issued on behalf of the United States, or one of its officers or agents, I have also
tendered to the witness fees for one day’s attendance, and the mileage allowed by law, in the amount of

$

’,

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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RIDER
(Subpoena to Julian Madgett)

Definitions and Instructions:
1. Please produce any documents responsive to this Subpoena by 12/6/2017 at 9:30 am.

2. Please produce requested records in electronic form (native format where necessary to
view the material in its full scope) in a manner that is OCR-searchable, and with all
available electronic metadata.

3. The term “documents” includes writings, emails, text messages, drawings,
graphs, charts, calendar entries, photographs, audio or visual recordings, images,
and other data or data compilations, and includes materials in both paper and
electronic form.

4. The term “ICBC” refefs to the Plaintiff in the civil litigation in the Southern District
of New York captioned ICBC (London) plc v. The Blacksands Pacific Group, Inc., 15
Cv. 70 (LAK) and includes its agents, representatives and counsel.

5. The term “Blacksands Pacific” includes The Blacksands Pacific Group Inc. and the ~ *
Blacksands Pacific Alpha Blue, LLC or any Blacksands Pacific entity and any of its
subsidiaries and affiliates, and any officer, employee, volunteer, representative, or agent
of those entities.

6. The Subpoena calls for the production of documents from the period January 1, 2013 to *
March 3, 2017.

7. Any documents withheld on grounds of privilege must be identified on a privilege log
with descriptions sufficient to identify their dates, authors, recipients, and general subject
matter.

Materials to be Produced:

1. All notes relating to meetings and communications with representatives of Blacksands
Pacific.

2. All documents relating to or reflecting the decision by the credit committee at ICBC to

issue a bridge loan to Blacksands Pacific including but not limited to the “credit paper”
and memorialization of the committee’s decision.
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TRULINCS 54001048 - BRENNERMAN, RAHEEM J - Unit: BRO-I-B

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

FROM: 54001048
TO:
SUBJECT: Re: LEGAL CORRESPONDENCE -06.20.18
DATE: 06/20/2018 02:25:49 PM
x i .. " Raheem J. Brennerman (54001-048)
Metropolitan Detention Center
P O Box 325002
Brooklyn, New York 11232
Honorable Judge Richard J. Sullivan
United States District Judge
United States District Court
Thurgood Marshall U.S. Courthouse
40 Foley Square
New York, New York 10007
June 20, 2018

Re: United States v. Raheem J. Brennerman
Case No: 1:17-cr-337 (RJS)

Dear Judge Sullivan

Defendant Pro Se, Raheem Brennerman ("Brennerman") submits additional evidence to bolster his arguments, which.;
are succinctly highlighted in correspondences dated June 10, 2018 (see 17-cr-337 (RJS), dkt. no. 164), the June 11, 2018 and
June 17, 2018 correspondences.

Brennerman submits, Government Exhibit 1-57, e-mail correspondence between Mr. Scott Stout and Brennerman,
which highlights the e-mail signature of Scott Stout and the Beverly Hills, California address of Morgan Stanley Smith Bamey
LLC (not Morgan Stanley Private Bank), Government Exhibit 1-57A, the account opening form, which highlights “Morgan
Stanley Smith Barney (not Morgan Stanley Private Bank)" at the top right corner of the form; Government Exhibit 1-73, e-mail
between Scott Stout and Brennerman, which highlights Brennerman's alleged fraud - the perks which he became entitled to,

jt

..~

however more important, page two of the e-mail correspondence highlights within the “important Notice to Recipient” in refevant

parts that "The sender of this e-mail is an employee of Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC ("Morgan Stanley"); Government
Exhibit 529, the Morgan Stanley account statement, which highlights Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC (not Morgan Stanley
Private Bank) at the bottom left corner of the bank statement cover page. Additionally Brennerman submits the profile of Mr.
Scott Stout which highlights that Mr. Scott Stout worked at Morgan Stanley Wealth Management between May 2011 and
November 2014, as well the announcement on September 25, 2012 by Morgan Stanley Smith Bamey LLC stating In relevant
parts that "Morgan Stanley Smith Barney is now Morgan Stanley Weaith Management.

These evidence are important to highlight that Brennerman interacted with Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC which is
indisputably not FDIC insured and thus the essential element necessary to convict for bank fraud in violation of 18 United
States Code Section 1344(1) and its related conspiracy - conspiracy to commit bank fraud in violation of 18 United States Code
Section 1349 cannot be satisfied and Brennerman's relief for judgment of acquittal, pursuant to Rule 29 of the Federal Rules of
Criminal Procedure should be granted, and that Government failed to conduct the necessary diigence or investigation prior to
indicting and prosecuting Brennerman. ) -

Brennerman highlights the following as to the wire fraud charge and its related conspiracy. Brennerman was charged in
two criminal cases - criminal contempt of court in case no. 17-cr-155 (LAK), before Hon. Judge Lewis A. Kaplan and the related
fraud case in case no. 17-cr-337 (RJS), before Hon. Richard J. Sullivan, both stemming from the underlying civil case, case no.
15 cv 70 (LAK) captioned - ICBC (London) PLC v. The Blacksands Pacific Group, inc before Hon. Judge Lewis A. Kaplan.
Because the trial in the case before Judge Kaplan was scheduled ahead of that before this court, Brennerman sought to obtain
the relevant ICBC London lending and underwriting file which is probative as to materiality an essential element of the charged
crime of wire fraud and its related conspiracy. Because Brennerman’s request to both the government and directly to ICBC
(London) PLC had been denied, Brennerman sought to compel for the relevant files through U.S District Court (S.D.N.Y), since
the criminal cases stemming from the ICBC (London) PLC transaction were being prosecuted at the U.S District Court
(S.D.N.Y), however Brennerman’s request to U:S District Court (S.D.N.Y) was denied (see 17-¢r-155 (LAK), dkt. no. 76).
Deprived of the relevant files necessary to cross-examine any government witness as to substance or credibility, Brennerman
moved in hig PRI Mine and reply to Govemment's moti rb;yx-limine, priot to trial of the refated fraud charge, for U.S
District Court {S.D.N.Y) to exclude the testimony of any witnes & ICBC (London), because such testimony will be highly
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prejudicial and unfair to Brennerman as government will simply be allowed to present any witness, who will be able to say
anything without corroboration and without Brennerman having the opportunity to cross-examine him as to substance or
credibility, as Brennerman would not have been able to review the relevant lending and underwriting files. Moreover, he will be
unable to assert his good faith defense, thus violating Brennerman's constitutional rights to a fair trial.

Even after trial, Brennerman has presented evidence to hightight that Mr. Robert Clarke (not Mr. Julian Madgett) was
responsible for the relevant transaction at ICBC (London) PLC as evidenced through his affidavit in the underlying civil case at
15 cv 70 (LAK). (See copy of Robert Clarke affidavit at, (17-cr-337 (RJS), dkt. no. 164, exhibit 2), Additionally Brennerman
submitted evidence - Government Exhibit 1-19 and 1-22 which highlights that Blacksands had already incurred and disbursed
$6.45 mitlion in satisfying the finance conditions of ICBC (London) PLC and that the bridge finance was agreed to replace part
of those funds which Blacksands already disbursed, further that Brennerman informed both Mr. Bo Jiang and Mr. Julian
Madgett at ICBC (London) PLC and ICBC (London) PLC agreed to the use of the bridge finance. (See 17-cr-337 (RJS), dkt. no.
164, exhibit 2). Among others, Brennerman submitted newly discovered evidence (see 17-cr-337 {RJS), dit. no. 164, exhibit 3)
- the 2017 ICBC {London) PLC financial and company disclosure which was made publicly available on June 6, 2018, after trial.
The disclosure highlights that there was no fraud. Because ICBC (London) PLC, the alleged victim of the wire fraud and related
conspiracy has made no disclosure, representation or announcement that the transaction involving Blacksands Pacific was
fraudulent o that it became a victim of fraud due to the transaction with Blacksands. Notwithstanding, that iICBC (London) PLC,
a financial institution and publicly traded company in United Kingdom (England and Wales) is mandated by regulations to
disclose publicly, If it became a victim of fraud or became involved with fraudulent transaction. This is particularly significant,
where Government never reviewed, adduced or presented the relevant ICBC London lending and underwriting files, and
because Brennerman was deprived from engaging in any meaningful cross-examination of the sole witness presented by
Government from ICBC (London) PLC as to credibility and substance. In addition to the fact that, the sole witness - Mr. Julian
Madgett, is not a member of the credit committee responsible for approving the transaction at ICBC (London) PLC.

Thus, Brennerman submits, arguing that since Government ostensibly argued (although erroneously) that Scott Stout
worked at Morgan Stanley Private Bank (instead of Morgan Stanley Smith Barney) in their opposition to his Rule 29 and 33
motion. (See 17-cr-337 (RJS), dkt. no. 149}, now highlighted as an erroneous proffer by Gavernment given the overwhelming
evidence which were all available to Government. Government's credibility is questionable; further that, because Brennerman
was deprived of the relevant ICBC London lending and underwriting file prior to trial and even Government concedes that it had
not reviewed the files: additionally, because Robert Clarke and not Julian Madgett is/was responsible for the relevant .
transaction at ICBC (London) PLC as highlighted through his affidavit; additionally, because Brennerman suffered for ineffective
assistance of counsel due to the conflict of interest issue, with his trial counsel; additionally, because Brennerman submitted t
and hightighted newly discovered evidence - the 2017 financial and company disclosure, by {CBC {London) PLC, which was
filed and made public on June 6, 2018. Brennerman respectfully requests and pleads for the Court to resolve the factual dispute
as 1o the relevant ICBC London transaction with Blacksands Pacific, as it pertains to this case, by reviewing the relevant iCBC
London lending and underwriting files, especially in light of the newly discovered evidence which demonstrates that, ICBC
{London) PLC, the alleged victim has not disclosed or represented that the transaction with Blacksands was fraudulent or that it
became a victim of fraud through the transaction with Blacksands, which it would have had to disclose by regulation if any fraud
occurred.

The above presents significant issues, because Brennerman suffered prejudicial spillover on other counts of the
charged crime, due fo Government's erroneous argument and presentment to the court and jury at trial. In addition,
Brennerman suffered prejudice due to the conflict of interest issue with his trial counsel. Evidence submitted to date, supports,
Brennerman's pleading for a new trial, pursuant to Rule 33 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Brennerman submits the above and the appended evidence in addition o his submissions at {dkt. no. 164), his June 11,
2018 and June 17, 2018 correspondences, and awaits the Court's decision

Dated: June 20, 2018
New York City, New York
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

Is/ Raheem J. Brennerman
Defendant Pro Se

- _APPENDIXF 128a
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From: BRENNERMAN, R. 3 @The Executive Office
To: Stout, Scott

Cc: BRENNERMAN R, 1@Exeqtive Office
Subject: Re: Morgan Stanley (Wealth Management)
Date: Tuesday, January 8, 2013 9:09:43 AM
Attachments: Morgan Stantey {Client Profile).pdf
Importance: High

Dear Scott,

As discussed, attached is the completed forms, as advised the account will be in the
corporate name however you wanted me to also complete a form with personal
information. As discussed, I will require Debit Card and AMEX card with the
account.

Please let know what are the next steps.

Best Regards

From: Stout, Scott '

Sent: Monday, December 10, 2012 1:10 PM
To: mailto:

Subject: RE: 2013 Preparation

Hi Rj,

Just a reminder to get those forms to me 501 can get everything in order prior to our lunch on
Friday.

Thanks,
Scott

Scott Stout

F.A. - Weallh Management
MorganStanley
Direct: 310 205 4912

9665 Wilshire Bivd., 6™ Flaor
Beverly Hills, CA 90212

seott atoutb@ MaLran wnshand 'H LO0,

APPENDIX F 1292 , L
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9663 Wikshire Houlevant MorganStanley

Saite A Bevedy Hills, CARIID
Kingly provide ail personal information. SmithBarnay
For additional owners, please complele 8 ¢ pmme

Full Name N"itm" efretson PRoaniman

Address <] S IR Pvivug, 215

City _Miw YoRK State APW_NeK__ zip Code (67

Home Phorié Business

Cell I £99 Lg3¢ Fax i Rl juo?

SS# or Tax ID —_ . USs Citizen(}) N ;

Marital Status - Qirv; #of Dependents i Date of Birth _ H

E-mall Address _ Y imcen & DlekSomds paii fo - Cens

Telephona access Prompts Mother’s Maiden Name

City of Birth or 1% School Attended_ v iGHT

Employer f}m\krsl\\é‘a fﬂthl( {J\/ 'f\'(:{"f \ LR ATION

Nature of Business _(/it § Grs ‘Occupation &t 3 (i En

Est. Annual Compensation §_12G,6% / fse Si ‘?/‘7"\ Employed Since _=' {0
Primary Source of lncome-Check all that apply

Annual Sa!aryhﬂi‘_ investments_*- _ Reticement Assels Amount $

Est. Total Annual Income {(all sources) o
Est. Liquid Net Worth $_45m Est. Total Net Worth $__ _

Tax Bracket (percentile)____

Investmeant Objectives: (Please rank 1 through 4, in order of priority) i
Growth _’_":__ Current income 5 ... Tax Defarral l:" Liquidity. X2 . ..
Investing Since (year) stocks 17_Bonds 11 _Commodities GI__ Options 02
Risk Tolerance (check one) Aggressive ___ Moderate X 2 _Conservative _____
Speculation Yes No_____
Primary Financial Need: (circle one} '
(SZ\lea ith Accumulahon) Major Purchase Healthcare Education
Estate Planning Retirement Charity income
Outside Investments: Firms Used:
Equities $_____ Fixed income §. Cash$___ Alt Investments___
Time Horizon _ Liquidity Needs _

Are you or anyona in your household a major share holden in a putlicly traded company? Y(N}
Ara you an executive of a publicly traded company? Y

Do you o anyone in your immediate family work for a brokerage house? Y (U)

s gnyone in your immediate family employed by CitiGroup? Y (N,

QM‘ | fl"

Please sign and date above

in order to open your account we are required o obtain this information. Thank you far
assisting us.
THIS INFORMATION WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL 02/2012

APPENDIX F 130a
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SEGS Wilshine Honlevint N}Orqangian tev

Sunive 600 Hoverly itk CA RIS Ao ek £ ~
Kindly provide all persenal information. SithBarney
For additional owners, please compleie g 2¥ protite.

Full Name _ sJorksnn T Bl (e

Address A16G fhwais thitues  FAfKaiy, Quith 560

city LES Vb State _NEVADD Zip Code 0 &G
Home Phone Business

cell._IFEN E4 50 Fax .

sst or Tax 10 __ NG US Citizen(¥ N

Marital Status Ngf:" #of Dependents______ Date of Bith ____

E-mait Address —
Telephone access Prompts Mother’s Maiden Name

City of Birth or 1 School Attended _dWailT
Employer .

Nature of Business ___INVENTMENTS Occupation

Est, Annual Compensation $ Employed Since __________

Primary Source of Income-Check al! that apply
Annual Salary____Inveslments, __ Retirement Assets_____ Amount £
Est Total Annual Income (all sources) :
Est, Liquid Net Worth § Est. TotalNetWorth$___
Tax Bracket (percentile)

investment Objectives: {Please rank 1 thraugh 4, in order of priority}

2 Z
Growth | ! Current Income ‘_y) __Tax Detatral _<*__ Liquidhy,,__f_h_m_,,_

investing Since (year) Stocks 17 Bonds 11_Coramodities . options UL
Risk Tolerance {check one) Aggressive ____ Moderata X_Conservative ____
Speculation Yes No_____

Primary Financial Need: (circie one)

Wealth Accumulation Major Purchase Healthcare Education
(Estate Planning 3 Retirement Charity Income
Outslide Investments: Firms Used: .
Equities §__ Fixed Income $______Cash$__ ___ Altinvestments_______

Time Horizon . liquidity Needs

Are you or anyene in your household a major share holder in a publicly traded company? Y N
Are you an execulive of a publicly traded company? ¥ N

Do yau or anyone in your immediate family work for a brokerage house? ¥ N

Is anyone in your immediate famity employed by GitiGroup? Y N

f

A
At ] 15

Please sign and date above

tn order to open your account we are required to obtain this information. Thank you tor
assisting us.
THIS INFORMATION WiLL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL 02/2012

APPENDIX F 131a
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From: BRENNERMAN, R. J @The Executive Office
To: Stout, Scott

Cer Gevarter, Mona

Subject: Re: Platinum AMEX

Date: Wednesday, January 9, 2013 7:24:39 PM
Importance: High

Dear Mona,

Are you able to call me on my cellphone 917 699 6430 regarding the email below

Best Regards

From: Stout, Scott

Sent: Wednesday, January 09, 2013 4:45 PM
To: mailto:thrennerman@blacksandspacific.com
Cc: Gevarter, Mona

Subject: Platinum AMEX

Rl,
Please give Mona a call to set up your Platinum AMEX card. 310205 4751.

As a Morgan Stanley perk, if you spend $100k annually we deposit $500 into your account to cover
your annual fee {$450).

Other MS/Platinum Perks Include:
- First Class Launge Access
- $200 annually in airline fee credits (checking bags, etc)
- No foreign transaction fees
- - Premium upgrades for car rentals '
- Concierge
- 20% Travel Bonus

Scott Stout

F.A. - Wealth Managementt
MorganStanley
Divect: 310 205 4912

9855 Wilshire Bivd., 6" Flnor
Bevertly Hills, CA 80212

htip /vy morganstaniey com/fafscott stout

seoti siud@moratngtanl i cong

important Notice to Recipients:

APPENDIX F 132a
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Please do not use e-mail o request, authotize or effect the purchase or sale of any secusity or
conmedity. Unfortunately, we cannot execute such instructions provided in e-mail. Thank you.

The sender of this e-mail is an employee of Morgan Stanley Smith Barney I.LLC ("Morgan Slanley™). if you
have received this communication in error, please dasiroy all elecironic and paper copies and notify the
sender immediately. Erroneous fransmission is not infended to waive confidentiality or privilege. Morgan
Stanley reserves the vdght, 16 the extent permiled under applicable law, to monitor electronic
communications.  This  message i5  subject o tenms  available at  the following link:
hitp:iaww morganstantey comfdisclaimersimasbemait.htenl. {f you cennot access this link, please notify
us by reply message and we will send the contents to you. By messaging with Morgan Stanley vou
consent to the foregoing.

APPENDIX F 133a
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A Board Position for You - These companies need board members. Click here to be matched with them. Ad -

Scott Stout + 3rd —~  MedVector Clinical Trials

CEOQ, Co-Founder at MedVector Clinical Trials . A, University of Arizona

£l Segundo, California {Z] see contact info

fopdait l:'“ ] 18.& 500+ connections

MedVector's mission is to advance medicine by streamlining the clinical trial industry. We provide
Pharmaceutical & Biotech companies, Contract Research Organizations (CRO) and research institutes a
global patient network, which enables them to quickly identify clinical trial candidates, exponentially im...

Show more «

Experience

CEO & Co-Founder

annenn. MedVector Clinical Trials
Jun 2017 - Present « 1yr 1 mo
&l Seqgundo, CA

MedVector’s mission is to advance medicine by streamlining the clinical trial industry. We pravide
Pharmaceutical & Biotech companies, Contract Research Organizations (CRO} and research
institutes a glabal patient network utilizing Telemedicine. This enables researchers to quickly
identify and connect to more clinical trial candidates, exponentially improving time to market.

Once suitable candidates have been identified, MedVector connects our research clients to trial
participants utilizing a state of the art, HIPAA compliant, telemedicine network, allowing them to
virtuafly move patients to clinical trial site-locations from anywhere in the world.

Qur process altows clinicat trial sites (locations) to capture marketshare, creates economies-of-scale
by removing redundancies in the current marketplace, creates revenue for hospitals not conducting
dinical trials, gives remote populations access to cutting edge medicine, and significantly expedites
the process of bringing life saving, advanced medicine to market.

To learn mare visit: www.MedVectorTrials.com

Financial Advisor

Wells Fargo Private Bank -

Qct 2014 ~ Apr 2018« 3 yrs 7 mos
Los Angeles, California

Built a Wealth Management team within the Private Bank, incorporting Wealth Managers, Portfolic
Managers, Private Bankers and Financial Advisors.

Financial Advisor :

MOBPENPINVERith Managemen 135a.
May 2011 —~Nov 2014 « 3yrs 7 mos ) ) . .
Beverly Hills A ’

Brand yourself.
Properly.

éhop Stickers H MO0

Promoted

o i
i

A Board Position for You n
These companies need board ™
members. Click here to be & ’ J
matched with them.

Goagle Data Sludio {bela) §
See All Your Marketing Data in C\
Beauttiful, Shareabla Reports. 4
For Free.

Bevama a Social Worker .
Eatn Your MSW Online from /7, >
USC. No GRE Required. N/

Messaaina [
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D &S Investments
Jan 2008 - May 20311 « 3 yrs 5 mos

Advised a Fainily Office regarding options strategy.

Education

A

Interests

{32univ
ersity of

Arizona

[E};JMed
Vector
Clinlcat

ipls
ainiv

ersity of

Arizona

University of Arizona

Bachelor of Science {BS), Marketing
1997 - 2002 '
Activities and Societies: Delta Chi

University of Arizona sare Barrington Legal, Inc.
214,411 followers ngtan 40 followers
Legal,
) 0y ta . - v
MedVector Clinical Trials e Delta Chi Fraternity
4 followers ‘ Chi 5471 members
Frateeni
University of Arizona Alumni [ Fortis Partners
34,140 members s 1,045 followers
Partners
See ali
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Morgan Stanley Smith Barney is
Now Morgan Stanley Wealth
Management

Sep 25, 2012

Morgan Stanley's U.S. Wealth Management Business Has a
New Name Following Largest-Ever Integration in the Wealth
Management Industry

New York —

Morgan Stanley (NYSE: MS) today announced that its U.S. weaith management business, Morgan
Staniey Smith Barney, has been renamed Morgan Stanley Wealth Management (MSWM),

Morgan Stanley Weaith Management is an industry leader, managing $1.7 trillion in client assets
through a network of 17,000 representatives in 740 locations. Morgan Staniey on September 11
announced an agreement with Citigroup to increase its majority ownership of MSWM such that’
Morgan Stanley will assume full control by June of 2015, subject to regulatory approval. The
business was formed in 2009 as a joint venture between Morgan Stanley and Citi’s Smith Barney.

"Today, as we move under one name, we are culminating a three-year effort to integrate two
outstanding franchises,” said James Gorman, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Morgan
Stanley. “The Smith Barney name stood for investment excellence for three-quarters of a century,
and Morgan Stanley Wealth Management will provide the first-class service that has
distinguished Morgan Stanliey as a firm for more than 75 years. Going forward, we remain focused
on being the world's premier wealth managsment group.”

Said Greg Flaming, President of Morgan Stanley Wealth Management, “Today, we are one
integrated business, with one overarching mission: to earn the trust of our clients every day

APPENDIX F 137a
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N
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through superior advice and execution. Our name has changed to reflect our integration, but our
mission remains the same: We are committed to helping our clients reach their financial geals.”

The broker-dealer designation for Morgan Stanley Wealth Management will remain “Morgan
Stanley Smith Barney LLC."

Morgan Stanley Wealth Management, a global leader in wealth management, provides access to 8
wida range of products and services to individuals, businesses and institutions, including
brokerage and investment advisory services, financial and wealth planning, credit and lending,
cash managemant, annuities and insurance, retirement and trust services.

Morgan Stanley (NYSE: MS) is a leading global financial services firm providing a wide range of
investment banking, securities, investrment management and wealth management services, The
Firnvs employees serve clients worldwide including corporations, governments, institutions and
individuals from more than 1,200 offices in 43 countries. For further information about Morgan
Stanley, please visit www.motganstanley.com.

Media Relations Contact:

Jeanmarie McFadden, 212.761.2433

Jim wiggins, 914.225.6161

APPENDIX F 138a
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No. 20-

P R e - ST

"IN THE

Suprente Uourt of the Hnited States

. OCTOBER TERM, 2020

RAHEEM JEFFERSON BRENNERMAN,
Petitionér,
V.
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Respondent,

On Petition for a Writ of Certiorari
To the United States Court of Appeals
for the Second Circuit

APPENDIX PART II - PETITION FOR A WRIT pF CERTIORARI

Raheem J. Brennerman
FCI ALLENWOOD Low

P. O. Box 1000

White Deer, Pa. 17887-1000
Pro Se Petitioner
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HBTSbre?7 Madgett - cross

(Jury present)

Q. When your credit committee makes a decision, a credit
decision whether or not to give a loan or not to give a loan,
what sort of documentation does it produce? Does it produce a
memo that explains its reasons or analysis for giving a loan?
A. The credit committee will have a series of minutes which
reflects a discussion of the case in credit committee and
records the decision of the credit committee.

Q. Did you ever produce the documents from that credit

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300

APPENDIX G 140a

THE COURT: Okay. Have a seat. We will now begin the
cross-examination of Mr. Madgett by Mr. Waller.
CROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR. WALLER:
Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Madgett.
A. Good afternoon.
Q. When did you say you started working for ICBC?
A. 2009.
Q. And you work for ICBC in London, correct?
A. Correct.
Q. And it is a subsidiary of a Chinese bank?
A. It is a subsidiary and a branch of a Chinese bank.
Q. ICBC London is not FDIC insured; is that correct?
A. You are referring to the U.S. arrangement?
Q. That's correct.
A. No, it would not be because it's an operation in the U.K.
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committee, the ones you just described, to the government?

MR. ROOS: Objection.

THE COURT: You can answer.
A. To my knowledge, no. But I need to state perhaps it's
appropriate to say this: After the loan was defaulted, the
internal process of the bank means that the direct relationship
managers who were responsible for that dialogue step away and
the defaulted loan is then passed to a different department.
So, I'm not fully aware of all aspects of what has happened to
the management of the loan after around April 2014.
Q. And when I say produced to the government, I meant to the
prosecutors here in this case. You understood that?
A. I understood that and to my knowledge, no, that has not
been the case.
Q. But ICBC did produce a lot of documents to the government,
correct?
A. All I can state is that the documents were provided to our
legal advisors and then our legal advisors have interacted with
the U.S. Attorney's office.
Q. Would it be fair to say that some documents that are in the
underwriting file for ICBC were produced to the document and
others were not?
A. Some documents will have been passed across. I do not know
whether or not all or some. I'm not in -— I don't have that
knowledge.
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Q. Is there an underwriting file for a loan application such
as the one we are dealing with in this case?

A. There would be a credit application document which is where
the case for making the loan has been summarized, and that is

the credit application document which then goes to credit

committee for approval or decline.
Q. Do you know if that -- well who would have prepared that
document?

A. I would have been one of the main authors of that document.
Q. Do you know if that document was produced to the
government ?
A. I do not and I wouldn't see great relevance in it, but I do
not know if it has gone to the governmeﬁt.
Q. Well, relevance is not really your determination, correct?
A. Correct, correct. Yes.
Q. So you don't know if it was produced to the:government and
it certainly wasn't produced to the defense, correct, by ICBC?

THE COURT: Well, do you know?

THE WITNESS: I don't know, but I'm assuming from your
question that it wasn't.

THE COURT: Well, don't assume.

THE WITNESS: Okay, sorry. My apologies.

THE COURT: The jury knows not to assume anything from
a question. So, you just answer as to what you know.

THE WITNESS: All right.
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BY MR. WALLER:
Q. Was there an answer?
A. Could you repeat the question, please?
Q. Yes.
Do you know if that document that we were talking
about was ever produced?
THE COURT: He answered. He said I don't know.
THE WITNESS: I don't know.
THE COURT: And then he started assuming things and
that's when I jumped in.
BY MR. WALLER:
Q. So the answer is you don't know?
A. I don't know.

Q. Now, you first met Mr. Brennerman in 2011, correct?

A. Yes.
Q. Did you meet him in person for a meeting?
A. Yes.

Jumeirah Carlton Tower Hotel, does that sound right?

- ©

On one occasion I met him in a hotel, yes.

Q. At that point when you met him I think you testified that
there were no firm deals that he waé bringing to you at that
point? There were no deals that he was bringing to you, he was
just making an introduction?

A. When the initial interaction between us started, yes.

Q. And, do you recall when the first deal was that he brought
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MS. FRITZ: Your Honor, your Honor, no. We have it
here, but --

THE COURT: You haven't served it yet?

MS. FRITZ: We wanted to hear what your Honor said.

THE COURT: In any event, the witness has indicated he
doesn't possess the documents, so the documents are not with
him. He doesn't have them. According to his testimony,
they're in London with the bank's files that he turned over
once the deal went south. He certainly said he didn't review
them in preparation for his testimony. He doesn't possess them
now.

So, to the extent the bank is subpoenaed with a Rule
17 subpoena, then that would be a different issue, but I don't
think serving Mr. -- who is the lawyer, Mr.?

MR. HESSLER: Hessler, your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes, Mr. Hessler. I'm sorry.

I don't think serving Mr. Hessler is adequate service
for purposes of the bank.

MS. FRITZ: -Let me explain why we did it that way,
because initially last night, we had an ICBC subpoena drafted,
and the reason that we did it this way is, again, I don't
necessarily agree with your Honor's definition of possession.

I do think that Julian Madgett, I think quite plainly, has
access to these documents. People very rarely walk around with
the documents that you're asking for from them, but they do
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Q. Is that the same title you had or position you had while
you were at Morgan Stanley?
A. My title -- my specific job title at Morgan Stanley varied
as I was promoted from vice president, to director, to managing
director, and I worked within what they called the
institutional securities division. My current title is
managing director at Lazard within what they call the financial
advisory division, but I'm doing substantially the same job,
except I'm more solely focused on mergers and acquisitions now
and not so much on financings, if that makes sense.
Q. Staying with Morgan Stanley, you mentioned that Morgan
Stanley has two business lines?
A. Broadly, if you look at their financials, that's how they
characterize it, yes.
Q. And can you just explain, to the extent you understand,
what you mean by "business lines"?
A. Certainly. So, Morgan Stanley has a private wealth
management business, which is one of the aforementioned two
business lines. That business is composed of individuals who
somewhat confusingly are also called financial advisors, who
work with high net worth individuals to help them manage their
money.

And then the other business line that I was referring
to, which I was a part of, is called the institutional
securities division. And within that division is housed what
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is the traditional investment banking activities, which is
capital markets, underwriting, so think about initial public
offerings, helping companies with that. Mergers and
acquisitions, when two companies merge, and then aside from
that, there's sales and trading, which is basically making
markets in various securities around the world, and also asset
management.

Q. You said business lines, but they're really separate
entities; is that correct?

A. They're all a part of the Morgan Stanley & Company LLC,
which is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, but we report
up through different superiors.

Q. You say "part of." Are they the same company? Are they a
separate entity?

A. They're wholly-owned subsidiaries of Morgan Stanley &
Company LLC.

Q. And you called it, I believe, wealth management. Is it
also referred to as the private bank?

A. T don't believe I have the expertise to answer that.

Q. I understand.

A. I could speculate, but...

Q. So you're not really familiar with anything that's handled
on the wealth management side, other than sometimes you have
clients referred?

A. I've never worked on the wealth management side, so I don't

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300

APPENDIX G 146a




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Case 18-3546, Document 217, 01/19/2021, 3016089, Pagel197 of 277

Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 94 Filed 12/13/17 Page 59 of 263 409
HBTS5bre3 Bonebrake - recross

BY MS. SASSOON:
Q. Just to clarify, turning back to Exhibit 1-61, page 6, is
it clear to you one way or the other from looking at this
e-mail whether this is an asset-based lending proposal?
A. TIt's not clear to me, it would be speculation.
Q. Looking at page 7, going’back to the part in blue with the
asterisk, can you read that, please?
A. 50 percent working interest owned by Black Sands Pacific
Alpha Blue, LLC.

MS. SASSOON: ©No further questions.

THE COURT: Okay. Any recross?

MR. STEINWASCHER: Very briefly, your Honor.
RECROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR. STEINWASCHER:
Q. Can we go back to that same exhibit, same page?

Very briefly, Mr. Bonebrake. Did this proposal
provide you -- I say proposal, overview summary proposal, did
it provide you with really any information on which Morgan
Stanley could make a decision about financing?
A. To get to the point of actually, quote, making a decision
on financing, there would have been a lot more work and
information needed than this. Again, this was very preliminary
stage of our conversation.

MR. STEINWASCHER: Thank you.

THE COURT: Okay. You can step down. Thanks very
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BY MR. STEINWASCHER:

Q. Did you have specific recollection as to your
conversations -- specific details of your conversations with
Mr. Brennerman prior to looking at the documents when meeting
with the government?

A. I had recollections of conversations with Mr. Brennerman
that were enhanced by looking at the documents. I did recall
the conversations before seeing the documents, but the
documents were very helpful.

Q. So, it's safe to say that for some specific details, your
memory was refreshed by the documents and not something that
you just remembered independently prior?

A. That's a broad statement. I'm not sure I could agree or
disagree with that, but...

Q. That's fine. That's fine.

On the topic of financing, you said that for these
types of deals, the ones that you have handled primarily, and
specifically the one involving Mr. Brennerman, Morgan Stanley
would not provide the money that it would seek financing from

outside investors; is that correct?

speak for my particular division. So, Morgan Stanley is a
$700 billion company operating across the globe with over

50,000 employees. So my particular division would typically
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A. They would not typically provide the money. There are some

cases where Morgan Stanley —- let me rephrase that. I can only
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not be providing the financing directly, but we might backstop
an offering where we commit that if we can't find third-party
investors to purchase these securities, then we would provide
the money. But that was not the majority of the cases.

Q. And in the particular case of the proposal from

Mr. Brennerman, I believe you said that it was something that
you understood he was looking for Morgan Stanley to find
financing from investors for?

A. My recollection was that it was unclear. We didn't get
very far in our discussions. And then, after reviewing the
emails, I think it's still unclear.

Q. You mentioned several times, I believe, a distinction
between dealing with public companies and private companies?
A. Yes.

Q. At one point I believe you said your knowledge of the
number of private companies that are invélved in this type of
business that you do, the o0il and gas business, you're a little
less certain of the specific number because the information is
not publicly available; is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. So, for a private company like Blacksands Pacific, it
wouldn't be unusual that you hadn't heard of them, given that
they're a private company, and you're not familiar with every
single private company out there?

A. Tt would be unusual that a company —— that I had not heard

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300

APPENDIX G 14%9a . o




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

Case 18-3546, Document 217, 01/19/2021, 3016089, Page200 of 277

1060

HC48BRE4 Gonzalez - Cross

A. Not without a certificate of deposit insurance.

Q. I just want to clear this up. Your answer to my previous

question was the FDIC does not insure banks outside of the

United States.

A. A foreign bank?

Q. Correct.

A. No.

Q. So if there is a foreign bank located in London, even if it

held depository accounts, .the FDIC could not insure iﬁ, is that

correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. I apologize for this. I want to go back to one point.
Those two Morgan Stanley banks that we looked at,

those two entities that had certificates of insurance with the

FDIC, if an entity is a subsidiary of a parent in a financial

institution, does the fact that the Subsidiary is FDIC insured

also mean that the parent is FDIC insured?

A. Can you repeat that? I'm not sure I understand.

Q. Does FDIC insurance for a financial institution, which is a

subsidiary of another financial institution, so the FDIC has

issued a certificate to that subsidiary, does that certificate

somehow also cover the parent corporation?

A. No.

Q. So the parent entity would need a separate certificate of

insurance?
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A. Yes.

Q. The same thing for an affiliate within a company or
affiliates between companies, each entity would require a
separate certificate of insurance in order to be FDIC insured?
A. That is correct.

MR. STEINWASCHER: We are just about approaching lunch
and I am done with this witness.

THE COURT: Any redirect?

MR. SOBELMAN: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Why don't we break then. We will pick up
at 2.

Don't discuss the case and bring your books with you
into the jury room, but don't take them outside of the jury
room. Have a good lunch.

All rise for the jury, please.

(Jury exits courtroom)

THE COURT: You can step down. Thank you very much,
Mr. Gonzalez.

Have a seat. Let's talk about what we have left and
an ETA.

MR. ROOS: We have six witnesses remaining, two of
them are on the longer side and the other ones are about the
length that some of these shorter witnesses have been today.
And we also have three stipulations to read into the record at
some point. We can do it right after lunch.
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don't.

Q. 1If it had no depository accounts, would there be any reason
for it to need FDIC insurance?

A. I'm not certain.

Q. Does FDIC insurance cover anything else other than
depository accounts?

A. No.

Q. So if there is a company that has many different
sub-entities, some of those that hold depository accounts and
some of those that don't, a financial institution I should say,
it's safe to say the FDIC would only offer insurance to those
portions of the company that handle depository accounts?

A. You kind of lost me. Can you repeat that?

Q. If there is a financial institution that has one division
that covers investments and another division that covers
depository accounts, would the FDIC insure the division that
covers investment banking?

A. If it does not have a certificate of deposit insurance it
would not.

Q. If it had no depository accounts, there was no reason for
that institution to seek a certificate of insurance?

A. T can't opine on what someone would want to do, in terms of
seeking insurance or not seeking insurance.

Q. Well, there would be nothing for the FDIC to insure in that
instance, is that correct?
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Q. OK. I am not sure it's reflected on this page, but maybe
on the first page of this exhibit.

You see at the bottom here, on the bottom left, there
is an italicized text that reads "Morgan Stanley Smith Barney
LLC"?

A. It's hard for me to see.

Q. Do you see that text now?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you aware if Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC is insured
by the FDIC?

A. I'm not aware of that.

Q. Did you conduct any search to confirm that?

A. No.

Q. The rest of this text, it has "member SIPC."™ Do you see
that?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you familiar with that acronym SIPC?

A. I'm not familiar with that acronym.

Q. Does that, as far as you know, pertain to the FDIC in any
way?

A. No.

Q. Does the FDIC insure banks outside of the United States?
A. No.

Q. So if there is a bank located in London, in the United
Kingdom, that would not be covered by the FDIC?
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A. Not without a certificate of deposit insurance.

Q. I just want to clear this up. Your answer to my previous

question was the FDIC does not insure banks outside of the

United States.

A. A foreign bank?

Q. Correct.

A. No.

Q. So if there is a foreign bank located in London, even if it

held depository accounts, the FDIC could not insure it,‘is that

correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. I apologize for this. I want to go back to one point.
Those two Morgan Stanley banks that we looked at,

thése two entities that had certificates of insurance with the

FDIC, if an entity is a subsidiary of a parent in a financial

institution, does the fact that the subsidiary is FDIC insured

also mean that the parent is FDIC insured?

A. Can you repeat that? I'm not sure I understand.

Q. Does FDIC insurance for a financial institution, which is a

subsidiary of another financial institution, so the FDIC has

issued a certificate to that subsidiary, does that certificate

somehow also cover the parent corporation?

A. No.

Q. So the parent entity would need a separate certificate of

insurance?
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A. Yes.
Q. The same thing for an affiliate within a company or
affiliates between companies, each entity would require a
separate certificate of insuranée in order to be FDIC insured?
A. That is correct.

MR. STEINWASCHER: We are just about approaching lunch
and I am done with this witness.

THE COURT: Any redirect?

MR. SOBELMAN: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Why don't we break then. We will pick up

Don't discuss the case and bring your books with you
into the jury room, but don't take them outside of the jury
room. Have a good lunch.

All rise for the jury, please.

(Jury exits courtroom)

THE COURT: You can steﬁ down. Thank you very much,
Mr. Gonzalez. |

Have a seat. Let's talk about what we have left and
an ETA.

MR. ROOS: We have six witnesses remaining, two of
them are on the longer side and the other ones are about the
length that some of these shorter witnesses have been today.
And we also have three stipulations to read into the record at
some point. We can do it right after lunch.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COQURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V. 17 CR 337 (RJS)
Sentence
RAHEEM J. BRENNERMAN

Defendant

New York, N.Y.
November 19, 2018
11:00 a.m.

Before:

HON. RICHARD J. SULLIVAN
District Judge

APPEARANCES

GEOFFREY S. BERMAN
United States Attorney for the
Southern District of New York
NICOLAS T. ROOS
DANIELLE SASSOON
Assistant United States Attorney

SCOTT B. TULMAN
Attorney for Defendant Brennerman

—-Also Present-

THOMPSON HINE LLP

Prior Attorneys for Defendant
MIRANDA E. FRITZ
BRIAN D. WALLER

PAUL HESSLER
Attorney for ICBC LONDON PLC
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(Case called)

THE COURT: Good morning. Let me take appearances for
the government. ;

MR. ROOS: Good morning. Nicolas Roos and Danielle
Sassoon for the government.

THE COURT: Good morning to each of you.

For the defendant.

MR. TULMAN: For Mr. Brennerman, good morning, your
Honor, Scott Tulman.

THE COURT: Yes, Mr. Tulman.

Mr. Brennerman, good morning.

We have some other folks here in attendance as well.
One is related to ICBC. 1Is that correct, Mr. Roos?

MR. ROOS: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: Just if you could state who that is.

MR. ROOS: 1It's Paul Hessler, who is counsel for ICBC
in various civil litigations.

THE COURT: Mr. Hessler, good morning.

MR. HESSLER: Good morning.

THE COURT: I noticed Ms. Fritz and Mr. Waller here,
so good morning to you. I'm not sure if you are intending to
speak or if you are in here to watch.

MS. FRITZ: Completely up to you. Mr. Roos kindly
advised us over the weekend that he had included a request for
funds that were received by Thompson Hine as legal fees. He
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advised us that that is mentioned in his sentencing submission,
so that is why we are here, and we'd be happy to address it if
and when it comes up.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you.

Then there was the government's letter from July 20
also mentioned that there would be another person here,

Ms. Ifejika?

MR. ROOS: That's correct, your Honor. She is the
principal of Brittania U, which isvmentioned in our.sentencing
letter. She made arrangements to be in New York for the prior
sentencing date of July 27, but, which, as your Honor knows,
was adjourned, and she was unable to make this date.

THE COURT: So she is not here.

MR. ROOS: Correct.

THE COURT: That's fine.

So I have a mountain of materials which T guess I1'11
go through in a minute. I guess where I thought I would start
is with a motion for a new trial under Rule 29 and 33. That
was a motion made by Mr. Brennerman some time ago and
supplemented at various points along the way.

I issued a short order denying the motion. It was
actually several motions. There also was a motion to refer the
prosecutors to the Southern Districts's grievance committee. I
think I will just address that now in a little more detail.

This was a four-count indictment. The jury returned a
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guilty verdict on each count. Mr. Brennerman has moved for

" relief on all counts of conviction on a variety of arguments.

With respect to Count One, which was the conspiracy to commit
bank fraud and wire fraud, he challenges that conviction
principally on venue grounds.

I think there is sufficient evidence to support venue
by a preponderance of the evidenbe. First of all, he used a
fraudulent visa to obtain a social security card that was also
fraudulent in Manhattan, and in Manhattah he then used to
further the bank fraud and wire fraud conspiracy. He also
entered into a contract with Regus for an office in Manhattan
that was held out as a Blacksands office. I think that would
give you venue as well. He also met with Ms. Charles in
Manhattan. He then later used her name without her knowledge
or permission, listing her as an employee of Blacksands. And
then finally there were various wire transfers into and out of
accounts here in Manhattan. So I think there was ample venue
on the conspiracy count. |

Count Two, the bank fraud conviction, there are a
number of grounds for reliéf that are articulated by
Mr. Brennerman. The first is that the government did not
introduce evidence at trial to demonstrate that Morgan Stanley
Smith Barney or Morgan Stanley Investment Bank were FDIC
insured. Actually, there_was testimony or evidence about the
private bank being FDIC insured. I think there was also
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evidence that the Investment Bank was not FDIC insured, but I
think the theory here that went forward to the jury was that
the private bank was defrauded by false statements made by

Mr . Brennerman about his assets, about his holdings, about his
history; that he was then enabled to open a private banking
account that allowed him to have access to various perks,
including free checking, including some sky miles that I don't
think were actually used, but also access to other entities
within the bank, within the larger holding company of Morgan
Stanley.

So I think that that was sufficient to go forward. I

think it ultimately didn't lead to a whole lot of loss, so when .

we talk about loss amount, it seems to me the loss amount
associated with Count Two is pretty negligible, but that's a
sentencing issue. In terms of the elements of FDIC insured, I
think the record was ample on that score, and, therefore, I'l1l1l
deny a motion on that.

He also challenges whether the jury could adduce from
the evidence at trial that he intended to cause any.loss or
potential liability to Morgan Stanley's private bank. Again, I
think the evidence reflects that he opened an account at the
private bank using false information, false documents; that
that resulted in him having access to perks and benefits that
he wouldn't otherwise be entitled to.

So I think that the intent can be inferred from that.
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I think the intent can also be intended to use that
relationship to then parlay that into connection to an
investment bank, which was the ultimate goal of the wire fraud
scheme, and I think the evidence shows that in spades. So I
will deny the motion on those grounds as well.

He also has a venue challenge, which I've already
articulated with respect to the conspiracy. The same evidence
on venue applies here.

Mr. Brennerman also arguesvthat the government
constructively amended their indictment by proceeding with this
private bank theory late in the day. Look, the indictment
alleges that the defendant willfully and knowingly did execute
and attempt to execute a scheme or értifice to defraud a
financial institution, the deposits of which were then insured
by the FDIC; to obtain monies, funds, credits, assets,
securities and other property owned by and under the custody
and control of a financial institution by means of false and
fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises. I think
that language tracks the language of the statute. It is
sufficient notice, and it is broad enough to cover the conduct
at issue here. BAnd so I will deny that motion as well.

With respect to Count Three, that's the wire fraud
count. The first argument asserted by Mr. Brennerman is that
he was denied his right to cross-examine witnesses by the
government's failure to obtain and turn over the ICBC London
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lending file. This is a recurrent theme throughout much of
Mr. Brennerman's papers and sentencing submissions. The
reality is that the government doesn't have an affirmative duty
to procure those documents even if they are potentially
exculpatory. And, by the way, I've seen nothing to suggest
they are potentially exculpatory other than Mr. Brennerman's
assertions, but no basis beyond that. So I think the right to
cross—exqmination'was not affected.

Mr. Brennerman also asserts that there were violations
under Brady and Giglio by the government's presentation of
Mr. Madgett to testify without those files and without those
documents. Basically, he is asserting that the government
procured perjured testimony. Again, there is no basis to
conclude that it was perjured testimony. And, again, the

government had no obligation to obtain files that were not in

their custody that were in a different country that belonged to -

a third party, so as well I will.deny that.

Ineffective assistance of counsel due to a conflict of
interest, I already previously ruled on this as to whether
there was a conflict of interest. The government didn't end up
calling the witness or introduce evidence about the issue that
related to the potential conflict of interest so that resolved
the issue, and we didn't get into it any more.

That may be raised again today, I gather. We'll see.
But with respect to the trial motions, the Rule 29 and Rule 33
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motions, I see no basis to conclude that there was ineffective
assistance of counsel based on a conflict of interest that
never materialized and didn't even end up needing to be waived.

The next argument relied upon by Mr. Brennerman is
that the government committed fraud on the Court by its calling
Mr. Madgett, who asserts testified falsely under oath, and that
the government had an obligation to correct his false
testimony. He basically relies on an assertion that there was
testimony about a bridge loan agreement and check that was
inconsistent with arguments made before Judge Kaplan in that
trial. I think that‘was characterized as actually the evidence
in the two trials and I think the fact is that Mr. Madgett
testified that he was under oath, he was cross-examined, and
had ample opportunity to confront him with these alleged
inconsistencies and to ask the jury to draw inferences against
Mr. Madgett as a result. So I don't see that there was any
fraud on the Cburt or any obligation to do more than what was
done at trial and before trial.

The next argument relied upon by Mr. Brennerman is
that the government had an obligation to present all the
evidence available. .This is a variation, I think, on his claim
that ICBC and Mr. Madgett should have produced additional
documents that were in London that the government didn't
possess and, therefore, didn't turn over in discovery or
present at trial. Again, there is no basis for concluding that
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the government had an obligation to produce those things or
that those things were somehow exculpatory.

Improper summation remarks is another argument on
which Mr. Brennerman relies for his Rule 29 and Rule 33
motions. He argues that the government's description of the
$11.25 million check as a fake parent guarantee during his
closing arguments somehow tainted the verdict. I think the
government's argument was supported by the evidence and,
therefore, it was fair game for them to characterize it as
such. The jury didn't have to credit it. There was argument
that it was no such thing, but I don't think it was unfair
argument on the part of the government based on the evidence
introduced at trial, nor do I think could Mr. Brennerman
demonstrate prejudice as a result of this improper summation
remark. So I think that one, again, has no legs.

The next argument raised by Mr. Brennerman is with
respect to his Fourth and Fifth Amendment rights, which he
insists were violated as a result of an illegal search of his
home in Las Vegas. The government searched that home pursuant
to a valid warrant. I see nothing to. undermine the validity of
that warrant and, therefore, that motion is also denied.

Finally, he makes also an improper venue motion with
regpect to Count Three. I have already talked about wvenue in
connection with the conspiracy count, but some of those same
facts and same evidence supports venue on Count Three.
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Finally, the visa fraud count, Count Four,

Mr. Brennerman first challenges the sufficiency of the
evidence. He makes numerous arguments about what the evidence
consisted of. He aséerted counterfactual arguments based on
his own assertions or things not in the record. I think he has
not accurately characterized the record. There was evidence
before the jury that supported the elements of a visa fraud
count, and so I'm going to deny the motion on sufficiency of
the evidence.

He also challenges the indictment because he says it
did not include an allegation that defendant's visa was
knowingly forged, counterfeited, altered or falsely made. The
indictment alleges quite clearly that the defendant knowingly
used a visa which he knew to be falsely made; to wit,
Brennerman used and possessed a visa that he had procured by
making false statements regarding, among other things, his
name, nationél origin, and the nature of scope and status of
the corporate entity which sponsored his application. That is
certainly sufficient to put Mr. Brennerman on notice as to what
the charge is and also tracks the language of the statute.

Mr. Brennerman also alleges that the government
constructively amended the indictment. He doesn't really
explain how that happened. That was sort of an assertion that
didn't really seem to be developed, so I see no basis for that
argument and deny that one as well.
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He also argues that Count Four, the visa fraud count,
requires that a statement be made under oath, and so he says
the Court should apply the Rule of Lenity and find that the
statute requireé that any immigration document or statement
must have been made under oath to qualify as a false statement.
I think it mischaracterizes the section at issue here, which is
18 United States Code, Section 1546 (a) which prohibits the
making of knowingly false statements. So I will deny that.

He also makes an improper venue motion for Count Four
as well, which fails for the same reasons I articulated before.

And then there may be a lot of other arguments. Some
of them are unintelligible; some of them are variations on
arguments that I've already discussed. It goes on for pages
and multiple submissions. It's all been docketed, and I don't
think it is necessary for me to go through evéry line of every
letter submitted by Mr. Brennerman to simply say that I found
there to be nothing meritorious in his motion for a new trial
or reversal of the verdict under Rule 29 and Rule 33. OK? So
I wanted to just elaborate on my short order.

So, we are now here for sentencing, obviously. I have
reviewed a number of materials that were submitted in
connection with sentencing specifically. I've also reviewed
all the other things I've talked about, the various motions and
correspondence for Mr. Brennerman, but I just want to focus now
on sentencing.
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There was a presentence report that was submitted by
the probation department on July 13 of 2018. 1It's a 23-page
submission that includes a sentencing recommendation, a number
of sentencing submissions, objections to the draft PSR dated
June 27, objections to the presentence report dated July 16 for
Mr. Brennerman, also requesting a Fatico hearing. Another
memorandum from Mr. Brennerman that's dated, I guess, it's also
July 13. He characterizes it as a presentencing memorandum
with amended preéentence report objections.

I have the government's July 20 sentencing submission,
which is 11 pages single-spaced. It also includes some
attachments which were discussed in their letter, so I've
reviewed those as well. I have reviewed the victim statement
prepared by ICBC of London that was docketed with the
government's submission on July 20, was signed by Paul Hessler,
who 1s here today.

I've also reviewed the July 25 sentencing submission
from Mr. Brennermanf That's really about the appointment of
counsel, which was another recurring theme as to whether
Mr. Brennerman was going to represent himself or whether he was
going to have standby counsel, whether he was going to have
appointed counsel to represent him, whether he would have new
counsel to represent him rather than appointed counsel or
whether he would then revert back to representing himself, so
on any given day, it might have been any of those things. So
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there are a number of submissions made by Mr. Brennerman
related to that topic. I resolved that previously, but some of
those submissions also relate to sentencing issues so I refer
to them now for that purpose.

There was a July 31 submission from Mr. Brennerman in
which he writes in an effort to clarify a few misunderstandings
with the government's sentencing submission. So I have
reviewed that. It élso includes a number of attachments
related to Brittania U.

I have an August 5 submission from Mr. Brennerman,
which he describes as defendant's statement intended to apprize
the Court of his pleadings during the appearance that took
place previously. He also raises a bond issue, a $100,000 bond
that was posted in connection with bail.

He also references his Rule 29 and Rule 33 motions,
and then also talks about his request for additional evidence
related to his innocence from ICBC, which goes to sentencing as
well.

I reviewed the transcript of the proceedings we had on
August o, which was largely about counsel issues.

I reviewed the supplemental sentencing memorandum on
behalf of Mr. Brennerman filed by Mr. Tulman. That's dated
November 5. It wasn't docketed, I think, until the 13th. That
also included a number of exhibits: Exhibits A, B, C, D and E,
some of them are quite lengthy. I have read all of themn.
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Then I have the government's November 13 submission,
which is a five-page, single-spaced submission largely
responding to Mr. Tulman's submission.

I guess last, but not least, I have two letters dated
back in June. I got in them June but I mention them now, just
because they are letters from Mr. Brennerman's fiancee and his
fiancee's daughter. I'm not sure how old the daughter is. How
old is the daughter?

THE DEFENDANT: 18.

THE COURT: She is old encugh then to be mentioned, so
it's a letter from Jamie Sanderson and Haley Logan, letters
from each of them. So I've reviewed those as well.

Is there anything else that I've overlooked? Anything
that should be before the Court in connection with sentencing
that I haven't mentioned. Mr. Roos?

MR. ROOS: ©No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Tulman.

MR. TULMAN: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: 8o let's start then with the presentence
report. Mr. Brennerman has a number of objections to the
presentence report, both the original version submitted by the
probation department to the parties that I didn't receive, and
then also the final report, so I'm not sure what the best way
to go through that is.

Mr. Tulman, do you have any thoughts?
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MR. TULMAN: I know that there is a document 173
identifying the objections, and I believe that to some extent
the officer of probation sought to respond to those objections.

THE COURT: Right. I'm not going to go through the
objections to the first draft of the presentence report because
some ofrthose objections resulted in changes to the presentence
report. And since I don't get that one anyway; I only get the
final, T want to stay focused on the objections to the final
report. Some of the objections to the earlier report were
rejected or the probatiqn departﬁent at least explained why
they weren't making a change. So I guess we could sort of
reverse engineer it, but I'm not inclined to do that now.

Are there particular paragraphs in the presentence
report that Mr. Brennerman objects to and that the Court needs
to make findings on?

MR. TULMAN: The primary objection that Mr. Brennerman
has to the presentence report woﬁld be the guidelines
calculation to the extent that they include an obstruction
enhancement.

THE COURT: We'll talk about that in a minute for
sure.

MR. TULMAN: And thé second would be the determination
that the fraud loss amount exceeded $7 million as opposed to
the $4.4 million that was received by Mr. Brennerman. And so
those objections are the primary objections that he has.
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THE COURT: All right. »So guidelines objections we'li
talk about in a minute. I think that Mr. Brennerman also,
frankly, disputes the factual characterizations that are
contained from paragraphs 10 through 21 or so. Those were all,
I think, supported by the evidence introduced at trial and are
consistent with the jury's verdict, so T am not going to change
those.

With respect to the guidelines, we'll talk about those
in a minute.

Mr. Brennerman, as I mentioned to you previously, one
of the factors that I have to consider in fashioning the
sentence 1is therUnited.States Sentencing Guidelines Manual.
Remember I mentioned that to you before?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: So the guidelines manual is this big book
put out by a commission. It's a commission called the United
States Sentencing Commission. That's a group of individuals
that consists of some judges and some lawyers and some experts
in the field of criminal law.

So the way this book works is that it's designed to
give guidance to judges like me to have to impose sentences on
real people. So for every crime or type of crime, there's a
chapter in this book, and the judge in a particular case is
then instructed to go to the chapter or chapters that relate to
the conduct that formed the offense. And once in that chapter,
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the judge makes findings of fact. And then once the judge
makes findings of fact, the judge is then prompted to assigned
points. It's like an accounting process, really. The judge
makes his findings, assigns points consistent to what's in the
book, the judge then adds up points, in some cases subtracts
points, and the judge then comes up with a number. That number
is referred to as the offense level.

The judge then goes to anothe: chapter in this book,
and that's a chapter that relates to criminal history. Not
surprisingly, people who have committed crimes before or who
were sentenced to prison before, well they typically will be
treated more harshly than people who have no prior convictions.

The judge then goes to the chapter on criminal
history, makes findings about whether there were prior
convictions. If so, when, and for how long the sentence was.
Based on the answers to those questions, the judge assigns
points. The judge add up those points, and the judge comes up
with another number. That number is referred to as the
criminal history category.

There are six criminal history categories. Category I
is theildwest and least séfious. Cétegory VI is the highest
and most serious.

With those two numbers that I just talked about, the
offense level on the one hand and the criminal history category
on the other, the judge goes to the back of this book where
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there's a grid or a table. You prdbably can't see it, but it's
a chart, and there's a column here on the far left. That's the
offense level column. It starts at number one and goes down to
level 43. The judge goes down that column until the judge gets
to the number that the judge found to be the offense level.

The judge then goes across these other columns from
left to right, each of which reflects a criminal history
category, and the judge keeps going until the judge gets to the
criminal history category that the judge found to be
appropriate. Where the judge's finger finally stops then after
that exercise, well, that's the range that in the view of the
commission that prepares.this book would be appropriate.

I don't have to follow this book. This book is not
mandatory. It's advisory. But I do have to consider it, and I
have to make my findings under it. So we are going to spend a
few minutes now talking about how this book applies in this:
case. It can be a little complicated. It can be sort of a
little like accounting, but it's not too hard to follow, and I
think the issues here are relatively straightforward and
understandable. So we'll pick them up. All right?

According to the presehtence report prepared by the
probation department, beginning on page 6 -- there are four
counts of conviction here, so according to probation, Counts
One, Two and Three are grouped together pursuant to a different
section of the guidelines that says where you have crimes that
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are distinct crimes but they all involve the same conduct, in
most cases you group them all together and you do an analysis
all together. You don't count them separately and add them up .
You do them together. So the conspiracy to commit bank and
wire fraud, the bank fraud and the wire fraud are all treated
together, and they're all covered by the same guidelines
provision, which is Section 2B1.1. That's the geﬁeral fraud
provision under the guidelines.

Now, I do think, frankly, that_it's worth pointing out
that the bank fraud calculation here I think would be quite
different than the wire fraud, and I guess I want to hear from
the parties on that. But the bank fraud here was a scheme or
artifice to defraud the private banking arm of Morgan Stanley
to enable Mr. Brennerman to get access to the perks which are
tangible. They're worth money, ffee checking among them. I
don't get that. And some other perks. But also to get some
more intangible perks, which would be access to other arms of
the Morgan Stanley family of entities.

I'm only really focused on the first category here.
It seems to me the first category here, there's been no
evidence that I've seen that suggests that was worth more than
$6,500 or so.

Mr. Roos, do you disagree?

MR. ROOS: I think that's right, your Honor.

THE COURT: You agree, OK.
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And I assume, Mr. Tulman, you agree with that.

MR. TULMAN: I have no problem with that, Judge.

THE COURT: So, that being the case then, the base
offense level is 7, because the maximum sentence of bank fraud
is 30 years, but there's no enhancement for loss because the
loss amount in dollar terms for the bank fraud count did not
exceed $6,500.

Is the government arguing there are any other
enhancements for the bank fraud count? I didn't see any, but
maybe I'm wrong.

MR. ROOS: Well, your Honor, the PSR sets forth
sophisticated means.

THE COURT: Sophisticated means for the bank fraud?

MR. ROOS: It's identified as sophisticated means
include, like, for instance, his papering of a fake company,
his setting up shell entities. The government's proof at trial
was —- while I think your Honor is right that from the FDIC
institution, the potential loss to that institution was low, he
still used those various sophisticated means, basically, the
papering of a company that didn't exist in order to get access
to those benefits and expose the bank's potential loss. So I
think that enhancement would apply.

THE COURT: Mr. Tulman, thoughts on that?

MR. TULMAN: I don't know that there's anything
particularly sophisticated about the conduct.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Case 18-3546, Document 217, 01/19/2021, 3016089, Page227 of 277
Case 1:17-cr-00337-RJS Document 206 Filed 12/27/18 Page 21 of 71 21

IBJOBRES

THE COURT: Well, it does require you to create a
company. It might require you to incorporate a company. It
requires you to develop financials for that company and
brochures and things like that. There was a lot of evidence
about those things. I guess that's more sophisticated than a
typical situation where somebody just uses a false name when
they go into a bank or adds a zero to their income in a form.

I think it's more sophisticated than that. I think ultimately
it's not going to matter, the impact of tﬁat doesn't add much
of anything here, but I think that that argument is -- I'm
persuaded there has been proof of sophisticated means that by a
preponderance would warrant a two-level increase. So the bank
fraud would be at level 9, before we get to obstruction. And I
think that's going to be a lot lower than the wire fraud. The
wire fraud is what drives this here. So the wire fraud is also
going to be a base offenée level of 7, correct?

MR. ROOS: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: And then there the loss amount is
disputed. The probation department concludes that the loss
amount was $20 million because that is what the defendant --
that was the nominal amount of the loan that he fraudulently
secured. He didn't get it all, but I guess the argument is
that he didn't have to have gotten it all to be on the hook for
the full $20 million. It's the loss and the intended loss, at
least with the conspiracy count, but probably even for the
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substantive count, the iﬁtended loss would be relevant. So why
don't we talk about that.

The restitution amount will be lower. Obviously, it's
not going to be 20 million for restitution. The restitution is
not the driver of loss for intended loss. So the government's
view is this nominal amount alone of $20 million, that's the
fraud?

MR. ROOS: Your Honor, I think this is a relatively
conservative estimate by probation. There was plenty of proof
at trial that the defendant went to both the ICBC and the
non-FDIC insured branch of Morgan Stanley and sought out
considerably more —-

THE COURT: He was trying to get $600 million. I
guess at one point that was what there was discussion about,
but you're not seeking that as the loss amount, right?

MR. ROOS: That's‘right, your Honor, although I think
there was evidence at trial that he intended that amount.
Julian Madgett testified that this bridge loan of $20 million
wasn't contemplated as the exclusive deal. Rather, it was sort
of the entree to a much larger deal that the bank was totally
serious about. So, I think there actually would be a basis for
the Court to conclude that there was a $300 million intended
loss.

The governmeht isn't pursuing that though, and that's

not what probation did. I think this is very reasonable. He
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had a contract, something reduced to writing for $20 million.
Sure, the drawdown happened before the fraud was exposed was
approximately $5 million, but there is not only a clear
evidence in the trial record of intention to take $20 million
from the bank, but actually multiple steps taken by the
defendant, up to the point of entering into a contract, having
money transferred into an escrow account.

So, there is more -- as your Honor pointed out, the
test is not exclusively what actually was lost by the bank.
That's may be it for restitution, but in terms of intended
loss, there is more‘than sufficient evidence in the record to
conclude that $20 million is the appropriate amount.

THE COURT: Mr. Tulman, do you want to be heard on
that?

MR. TULMAN: Yes, your Honor.

The issue, as the government rightly points éut, is of
intended loss, and what Mr. Brennerman has pointed out to the
Court is simply the fact that of the $20 million, as a métter
of English law, the $15 million was not controlled by
Mr. Brennerman, he would never have been able to gain access to
it. It was held in a pledged account to ICBC. So he could not
and did not intend ever to receive any of those $15 million.

THE COURT: Why are you saying he never intended to
get that money?

MR. TULMAN: That's right. Whaﬁ he maintains is that
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the only funds that he ever could have had access to would have
been, not even $5 million, but $4.4 million that was ultimately
disbursed after $440,000 or so was paid over to ICBC, which is
certainly not a loss to ICBC. The fact that they are
collecting their fees and the like.

With regard to the other $15 million, Mr. Brennerman
could not have had the intent because his position is that he
knew at the time that there was no way that he could ever have
access to those monies. 8o, therefore, the loss amount in this
case would be what was intended by him, which would be the
$4.4 million.

THE COURT: I don't think that's consistent with the
evidence. It seems to me Mr. Brennerman was happy to take this.
as far as he could go. Morgan Stanley, the investment banking
side, didn't give him the time of day. They weren't
interested. If he couldn't produce documents to their
satisfaction, they were just ready to ignoré him. ICBC was
more intrigued or more interested.in doing business wiﬁh him,
and Mr. Brennerman strung them along for a long time, and did
basically everything he could to get loan proceeds. And it
seems to me that he had arranged for a $20 million loan. The
goal was to get even more after that, and I don't think that
there is anything to suggest that he was content with or
satisfied with $4 and a half million, and that's where the
thing was going to end. It seems to me he was very interested
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in pursuing this much further to get the balance of the $20
million and to get additional monies after that by falsely
presenting himself as the head of a pretty serious operation
with a lot of employees and with a lot of assets that was all
fiction. So I certainly think that the intended loss amount
exceeds —- I'm looking at the newer guidelines. I guess we
should be looking at the older guidelines.

Mr. Brennerman, just so you know, this book has
changed from when you were first charged to now. There was a
new book that came out in the last month or so. So, normally,
the way it works is that if it is to your benefit, then we go
with the new version. If it is to your detriment, then we go
with the old version. Whichever one is betfer for you is the
one we go with. It looks like they're both the same. So $9
and a half million is the threshold for a 20-level enhancement
and I think you were easily going to get $9 and a half million.
So I will add 20. |

The next enhancement under the presentence report is
for the use of sophisticated means, and that involved the use
of fraudulent documents, the use of glossy brochures that were
made just to perpetuate this fraud, the creation of
corporations.that didn't really exist but with documentation
that could create the impression that they did, the use of
legitimate law firms to add the venire or appearance of

legitimacy was very sophisticated and very thorough, incredibly
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bold, incredibly ambitious that one would be willing to take on
those expenses in order to do the big con, which seems to have
been the goal all along. Just a shameless, absolutely
unapologetic con to get as much as you could by saying whatever
you needed to say to whomever. And to dress yourself up to
look like the real genuine part. So I think a two-level
enhancement is certainly warranted for the wire fraud. I think
it's also warranted for the bank fraud, but as to the wire
fraud, there is no question. So T will impose two additional
levels under 2B1.1(b) (10) (C) for sophisticated means.

There is then a two-level enhancement that probation
recommends because the victim was a financial institution.

Mr. Tulman, do you want to be heard on that one?

MR. TULMAN: No, your Honor. It need not be an FDIC
institution.

THE COURT: So that then puts us at 31.

The next enhancement that probation recommends is an
adjustment for obstruction of justice. This one I know is
disputed, so I want to talk about that. There is the
obstruction that took place in the civil action before Judge
Kaplan, which then metastasized into a criminal action that
predated the indictment here. There are additional things, I
guess, that the government would also characterize as
obstruction.

So I think it is good to maybe nail down what are the
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facts that the government is relying on as obstruction; to what
extent are those facts already baked into Judge Kaplan's case;
to what extent are they separate in this case; and does it
really matter is the final issue. He had two criminal cases.
He made bail applications in both. The bail applications
included false representations. That I think alone would be
enough to support an enhancement for an obstruction of justice,
but there is a question as to whether we should create two
piles: One for Kaplan and one for me.

Mr. Roos, I'll hear from you first and then I will
give Mr. Tulman a chance to respond.

MR. ROOS: Your Honor, you have our letter, but on the
guestions you raised, I think the first one in our submission
which relates to the ICBC conduct is the underlying conduct in
the criminal contempt prosecution. OQur view is obstructive
conduct —-

THE COURT:V Well, the underlying, you mean.in the
civil case?

MR. ROOS: That's correct. What the defendant did in
the civil case was intended to obstruct ultimate criminal
investigation and prosecution of his fraud scheme. And to your
Honor's question about -- so certainly there is overlap between
the conduct. The entirety of that civil case and what the
defendant did in it was the basis for the contempt convictions
before Judge Kaplan. But sort of the difference between what
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was there and what we have here is sort of the motive or the
reason. There, Judge Kaplan was imposing a punishment for
failure to follow court orders.

The reason the defendant did it, and the reason why
the defendant in that case did things like submit interrogatory
responses or deny the existence of documents, beyond disobeying
court orders, was to prevent those materials, the materials
that were then later seized through a search warrant and shown
to the jury in this case, prevented those materials from
becoming known because he knew once they were known, you know,
the fraud is up.

So that is why, if your Honor recalls, there were some
emails that were shown to the jury in this case where the
defendant had lists. Some of those things were basically
things he felt like he needed to do in order to prevent, you
know, there from being issues. ' He would write things like,
"Deal with X." One of those "deal with" was ICBC because ICBC
not game, and part of the defendant's scheme was to basically
deal with law firms or agree with banks that could potentially
result in serious problems for the defendant.

That's the reason why that conduct, which was
certainly the basis for the criminal conviction before Judge
Kaplan is relevant conduct here in terms of imposing the
obstruction of justice offense.

The second reason we listed relates to the evidence of
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an attempt to basically discourage a witness from Brittania U
from testifying against the defendant. Certainly, that is not
a core part of the scheme relating to ICBC. It post dates it
in time. While the scheme itself is largely the same —-

THE COURT: So what does it have to do with this? How
does it obstruct this case?

MR. ROOS: Your Honor, that's a witness who
potentially could have been -- the government did not call the
witness at trial, to be clear.

THE COURT: Because of conflict issues.

MR. ROOS: Because of conflict issues, and the
government felt like -- and I think-as your Honor put it, thin
to win maybe is sometimes prudent. So we didn't think it was
necessary to-call that witness or made sense to call that
witness in this case.

That said, the defendant made an attémpt to discourage
that witness from coming fdrward. The witness could have
offered direct éroof by the defendant; could have been a 404 (b)
witness; could have been a witness relevant at the time of
sentencing. So we certainly think that is obstructive conduct.

The, to your Honor's last question, I think your Honor
is absolutely right that the various lies and
misrepresentations that the defendant made in connection with
various bail applications to the courts would constitute
sufficient conduct to qualify for the obstruction enhancement
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as well.

THE COURT: Then that would go to additional issue of
concurrent versus consecutive.

MR. ROOS: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: Let's hold on on that one.

Anything else with the false statements in the bail
applications, for example?

MR. ROOS: Well, yes, your Honor. In the context of
the bail applications, the defendant -- to be clear, these were
written applications through counsel. The defendant never took
the stand or anything lying that. But certainly it was the
defendant's position throughout that he was a businessman in
these applications who needed to‘return to work.

If your Honor recalls the initial bail application,
the argument was made that he had all these deals pending, and
if he was just released, he could complete them and pay back
ICBC. So certainly there was sort of an attempt to tell the
Court that things were not as they seemed, and he was ready to
go back to work and obtain money that would make the victims
whole. And that's after he was indicted.

THE COURT: Mr. Tulman?

MR. TULMAN: Yes, your Honor.

With respect to the obstruction with respect to Judge
Kaplan and the civil matter, it is our position that the
obstruction guideline distinguishes between affirmative conduct
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to obstruct an investigation. While it's true that the
criminal investigationvdoes not necessarily have to be in
existence, the conduct in which the individual engages has to
be in some way related to that criminal conduct and that it is
not an obstruction enhancement to simply take steps to avoid
incriminating oneself.

THE COURT: Well} it wasn't just steps to avoid
incriminating oneself. It was steps designed to frustrate the
civil litigation process to prevent certain facts from being
known, and also to chill the victim from, I guess, proceeding
with their litigation and with whatever criminal investigation
might follow from it. I think that's really the argument,
right?

MR. TULMAN: With regard to the latter, your Honor, we
have in document 188, the emails are there, I believe. 188
contains the emails, which are the subject matter, I believe,
of the government's contention of Qbstruction, and we just rely
upon those documents. They do not appear to indicate
obstruction. To the contrary, it was the witness who was to be
obstructed who was communicating with Mr. Brennerman. There is
an exchange taking place and it is a matter of record. That's
document 188, which Mr. Brennerman attached those emails to.

Going back to Judge Kaplan, we maintain and pointed
out in the supplemental memorandum that was Mr. Brennerman did
not obstruct an investigation; he caused by an investigation by
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his conduct. There was no investigation until the time that he
actually engaged in conduct in an effort to perhaps not
cooperate in a civil matter, and this is what caused the
investigation to take place.

I don't think there is any claim that he ever lied
about anything. He didn't take the witness stand and he didn't
engage in any other conduct that is described under the
guidelines as the kind of conduct that would typically be
viewed as being obstructive. So, for that reason, we believe
that both of those matters do not rise to the level of
obstruction.

With regard to the statement made by his counsel iﬁ
support of his bail applications and the Court's rejection of

those, all we can say in regard to that is Mr. Brennerman

years.

THE COURT: Born in the U.K.?

MR. TULMAN: In the U.XK.

THE COURT: He was born in the U.K.?

MR. TULMAN: He maintains, your Honor, and it is in
his submission that he was born in 1978 and raised between
London, New York, and Switzerland primarily by his mother.
That is what he maintains, yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Well, I mean, that's a

disputed issue and the jury found that he engaged in visa
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fraud, right? Mr. Brennerman makes a number of bail
applications even after his conviction in which he asserts
facts about his citizenship, right?

MR. TULMAN: That is correct, your Honor, because he
maintains it.

THE COURT: He can maintain it all he wants. It
doesn't mean I have to credit it, and it doesn't mean I just
have to say, well, I guess I've got to take his word for it,
right? |

MR. TULMAN: Well, your Honoi, I know there are
documents, passports, other immigration documents which tend to
indicate he was an English national. Mr. Brennerman is here.
He can’t do anything other than state what it is that he knows
to be the truth, and that is the truth that he maintains.

He further maintains, your Honor, that prior to his
being charged in this case, that he had been involved with in
excess of $10 billion United States dollars in legitimate
deals, financial transactions involving o0il and gas and real
estate transactions. That is what he maintains. I wasn't
there. I don't know. I'm the mouthpiece here, but he is here,
and this is what he maintains. 1It's what he put in writing
before I was assigned to this matter. He has not told me that
any of this is false, and so this is what he maintains, your
Honor.

So, since all of that is in fact true, and since the
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1 statements made in his bail application were true, obviously,

2 there was no obstruction intended and no obstruction involved

3 in any of his bail applications.

4 THE COURT: Do you want to respond to that, Mr. Roos?
5 MR. LANDSMAN-ROOS: Well, in terms of the facts of the
6 bail appliéation, as your Honor pointed out, we see it

7 differently, and we think the proof at trial was different.

8 One thing I want to highlight about the case before

9 Judge Kaplan, and to add to Mr. Tulman's comment about, you

10 know, the defendant didn't obstruct. He actually sort of
11 exposed himself to law enforcement, that argument is

12 nonsensical, the idea that once the defendant is caught, and ?
13 his acts obviously are what led to his being caught in some

14 form, therefore, there could never be obstruction.

15 Here, there were a number of steps the defendant took .
16 including writing things in pleadings, like -- and this is not :
17 from a lawyer. He's writing things himself, things like "the
18 company you're looking for doesn't exist any more" or "I'm not
19 the director of that entity." All of these things were

20 designed to obscure the picture[ to deter creditors, and

21 ultimately authorities that would investigate the defendant and
22 hold him accountable for his fraud. So I think this is ample
23 evidence for this enhancement.

24 THE COURT: I am persuaded that obstruction of -justice
25 is warranted here several times over. I do think that the
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conduct taken in the civil action before Judge Kaplan would
alone suffice to establish Qbstruction of justice of this case
and this ihvestigation. It was designed to prevent the victim'
from being able to proceed with recourse in the U.S. legal
system.

But it's more than that. I think the bail
applications both before and after trial persisted in
portraying Mr. Brennerman as a person who was born in the U.K.
and had different immigrétion Sstatus there than I think was
demonstrated at trial. Certainly, his attempts to manipulate a
potential witness to either come forward or not come forward
with information favorable or unfavorable to Mr. Brennerman by
making false statements about his being in the hospital, his
having family issues that prevented him from raying back what
was owed. I think all of that was designed to manipulate
witnesses so that they would not come forward, not cooperate
with the government, and not be available either at trial, at
bail hearings, or at sentencing. So I think all of that is
sufficient to justify an enhancement here.

The only question for me, which we'll get to in a
minute, is whether or not there is a good reason to make the
sentences here consecutive sentences in this case and the
sentence before Judge Kaplan consecutive as opposed to
concurrent. But I think without question a two-level
enhancement for obstruction is warranted, so I will impose that
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as well. So that puts us at level 33

The guidelines for the fourth count, the conviction
for the visa fraud are ultimately of no moment here, just
because they're so much lower. Let me just find the
presentence report.

So according to the presentence report, the guidelines
for Count Four, which is grouped separately, are base offense
level of 8, no additional enhancements given the distance
between level 33, which is the wire fraud guidelines, and level
8, which is the visa fraud guidelines, there is no additional
enhancement for the visa fraud. So, that puts us at level 33.

The only conviction Brennerman has is his conviction
for criminai contempt before Judge Kaplan, and probation has
deemed related to this, and, therefore, doesn't count as
criminal history, so it results in no criminal history points.

The government agrees.with that?

MR. RQOS: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: I assume, Mr. Tulman, you do not disagree
with that?

MR. TULMAN: Not at all, your Honor.

THE COURT: That us then at a level of 33, Criminal
History Category of I, which results in a guidelines range of
135 to 168 months, which is basically 11 to 14 years. Those
are the guidelines.

Now, the guidelines are just one factor the Court has
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to consider, Mr. Brennerman. There are other factors as well.
I think you know this, but I will remind you what the other
factors are. 1In addition to the guidelines, I have to
consider, first of all, your own personal history, the facts
and circumstances of your life. I have to also consider the
facts and circumstances of this crime, or these crimes, which
are serious crimes. So, it's important that the sentence I
impose reflects the seriousness of the crime; that it promotes
respect for the law and provides just punishment for the
crimes. So I have to tailor the sentence.both to you as an
individual and to the particulars of these crimes. I have to
consider the need to deter or discourage you and others from *
committing crimes like this in this future. That is the hope
that by imposing sentence on you to today} I will send a
message to you and others that this conduct won't be tolerated;:
that the consequences are severe, and hopefully you and others .-
will think twice before ever doing-it again. .

That is the hope. I don't have a crystal ball. I
can't know for sure what impact my sentence will have on your
future behavior or on anybody else's. I have to use my best
judgment nonetheless. Sometimes that means looking at how a
person responds when confronted with their prior bad conduct in
the past, whether it chills them or deters them from doing it
again. So I have to consider that, and I will consider that.

I have to consider your own needs while you're in
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custody. That means taking into account your medical history,
your psychological, your substance abuse history, your need for
treatment, your need for job training, your need for other
opportunities while in prison. Those are things that courts
have to consider; to make sure that when a person is released,
they're in a position to succeed, to avoid mistakes that got
them tied up with the criminal justice system in the first
place. |

Then, finally, the last factor that I have to consider
is the need to avoid unwarranted sentencing disparities among
similarly situated people. That is kind of a fancy way of
saying that before I impose a sentence on you in this case, I
have to make sure that that sentence is consistent with or in
line with sentences imposed on other people who have engaged in
similar conduct and who have similar histories.

Now, no two people afe exactly alike, but where there
are strong similarities between gonduct and histories of
defendants, then the sentences shouid be similar. .Otherwise,
it might encourage disrespect for the law, and it would look
arbitrary. So that is another factor I have to consider.

So, my job is to balaﬁce all of those different
factors and to come up with a sentence that I think is
appropriate in light of all of fhem. Sometimes that's hard to
do because some of these factors are sometimes in tension with
one another, and so it requires some judgment and experience.
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And that is certainly what I will try to bring to bear as I
decide what is an appropriate sentence.

So what we are going to do going_forward is I'm going
to hear from the attorneys on these other factors. We've
talked about the guidelines. I've made my findings under the
guidelines, but I want to hear from the lawyers further on
these other factors. They've touched on them in their
submissions, but T will give them a chance now to speak more

fully. We will begin with Mr. Tulman. I will then hear from

the government. After that, I will hear from the victim if the

victim wants to be heard. Then after that, I will give you,
Mr. Brennerman, an 6pportunity to address the Court if you'd
like. OK?

Mr. Tulman.

MR. TULMAN: Your Honor, there have been voluminous
submissions in this éase.

THE COURT: I would say that's a fair
characterization.

MR. TULMAN: So I will be brief because so much of it
is there in papers. Mr. Brennerman, for example, in document
numper 175, his presentence memorandum, in part two of his
memorandum, page 5, summarizes his background and history, and
in there maintains that he had been involved in excess of
$10 billion in legitimate financing transactions in the oil,
gas, and real estate business. He has no prior criminal
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history. He has no history of violence.

THE COURT: Well, no history of violence I think that
we can agree on; I'm not sure the government is going to agree
that he has much experience in the oil and gas business as
you've just articulated.

MR. TULMAN: I am speaking to what Mr. Brennerman
maintains, and in the presentence report what it says is that
matters are largely uncorroborated, and this is what
Mr. Brennerman maintains.

I would say this, Judge. It is always a difficult
situation for couhsel at a time of sentencing to ask or make a
recommendation for any kind of sentence at a time when the
defendant maintains his innocence of the allegations.

I can say that under the New York State law, had he
been convicted in the state courts of grand larceny in the
first degree, which is what this would be, a larceny by false
pretenses of which he stands convicted, the maximum sentence
permissible under the law would be an indeterminate sentence of
eight and a third to 25 years for a larceny in excess of
$1 million obtained under false pretenses. We're obviously not
in the state court.

All I can say then is this, Judge: Mr. Brennerman has
requested that a sentence of time served be imposed upon him.
And the reason why that sentence of time served is appropriate
is because the claim is thét he is an innocent person. If your
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Honor agreed with that, the rulings on the Rule 29 and Rule 33
perhaps would be different than they are in this case. The
Court perhaps would have granted the adjournment; that is, a
standing request for adjournment of sentencing. We know the
Court has denied it. Mr. Brennerman maintains that if the
Court only had the documents from ICBC, which he maintains had
been concealed by ICBC, then the truth would be clear that
there was no fraud involved in this case at all, and that the
puffery and statements that were made by him were wholly
immaterial to the issue of the loan in question in this case
with regard to ICBC.

So I am not going to make any kind of recommendation
myself other than to echo Mr. Brennerman's hope that the Court
would appreciate that he has already been sentenced by Judge
Kaplan; that for a person who has never been incarcerated
before, the harsh conditions of confinement are particularly,
particularly difficult for him; that he is now 40 years old; he
has family and responsibilities at home; and so for that
reason, he would request a sentence of time served. Thank you.

THE COURT: All right.

Mr. Roos, anything you'd like to say in response or
just more generally about the factors related to sentencing?

MR. ROOS: Certainly, your Honor.

And, like Mr. Tulman, I won't belabor it. I know your
Honor has a great deal of paper, including multiple submissions
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from us, but I want to pick up where defense counsel started,
which is with the claim that the defendant has $10 billion
worth of legitimate prior oil, gas, and real estate experience
which is what he said in his submission. I think that is just
one example of many examples in his submissions and his post
conviction filings where the defendant has really just doubled
down on lies, lies that were proven to be falsehoods at the
time of trial, various lies that seemingly almost have no
importance other than the fact that they've been subsequently
been proven false: Where the defendant is from, what his
background is, whether his family had a role in the gas and oil
industry in the United States; defendant's claim that he has a
not-for-profit that helps people come to the United States from
Eastern Europe, to assist them in getting an education. All of
these things, some of them material to the fraud that he
perpetrated against ICBC and attempted on Morgan Stanley or the
various other individuals outlined in our sentencing
submission, some of them not material at all, but what they do
show as a common theme is that the defendant is relentless in
pursuing this false narrative about himself and his business.
And why that matters, I think it really goes to the question of
specific deterrence and the possibility of recidivism and why a
guideline sentence is appropriate. And the defendant has done
nothing to suggest that he has accepted responsibility; that
he's remorseful; that he won't do it again; that he's changed
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his habits; that upon release, he won't go back to the same
bills.

In fact, I think the evidence suggests the opposite,
which is that the defendant is very likely to be released from
prison at some point, and then restart the fraud; return to oil
and gas and maybe some different business that he will come up
with and attempt to pursue victims to obtain money. Certainly
we hope that his conviction, at least under the names that are
on the indictment, will prevent future victimization of banks
or individuals or investors, but a lengthy and a serious
sentence is certainly necessary to disable this defendant from
doing that anytime son.

So that is the primary reason why the government
thinks a guideline sentence is appropriate. Your Honor also
has our points about the seriousness of the offense, the nature
of the defense; but unless your Honor has guestions, we will
otherwise rest on our submissions.

THE COURT: I guess I have questions about forfeiture
and whether the sentence should be consecutive or concurrent.

MR. ROOS: Certainly, your Honor.

So, on the question of forfeiture, the government
seeks an imposition of forfeiture in the amount of $4.4 million
related to the ICBC fraud, and then $800,000 relating to the
fraud on Brittania U. The government would ask the Court to
impose specific forfeiture, and if the Court agrees with this
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recommendation, we can submit an order as to these two specific
property items.

Number one, the defendant's watch that was a piece of
evidence at trial, which is worth thousands of dollars. The
government proposes that that be forfeited towards the sum of
forfeiture that I've identified.

THE COURT: That's the watch that was purchased with
the proceeds from the loan.

MR. ROOS: From the ICBC, that is correct. The second
is the $100,000 that was posted as bail money. This is in
various things that your Honor has seen previously, but to sort
of recap, the defendant shortly before his arrest received
$800,000 from Brittania U. Brittania U was told they were
investing in an oil and gas project in Africa. The defendant
used the money very quickly to pay for various luxury items,
personal expenses, and then ultimately some of it for legal
expenses, in particular, the posting of his $100,000 bail in
the case before Judge Kaplan.

This fact is not really controverted. First of all,
there are bank records. I brought them here today that clearly
show the deposit of $800,000 into an account called Blacksands,
the near-intermediate transfer in multiple hundred thousand
dollars increments into an account name of Raheem Brennerman,
and then the use of those funds, including a payment to
American Express cards which are then used to pay his bail.
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And the reason we know that is because in the case
before Judge Kaplan, there was a litigation dispute between
whether that money should go back to Mr. Brennerman or to his
prior counsel, because Mr. Brennerman apparently assigned or
his prior counsel claims to have assigned that hundred thousand
dollars in the event it was returned back to counsel. And in
the pleadiﬁgs in that, the pleadings indicate --

THE COURT: Wait. 1In the pleadings in what?

MR. ROOS: 1In the Judge Kaplan case. The pleadings by
Mr. Brennerman's prior counsel indicate that the payment came
out of the accounts that we're talking about here. S0, there's
a very straight tracing from the funds that came from
Brittania U to what ultimately was posted as bail, to the money

~ that recently in October was returned to Mr. Brennerman's prior
counsel.

So the government would ask as a second item of
specific forfeiture, and, again, we would give your Honor an
order if you were to find this way, that the one hundred
thousand deollars that was previously posted as bail and then
given to prior defense counsel be forfeited.

THE COURT: - Wait. The hundred thousand dollars was
already —— there was a hundred thousand dollars posted, and
that moﬁey now is reverted former defense counsel?

MR. ROOS: Thompson Hine.

THE COURT: And so that might be why Ms. Fritz is
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here.
MR. ROOS: That's correct. That's my understanding.

THE COURT: But you're asking then for the specific

property that was posted as bail to be —— that now is in the

possession of a third party to be covered by a forfeiture
order.
| MR. ROOS: Correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. And then the third party can
fight this out later, I suppose, right?

MR. ROOS: That's correct, your Honor. Generally, my
understanding the way it would work would be that the Court
imposes a forfeiture order, and that that effectively the third
party is a claimant who would then make an application on to
the forfeited property.

THE COURT: But the $100,000 is related to what
Brittania U gave'to Mr. Brennerman, right?

MR. ROOS: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: You're saying that that is covered by this
indictment?

MR. ROOS: Well, your Honor, our view is that it's
part of the defendant's overall scheme. Your Honor is
absolutely correct, that the defendant was not convicted of
this issue.

THE COURT: He wasn't charged with this, right? 1It's
not in the indictment, is it?
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MR.

general.

ROOS: So the indictment on this question is

That is a question your Honor posed to us a number of

months ago, and we at the time elected not to proceed on this

gquestion. I

do think the temporal range in the indictment and

the description would cover this conduct.

THE
Brittania U.
MR.
necessary in
THE
institution,
MR.
THE
indictment?
MR.
Honor.
THE
MR.
not named in

the temporal

COURT: Well, it ceitainly doesn't name

ROOS: That's correct. I don't think that's

terms of --

COURT: Brittania U is not a financial

right?

ROOS: Correct.

COURT: So where, for instance, would it be in the
ROOS: It would be the wire fraud conspiracy, your
COURT: But, I mean, it doesn't say anything —-
ROOS: Your Honor is absolutely right. They're

the indictment. Our view is they are covered by

period, and there is no obligation on the.

government to identify every victim in the indictment.

THE

COURT: The temporal period being 2011 up to and

including the present.

MR.

THE

APPENDIX H

ROOS: Correct.

COURT: All right. But so the $100,000 —— this
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could have easily been charged as a separate fraud, right?

MR. ROOS: That's right, your Honor.

THE COURT: I suppose it still can. The statute of
limitations hasn't run, right?

MR. ROOS: Yes, I believe -- I have to think through
if there was a jeopardy issue, but otherwise your Honor is
absolutely correct, the étatute has not run.

THE COURT: Well, maybe a jeopardy issue whether or
not the indictment covers this?

MR. ROOS: That's right, your Honor.

THE COURT: I don't think there is any basis for
thinking the indictment covers this, but you think it may?

MR. ROOS: I think the indictment generally charges
that the defendant committed a wire fraud and wire fraud
conspiracy between 2011 and 20 —-

THE COURT: You think that covers every possible wire
fraud he engaged in during that period?

MR. ROOS: I think what's described as the wire fraud
is a scheme where the defendant made false representations
about an oil and gas, business, which is exactly what he said
to Brittania U.

THE COURT: But a different oil and gas business?

MR. ROOS: The same 0il and gas business; different
project.

THE COURT: Different project, right. So the
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indictment talks about Blacksands, right?

MR. ROOS: Right. And that's the entity he used to
defraud Brittania U. I think it is in some ways 1s analogous
to if an indictment charged between 2011 and the present the
defendant robbed a bunch of banks and at trial the government
proved up one of the bank robberies and during that period the
defendant --

THE COURT: Well, wait a minute. No. No. Because
Count One, which is the conspiracy count, that one is a
speaking indictment, right?

MR. ROOS: Right.

THE COURT: The other counts are not.

MR. ROOS: Correct.

THE COURT: And the speaking indictment in Count One
talks about financial institutions. It doesn't say that he
tried to steal money from anybody who was not a financial
institution, does it?

MR. ROOS: I don't believe so, your Honor. I'm not
sure that the general language of the speaking indictment does
anything that provides notice. I don't know necessarily that
those paragraphs bind the government from proceeding on some
other theory of the case.

THE COURT: You are trying to get yourself so that you
can't prosecute separately for the Brittania U. That seems to
be what you're trying to do. You are trying to argue that
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you're precluded from separately indicting because jeopardy --

MR. ROOS: No, yoﬁr Honor. I'm saying I think there
is a colorable argument, and this was definitely part of a
large scheme where the defendant used very similar, if not the
same, materials, the same strategy, the same company, the same
entities to defraud Brittania U. If it's not covered by the
indictment, then your Honor is correct, there is no Jjeopardy
issue, and we could certainly prosecute the defendant again.

THE COURT: I don't see anything in here to suggest
it's covered by the indictment. You think differently?

MR. ROOS: Well, I think our view is that it's covered
certainly sufficiently for purposes of forfeiture.

THE COURT: What does that mean? Forfeiture you have
to forfeit the proceeds of.the crime.

MR. ROOS: Mmm—hmm.

THE COURT: Right. So if that crime is not charged in
here, why would it be covered as forfeiture?

MR. ROOS: I guess that then brings us back to the
same question of whether or not the indictment covers the
charge.

THE COURT: So if I don't agree with you about that,
then what does that mean with respect to the $100,000. That
was Mr. Brennerman's $100,000, right?

MR. ROOS: Well, if your Honor's view is that it's
not —-
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THE COURT: Who posted the $100,0007?

MR. ROOS: He posted the $100,000.

MS. FRITZ: ©No. No.

MR. ROOS: 1If I may, I believe it was posted through
his counsel, and there is assignment agreement, or at least a
purported assignment agreement. I don't want to weigh in on
whether or not it's real or true or correct, but there is an
assignment agreement that I believe says, at least in writing,
the hundred thousand dollars is then is turned over to Thompson
Hine upon release.

So, if your Honor decides that the hundred thousand
dollars is not acceptable to criminal forfeiture in this
action, I think then there is either no dispute that it is with
Thompson Hine or there is perhaps a civil dispute as to whether
defense counsel of Thompson Hine has it, and certainly I guess
the government could proceed in some sort of separate either
criminal or civil action on these funds.

THE COURT: But you haven't to date.

MR. ROOS: Correct.

THE COURT: Did you want to be heard briefly,

Ms. Fritz?

MS. FRITZ: I do, your Honér. I just want to clarify
the circumstances under which Thompson Hine received those
funds and the circumstances under which bail was posted.

This was not posted by Mr. Brennerman. These were
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funds that were paid to Thompson Hine prior to there being any
fraud charge in place for legal fees.: When Judge McMahon then
set bail, Mr. Brennerman requested of the firm that it agreed
to use those funds received by the firm for legal fees; that it
agreed to put those forward as bail pursuant to being assigned.
The firm agreed to do that.

All of this was actually explored in front of Judge
Kaplan recently. Judge Kaplan ordered the exoneration of bail
and the return to Thompson Hine of those funds because they
were received by us as legal fees and earned legal fees. So I
think that's the clarification with respect to those funds.

We agree with your Honor that under 982, these are not
within the scope of the forfeiture allegation. The issue was
aired in front of Judge Kaplan --

THE COURT: It wasn't aired in front of him when? At
sentencing?

MS. FRITZ: Recently.

THE COURT: It really wasn't relevant to the
sentencing, right?

MS. FRITZ: No, it was not relevant to the sentencing.
As a matter of fact, at no time, even when that $100, 000 was
posted, did the government ever raise any issue with respect to
the $100,000, but nonetheless recently -- was it two months
ago, we filed a motion for exoneration of bail and return of
the funds to Judge Kaplan.
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The government had every opportunity at that point to
put forth any argument they wanted to, and, again, did not make
any motion or assert any basis. Perhaps because this all has
to do with this sort of separate Brittania U issue.

So our position is it's not in the scope of 982. No
evidence was put forth with respect to it being proceeds of any
fraud, much less the fraud charged in the indictment, and that
those were properly received by my firm for legal fees.

THE COURT: OK. Mr. Roos, do you want to respond?

MR. ROOS: Just to clarify, your Honor, a few things.

Number one, the funds, the account out of which the
funds came was the subject of a seizure warrant, I guess a
little too late. That happened in 2017. That warrant was
produced in discovery. So certainly this has been a live issue
for quite some time. |

THE COURT: Well, a seizure warrant in connection with
this investigation or something else?

MR. ROOS: That's correct, and what happened before
Judge Kaplan.

THE COURT: The seizure warrant was to seize what?

MR. ROOS: The seizure warrant was to seize the funds
from the Brittania U fraud. At the time the warrant was
executed, the funds in question in question had already been
taken out of that account. So the warrant was executed in
September and the drawdown happened in June, May.
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THE COURT: But the seizure warrant is not this case,
right? It was issued in a separate matter, correct?

MR. ROOS: It relates to and identifies —-—

THE COURT: It's got a mag. docket, right?

MR. ROOS: Certainly, the mag docket.

THE COURT: So magistrate judge issued a seizure
warrant for the $800,000 that was the Brittania U.

MR. ROOS: Whatever remained in the account, that's
correct.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. ROOS: That's.point number one.

The second is I don't think defense or former defense
counsei has the record quite right regarding Judge Kaplan.

This is an issue we've raised and we have had discussions about
repeatedly about the hundred thousand dollars. We asked Judge
Kaplan to physically put a hold on it pending your Honor's
decision today on forfeiture. Judge Kaplan declined, and
that's why it was released back to defense counsel.

THE COURT: Right. He exonerated the bonds.

MR. ROOS: I don't think he was necessarily making any
sort of determination as whether or not it was forfeitable,
whether or not it was crime proceeds, traceable to the crime or
the offense conduct.

THE COURT: All right. But the fact is that the
indictment doesn't talk about it, the presentence report
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doesn't really talk about it, right?

MR. ROOS: That's correct.

THE COURT: There is nothing in the presentence report
about the Brittania U $800,000, right?

MR. ROOS: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Tulman, do you want to be
heard on this?

MR. TULMAN: ©No, your Honor, except it seems to me
that it would not be forfeitable property in this case. But as
a practical matter, Judge Kaplan has already directed that
those funds be turned over to Thompson Hine. The matter was
resolved. Mr. Brennerman no longer has an interest in those
funds.

THE COURT: I don't know whether it has or not been
resolved. It seems to me there may be a battle brewing between
Thompson Hine and the government whether civil or something
else, but I don't think there is anything in the presentence
report that would lead me to conclude that that $800,000 are
the proceeds of this crimiﬁal conduct. That's not to say that
the shenanigans that went on with Brittania U and the
principals there doesn't constitute obstruction of justice
because I think that that person would have been a potential
witness and might have offered either 404(b) evidence or might
have provided additional evidence of the fictional nature of
Blacksands and the other entities controlled by Mr. Brennerman.
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So I don't think that this upsets my ruling on
obstruction of justice with respect to just that piece of it.
There are éome many other examples of obstruction of Jjustice
that I'm not worried about that two-level enhancement. But I
think there is nothing inconsistent in my saying that I am not
going to order $800,0CO of these proceeds to be part of the
forfeiture order. It seems to me the forfeiture order should
include what Mr. Brennerman got from ICBC. He didn't really
get anything else other than the free checking and perks of
minimal value that thé government is not seeking restitution or
forfeiture on that, right?

MR. ROOS: That's right.

THE COURT: All right. So I'm not going order
forfeiture of the whatever is ultimately tracing back to
Brittania U. It seems to me if you want to charge
Mr. Brennerman_with that, you should. If you want to proceed
civiliy on that property, you should. But I don't think the
back door here is the way to do it when there is nothing about
it in the presentence report. OK.

And then restitution, you're seeking, what you've
asked for is basically 90 days to develop the record further,
but the restitution would be what?

MR. ROOS: Well, your Honor, I take it your view would
be the same as to Brittania U and any other victims not
identified in the PSR?
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THE COURT: Yes; Look, I just don't think --
restitution is to make victims whole. I think that that victim
is not here today; has not submitted a victim statement; is not
in the presentence report; is sort of a shadow. I don't even
think there was talk about it at the bail hearing, and I think
there were false statements made, and part of what was going on
in connection with bail was designed to make it look like he
was a legitimate businessman. But I don't know that I have
enough for me to conclude that they are a victim that would be
entitled to restitution. Not everybody who's been victimized
by a con man gets restitution payments at the sentencing on
certain counts of an indictment.

MR. ROOS: Certainly, your Honor. So in that case,
restitution should be limited to ICBC. Your Honor has ICBC's
submission. So the améunt of the loss I believe was $4.4.
ICBC's submission identifies interests and costs that have
developed since then, which I think would be the appropriate
amount for restitution. If Mr. Hessler has an exact figure and
your Honor deems it appropriate or as the government has
recently offered, we'd be happy to put in a restitution order.

THE COURT: I would think since his submission, the
numbers are different now just because of the passage of time,
right?

MR. ROOS: Correct, your Honor. So we could certainly
work with ICBC to éome up with the final number that
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incorporates any costs and interests.

THE COURT: That we could do. We have time.
Forfeiture we need to resolve today.

Restitution under the law we have additional time to
nail that down. So there will be restitution here, no
question, but the exact amount I think I'll reserve until I get
an up-to-date submission from the government and/or ICBC, and I
will give Mr. Tulman a chance to respond. I don't think there
should be any mystery if it fist reasonable interests and
reasonable expenses associated with being made whole, that
would be covered by restitution.

Anything else?

"MR. ROOS: Your Honor also wanted to hear about the
concurrent versus consecutive question.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. ROOS: As your Honor knows, and as our submission
sets forth in our policy statement which is a recommendation
and obviously is not binding‘on your Honor pursuant to the
Second Circuit and Supreme Court case law that's cited in our
most recent letter, indicates obviously a presumption under
these circumstances in favor of a concurrent sentence.

I think here the argument for consecutive and the one
that was set forth by Judge Kaplan was that while, certainly,
this is relevant conduct that is relevant to the question of
obstruction, there are two different crimes here: One, is a
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refusal to follow court orders. The other, and perhaps the
motive of that was concealing of fraud, it's really a different
type of offense. The defendant chose to go to trial on both of
these, which is his right, absolutely. He didn't accept
responsibility of neither of them. One of the offenses has a
pretty substantial loss amount. It has a victim or victims.
The other one, the victim is the Court or justice. And so
because there are different harms, different victims, different
types of conduct, the government believes, as Judge Kaplan set
forth, and pursuant to thevvarious policy statements that the
Court should exercise its discretion and impose a consecutive
sentence.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Mr. Tulman, do you want to be heard on any of those
things?

MR. TULMAN: Briefly, your Honor. The views expressed
by the department of probation and the policy guideline in the
Sentencing Guidelines we think it appropriate here that the
sentence be imposed concurrently.

THE COURT: Mr. Hessler, anything you would like to

-say beyond what's in your submission? If you do, come up. -You

can use the lectern there.

MR. HESSLER: Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: For the benefit of the court reporter, if
you could just state your name and spell your name?
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MR. HESSLER: Paul Hessler, H-E-S-S-L-E-R, on behalf
of ICBC London PLC.

Your Honor, thank you for the opportunity to be heard.
Based on what I have just heard, I anticipate that your Honor
would order restitution to make my client whole. We will work
with the government to submit a detailed statement of what that
loss is. 'On that subject, I would just say that I have heard
several references to What I would consider a base amount of a
$4.4 million loss, which I believe people are conceding of as
the net amount of the loss of principal to my client. The net
loss to my client of principal is $5 million. And just to be
very brief about that, your Honor, the price of entering into
the $20 million loan agreement was a $500,000 fee. That
amount—-—

THE COURT: Was earned.

MR. HESSLER: -- was earned and owed to my client in
addition-to the $5 million principal. The fact is that as a
convenience to borrowers in these types of situations, banks
net out that fee so that the borrower doesn't have to bring a
separate $500,000 check and you hand out $500,000. Just so
your Honor is not surprised when you see it, the base amount we
will be seeking, plus interest in fees, is $5 million.

Your Honor, the only other thing I wanted to address
today was that in the underlying civil litigation in front of
Judge Kaplan and in the sentencing submissions and the
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arguments that have been made today by the defendant, the
defendant continues to attack ICBC, my client, which is to say
he continues to attack the victim of his crimes.

He is doing that in multiple ways. One is he
continues to maintain a counterclaim against my client in front
of Judge Kaplan. We expect to obtain dismissal of that
counterclaim through a supplemental motion for sanctions that
we intend to file shortly. But the reality is that even today,
he maintains a counterclaim seeking $50 million, based on what
can only be concluded to be perjured statements that are
directly contradicted by witnesses that testified in the trial
in front of your Honor, including the owners of the oil field
that Mr. Brennerman purported to be dealing with, as well as
the representatives of Morgan Stanley who entirely refuted
swérn statements that Mr. Brennerman had made in front of Judge
Kaplan.

Secondly, your Honor, there is a theme that has been

running through the statements and arguments today that my

Honor. I don't think there is any claim against my client. I
think your Honor has rejected the notion that the defendant is
entitled to documents from my client, but we would just like to
say as a financial institution that does business in this
country that has litigated in front of this court, that my
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in front

client.

calendar

in front

time and

client never engaged in any conduct to undermine any proceeding

any suggestion or indeed statements of impropriety by my

sentencing submissions by the defendant that my client misled
either this Court or its financial regulators in London because

in filing a financial statement in 2015 relating to the

been defrauded by the defendant. And I guess all I would say

in regards to that, your Honor, is that we filed a civil case

maintained that suit as a civil suit for years, and it was not
until the very end of that case, indeed, when we got into
enforcement, that it became obvious to us, mostly through

proceedings by the government that were initiated around that.

of this Court, has not hidden anything, and we reject

Third, your Honor, there is a statement in one of the

year 2014, that my client did not disclose that it had

of Judge Kaplan in late 2014, December 2014. We

the fact my client had been defrauded.

So, again, we just want to state on the record that we

20

21

22

23

24

25

APPENDIX H

of impropriety by my client.

questions.

as to what the costs were and what the interest is as far as

you're concerned, but I'm sympathetic.

That's all I have to say unless your Honor has any

THE COURT: No. I will want to see the details just
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MR. HESSLER: Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Brennerman, you have a right to
address the Court if you'd like. You are not required to, but
you are certainly welcome to.

Is there anything you would like to say before I
impose sentence?

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, I will be short. I just
want to offer my sincere apologies for anything that I may have
done wrong. Thank you. -

THE COURT: OK. Thank you.

What I would like to do, if it's all right, is take a
short recess to collect my thoughts, maybe five minutes. I
will then come back, state my sentence, explain my reasons for
it, and then formally impose sentence. OK? Is that all right?
So just five minutes or so. Thanks.

(Recess)

THE COURT: Thanks for your patienée. Let me state
the sentence I intend to impose and the reasons for it.
judges have to explain

I think that's a good

thing. I don't think a defendant should ever have to wonder
what the judge was thinking. I don't think the defendant's
family, friends, or the public should have to wonder either.
So we ask our judges to explain themselves. Our proceedings

take longer as a result, but I think that's a good thing. It
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makes our system transparent and makes it more thorough, which
is a good thing generally.

So, this is a case I'm certainly familiar with the
facts. There have been a lot of submissions. I sat through
the trial. 1I've sat through lots of hearings and bail
hearings, arguments. I've read all the submissions. And I
think I come away, unremarkably, to the conclusion, or I come
away with the conclusion that you are just an inveterate con
man. You're a crook. You are somebody_for whom truth has no
value. You seem to lie at the drop a hat and indiscriminately
even when it's unnecessary just because a well-told lie seems
to be attractive to you. But, ultimately, your lies were all
designed to get you free and easy money, to allow you to live
at a very high level without doing what was necessary to earn
those things legitimately, and there were victims that were out
serious money because of your wiilingness to engage in a very
elaborate, very, very ambitious fraud.

And the fact that you have perpetuated that fraud

throughout, the fact that you continue to insist that you are
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things'that you are not, you continue to pretend you are this
legitimate businessman, the fact that you created fictional
characters as employees of your coméanies, that you used the
name of a person who actually did exist and whom you did know
without her permission pretending that she was an employee, the
fact that you had used law firms that were legitimate law firms
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and had brochures made up and milked people.with real knowledge
so that you could make your submissions and your glossy
brochures more realistic is just, I think, further indication
of just how selfish you are and how utterly dismissive you are
of people, of institutions, of courts, of laws, of rules of
just sort of basic human decency. You are just -- you're a
liar. You are among one of the most dishonest people I've
encountered. So shame on you.

So, what's the right sentence? Candidly, I have no
hesitation to sentence you within the guidelines range, and
inexplicably to me, probation has recommended a sentence below
the guidelines. I don't see any reason for it. T certainly
intend to sentence you within the guidelines.

The harder part for me is whether it should be
consecutiﬁe or concurrent. Ultimately, I don't know that it
makes that much difference. If I were told that it should be
concurrent, then I think would give you the high end of the
guidelines range, 14 years. But I think Judge Kaplan makes a

good point; I think the government makes a good point; that the
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time should be consecutive because the harms caused in Judge
Kaplan's case were real. Not everybody engages in a wholesale
assault of the civil criminal justice system the way you did.

A lot of people, even people who get obstruction of justice
points in criminal cases, are not so arrogant and so
disrespectful as to engage in a wholesale fraud on the court in
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civil litigation in an effort to utterly thwart the wheels of
that system.

So Judge Kaplan was, I think, right when he was
incensed at and he sentenced you to two years for the monkey
business and shenanigans that you engaged in in the civil
litigation system of the federal courts, because you've used
that system as an important one that allows people with real
disputes to have those disputes resolved with judges and laws
and rules of civil procedure that are designed to resolve
actual disputes. And you were determined to absolutely
frustrate that entire process.

So I am comfortable basically sentencing you to 12
years here, with the two years Judge Kaplan imposed
consecutive. If that ever came back to me, I'd give you 14
because if it was all baked in together, I think at the end of
the day, 14 for all of this strikes me as appropriate. You are
incorrigible. You're unrepentant. You will do this again, I'm
convinced, the minute you get out. My only hope is that 14

years in jail will maybe mellow you to the point where you just
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decide this isn't worth it, but I'm not hugely confident of
that. And I imagine wherever you end up, you'll just do it
again because you strike me as somebody who enjoys this, who
enjoys this.

So the sentence I intend to impose is 12 years
consecutive to the two-year term imposed by Judge Kaplan, to be
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followed by a term of supervised release of three years with
conditions that I will set forth in a moment.

I am going to order forfeiture, but forfeiture in the
amount of $4.4 million, which is what you received net. I will
order restitution, but that's going to be at a later date after
submissions from the victims.

I am also going to impoée a $400 special assessment.
That's mandatory. That has to be paid promptly.

That's the éentencevI intend to impose.

Is there any legal impediment to my imposing that
sentence? Mr. Roos?

MR. ROOS: Well, your Honor, I think it's clear from
what you've already said about consecutive versus concurrent,
but as you know from our submission, the Second Circuit has
said the District Court must consider the policy recommendation
in Section 5G ——

THE COURT: No, I‘vé considered all of that in spades,
and I think because I do think that these are different harms.

One might disagree. One might say that Judge Kaplan's entire
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case 1s really baked into mine. I don't agree with that
because I don't think everybody who engages in a wire fraud or
bank fraud conspiracy or visa fraud conspiracy necessarily
engages in a massive fraud in civil court in the United States
District Court. So I think that the harms are distinct.
Butnif anyone disagreed and thought that they are not
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1 distinct, that this is all one thing, then my calculation would
2 probably be a little different, but I'm segregating out the
3 obstructions here which are particular to this case and the
4 separate harms that prompted the criminal contempt case before
5 Judge Kaplan, which is really focused on the abuse of the civil
6 process, the refusal to follow court orders and the federal
7 rules of procedure.
8 So I think that deces it. I hdpe that does it. But
9 that's the sentence that I intend to impose.
10 Is there any legal impediment to my imposing that
11 sentence otherwise?
12 MR. ROOS: No, your Honor.
13 THE COURT: Mr. Tulman?
14 MR. TULMAN: No. And we accept -- of course we
15 disagree with your Honor's reasoning —-- but otherwise, there_is
16 no impediment.
17 THE COURT: Mr. Brennerman, let me ask you to stand.
18 Mr. Brennerman, as a result of the jury's guilty
19 verdicts on all four counts, I sentence you as follows:
20 I éeﬁggﬁggﬂyou to a term of incarceration of712 yéafsii
21 concurrent on each count. Actually, Count Four is a maximum of
22 ten years. So Count Four would really be much, much lower
23 separately, but I guess it doesn't really matter. 1It's a
24 12-year total sentence. 144 months on Counts One, Two, and
25 Three, 120 months on Count Four, all to run concurrent, but
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1 consecutive to the undischarged term that was imposed by Judge
2 Kaplan in 17 CR 155.

3 I'm going to impose three years of supervised release
4 to run concurrently on all four counts of conviction. That

5 will include the mandatory conditions set forth in the

6 presentence report.

7 You cannot commit another federal, state, or local

8 crime.

9 You cannot use a controlled substance.
10 You cooperate in the collection of DNA; that you
11 comply with lawful directives of the immigration authorities.
12 There are standard conditions, 13 in all. You must

13 follow those as well.
14 There are special conditions that will include that
15 you provide any requested financial information to the
16 probation officer; that you not open new credit charges or open
17 additional lines of credit without the approval of the
18 probation officer.

19 I'm ordering forfeiture in the amount of $4.4 million.
20 That's the proceeds of the crimes as charged in the indictment.
21 I'm also going to order restitution, but on a schedule I will
22 ask the government to make a submission in 45 days. Is that

23 all right?

24 MR. ROOS: Certainly, your Honor.

25 THE COURT: You will coordinate with the victim on
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1 that.
2 Then there is a $400 special assessment. That's
3 mandatory.
4 Any recommendations you'd like me to make, Mr. Tulman?
5 MR. TULMAN: Two things, your Honor. I would request
6 on behalf of Mr. Brennerman of the Bureau of Prisons that he be
7 designated to an institution out west in California.
8 Mr. Brennerman apparently has ties there.
9 THE COURT: 1I'll make that recommendation.
10 MR. TULMAN: And the second thing, your Honor, is that
11 in the letter motion seeking the request for an adjournment of
12 sentencing, I also included a request on my part that following
13 the sentencing and filing a notice of appeal in this matter
14 that I be relieved as counsel.
15 THE COURT: Yes, I will grant that request after the
16 period for filing notice of appeal has passed.
17 Mr. Brennerman, you have the right to appeal this
18 sentence. I think you're aware of that. If you wish to
19 appeal, you would need to file a notice of appeal within two
20 weeks. I'm going to ask Mr. Tui§;£_£5_é§§i££ you iﬁ filing
C 21 that notice of appeal. After that, he will be relieved. If
22 you wish to appeal and wish to have counsel appointed for the
23 purpose of appeal, you can let me know that or let the Court of
24 Appeals know that, and counsel will be appointed. OK?
25 All right. Anything else we should cover today?
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MR. ROOS: No, your Honor.
THE COURT: No. Good luck to you, Mr. Brennerman.

Let me thank you the marshals, and let me thank the

court reporter as well.

Thanks.

(Adjourned)
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